

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/

Theses Digitisation:

https://www.gla.ac.uk/myglasgow/research/enlighten/theses/digitisation/

This is a digitised version of the original print thesis.

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk



Molecular evolution of *Mannheimia* (*Pasteurella*) *haemolytica*, *Mannheimia glucosida*, and *Pasteurella trehalosi*, and characterization of temperate bacteriophages

A thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of the University of Glasgow

by

InKyoung Lee BSc

Institute of Biomedical and Life Sciences Division of Infection and Immunity University of Glasgow Glasgow, UK

March, 2005.

© Inkyoung Lee 2005

ProQuest Number: 10391076

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10391076

Published by ProQuest LLC (2017). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved.

This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



DECLARATION

i

The thesis is the original work of the author:

i

í

the second

I. Lee

DEDICATION

This three year study is dedicated to the wishes of my father, DongYang Lee and my mother, JiHong Kim.

í

÷

ACKNOWLEDEMENTS

I express my gratitude to all those who support me to complete this thesis. Without them, I could not have come this far. I am deeply indebted to my supervisor Dr Robert Davies for his support, guidance, and excellent supervision and for reading several drafts of this thesis and offering suggestions for improvement. Thanks are also due to my colleagues in the Division of Infection and Immunity.

I would also like to thank Professor HoGun Rhie and Professor JeongChil Yu, Kyung Hee University, for their advice and letters of recommendation. I also want to thank the Overseas Research Students Award Scheme (ORSAS) and the University of Glasgow for providing the funding for this study.

I sincerely thank my family and friends for being so understanding and supportive during this study. Especially, I would like to give my special thanks to my parents KyoHee Lee, JongYea Ji, DongYang Lee and JiHong Kim and my husband JaeBum Lee whose patient love enabled me to complete this study.

PRESENTATIONS/PUBLICATIONS

1. Davies, R. L. & Lee, I. (2004). Sequence diversity and molecular evolution of the heat-modifiable outer membrane protein gene (*ompA*) of *Mannheimia(Pasteurella)* haemolytica, Mannheimia glucosida, and Pasteurella trehalosi. Journal of Bacteriology 186, 5741-5752.

2. Davies, R. L. & Lee, I. Evidence for host-directed evolution of the heat-modifiable outer membrane protein (*ompA*) of *Mannheimia haemolytica*. Poster presentation at the 6th International *Pasteurellaceae* Conference, 5th - 10th May 2002, Banff, Canada.

3. Lee, I. & Davies, R. L. Comparative molecular evolution of housekeeping and virulence-associated genes of *Mannheimia haemolytica*, *Mannheimia glucosida*, and *Pasteurella trehalosi*. Poster presentation at the 6th International *Pasteurellaceae* Conference, 5th - 10th May 2002, Banff, Canada.

CONTENTS

DECLARATIONi
DEDICATIONji
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
PRESENTATIONS/PUBLICATIONSiv
CONTENTSv
LIST OF FIGURESxv
LIST OF TABLESxxvii
ABBREVIATIONSxxxiv
SUMMARY xxxviii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1 The organisms
1.1.1 History and nomenclature of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and
P. trehalosi1
1.1.2 Morphological and biochemical characteristics of M. haemolytica,
M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi5
1.2 The diseases7
1.2.1 Pneumonic pasteurellosis caused by M. haemolytica7
1.2.2 Systemic pasteurellosis caused by P. trehalosi
1.3 Bacterial virulence factors
1.3.1 Secreted proteins
1.3.1.1 Leukotoxin (LKT)9

1.3.1.2 Glycoprotease (Gcp)	10
1.3.1.3 Neuraminidase	
1.3.2 Cell wall proteins and carbohydrates	12
1.3.2.1 Capsular polysaccharide (CPS)	12
1.3.2.2 Lipopolysaccharide	14
1.3.2.3 Periplasm-associated proteins	16
1.3.2.3.1 Lipoproteins (PlpA, PlpB, and PlpC)	16
1.3.2.3.2 Lipoprotein (PlpD)	17
1.3.2.4 Outer membrane proteins (OMPs)	
1.3.2.4.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein (OmpA)	
1.3.2.4.2 Transferrin-binding proteins (TbpA and TbpB)	18

1.4 Variation in M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi	
1.4.1 Classification based on phenotypic relationships	20
1.4.1.1 Serotyping	20
1.4.1.2 LPS profiles	23
1.4.1.3 OMP profiles	24
1.4.2 Classification based on genetic relationships	24
1.4.2.1 Sequence analysis of the 16S rRNA gene	25
1.4.2.2 Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis (MLEE)	25

1.5	The molecular evolution of bacterial populations	26
	1.5.1 Genetic variation occurs by three mechanisms	.26
	1.5.2 Limitation of bacterial diversity	.28
	1.5.3 Purifying and diversifying selection	.28
	1.5.4 Evolutionary rates of different species	.29
	1.5.5 Evolutionary rates of genes of different functional classes	.30

١

vì

1.5.6 Housekeeping and virulence associated genes
1.5.7 Emergence of new pathogens by horizontal gene transfer
1.5.7.1 Emergence of <i>E. coli</i> O157: H7
1.5.7.2 Emergence of Vibrio cholerae O139
1.6 Candidate genes for comparative sequence analysis
1.6.1 Genes encoding DNA repair and recombination enzymes
1.6.1.1 Recombinase A (recA)
1.6.2 Genes encoding metabolic enzymes
1.6.2.1 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (aroA)
1.6.2.2 Aspartate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase (asd)
1.6.2.3 UDP-galactose 4-epimerase (galE)
1.6.2.4 Glyceraldchyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (gap)
1.6.2.5 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (gnd)
1.6.2.6 Glucose-6-phosphate-1-dehydrogenase (g6pd)
1.6.2.7 Malate dehydrogenase (mdh)
1.6.2.8 Mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (mtlD)
1.6.2.9 Phosphomannomutase (pmm)
1.6.3 Genes encoding secreted proteins
1.6.3.1 Glycoprotease (gcp)
1.6.4 Genes encoding periplasm-associated proteins
1.6.4.1 Lipoproteins (<i>plpA</i> , <i>plpB</i> , and <i>plpC</i>)
1.6.4.2 Lipoprotein (<i>plpD</i>)
1.6.5 Genes encoding outer membrane proteins
1.6.5.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein (<i>ompA</i>)40
1.6.5.2 Transferrin binding proteins (<i>tbpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i>)
1.6.5.3 Capsule transport protein (<i>wza</i>)40

vii

1.7 Analysis of nucleotide sequence data4	0
1.7.1 Methods of phylogenetic tree reconstruction	0
1.7.2 Distance measures to be used for phylogenetic reconstruction4	2
1.7.3 Handling of sequence gaps and missing data	2
1.7.4 Reliability of phylogenetic trees obtained4	3
1.8 Bacteriophages and their life cycle	3
1.8.1 Bacteriophages of the Proteobacteria4	.3
1.8.2 Virulent and temperate bacteriophages4	6
1.8.3 Major families of temperate phages4	6
1.8.3.1 Myoviridae (dsDNA)4	6
1.8.3.2 Siphoviridae (dsDNA)4	6
1.8.3.3 Podoviridac (dsDNA)4	9
1.8.3.4 Inoviridae (ssDNA)4	9
1.8.4 Life cycles of temperate phages4	9
1.8.4.1 Phage receptor recognition4	.9
1.8.4.2 Penetration	0
1.8.4.3 DNA circularisation	0
1.8.4.4 Lysogenization or lysis5	1
1,8.4.4.1 The lysogenic cycle5	4
1.8.4.4.2 The lytic cycle	6
1.8.5 Phage induction	6
1.8.6 Phage immunity5	7

1.9 The role of bact	eriophages in bacterial evolut	ion58
1.9.1 Evolutionary	arms race between temperate phag	es and bacteria58
1.9.2 Prophages in	bacterial genomes	

viii

1.9.3 Bacteriophages mediate gene transfer
1.9.3.1 Specialized transduction
1.9.3.2 Generalized transduction
1.10 Objectives of revenueb
1.10 Objectives of research
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Bacterial isolates
2.2 General bacteriological procedures
2,2,1 Growth media63
2.2.2 Sterilisation
2.2.3 Storage and growth of bacteria68
2,2.4 Culture purity checks
2.3 Comparative sequencing analysis
2.3.1 General sequencing procedures
2.3.1.1 Selection of genes
2.3.1.2 Primer design for PCR amplification and sequencing70
2.3.1.3 PCR amplification
2.3.1.3.1 Preparation of template DNA70
2.3.1.3.2 Components of PCR71
2.3.1.3.3 PCR conditions
2.3.1.3.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis
2.3.1.4 DNA sequencing
2.3.1.4.1 Purification of PCR products

Ę

2.3.1.4.2 Components of sequencing	72
2.3.1.4.3 Conditions for sequencing	73
2.3.1.4.4 Ethanol precipitation	73
2.3.1.5 Sequence analysis	73
2.3.1.5.1 Analysis of nucleotide and amino acid sequence data	74
2.3.2 Specific sequencing procedures	75
2,3.2.1 Genes for encoding DNA repair and recombination enzymes	75
2.3.2.1.1 RecA recombinase (<i>recA</i>)	75
2.3.2.2 Genes encoding metabolic enzymes	78
2.3.2.2.1 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (aroA)	78
2.3.2.2.2 Aspartate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase (asd)	8.3
2.3.2.2.3 UDP-galactose 4-epimerase (galE)	
2.3.2.2.4 Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (gap)	
2.3.2.2.5 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (gnd)	92
2.3.2.2.6 Glucose-6-phosphate-1-dehydrogenase (g6pd)	
2.3.2.2.7 Malate dehydrogenase (mdh)	95
2.3.2.2.8 Mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (mtlD)	
2.3.2.2.9 Phosphomannomutase (pmm)	
2.3.2.3 Genes encoding secreted proteins	
2.3.2.3.1 Glycoprotcase (gcp)	107
2.3.2.4 Genes encoding periplasm-associated proteins	
2.3.2.4.1 Lipoproteins (<i>plpA</i> , <i>plpB</i> , and <i>plpC</i>)	
2.3.2.4.2 Lipoprotein (<i>plpD</i>)	114
2.3.2.5 Genes encoding outer membrane proteins	1[4
2.3.2.5.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein (ompA)	
2.3.2.5.2 Transferrin binding proteins (<i>tbpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i>)	
2.3.2.5.3 Capsule transport protein (wza)	

ţ

х

đ.

2.5 Characterization of temperate phages 133 2.5.1 Optimum concentration of mitomycin C for bacteriophage induction 133 2.5.2 Induction of bacteriophages in <i>M. haemolytica, M. glucosida,</i> and 134 2.5.3 Preparation of phage samples 134 2.5.4 Host range of bacteriophages 135 2.5.4.1 Preparation of overlay indicator plates 135 2.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining 135 2.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA 136 2.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion 137 2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophage from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine 138 2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays 138 2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> 138 2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica,</i> 140 CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis 142 3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes 152		
2.5.1 Optimum concentration of mitomycin C for bacteriophage induction	2.5 Characterization of temperate phages	133
2.5.2 Induction of bacteriophages in <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and 134 <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolates 134 2.5.3 Preparation of phage samples 134 2.5.4 Host range of bacteriophages 135 2.5.4.1 Preparation of overlay indicator plates 135 2.5.4.2 Plaque assays 135 2.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining 136 2.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion 137 2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine 138 2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays 138 2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PHL213 138 2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2 Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , 140 CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis for specific genes 152	2.5.1 Optimum concentration of mitomycin C for bacteriophage induction	n133
P. trehalosi isolates1342.5.3 Preparation of phage samples1342.5.4 Host range of bacteriophages1352.5.4.1 Preparation of overlay indicator plates1352.5.4.2 Plaque assays1352.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining1352.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA1362.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion1372.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine1382.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays1382.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PHL2131382.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2 Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolates1423.1 Comparative sequencing analysis1423.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes152	2.5.2 Induction of bacteriophages in M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and	
2.5.3 Preparation of phage samples 134 2.5.4 Host range of bacteriophages 135 2.5.4 Host range of bacteriophages 135 2.5.4.1 Preparation of overlay indicator plates 135 2.5.4.2 Plaque assays 135 2.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining 135 2.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA 136 2.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion 137 2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine 138 2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays 138 2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PHL213 138 2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2 Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolates 140 CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 142 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis 142 3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes 152	P. trehalosi isolates	134
2.5.4 Host range of bacteriophages1352.5.4.1 Preparation of overlay indicator plates1352.5.4.2 Plaque assays1352.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining1352.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA1362.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion1372.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine1382.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays1382.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> 1382.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2 Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolates140CHAPTER 3: RESULTS1423.11423.1 Comparative sequencing analysis142	2.5.3 Preparation of phage samples	134
2.5.4.1 Preparation of overlay indicator plates 135 2.5.4.2 Plaque assays 135 2.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining 135 2.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA 136 2.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion 137 2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine 138 2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays 138 2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PHL213 138 2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , 140 CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis 142 3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes 152	2.5.4 Host range of bacteriophages	135
2.5.4.2 Plaque assays1352.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining1352.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA1362.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion1372.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine1382.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays1382.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> 1382.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2 Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> ,140CHAPTER 3: RESULTS1421423.1 Comparative sequencing analysis1423.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes152	2.5.4.1 Preparation of overlay indicator plates	135
2.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining	2.5.4.2 Plaque assays	135
2.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA 136 2.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion 137 2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine 138 A1 isolates 138 2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays 138 2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PHL213 138 2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolates 140 CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 142 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis 142 3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes 152	2.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining	135
2.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion 137 2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine 138 A1 isolates 138 2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays 138 2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PHL213 138 2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , 140 CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 142 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis 142 3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes 152	2.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA	136
 2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine A1 isolates	2.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion	137
A1 isolates 138 2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays 138 2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> 138 2.5.8.2 Presence of the PH2Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , 138 2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> , 140 CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 142 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis 142 3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes 152	2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from M. haemolytica bovine	
 2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays	A1 isolates	138
 2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PHL213	2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays	138
 isolate PHL213	2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from M. haemolytica	
 2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i>, <i>M. glucosida</i>, and <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolates	isolate PHL213	138
 M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi isolates	2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2 Φ phage genome among <i>M. haemolytica</i> ,	
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi isolates	140
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS 142 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis 142 3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes 152		
 3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis	CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	142
3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes	3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis	142
	3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes	152
3.1.1.1 Genes encoding DNA repair and recombination enzymes	3.1.1.1 Genes encoding DNA repair and recombination enzymes	152
$\rightarrow \rightarrow $	5.1.1.1 Genes encount DNA repair and recombination enzymes	

١

or each at an dials.

- . C.F

xi

7 ÷

3.1.1.2 Genes encoding metabolic enzymes	156
3.1.1.2.1 5-enolpyruvylshikimate 3-phosphate synthase (aroA)	156
3.1.1.2.2 Aspartate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase (asd)	162
3.1.1.2.3 UDP-galactose 4-epimerase (galE)	166
3.1.1.2.4 Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (gap)	171
3.1.1.2.5 Phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (gnd)	177
3.1.1.2.6 Glucose-6-phosphate-1-dehydrogenase (g6pd)	181
3.1.1.2.7 Malate dehydrogenase (mdh)	
3.1.1.2.8 Mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (mtlD)	190
3.1.1.2.9 Phosphomannomutase (pmm)	195
3.1.1.3 Genes encoding secreted proteins	201
3.1.1.3.1 Glycoprotease (gcp)	201
3.1.1.4 Genes encoding periplasm-associated proteins	206
3.1.1.4.1 Lipoproteins (<i>plpA</i> , <i>plpB</i> , and <i>plpC</i>)	
3.1.1.4.2 Lipoprotein (<i>plpD</i>)	211
3.1.1.5 Genes encoding outer membrane proteins	
3.1.1.5.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein (<i>ompA</i>)	215
3.1.1.5.2 Transferrin binding proteins (<i>tbpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i>)	
3.1.1.5.3 Capsule transport protein (wza)	
3.1.2 Phylogenetic relationships among 10 M. haemolytica isolates	
based on the concatenated sequences of seven conserved genes	
3.2 Characterization of temperate phages	
3.2.1 Optimum concentration of mitomycin C	
3.2.2 Induction of bacteriophages in M. haemolytica, M. glucosida,	
and P. trehalosi isolates	
3.2.3 Phage morphology	

xii

3.2.4 Phage DNA isolation	274
3.2.5 Restriction endonuclease analysis	275
3.2.6 Determination of host range of bacteriophages	277
3.2.7 Comparison of <i>M. haemolytica</i> bovine serotype A1 and A6 strains	277
3.2.7.1 Phage morphology	
3.2.7.2 Host range	
3.2.7.3 Phage DNA isolation and RE assay	
3.2.8 Comparison of <i>M. haemolytica</i> serotype A2 isolates	
3.2.8.1 Phage morphology	
3.2.8.2 Host range	
3.2.8.3 Phage DNA isolation	
3.2.9 The genome of RE type A phages	
3.2.9.1 Prophage genome from <i>M. haemolytica</i> PHL213	
3.2.9.2 Identification of attachment sites (attL and attR)	288
3.2.9.3 Cohesive end (cos) sequences	
3.2.9.4 Proposed RE type A phage genome	291
3.2.9.5 Bioinformatic analysis and identification of phage encoding	
sequences	291
3.2.9.6 Prevalence of RE type A phages in M. haemolytica,	
M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi	

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	
-----------------------	--

4.1 Comparative sequence analysis of nineteen genes of various	
functions of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 2	299
4.1.1 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding DNA repair and	
recombination enzymes (recA)	299

xiii

3

4.1.2 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding metabolic enzymes
(aroA, asd, galE, gap, gnd, g6pd, mdh, mtlD, and pmm)
4.1.3 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding secreted
proteins (<i>gcp</i>)
4.1.4 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding periplasm-
associated proteins (<i>plpA</i> , <i>plpB</i> , <i>plpC</i> , and <i>plpD</i>)
4.1.5 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding outer membrane
proteins (ompA, tbpB, tbpA, and wza)
4.1.5.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein gene (<i>ompA</i>)
4.1.5.2 Transferrin binding protein genes ($tbpB$ and $tbpA$)
4.1.5.3 Capsule transport protein gene (wza)
4.1.6 Emergence of new <i>M. haemolytica</i> pathogenic isolates
4.1.7 Genetic diversity of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi320
4.2 Temperate bacteriophages of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida,
and P. trehalosi
4.2.1 Examination of bacteriophages
4.2.2 RE type A phages
4.2.2.1 Bacteriophages of bovine M. haemolytica serotype A1
isolate PHL213
4,3 General conclusions and further work

REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	

المراجع فيترون الجراب والتخط الحاد والعادين

xiv

그는 것 같은 것 같은 것에서 좋아요. 지수는 것 같은 것 같은 것 같이 있었다. 가지

See.

See And Lot 2

المهار بالإعراب المتعادية المتحد المتحجين المتحد والمراجع

a grada e de tra

that is a start.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Neighbour-joining tree for the 16S rRNA gene of members of the
Pasteurellaceae
Figure 1.2 Genetic organization of the M. haemolytica serotype A1 capsule gene
cluster. 13
Figure 1.3 Rank correlation of average d_N and d_S/d_N for orthologs from different
COG functional categories (Jordan et al., 2002).
Figure 1.4 Negatively-strained electron micrographs of temperate phages of
the major morphological types (families). 48
Figure 1.5 Consequence of infection by a temperate bacteriophage
Figure 1.6 The molecular events of the lambda phage lysogenic or lytic cycle
Figure 1.7 Mechanism of integration and excision of phage lambda
(Sadowski, 1986). 55
Figure 2.1 Genetic relationships of the 32 M. haemolytica isolates investigated
in the study (Davies et al., 1997a)
Figure 2.2 Diagrammatic representation of the recA gene of M. haemolytica
taxon 746 (AF176376) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers76
Figure 2.3 Nucleotide sequence of the recA gene of M. haemolytica taxon 746
(AF176376) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers

Figure 2.4 Diagrammatic representation of the *aroA* gene of *M. haemolytica*

ţ

xv

Figure 2.5 Nucleotide sequence of the aroA gene of M. haemolytica taxon 746
(U03068) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for
M. haemolytica group Mh1. 80

Figure 2.6 Diagrammatic representation of the *asd* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (complementary contig 138 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers.

 Figure 2.8 Diagrammatic representation of the galE gene of M. haemolytica

 isolate taxon 746 (U39043) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing

 primers.

 87

Figure 2.9 Nucleotide sequence of the *galE* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate taxon 746 (U39043) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 87

Figure 2.10 Diagrammatic representation of the *gap* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (contig 156 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers.

Figure 2.12 Diagrammatic representation of the gnd gene of M. haemolytica

xvi

isolate PHL213 (contig 160 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations
of the PCR and sequencing primers93
Figure 2.13 Nucleotide sequence of the gnd gene of M. haemolytica isolate
PHL213 (contig 160 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of
the PCR and sequencing primers. 93
Figure 2.14 Diagrammatic representation of the g6pd gene of M. haemolytica
isolate PHL213 (contig 160 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing
locations of the PCR and sequencing primers
Figure 2.15 Nucleotide sequence of the g6pd gene of M. haemolytica isolate
PHL213 (contig 160 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of
the PCR and sequencing primers. 96
Figure 2.16 Diagrammatic representation of the mdh gene of M. haemolytica
isolate PHL213 (contig 178 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing
locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 98
Figure 2.17 Nucleotide sequence of the mdh gene of M. haemolytica isolate
PHL213 (contig 178 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of
the PCR and sequencing primers. 99
Figure 2.18 Diagrammatic representation of the mtlD gene of M. haemolytica
isolate PHL213 (complementary contig 121 of the genome sequence as of
22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers
Figure 2.19 Nucleotide sequence of the <i>mtlD</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate

PHL213 (complementary contig 121 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04)

5

1.2.2.2

112

• • •

showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers
Figure 2.20 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>pmm</i> gene of <i>M</i> . haemolytica
isolate PHL213 (contig 171 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing
locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 105
Figure 2.21 Nucleotide sequence of the pmm gene of M. haemolytica isolate
PHL213 (contig 171 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations
of the PCR and sequencing primers for M. haemolytica group Mh1 105
Figure 2.22 Diagrammatic representation of the gcp gene of M. haemolytica
taxon 746 (U15958) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers
Figure 2.23 Nucleotide sequence of the gcp gene of M. haemolytica taxon 746
(U15958) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 108
Figure 2.24 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>plpA</i> , <i>plpB</i> , and <i>plpC</i> genes of
M. haemolytica taxon 746 (L16627) showing locations of the PCR and
sequencing primers
Figure 2.25 Nucleotide sequence of the <i>plpA</i> , <i>plpB</i> , and <i>plpC</i> genes of
M. haemolytica taxon 746 (L16627) showing locations of the PCR and
sequencing primers. 112
Figure 2.26 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>plpD</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i>
taxon 746 (AF058703) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers 115
Figure 2.27 Nucleotide sequence of the <i>plpD</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> taxon 746
(AF058703) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers

xviii

and the second second

~4: j

15 . Brander and Article

a second seco

(a) the second secon

(a) A set of the se

•

1

Figure 2.28 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>ompA</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate 89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 117 Figure 2.29 Nucleotide sequence of the <i>ompA</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate 89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for <i>M. haemolytica</i> . 118 Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>thpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i> genes of <i>M. haemolytica</i> taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 122
 isolate 89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. Figure 2.29 Nucleotide sequence of the <i>ompA</i> genc of <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate 89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for <i>M. haemolytica</i>. Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>thpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i> genes of <i>M. haemolytica</i> taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers.
primers.117Figure 2.29 Nucleotide sequence of the ompA gene of M. haemolytica isolate89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primersfor M. haemolytica.118Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the thpB and tbpA genes of M.haemolytica taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR andsequencing primers.122
Figure 2.29 Nucleotide sequence of the ompA genc of M. haemolytica isolate 89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for M. haemolytica. 118 Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the thpB and tbpA genes of M. haemolytica taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 122
Figure 2.29 Nucleotide sequence of the ompA genc of M. haemolytica isolate 89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for M. haemolytica. 118 Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the thpB and tbpA genes of M. haemolytica taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 122
89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for <i>M. haemolytica</i> . 118 Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>thpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i> genes of <i>M. haemolytica</i> taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 122
for <i>M. haemolytica</i> . 118 Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>thpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i> genes of <i>M.</i> <i>haemolytica</i> taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. 122
Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>thpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i> genes of <i>M</i> . <i>haemolytica</i> taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers
Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the <i>thpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i> genes of <i>M</i> . <i>haemolytica</i> taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers.
haemolytica taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers.
sequencing primers
Figure 2.31 Nucleotide sequence of the <i>tbpB</i> and <i>tbpA</i> genes of <i>M</i> . <i>haemolytica</i>
taxon 75985 (U73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers
for <i>M. haemolytica</i> group <i>Mh1</i> . 124
Figure 2.32 Diagrammatic representation of the wza gene of M. haemolytica
taxon 746 (complementary GenBank sequence AF170495) showing locations of
the PCR and sequencing primers. 129
Figure 2.33 Nucleotide sequence of the wza gene of M. haemolytica taxon 746
(complementary GenBank sequence AF170495) showing locations of the PCR
and sequencing primers for <i>M</i> haemolytica group <i>Mh1</i>
Figure 2.34 Diagrammatic representation of the contigs 137, 91 and 150 of
<i>M. haemolvtica</i> isolate PHL213 showing positions of PCR primers
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Figure 3.1 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites
among the recA alleles of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

ł

Figure 3.2 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the recA gene of M. haemolytica,
M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi,
Figure 3.3 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites
among the aroA alleles of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida
Figure 3.4 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the aroA gene of M. haemolytica,
M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. 161
Figure 3.5 Distribution of polymorphic publication (A) and arrive poid (B) sites
righte 3.5 Excitibution of porymorphic indefended (A) and annual acti (B) sites
among the asd alleles of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Figure 3.6 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the asd gene of M. haemolytica,
M. glucosida, and P. irehalosi.
Figure 3.7 Distribution of polymorphic fucteoride (A) and amino acid (B) sites
among the galE alleles of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. 168
Figure 3.8 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the galE gene of M. haemolytica,
M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Figure 3.9 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites
among the gap alleles of <i>M. haemolytica</i> and <i>M. glucosida</i>
Figure 3.10 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the gap gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> ,
M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi,
Figure 3.11 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites
among the gnd alleles of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

אין אראי אין איז איז איז איז אין אין אין אין אין אין אין אין איז אין אין א

a sure and

11

ţ

XХ

. .

· · · · · · ·

and the second se

. N. N.

1000 CV

Figure 3.12 Minimum Evolution (ME) tree for the gnd gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi.
Figure 3.13 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the <i>g6pd</i> alleles of <i>M. haemolytica</i> . 183
Figure 3.14 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the g6pd gene of M. haemolytica 184
Figure 3.15 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the <i>mdh</i> alleles of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i>
Figure 3.16 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the mdh gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi.
Figure 3.17 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the <i>mtlD</i> alleles of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i>
Figure 3.18 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the <i>mtlD</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> .
Figure 3.19 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the <i>pmm</i> alieles of <i>M. haemolytica</i> and <i>M. glucosida</i>
Figure 3.20 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the <i>pmm</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> .
Figure 3.21 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the <i>gcp</i> alleles of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> 203

Figure 3.22 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the gcp gene of M. haemolytica,

1118 2

M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. 204
Figure 3.23 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the <i>plpABC</i> alleles of <i>M. haemolytica</i> and <i>M. glucosida</i> 208
Figure 3.24 Minimum evolution (ME) trees for the (A) <i>plpA</i> , (B) <i>plpB</i> , and (C) <i>plpC</i> genes of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i>
Figure 3.25 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the <i>plpD</i> alleles of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> 213
Figure 3.26 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the <i>plpD</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> .
Figure 3.27 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites among the 14 ompA alleles of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida.
Figure 3.28 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the <i>ompA</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> .
Figure 3.29 Distribution of polymorphic amino acid sites among the 14 <i>ompA</i> alleles within the transmembrane domain of the OmpA proteins of
M. haemolytica and M. glucosida. 222Figure 3.30 Proposed secondary structure of the N-terminal transmembrane
domain of the OmpA proteins of <i>M. haemolytica</i> and <i>M. glucosida</i>
Figure 3.31 Comparison of MILEE tree (left) and <i>ompA</i> tree (right)

Figure 3.32 Nucleotide sequence of the P. trehalosi isolate PH246 ompA' and

xxii

10.0413

ompA" genes, together with the deduced amino acid sequences of the OmpA' and OmpA" proteins, respectively, encoded by these genes. 227 Figure 3.33 Distribution of polymorphic amino acid sites among the eight ompA Figure 3.34 Coomassie blue-stained SDS-PAGE OMP profiles of P. trehalosi isolates. 230 Figure 3.35 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the tbpB alleles of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida isolates of lineages I Figure 3.36 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *tbpB* gene of *M. haemolytica*, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. 237 Figure 3.37 Comparison of the inferred amino acid sequences corresponding to the N-terminal regions (N) and the C-terminal regions (C) of the six TbpB Figure 3.38 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites among the *tbpA* alleles Figure 3.39 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *tbpA* gene of *M. haemolytica*, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. 244 Figure 3.40 Amino acid sequence alignments of *tbpA* alleles of *M. haemolytica*, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. 246

Figure 3.41 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites within the *tbpB* and

and a first of the state of the second

بالمراكبة القررجا بوارد المعادين ال

xxiii

xxiv

<i>tbpA</i> genes of representative <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i>
isolates.
Figure 3.42 Schematic representation of the mosaic structures of the $tbpB$ and
tbpA genes in representative M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
isolates
Figure 3.43 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites among the wza alleles
of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida254
Figure 2 44 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the y_{22} gene of M. base mobilized
M alugorida and B trabalasi ununununununununununununununununununun
M. gracostati, and F. trenatost.
Figure 3.45 Distribution of polymorphic amino acid sites among the wza alleles
of <i>M. haemolytica</i> and <i>M. glucosida</i> 259
Figure 3.46 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the concatenated sequences
(7044bp) of the seven conserved genes (7044bp) recA, asd, mtlD, galE, gnd,
g6pd, and gcp of M. haemolytica. 262
Figure 3.47 Influence of mitomycin C concentration on the lysis kinetics
(induction of bacteriophages) of bovine M. haemolylica isolate PH342
(serotype A1). 264
Figure 3.48 Phage induction profiles showing (A) complete lysis (isolate PH2), (B)
nartial lysis (PH66), and (C) no lysis (PH494),
Figure 3.49 Diagrammatic representation of morphological types of temperate
phages from M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. 270

Figure 3.50 Negatively-stained electron micrographs of Siphoviridae-type
phages of <i>M. haemolytica</i> . 271
Figure 3.51 Negatively-stained electron micrographs of <i>Myoviridae</i> -type phages
of <i>M. haemolytica</i> . 272
Figure 3.52 Negatively-stained electron micrographs of an unrecognized family
time of all and the formulation and the second se
type of phages of <i>M. naemolytica</i> ,2/3
Figure 3.53 Negatively-stained electron micrographs of phage head-like
structures of <i>M. haemolytica</i> 273
Figure 3.54 Restriction enzyme (RE) patterns of phage DNA from
M. haemolytica (lane 1-9), M. glucosida (lane 10), and P. trehalosi (lane 11)
isolates digested with HindIII and Cla1
Figure 3.55 Plaque assays showing (A) a clear plaque (lysate of isolate PH376
on indicator isolate PH30) and (B) faint plaques (lysates of isolates PH396,
PH388, and PH470 on indicator isolate PH196). 279
Figure 3.56 Restriction enzyme (RE) patterns of phage DNA from serotype A1
and A6 isolates of <i>M. haemolytica</i> digested with HindIII and ClaI284
Figure 2.57 Diagrammatic representation sharving position of the propagad
Figure 5.57 Diagrammatic representation showing position of the proposed
prophage genome in <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PHL213 genomic data (contigs 150,
91, and 137 of the genome sequence as of 01/02/04). 287
Figure 3.58 Comparison of the nucleotide sequences of contigs C150 and C137
of M has a late PHI 213 in the visibility of the attachment sites (att]
1 wp
and attR).

6

Figure 3.59 Comparison of prophage attachment sites (attL) in the various tRNA genes of M. haemolytica isolate PHL213, P. multocida isolate LFB3, and S. thermophilus isolate Sfi21. 290 Figure 3.60 Comparison of the cos sequences from *M. haemolytica* prophage PHL213Φ and *E. coli* prophage P2......292 **Figure 3.61** Diagrammatic representation showing the proposed PHL213 Φ phage genome. 293 Figure 3.62 Predicted fragment patterns of the putative PIIL213 Φ in a virtual gel generated by NEB cutter (A) and restriction fragment patterns of PH2 Φ DNA in 0.7% agarose gel (B). 294 Figure 3.63 Alignment of the putative *M. haemolytica* PHL213 Φ phage genome with the *E.coli* P2 phage genome. 296 Figure 3.64 PCR assay with primer pair #505/#506. 298 Figure 4.1 Proposed evolution of (A) pathogenic bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates

xxvi

xxvii

18 - 19 March 19

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Reclassification of the P. haemolytica complex -2
Table 1.2 Biochemical characteristics of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Table 1.3 Capsular genes of M. haemolytica and homologous genes in other
Table 1.4 The capsule composition of serotypes $A1$, $A2$, and $A7$ of <i>M. haemolytica</i>
and serotypes T4 and T15 of <i>P. trehalosi</i>
Table 1.5 The bacteriophages of the Proteobacteria 45
Table 1.6 Properties of temperate tailed bacteriophages 47
Table 1.7 Phage-encoded virulence factors 60 Table 2.1 Properties of 32 M haemolytical six M alucosida and four P trebalasi
isolates
Table 2.2 Details of the genes selected for study 69
Table 2.3 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the recA gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 77
Table 2.4 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the <i>aroA</i> gene of <i>M. haemolytica</i> . <i>M. glucosida</i> . and <i>P. trehalosi</i>
Table 2.5 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the

at a second sub- as a

.

1.41

and the second second

11.11

ł

asd gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Table 2.6 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the galE gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi ************************************
Table 2.7 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the gap gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 91
Table 2.8 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the gnd gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Table 2.9 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the g6pd gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Table 2.10 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the mdh gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 100
Table 2.11 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the mtlD gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 104
Table 2.12 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the pmm gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 106
Table 2.13 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the gcp gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 109
Table 2.14 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of theplpA, plpB, and plpC genes of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi - 113
Table 2.15 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the

ţ

xxviii

plpD gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Table 2.16 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the ompA gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 119
Table 2.17 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of thetbpB and tbpA genes of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Table 2.18 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the wza gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi
Table 2.19 Sequence of primers used to amplify segments A and B in phage DNA from <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PH2 (see Figure 2.34)
Table 3.1 Size of gene and sequenced fragment and number of isolates and alleles analyzed for 19 genes of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i>
Table 3.2 Comparison of the proteins encoded by <i>M. haemolytica</i> isolate PH2 with the corresponding proteins of seven members of the <i>Pasteurellaceae</i>
Table 3.3 Nucleotide and amino acid sequence diversity, d_s and d_N values, and $d_{s'}d_N$ ratios for conserved genes of <i>M. haemolytica</i> , <i>M. glucosida</i> , and <i>P. trehalosi</i> 150
Table 3.4 Distribution of recA alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M. glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate
Table 3.5 Distribution of aroA alleles among 32 M. haemolytica, six M. glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates
Table 3.6 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of

ł

xxix

Table 3.7 Distribution of asd alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one Table 3.8 Distribution of galE alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M. glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate 167 **Table 3.9** Distribution of gap alleles among 32 *M. haemolytica*, six *M. glucosida*, and four P. trehalosi isolates 172
 Table 3.10 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs
 Table 3.11 Distribution of gnd alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M. glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate 178 **Table 3.12** Distribution of *g6pd* alleles among 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates 182 Table 3.13 Distribution of mdh alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M. glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate 187 **Table 3.14** Distribution of *mtlD* alleles among 17 *M. haemolytica* isolates, six Table 3.15 Distribution of pmm alleles among 32 M. haemolytica, six Table 3.16 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the six pmm allele types of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 198

والمراجعين وهوار والمراجع ومعتوق ويرومن فعراج التأو فاطرا والمراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع

XXX

Table 3.17 Distribution of gcp alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M, glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate 202 **Table 3.18** Distribution of *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* alleles among 10 *M*. *haemolytica* **Table 3.19** Distribution of *plpD* alleles among 11 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one M. glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate 212 **Table 3.20** Distribution of *ompA* alleles among 31 *M. haemolytica*, six Table 3.21 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the 10 ompA allele types of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi 219 Table 3.22 Sequence diversity and substitution rates for the hypervariable domains HV1 to HV4 and for the conserved regions of the *ompA* genes of 31 Table 3.23 Distribution of *tbpB* and *tbpA* alleles among 32 *M. haemolytica*, six
 Table 3.24 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs

and a share of

Table 3.26 Sequence diversity and substitution rates for the 11 loop regions L1 to L11, the variable domains, V1 and V2, and the conserved regions of the *tbpA*

xxxi

xxxii

1 K. 1 K. A.

1
xxxiii

Table 3.36 Properties of bacteriophages induced in eight serotype A2 isolates of
M. haemolytica 285
Table 3.37 The size and position of restriction fragments of putative PHL213 Φ 294
Table 3.38 Bioinformatic analysis of ORFs of the putative PHL213 Φ of
M. haemolytica

xxxiv

ABBREVIATIONS

А	Adenine		
attI.	Attachment site Left		
attR	Attachment site Right		
BHI	Brain Heart Infusion		
BHIA	Brain Heart Infusion Agar		
bp	Base pair(s)		
BRD	Bovine respiratory disease		
BSA	Bovine serum albumin		
С	Cytosine		
°C	Degrees Celsius		
$\rm CO_2$	Carbon dioxide		
COG	Clusters of orthologous groups		
cos	Cohesive end		
dATP	2'-deoxyadenosine 5'-triphosphate		
dCTP	2'-deoxycytosine 5'-triphosphate		
dGTP	2'-deoxyguanosine 5'-triphosphate		
dH ₂ O	Distilled water		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
DNAse	Deoxyribonuclease		
dNTP	2'-deoxynucleoside 5'-triphosphate		
dTTP	2'-dcoxythymidine 5'-triphosphate		
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetra acetic acid		
ET	Electrophoretic type		
et al.	et alios (and others)		
F	Forward		
G	Guanine		
g	Gram(s)		
×g	A unit of force equal to the force exerted by gravity		
h	Hour(s)		
HCl	Hydrochloric acid		
ICTV	International Committee for the Taxonomy of Viruses		
lg	Immunoglubulin		
IHA	Indirect haemagglutination assay		
IS	Insertion sequence		
KAc	Potassium acetate		
kb	Kilobase(s)		
KCl	Potasium chloride		
kDa	Kilodalton		

xxxv

kg	Kilogram(s)		
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide		
М	Molar		
mA	Milliampere		
Mg	M. glucosida		
mg	Milligram		
MgCl ₂	Magnesium chloride		
MgSO ₄	Magnesium sulphate		
Mh	M. haemolytica		
μg	Microgram		
μ	Microlitre		
min	Minute(s)		
ml	Millilitre(s)		
MLEE	Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis		
mM	Millimolar		
mm	Millimetre(s)		
mRNA	Messenger RNA		
NaCl	Sodium chloride		
NCTC	National Collection of Type Cultures		
ng	Nanogram(s)		
nm	Nanometer(s)		
OD	Optical density		
ORF	Open reading frame		
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction		
PFU	Plaque forming units		
pH	A measure of the acidity of a solution		
pmol	Picomole		
Pt	P. trehalosi		
R	Reverse		
RE	Restriction endonuclease		
RecA	Recombinase A		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
RNAse	Ribonuclease		
rpm	Revolutions per minute		
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA		
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate		
S	Second(s)		
Т	Thymidine		
Tris	2-amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)1,3-propandiol		
tRNA	Transfer RNA		
U	Units		

xxxvi

UV	Ultraviolet
v	Volts
VIC	Veterinary Investigation Centre
w/v	Weight per volume

xxxvii

SUMMARY

Comparative nucleotide sequence analysis of nineteen genes of different functional classes was carried out in representative isolates of *Mannheimia haemolytica* (10 to 32 isolates), *Mannheimia glucosida* (1 to 6 isolates), and *Pasteurellu trehalosi* (1 to 4 isolates). The genes include one DNA repair and recombination gene (*recA*), nine metabolic enzyme genes (*aroA*, *asd*, *galE*, *gap*, *gnd*, *g6pd*, *mdh*, *mtlD*, and *pmm*), one secreted protein gene (*gcp*), four periplasm-associated lipoprotein genes (*plpA*, *plpB*, *plpC*, and *plpD*), and four outer membrane protein genes (*ompA*, *tbpB*, *tbpA*, and *wza*). This study was inspired by previous work which had revealed that recombination involving *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*, together with host switching of isolates from cattle to sheep, have played important roles in the evolution of the *M. haemolytica* leukotoxin operon (Davies *et al.*, 2001; 2002).

Comparative nucleotide sequence analysis of the nineteen genes indicated that only single nucleotide substitutions had occurred in the *recA*, *asd*, *gnd*, *g6pd*, *mtlD*, and *gcp* genes of *M. haemolytica*. A phylogenetic tree based on their concatenated sequences supported the evolutionary relationships of isolates of *M. haemolytica* based on previous MLEE studies. In contrast, the *aroA*, *gap*, *mdh*, *pmm*, *plpA*, *plpB*, *plpC*, *plpD*, *ompA*, *tbpB*, *tbpA*, and *wza* genes showed evidence of varying degrees of mosaic structure which suggests that horizontal DNA transfer and intragenic recombinant segments of *M. haemolytica* genes have been derived from *M. glucosida* and other unidentified sources indicating that DNA from other bacterial species has contributed to the evolution of *M. haemolytica*. Extensive recombinant exchanges have occurred in the outer membrane protein genes *ompA*, *tbpB*, *tbpA*, and *wza*. The different tree topologies and different patterns of nucleotide and amino acid diversity

xxxviii

of these four genes indicate that they have different evolutionary histories. However, the evolutionary histories of these four genes support the previously proposed view that *M. haemolytica* diversity has been influenced by the transmission of isolates from cattle to sheep and *vice versa*, which is probably linked to the domestication of these species.

The temperate bacteriophages of representative isolates of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* were also investigated in this study since phages are known to mediate horizontal DNA transfer. Induction of bacteriophages with mitomycin C and examination by electron microscopy revealed that temperate phages were more prevalent in *M. haemolytica* (24 of 32 isolates) than *M. glucosida* (one of six isolates) and *P. trehalosi* (one of four isolates). Genetic variation of the phages was assessed by restriction endonuclease analysis and host range was determined by plague assay. Phage DNA was successfully isolated from 15 *M. haemolytica*, one *M. glucosida*, and one *P. trehalosi* isolates and restriction endonuclease analysis identified nine different RE types (A to I) in *M. haemolytica*, one RE type (J) in *M. glucosida*, and one RE type (K) in *P. trehalosi*. Plaque assay revealed that 13 *M. haemolytica*, one *M. glucosida*, and one *R. glucosida*, and one *P. trehalosi*. Plaque assay revealed that 13 *M. haemolytica*, one *M. glucosida*, and one *R. glucosida*, and one *P. trehalosi*. Plaque assay revealed that 13 *M. haemolytica*, one *M. glucosida*, and one *R. glucosida*, and one *P. trehalosi* lysates could produce lysis zones on one to six *M. haemolytica*, two *M. glucosida*, and one *P. trehalosi* indicator isolates, respectively.

Using restriction endonuclease analysis and genomic analysis of the *M. haemolytica* genome sequence, phages of RE type A were shown to be very similar to P2 phages of *E. coli*. The annotated genome of this phage type was derived from the bacterial unannotated genomic sequence and compared with the genome of P2 phages.

. .

10.1 10.5 4

1.1 The organisms

1.1.1 History and nomenclature of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Mannheimia haemolytica, Mannheimia glucosida, and Pasteurella trehalosi were formerly recognized as one species, *Pasteurella haemolytica*, which was proposed by Newson and Cross when they isolated a bacterium that caused pneumonia in calves in 1932 (Newsom & Cross, 1932). However, P. haemolytica showed highly divergent characteristics and two general typing methods, biotyping and scrotyping, were adopted to distinguish isolates within the P. haemolytica complex. Biotyping identified two biotypes of P. haemolytica based on a number of differences in phenotypes such as cultural and biochemical traits, pathogenicity, growth dynamics, and antibiotic sensitivity. The two biotypes were designated A and T which reflect the ability to ferment L-arabinose and trehalose, respectively (Smith, 1961). Serotyping has recognized 17 scrotypes of P. haemolytica based on indirect haemagglutination assay (IHA) that detects differences in capsular polysaccharide (see section 1.4.1.1 for further details) (Fodor et al., 1988; Fraser et al., 1982; Pegram et al., 1979; Younan & Fodar, 1995). There is a consistent association between serotypes and biotypes (Table 1.1). Serotypes 1, 2, 5 to 9, 11 to 14, 16, and 17 are associated with biotype A, whereas serotypes 3, 4, 10, and 15 are associated with biotype T (Biberstein & Gills, 1962).

The T biotype of *P. haemolytica* was separated from *P. haemolytica* and reclassified as *Pasteurella trehalosi* in 1990 based on numerical taxonomic analysis and DNA-DNA hybridization (Sneath & Stevens, 1990). Subsequently, the A biotype of *P. haemolytica* was assigned to a new genus, *Mannheimia*, in 1999 based on ribotyping. 16S rRNA sequencing, DNA-DNA hybridization, and phenotypic data

.

 γy

Table 1.1 Reclassification of the P. haemolytica complex

¥

New species name	Previous biotypes and serotypes of P. haemolytica		
M. haemolytica	A1, A2, A5, A6, A7, A8, A9, A12, A13, A14, A16, A17		
M. glucosida	A11		
P. trehalosi	T3, T4, T10, T15		

(Angen *et al.*, 1999b). Serotype A11 isolates were reclassified as *Mannheimia* glucosida, and the remaining 12 serotypes were reclassified as *Mannheimia* haemolytica. The reclassification of the *P. haemolytica* complex is summarized in Table1.1.

The growing information on genetic relationships has led to the reclassification of other members of the family *Pasteurellaceae*, and the three genera *Pasteurella*, *Actinobacillus*, and *Haemophilus* that originally formed the family now include the new genera *Mannheimia* (Angen *et al.*, 1999b), *Phocoenobacter* (Foster *et al.*, 2000), *Lonepinella* (Osawa *et al.*, 1995), *Histophilus* (Angen *et al.*, 2003), *Gallibacterium* (Christensen *et al.*, 2003), and *Volucribacter* (Christensen *et al.*, 2004a). Sequence analysis of the 16S rRNA gene and several housekeeping genes within the *Pasteurellaceae* has provided additional evidence to support this new classification and also suggests that some species such as *[P]. trehalosi*, *[Actinobacillus] capsulatus*, *[Haemophilus] ducreyi*, *[Haemophilus] parainfluenzae*, *[Actinobacillus] actinomycetemcomitans*, and *[Haemophilus] parasuis* need further reclassification since they are on branches that are distinct from the other major branches of *Pasteurella*, *Haemophilus*, and *Actinobacillus*, respectively (Figure 1.1) (Christensen *et al.*, 2004b; Dewhirst *et al.*, 1992; Korezak *et al.*, 2004).

According to the topology based on 16S rRNA sequence data of members of the *Pasteurellaceae* (Figure 1.1), *Mannheimia* is more closely related to the genus *Actinobacillus* than to the genus *Pasteurella* (Angen *et al.*, 1999b; Davies *et al.*, 1996; Dewhirst *et al.*, 1992).



Figure 1.1 Neighbour-joining tree for the 16S rRNA gene of members of the *Pasteurellaceae*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions. The species name and GenBank accession numbers for the sequences used are shown. Genera in square brackets need reclassification because they are on branches that are distant from the major branches.

1.1.2 Morphological and biochemical characteristics of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

Cell morphology. *M. haemolytica, M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* have a morphology common with other members of the *Pasteurellaceae* (Angen *et al.*, 1999b; Sneath & Stevens, 1990). Cells are Gram-negative, non-motile, rods or coccobacilli. Two types of fimbriae have been demonstrated on the surface of A1 isolates of *M. haemolytica* (Potter *et al.*, 1988), but their presence on other serotypes of *M. haemolytica* as well as on *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*, is unknown.

Cultural morphology. The cultural traits of *P. trehalosi* are slightly different from those of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* (Smith, 1961). After 24 hours the colonies of *P. trehalosi* are yellowish in colour and measure up to 2 mm in diameter. When smears are made in distilled water, lace-like patterns appear. On the other hand, the colonies of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* are smaller than those of *P. trehalosi* and show are lightish-grey in colour. Smears in distilled waters show even dispersal.

Biochemical characteristics. The biochemical properties of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* that have been reported by previous investigators (Angen *et al.*, 1999b; Mutters *et al.*, 1989; Sneath & Stevens, 1985; Sneath & Stevens, 1990) are compared in Table 1.2. Three species contain common characteristics for haemolysis, D-sorbitol, maltose, dextrin, indole and D-melibiose. However, *P. trehalosi* can be distinguished from *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* by fermenting trehalose and not fermenting D-xylose. *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* can be differentiated by the NPG test. Although *M. glucosida* and *M. haemolytica* are referred to as the 'A biotype' (Smith, 1961), no isolate of these species ferments L-

Property	M. haemolytica "	M. glucosida "	P. trehalosi ^b
Haemolysis	+	+	
Ornithinc decarboxylase	-	D	-
Trehalose	-	-	+
L-Arabinose	-	D	-
D-Sorbitol	+	-†-	ŀ
D-Xylose	÷	+-	**
Maltose	+	+	+
Dextrin	. -	-+-	-+-
Glucosides	~	D	D
Gentiobiose	-	D	NT
NPG (β-glucosidase)	-	+	D
Meso-Inositol	D	+	D
ONPF (α -fucosidase)	+	D	-
ONPX (β-xylosidase)	D	D	-
ONPG (β-galactosidase)	D	+	يم ا
Indole	-	-	-
D-Melibiose	-	-	-

 Table 1.2 Biochemical characteristics of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P.

 trehalosi

^a See references (Angen et al., 1999b; Mutters et al., 1989)

^b See references (Sneath & Stevens, 1985; Sneath & Stevens, 1990)

Symbols: + = positive; - = negative; D = + or -; NT = not tested

arabinose in recent experiments (Angen et al., 1999b; Mutters et al., 1989).

1.2 The diseases

M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi are commensal parasites, but they have pathogenic potential and can multiply quickly under conditions of immunodeficiency and stress (Biberstein, 1990). The three species have differences in virulence and host specificity (Frank, 1989; Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989). M. haemolytica is recovered from various ruminants such as cattle, sheep, goats, and deer. whereas M. glucosida occurs mostly in sheep, and *P. trehalosi* occurs only in sheep (Biberstein & Thompson, 1966; Quirie et al., 1986). M. haemolytica is responsible for pneumonic pasteurellosis (Frank, 1989), while *P. trehalosi* is responsible for systemic pasteurellosis and *M. glucosida* is not normally associated with disease conditions (Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989)

1.2.1 Pneumonic pasteurellosis caused by M. haemolytica

M. haemolytica is the etiological agent of bovine and ovine pneumonic pasteurellosis that cause considerable economic losses to the beef and sheep industries worldwide (Frank, 1989; Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989; Martin, 1996). Bovine pneumonic pasteurellosis has various names such as bovine respiratory disease (BRD), shipping fever, transit fever, dust pneumonia, bronchial pneumonia, fibrinous pleuropneumonia, and bovine epizootic pneumonia. It is believed that losses due to pneumonic pasteurellosis are greater than the losses due to all other diseases of cattle in the United States (De Alwis, 1993).

Serotypes A1, A2, and A6 of M. haemolytica are carried in the nasopharynges and

tonsils of healthy and unstressed cattle, whereas all 12 serotypes of *M. haemolylica* are associated with shccp. However, only small numbers occur because they are kept in check by host defence mechanisms (Frank, 1989; Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989). However, under stressful conditions such as physical and physiological stress or viral and bacterial infections, the compromised defence mechanisms allow rapid multiplication of specific serotypes of *M. haemolytica* in cattle and sheep (Biberstein & Thompson, 1966; Frank, 1989; Martin, 1996). The pathogenicity of different serotypes varies in cattle and sheep. For example, serotype A1 isolates are predominant in bovine pneumonic pasteurellosis (Frank, 1989; Gonzalez & Maheswaran, 1993), whereas serotype A2 isolates are the major course of ovine pneumonic pasteurellosis (Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989; Odugbo et al., 2003). This increased proliferation has been shown to increase the number of aerosolised M. haemolytica (Jericho et al., 1986; Purdy et al., 1989), thus allowing bacteria to be aspirated deeper into the lung (DeRosa et al., 2000). Once pulmonary alveolar colonization has begun, bacterial toxins together with the animal's immunopathologic responses result in pulmonary damage (Ackermann & Brogden, 2000; McBride et al., 1999). Death can occur within two or three days or the infection can proliferate and lead to chronic lung damage (Brogden et al., 1998). Thus, carly recognition and treatment are important. The early clinical signs of pneumonic pasteurellosis are characterized by fever, dyspnea, cough, depression, anorexia, and nasal and eye discharge (Frank, 1989; Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989).

1.2.2 Systemic pasteurellosis caused by P. trehalosi

Systemic pasteurellosis of sheep caused by *P. trehalosi* is an important disease in Britain, but it appears to be less common worldwide than pneumonic pasteurellosis (Biberstein & Thompson, 1966). Most outbreaks occur sporadically in weaned

lambs from the period September to December. Stressful environmental conditions such as cold and wet weather and management factors such as marketing and transporting have been implicated as predisposing causes (Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989).

Since lesions were consistently found in the tonsils and in the pharyngeal and oesophageal mucosa, it is postulated that the bacteria multiply at these sites and spread via the venous and/or lymphatic drainage to the anterior vena cava and then to the lung capillary bed forming the characteristic emboli (Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989). The bacteria also spread haematogenously to all of internal organs including the liver, spleen and kidneys (Martin, 1996). This disease is essentially an acute enterotoxaemia and at the start of an outbreak some sheep are usually found dead, while others may be seen to have collapsed and to be dyspnoeic and frothing at the mouth (Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989; Martin, 1996)

1.3 Bacterial virulence factors

A variety of virulence factors are associated with *M. haemolytica* (Confer *et al.*, 1990; Highlander, 2001; Lo, 2001). The major virulence factors of *M. haemolytica* include secreted proteins such as leukotoxin (LKT), glycoprotease (Gcp), and neuraminidase, and cell surface factors such as capsular polysaccharide (CPS), lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and outer membrane proteins (OMPs).

1.3.1 Secreted proteins

1.3.1.1 Leukotoxin (LKT)

M. haemolytica LKT is a pore-forming cytolysin that is a member of the RTX (repeats

in toxin) family of Gram-negative bacterial cytotoxins (Strathdee & Lo, 1987). However, *M. haemolytica* LKT is distinguishable from other RTX toxins by its target specificity for ruminant leukocytes and platelet. Cytolysis requires higher LKT concentrations to form transmembrane pores, which results in osmotic lysis. On the other hand, at lower concentrations, *M. haemolytica* LKT modifies leukocytes and platelets to release toxic oxygen products and protease which cause tissue necrosis (Nyarko *et al.*, 1998).

Nucleotide sequence analysis of the leukotoxin (*lktA*) gene of *M. haemolytica* has led to an understanding of its molecular evolution (Davies *et al.*, 2001). The mosaic structure of *lktA* and the presence of identical *lktA* gene sequences in isolates of different evolutionary lineages suggest that horizontal transfer and intragenic and assortative (entire gene) recombination have occurred. In addition, host switching of isolates between eattle and sheep has also been an important factor in the evolution of *lktA* since ovine alleles contain recombinant segments derived from bovine serotype A2 strains. Therefore, horizontal DNA transfer and recombination, together with host switching of isolates from cattle to sheep, have led to the rapid evolution of LktA and have possibly contributed to host adaptation (Davies *et al.*, 2001)

1.3.1.2 Glycoprotease (Gcp)

The glycoprotease (Gcp) of *M. haemolytica* has been characterized and is a neutral protease which is not toxic or lytic to host cells. However, it has activity against O-linked sialoglycoproteins on the surface of host cells such as macrophages or on the mucosal epithelium of the host respiratory tract (Abdullah *et al.*, 1991; Abdullah *et al.*, 1992). *M. haemolytica* Gcp is also capable of inducing platelet activation, adhesion, and aggregation, which are observed in the lungs of cattle with pneumonic

pasteurellosis (Nyarko et al., 1998).

The glycoprotease of a *M. haemolytica* A1 isolate has been sequenced (Abduliah *et al.*, 1991), and the presence of the *gcp* gene and enzyme activity have been examined in isolates of the various serotypes (Lee *et al.*, 1994; Watt *et al.*, 1997). According to PCR, southern blot hybridization, and western blot analyses, all *M. haemolytica* serotypes possess the *gcp* gene and have glycoprotease activity. However, *M. glucosida* contains the *gcp* gene, but exhibits no glycoprotease activity whereas *P. trehalosi* possesses neither the gene nor glycoprotease activity (Abdullah *et al.*, 1990; Lee *et al.*, 1994; Watt *et al.*, 1997). Vaccination with recombinant glycoprotease of *M. haemolytica* A1 was shown to protect cattle against experimental challenge with live *M. haemolytica* A1 (Shewen *et al.*, 2003).

1.3.1.3 Neuraminidase

There is evidence that *M. haemolytica* A1 isolates produce neuraminidase during a naturally acquired infection in cattle (Straus *et al.*, 1998) and neuraminidases produced by various serotypes of *M. haemolytica* are quite similar (Straus *et al.*, 1993). However, the exact mechanism of neuraminidase in pathogenicity has not yet been elucidated. It has been suggested that neuraminidase may exert a pathogenic role by removing sialic acid from mucus or cell surface glycoproteins (Gottschalk, 1960; Kelly & D., 1970). This can potentially cause a reduction of the protective capability of these proteins against potential pathogens and promote bacterial survival during an active infection.

1.3.2 Cell wall proteins and carbohydrates

1.3.2.1 Capsular polysaccharide (CPS)

The capsular polysaccharides are composed of repeating monosaccharides linked covalently to the cell surface by phospholipid or lipid A molecules (Roberts, 1996). Capsular polysaccharides are an incredibly diverse range of molecules that may differ not only in monosaccharide units but also in how these units are joined together (Roberts, 1996). The roles of bacterial capsules of a number of Gram-negative pathogens in avoiding host defensive systems and in adherence to mucus or epithelial cells have been reported (Boyce & Adler, 2000; Unkmeir *et al.*, 2002).

In *M. haemolytica*, 12 different polysaccharide capsule serotypes have been identified (Table 1.1) and further details of the capsule serotypes are provided in section 1.4.1.1. Studies of the A1 capsular type polysaccharide indicate that it is involved in adherence of *M. haemolytica* to alveolar surfaces (Brogden *et al.*, 1989), resistance to serum bacteriolysis (Chae *et al.*, 1990; McKerral & Lo, 2002), as well as inhibition of the phagocytic and bactericidal activities of neutrophils (Czuprynski *et al.*, 1989).

The capsule gene cluster of *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 has been characterized (Lo *et al.*, 2001) and has a structure typical of group II capsules of Gram-negative bacteria (Roberts, 1996). It consists of three regions which are involved in capsule transport (region 1), capsule biosynthesis (region 2), and phospholipid substitution (region 3) (Figure 1.2). The nucleotide and inferred amino acid sequences of regions 1 and 3 are homologous to those of a number of bacteria (Table 1.3) that produce group II capsules (Chung *et al.*, 1998; Frosch *et al.*, 1992; Kroll & Booy, 1996; Ward & Inzana, 1997). In contrast, the sequences of four uncharacterised

1



Figure 1.2 Genetic organization of the M. haemolytica serotype A1 capsule gene

cluster. Green, red, and yellow arrows indicate the capsule transport, capsule biosynthesis, and phospholipid substitution regions, respectively.

Table 1.3 Capsular genes of M. haemolytica and homologous genes in other species

Gene name				Genc	
M. haemolytica H. influenzae N. meningitidis A. pleuropneumoniac P. multocida					function
wzi	bexA	ctrD	cpxA	hexA	ATPase
wzm	bexB	ctrC	cpxB	hexB	Inner membrane protein
wzf	bexC	ctrB	cpxC	hexC	Periplasm-spanning protein
wza	hexD	ctrA	cpxD	hexD	Outer membrane protein
nmaB	-	-	-	-	
nmaA		-	-	-	
wbrA	-	lipA	-	phyA	Phospholipid substitution
wbrB	-	lipB	-	phyB	Phospholipid substitution

ORFs in region 2 are unique and are thought to have been acquired from an unknown source (Lo *et al.*, 2001). This is consistent with the general view that regions 1 and 3 are conserved, but region 2 is highly diverged due to recombinational exchanges in many bacterial species (Frosch *et al.*, 1992; Roberts, 1996).

Wza is located in the outer membrane and is involved in the translocation of capsular polysaccharide molecules across the outer membrane (Drummelsmith & Whitfield, Comparative sequence analysis of this protein indicates that it is highly 2000). conserved among different Gram-negative bacteria (Paulsen et al., 1997; Rahn et al., 1999; Whitfeld & Roberts, 1999). Wza homologs have been predicted to have a secondary β-barrel structure, (Frosch et al., 1992; Paulsen et al., 1997; Whitfeld & Roberts, 1999) and electron microscopy of E. coli Wza reveals that the protein consists of ringlike multimers in the outer membrane (Drummelsmith & Whitfield, 2000; Nesper et al., 2003). Although there is a lack of sequence similarity, the images of the Wza multimers resemble those obtained with members of the secretin protein family (Genin & Boucher, 1994; Russel, 1998), which are involved in the transport of phage particles, DNA, and type II and III proteins across bacterial membranes. The secretins are thought to consist of two major domains, the Cterminal domain embedded in the outer membrane and the N-terminal domain which extends in to the periplasm and is involved in substrate binding and signal transduction (Brok et al., 1999).

1.3.2.2 Lipopolysaccharide

The lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is the major glycolipid molecule present in the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria and generally consists of three distinct regions (Preston *et al.*, 1996). The lipid A region is composed of sugars and fatty acids and anchors the

LPS in the outer membrane. The core oligosaccharide region consists of approximately 10 monosaccharides and connects the lipid A and O-antigen regions. The O-antigen consists of repeating units of from one to seven monosaccharides (Hitchcock *et al.*, 1986). However, a large number of Gram-negative bacteria contain LPS that lacks O-antigen. These two different LPS types, with and without O-antigens, have been termed smooth and rough-type LPS, respectively (Hitchcock *et al.*, 1986). In general, smooth-type LPS is associated with enteric bacteria and rough-type LPS with mucosal bacteria, although both LPS types can be present in enteric and mucosal bacteria (Preston *et al.*, 1996).

All three regions of LPS are involved in the pathogenesis of Gram-negative bacterial infections. Lipid A has roles in the typical endotoxic activities and host immunopathologic responses (Khan *et al.*, 1998; Luderitz *et al.*, 1973). The core oligosaccharide and O-antigen regions provide resistance to complement-mediated serum killing and phagocytic engulfment by blocking the access of complement to the outer membrane (Allen *et al.*, 1998; Pluschke *et al.*, 1983). The O-antigen also has a role in adherence (Bilge *et al.*, 1996; Jacques & Paradis, 1998).

M. haemolytica LPS is unusual in that rough and smooth forms occur independently in different isolates (Ali *et al.*, 1992; Davies & Donachie, 1996; Lacroix *et al.*, 1993). However, the presence of only a single O-antigen type, in isolates of relatively different diverged core-oligosaccharide regions, suggests that the O-antigen genes may have been obtained recently by horizontal DNA transfer (Davies & Donachie, 1996). Eight different LPS types have been identified in *M. haemolytica* (see section 1.4.1.2) and there is evidence that the LPS of serotype A1 isolates of *M. haemolytica* is also involved in endotoxic activities, adherence, and host immunopathologic responses (Adlam, 1989; Breider *et al.*, 1990).

1.3.2.3 Periplasm-associated proteins

1.3.2.3.1 Lipoproteins (PlpA, PlpB, and PlpC)

Three tandemly arranged lipoprotein genes encoding three 28-30 kDa lipoproteins, have been described separately in *M. haemolytica* by two different groups (Cooney & Lo, 1993; Murphy & Whitworth, 1993). Consequently, two different names, *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* (Cooney & Lo, 1993; Murphy & Whitworth, 1993), and *lpp1*, *lpp2*, and *lpp3* (Cooney & Lo, 1993; Murphy & Whitworth, 1993) have been assigned to these genes. The genes appear to be transcribed from a single promoter located in upstream of *plpA* (or *lpp1*). They encode similar lipoproteins, which are homologous to the 28 kDa lipoprotein genes of *E. coli* (Yu *et al.*, 1986) and *H. influenzae* (Chanyangam *et al.*, 1991). These three lipoproteins are highly immunogenic (Dabo *et al.*, 1994), but examination of the predicted amino acid sequences of *plpA*, *plpB* and *plpC* of *M. haemolytica* suggests that these proteins may be localized to the inner membrane (Cooney & Lo, 1993). Data from southern blot analysis showed that all *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* isolates contain the *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes whereas *P. trehalosi* isolates do not appear to contain these genes (Cooney & Lo, 1993).

Although the exact role of the *M. haemolytica* PlpA, PlpB, and PlpC (or Lpp1, Lpp2, and Lpp3) proteins has not been demonstrated, a mutant isolate lacking these three lipoproteins resulted in enhanced susceptibility to bovine complement-mediated killing and reduced capacity for survival *in vivo* (Dabo *et al.*, 1994).

1.3.2.3.2 Lipoprotein (PlpD)

The *plpD* gene encodes lipoprotein PlpD, but it is located in a different part of the chromosome from *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* (Nardini *et al.*, 1998). Sequence analysis indicates that the N-terminal region of PlpD contains typical lipoprotein sequences, but the C-terminal region is similar to the C-terminal region of the outer membrane protein OmpA (Nardini *et al.*, 1998). Therefore, Nardini *et al.* (1998) suggested that PlpD may be an outer membrane protein. However, PlpD may be a periplasmic-spanning protein rather than an outer membrane protein because the C-terminal region of OmpA corresponds to the periplasmic domain (Pautsch & Schulz, 2000).

1.3.2.4 Outer membrane proteins (OMPs)

About 50% of outer membrane mass consist of proteins, either in the form of integral membrane proteins or as lipoproteins that are anchored to the membrane (Koebnik *et al.*, 2000). Outer membrane proteins (OMPs) are essential not only because they maintain the integrity (Sonntag *et al.*, 1978) and selective permeability of the membrane (Lugtenberg & Van Alphen, 1983), but also because they are involved in bacterial pathogenesis. OMPs play a major role in immune complex disease, because many of the proteins are surface exposed (McBride *et al.*, 1999).

1.3.2.4.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein (OmpA)

The heat-modifiable outer membrane protein (OmpA) is highly conserved in Gramnegative bacteria (Beher *et al.*, 1980). The OmpA protein of *M. haemolytica* shows homology to that of *E. coli* and other Gram-negative bacteria (Mahasreshti *et al.*, 1997). Studies have suggested the heat-modifiable outer membrane protein (OmpA)

play roles in serum resistance (Weiser & C., 1991) in adherence (Dabo *et al.*, 2003; Reddy *et al.*, 1996; Torres & Kaper, 2003), in conjugation (Schweizer & Henning, 1977), and as a bacteriophage receptor (Morona *et al.*, 1984; Morona *et al.*, 1985) in many Gram-negative bacteria. The structure of OmpA has been very well studied in *E. coli*. The three-dimensional structure of OmpA has been determined by X-ray crystallography and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy and indicates that the protein consists of eight membrane-traversing anitiparallel β -strands and four relatively long, mobile, hydrophilic surface-exposed loops (Arora *et al.*, 2001; Pautsch & Schulz, 1998; Pautsch & Schulz, 2000).

The OmpA proteins of bovine and ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates have been shown to exhibit interisolate molecular mass heterogeneity that correlates with the host of origin (Davies & Donachie, 1996). The *ompA* gene of a bovine serotype A1 *M. haemolytica* isolate has been cloned and sequenced (Zeng *et al.*, 1999). Although the function of OmpA has not been demonstrated in *M. haemolytica*, the significant homology of the *M. haemolytica* OmpA protein with that of other Gram-negative bacteria (Mahasreshti *et al.*, 1997; Zeng *et al.*, 1999) suggests that it may have similar functions. A strong IgG response in cattle to the surface-exposed domains of the *M. haemolytica* OmpA protein has vaccine potential (Zeng *et al.*, 1999).

1.3.2.4.2 Transferrin-binding proteins (TbpA and TbpB)

Because the host provides an iron limited environment to potential pathogens, successful bacterial pathogens require mechanisms for obtaining iron from the host (Wooldridge & Williams, 1993). Therefore, a number of different iron acquisition systems have evolved in bacterial pathogens. These include the production of

siderophores and the presence of specific receptors for iron-containing glycoproteins such as lactoferrin and transferrin (Gray-Owen & Schryvers, 1996). For *M. haemolytica*, which does not produce siderophores, the transferrin binding proteins TbpB and TbpA are thought to be key in acquiring iron from the host (Ogumariwo & Schryvers, 1996).

The transferrin binding protein genes of *M. haemolytica* have been cloned and sequenced (Ogunnariwo *et al.*, 1997). The *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes are in an operonic arrangement, with *tbpB* preceding *tbpA* and putative regulatory and promoter sequences upstream of the *tbpB* gene. The transferrin binding proteins (TbpA and TbpB) have molecular weights of 100 000 and 71 000, respectively (Deneer & Potter, 1989) and together form a receptor which is specific for ruminant transferrin (Ogunnariwo & Schryvers, 1990; Schryvers & Gonzalez, 1990; Yu *et al.*, 1992). The *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes from isolates of *A. pleuropneumoniae* (Gerlach *et al.*, 1992), *H. influenzae* (Gray-Owen *et al.*, 1995; Loosmore *et al.*, 1996), and *N. meningitidis* (Anderson *et al.*, 1994; Legrain *et al.*, 1993) have been cloned and sequenced. The TbpA proteins are generally highly conserved within a species, while the TbpB proteins tend to be more variable (Cornelissen & Sparling, 1994).

The structure and function of the transferrin binding proteins are similar to the lactoferrin binding proteins, suggesting that these iron-uptake mechanisms have arisen from a common evolutionary precursor (Gray-Owen & Schryvers, 1996; Pettersson *et al.*, 1994). The amino acid sequences of TbpA are similar to the membrane-spanning siderophore receptor FbpA (Buchanan *et al.*, 1999) and other members of the TonB-dependent family of receptor proteins (Cornelissen & Sparling, 1994). In contrast, the amino acid sequences of TbpB lack any obvious membrane spanning stretches (Gerlach *et al.*, 1992) indicating that it is lipid modified and anchored to the

outer membrane (Gray-Owen & Schryvers, 1996). Comparative sequence analysis of transferrin binding proteins and lactoferrin binding proteins from divergent species detect regions of identity that are likely to represent functionally conserved domains. Primers designed from these conserved regions were able to amplify segments of transferrin binding protein (or lactoferrin binding protein) genes from divergent species possessing there receptors (Ogunnariwo & Schryvers, 1996).

Although antigenic heterogeneity of transferrin binding proteins, particularly TbpB, limits its utility in some bacterial species (Linz *et al.*, 2000; Loosmore *et al.*, 1996; Myers *et al.*, 1998), common antigenic domains of TbpB and TbpA have been identified in several species (Holland *et al.*, 1996; Stevenson *et al.*, 1992), and their efficiency to produce protective antigens in various animal challenge models (Loosmore *et al.*, 1996; Rossi-Campos *et al.*, 1992) suggest that they are potential vaccine candidates . In *M. haemolytica*, protective antibodies were produced against TbpB and the antibodies appear to cross-react with TbpB from several different serotypes including serotypes of ovine pathogens (Potter *et al.*, 1999).

1.4 Variation in M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

1.4.1 Classification based on phenotypic relationships

1.4.1.1 Serotyping

Serotyping is used in many countries for differentiating isolates of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* and is based on the capsular polysaccharide (Biberstein & Thompson, 1966; Frank, 1989; Fraser *et al.*, 1983; Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989; Odugbo *et al.*, 2003; Sisay & Zerihun, 2003). Serotyping is performed by the

indirect haemagglutination assay (IHA) using antisera raised against the reference capsular polysaccharide types (Fraser *et al.*, 1983). To date, twelve capsular serotypes have been recognized in *M. haemolytica*, one in *M. glucosida*, and four in *P. trehalosi* (Table 1.1). However, untypeable isolates of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* isolates are also frequently isolated (Donachie *et al.*, 1984; Gilmour & Gilmour, 1989; Odugbo *et al.*, 2003). The untypeable isolates have been described as mutants which have lost their ability to produce capsular polysaccharide (Gentry *et al.*, 1988). In addition, capsular polysaccharides of types 6, 9, and 16 occur among other *Mannheimia* species (Angen *et al.*, 1999a). This suggests that serotyping is of limited use for differentiating isolates of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*.

Adlam characterized the capsular structures of *M. haemolytica* serotypes A1 (Adlam et al., 1984), A2 (Adlam et al., 1987), and A7, (Adlam et al., 1986) and P. trehalosi serotypes T4 (Adlam et al., 1985b) (Adlam et al., 1985a) and T15 (Table 1.4). The authors reported that the capsular antigens of M. haemolytica and P. trehalosi could be found in other bacterial species. The capsular polysaccharide of *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 is similar to the widely distributed 'enterobacterial common antigen'. The *M. haemolytica* serotype A2 polymer is identical to the capsular polysaccharide of Neisseria meningitidis serogroup B and Escherichia coli K1. The scrotype M. haemolytica A7 capsule has a similar structure to the N. meningitidis serogroup L and Haemophilus influenzae type f capsules. The teichoic acid like capsular antigen of P. trehalosi scrotype T15 also occurs in the capsule of E. coli K2 and K62, N. meningitidis serogroup H, and Actinobacillus pleuropeumoniae serotype 9 (Beynon et al., 1992). The *P. trehalosi* serotype T4 polymer is also similar to these capsular structures, but it differs from them in the linkage of galactose to the phosphate group, which is via C6 rather than C4. This difference in configuration is sufficient to make the polymers non cross-reacting in immunological tests with antisera

Table 1.4 The capsule composition of serotypes A1, A2, and A7 of *M. haemolytica* and scrotypes T4 and T15 of *P. trehalosi*.

Serotype	Capsule Composition	Similar capsule types in other pathogens
Al	\rightarrow 3)- <i>O</i> -(2-acetamido-2-dcoxy-4- <i>O</i> - acetyl-β-D-mannopyranosyluronic acid)-(1→4)- <i>O</i> -(2-acetamido-2- deoxy-β- D-mannopyranose)-(1→	Enterobacterial common antigen
A2	→2)-α-D-N-acetylneuraminic acid- (8→(and a dextran polymer)	Neisseria meningitidis serogroup B Escherichia coli K1
A7	\rightarrow 3)- β -2-acetamido-2- deoxygalactopyranosc-(1 \rightarrow 3)- α -2- acetamido-2-deoxy-6- O -acetly- glucopyranose-(1-phosphate- \rightarrow	<i>Neisseria meningitidis</i> serogroup L <i>Haemophilus influenzae</i> type f
Τ4	\rightarrow (2-glycerol-1) \rightarrow (phosphate) \rightarrow (6- α -D-galactopyranose-1) \rightarrow (partially <i>O</i> -acetylated on C2 and C3 of galactopyranose)	
T15	\rightarrow (2-glycerol-1) \rightarrow (phosphate) \rightarrow (4- α -D-galactopyranose-1) \rightarrow (partially <i>O</i> -acetylated on C2 and C3 of galactopyranose)	<i>Escherichia coli</i> K2 and K62 <i>Neisseria meningitidis</i> serogroup H <i>Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae</i> serotype 9

(Adlam *et al.*, 1985b). Adlam (Adlam, 1989) interpreted that the production of similar or identical capsular structures among different pathogenic bacterial species is an example of convergent evolution to elude the defence mechanisms of the host under attack.

1.4.1.2 LPS profiles

The LPS profiles of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi were analysed by SDS-PAGE (Ali et al., 1992; Davies & Donachie, 1996; Davies & Quirie, 1996; Lacroix et al., 1993). Eight LPS types were identified in M. haemolytica, one in M. glucosida, and six in P. trehalosi (Davies & Donachie, 1996; Davies & Quirie, 1996; Davies et al., 1996). The variations of M. haemolytica LPS profiles were mainly due to four different types of low molecular mass bands representing core-oligosaccharide (1 to 4) and the presence or absence (A or B) of high molecular mass bands representing a single O-antigen type (Davies & Donachie, 1996). There was a strong correlation between LPS profiles and capsular serotype (Table 2.1). For example, serotypes A1, A5, A6, A9, and A12 were associated with LPS type 1A, serotypes A2, A8, A14, and A16 with LPS types 1B and 3B, and serotypes A7 and A13 with LPS type 4A. The LPS profiles of *M. glucosida* were represented by a single LPS type, 4C, which had a similar core-oligosaccharide to the type 4 LPS of M. haemolytica but had a distinctive O-antigen type, C (Davies & Donachie, 1996). The LPS profiles of *P. trehalosi* represented by six different LPS types, 1 to 6, were very different to those of both M. haemolytica and M. glucosida in their coreoligosaccharide and O-antigen regions (Davies & Quirie, 1996).

1.4.1.3 OMP profiles

The OMP profiles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* were analysed by SDS-PAGE (Davies & Donachie, 1996; Davies & Quirie, 1996). Twenty OMP profiles were identified in *M. haemolytica*, two in *M. glucosida*, and four in *P*. trehalosi, respectively. The variations OMP profiles of M. haemolytica were strongly correlated with capsular serotypes (Table 2.1). For example, serotypes A1, A5, A6, A8, A9, and A12 were associated with OMP type 1, serotypes A2, A14 and A16 were associated with OMP type 2, and serotypes A7 and A13 were associated with OMP type 3. The OMP profiles of *M. glucosida* showed similarity to those of scrotype A7 and A13 isolates of *M. haemolytica* but the OMP profiles of *P. trehalosi* were very different to those of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. In addition, OMP analysis demonstrated an association between specific OMP profiles and host specificity (i.e. cattle or sheep). For example, boying isolates of serotype A1 and A6 were associated with OMP type 1.1, whereas ovine isolates of serotypes A1 and A6were associated with OMP type 1.2. Similarly, bovine isolates serotype A2 were associated with OMP type 2.1, whereas ovine serotype A2 isolates were associated with OMP type 2.2 (Table 2.1).

1.4.2 Classification based on genetic relationships

In contrast to phenotypic classification, genotypic classification reflect evolutionary relationships and is a more reliable means of differentiating species and isolates within species.

1.4.2.1 Sequence analysis of the 16S rRNA gene

Sequence analysis of the 16S rRNA gene has been successfully used to discriminate species within *Pasteurellaceae* (see section 1.1.1) and clearly reveals that *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* are distantly related (Angen *et al.*, 1999b; Davies *et al.*, 1996). However, sequence analysis of the 16S rRNA gene is of limited use for differentiating isolates within a species because the gene is highly conserved. For example, various serotypes of *M. haemolytica* contain only two different types of 16S rRNA gene (Angen *et al.*, 1999b; Davies *et al.*, 1996). Serotype A1, A5 to A9, A12 to A14, and A16 isolates have identical 16S rRNA sequences but differ from serotype A2 at two nucleotide positions. However, the 16S rRNA sequence data for *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* isolates indicated that all isolates were clearly differentiated as distinct species (Angen *et al.*, 1999b; Davies *et al.*, 1999b; Davies *et al.*, 1996).

1.4.2.2 Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis (MLEE)

Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis (MLEE), which measures allelic variation in housekeeping genes by detecting changes that cause amino acid substitutions affecting the net electrostatic charge or configuration of polypeptides, has been a standard method in both bacterial and eucaryotic population genetics and systematics (Selander *et al.*, 1986). The special advantage of MLEE is that variation in mobility can be directly related to allelic variation at specific genes encoding specific proteins. In particular, the variation is not likely to be due to convergent evolution because housekeeping proteins are selectively neutral and provides a reliable phylogeny in the absence of significant recombination (Musser, 1996; Selander & Smith, 1990; Selander *et al.*, 1986)

MLEE has been successfully used for analyzing the genetic diversity and population structure of *M. haemolytica* and provides an evolutionary framework for the variation of other molecules in *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a). In comparison with MLEE data, serotyping is of limited value in defining genetic relationships (Davies *et al.*, 1997a). MLEE showed that a small number of clones are associated with a large proportion of disease cases. For example, scrotype A1 and A6 isolates of ET 1 were responsible for 75% of bovine disease, while serotype A2 isolates of ETs 21 and 22 and serotype A7 isolates of ETs 12 to 14 were responsible for the majority of ovine disease (Davies *et al.*, 1997a). This suggests that different evolutionary lineages have become adapted to cattle and sheep (Davies *et al.*, 1997a).

MLEE studies have also been carried out for *M. glucosida* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997b). The mean genetic diversity per locus (*H*) indicates that *M. glucosida* is a relatively divergent species (H = 0.485) whereas *M. haemolytica* (H = 0.297) and *P. trehalosi* (H = 0.289) are less divergent species (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).

1.5 The molecular evolution of bacterial populations

1.5.1 Genetic variation occurs by three mechanisms

Genetic variation, which is continually arising in bacterial populations, is key to the evolution of bacteria, as it enables bacterial isolates to exploit new environments and defines their particular niche in the species (Lan & Reeves, 2000; Reeves, 1992). Three qualitatively different strategies are involved in the generation of genetic variation: local sequence changes, genetic rearrangements, and horizontal DNA transfer.

Local sequence changes. The strategy of local sequence changes includes point mutations (Musser, 1995) and small deletions/insertions (Zinser *et al.*, 2003), which are generated by mutagens or replication errors. The variation occurs spontaneously, and affects one specific trait that may confer an advantage in a changing environment. Since the mutations occur randomly throughout entire genes, the local sequence changes in essential genes such as ribosomal RNA genes or housekeeping genes are used to estimate evolutionary distances (Christensen *et al.*, 2004b; Korezak *et al.*, 2004).

Genetic rearrangements. Insertion sequences (IS) which encode only features necessary for their own mobilization form a part of bacterial genomes as repetitive DNA sequences and participate in bacterial DNA rearrangements in bacterial genomes (Mahillon & Chandler, 1998). Their DNA rearrangement activities result in gene conversion, inactivation, deletion, inversion, and duplication (Arber, 2003). Gene duplication provides the substrates for further mutational evolution such as local sequence changes or horizontal gene transfer without destroying the function of the product encoded by the original gene (Teichmann & Babu, 2004). In addition, IS also occur on plasmids, phages and in composite transposons where the IS often forms the ends of the elements and are involved in new antigenic variants (Ziebuhr *et al.*, 1999).

Horizontal DNA transfer. Bacteria can change rapidly by acquisition of foreign genes from other organisms through three mechanisms (Morschhauser, 2000; Saunders *et al.*, 1999; Spratt & Maiden, 1999). Transformation involves the uptake of free DNA from the environment; conjugation is a cell contact-dependent process that involves DNA transfer via plasmids or transposons; transduction is a phage mediated DNA transfer process. The acquisition of foreign genes allows the rapid

generation of new variants, unlike the first and second mechanisms which result in more slowly evolving genes (Lawrence, 1999; Ochman *et al.*, 2000; Saunders *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, the generation of new isolates and species by the first and second strategies is limited and is a very slow process, but horizontal gene transfer plays a major role in bacterial evolution (Garcia-Vallve *et al.*, 2000; Lan & Reeves, 1996). In particular, the importance of horizontal gene transfer has been highlighted since its role in the emergence of epidemic pathogens has been reported (Mooi & Bik, 1997; Reid *et al.*, 2000; Whittam *et al.*, 1993).

1.5.2 Limitation of bacterial diversity

Since genetic variation of bacteria lead only rarely to an increase in fitness of the organism, the frequency of such changes must be kept to tolerable levels (Begley *et al.*, 1999). This is brought about by DNA repair systems that fix most variation to ensure a certain degree of genetic stability (Arber, 2000). Similarly, restriction modification systems reduce foreign DNA acquisition to low levels by cutting the foreign DNA. However, these small DNA fragments are also recombinogenic. This suggests that the restriction modification systems also stimulate DNA variation in small steps (Arber, 2000; Edwards *et al.*, 1999; Milkman *et al.*, 1999). In addition, the host range of vectors such as bacteriophages and plasmids will limit the extent of horizontal DNA transfer and recombination.

1.5.3 Purifying and diversifying selection

The genetic variation which escapes the repair processes or gene loss is now subject to natural selection and this comprises purifying (negative) and diversifying (positive) selection. Purifying selection removes deleterious variants which reduce the fitness

of organisms whereas diversifying selection favours essential variants which enhance survival, spread, and transmission of an organism within a specific ecological niche. In this way, only advantageous changes can be incorporated into the population and lead bacterial species to improve their fitness in the encountered environment. The level of purifying and diversifying selection can be accessed by comparing the rates of synonymous and nonsynonymous nucleotide substitutions (Fay & Wu, 2001; Kimura, 1977; Nei & Kumar, 2000b). These are defined as the number of synonymous substitutions per synonymous site (d_S) and nonsynonymous substitutions per nonsynonymous sites (d_N) , respectively. Since synonymous substitutions do not affect amino acid changes, they are free from natural selection and the d_S value is similar for many genes. On the other hand, nonsynonymous substitutions, which cause amino acid changes, are subject to selective pressure and the d_N value varies extensively from gene to gene, and at different sites within a gene, depending on the protein or domain function. Housekeeping genes are under severe functional constraints are subject to high levels of purifying selection and have low d_N/d_S (or high d_S/d_N) values. In contrast, outer membrane proteins are under strong selective pressure from the host immune system, experience high levels of positive selection. and have high d_N/d_S (or low d_S/d_N) values (Jordan *et al.*, 2002).

1.5.4 Evolutionary rates of different species

Bacterial population structures range from "highly clonal", where high levels of linkage disequilibrium occur to "non-clonal" or "panmictic", where alleles are at linkage equilibrium and recombinational exchanges are sufficiently frequent to obscure the evolutionary relationships (Feil & Spratt, 2001; Smith *et al.*, 1993; Spratt & Maiden, 1999). For example, *N. meningitidis* is a naturally transformable bacterial species (Kroll *et al.*, 1998; Morschhauser, 2000; Saunders *et al.*, 1999) and
has a non-cloual population structure, whereas *E. coli* and *Salmonella enterica* are not naturally transformable and have cloual structures (Pupo *et al.*, 1997; Selander & Smith, 1990). Therefore, the rate of horizontal DNA transfer in a non-cloual bacterial population is much higher than in a cloual bacterial population (Smith *et al.*, 1993). Nevertheless, bacteria such as *E. coli* contain a significant percentage of genes due to horizontal DNA transfer by conjugation or transduction (Lawrence & Ochman, 1998).

1.5.5 Evolutionary rates of genes of different functional classes

The relative level of purifying selection is thought to be the most important factor governing the rate of evolution for protein-coding genes (Jordan et al., 2002). The essential proteins under strong functional constraint are subject to high levels of purifying selection, while non-essential proteins under less functional constraint experience lower levels of purifying selection and evolve more rapidly through horizontal DNA transfer and recombination (Garcia-Vallve et al., 2000; Gogarten & Olendzenski, 1999; Jain et al., 1999; Nelson & Selander, 1992; Radman et al., 2000; Rivera et al., 1998). Comparative sequence analysis (Figure 1.3) of different functional classes of genes among closely related genomes shows that different functional classes of genes evolve at significantly different rates (Jordan et al., 2002). Among the 18 specific functional categories of genes based on the clusters of orthologous groups of proteins (COG) database, genes involved in energy production and conversion as well as in translation are highly conserved, whereas genes of unknown function and genes involved in DNA replication, recombination and repair are divergent. In addition, different functional groups show different levels of d_s value suggesting that synonymous substitutions are also subject to purifying selection based on functional constraint, although some effect of mutational bias cannot be

ţ



Average rank R = 0.92 P < 0.001

Figure 1.3 Rank correlation of average *d_N* and *d_s/d_N* for orthologs from different **COG functional categories (Jordan** *et al.*, 2002). Metabolism: C- energy production and conversion, G - carbohydrate transport and metabolism, E - amino acid transport and metabolism, F - nucleotide transport and metabolism, H coenzyme metabolism, I - lipid metabolism. **Information storage and processing**: J - translation, ribosomal structure and biogenesis, K - transcription, L - DNA replication, recombination and repair. **Cellular processes**: D - cell division and chromosome partitioning, O - post-translational modification, protein turnover, chaperones, M - cell envelope biogenesis, outer membrane, N - cell motility and secretion, P - inorganic ion transport and metabolism, T - signal transduction mechanisms. **Poorly characterized**: R - general function prediction only, S function unknown.

ruled out (Jordan et al., 2002).

1.5.6 Housekeeping and virulence-associated genes

Housekeeping genes, which are associated with metabolism and information storage and processing, are selectively neutral (Feil & Spratt, 2001; Musser, 1996). Variation in these genes is generated mostly by local sequence changes and very low rates of horizontal DNA transfer and recombination occur. Thus, these genes have been used for elucidating the genetic structure of bacterial populations (Boyd *et al.*, 1994; Christensen *et al.*, 2004b; Stine *et al.*, 2000). In contrast, genes that encode virulence factors are under strong selective pressure from, for example, the host immune system, pH, temperature, and osmolarity and have been subject to frequent horizontal gene transfer events that obscure the clonal population structure (Guiney, 1997; Gupta & Maiden, 2001; Robertson & Meyer, 1992). These genes include those encoding outer membrane proteins (Hobbs *et al.*, 1994), capsular polysaccharides (Mooi & Bik, 1997), penicillin binding proteins (Spratt *et al.*, 1992), and exotoxins (Davies *et al.*, 2001).

1.5.7 Emergence of new pathogens by horizontal gene transfer

In the last two decades there have been large improvements in bacterial disease prevention and treatment due to advances in immunization and antibiotics. However, at the same time, not only have a series of newly recognized bacterial diseases emerged, but a number of diseases have re-emerged in drug resistant forms (Feil & Spratt, 2001). Most of these diseases are associated with new variants that have acquired virulence or drug resistant genes by horizontal gene transfer. The emergence of *E. coli* O157: H7 and *V. cholerae* O139 are well known examples of

these events.

1.5.7.1 Emergence of E. coli O157: H7

Enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC) O157: H7 is an important epidemic pathogen, which probably evolved from an enterophathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) (Riley *et al.*, 1983). EHEC O157:H7 is distinguished from other *E. coli* by unique characteristics. For example, EHEC O157:H7 does not possess the classical toxins of enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC), lacks the invasive abilities of enteroinvasive *E. coli* (EIEC), and is serotypically distinct from EPEC, an important cause of infantile diarrhoea in the developing world (Riley *et al.*, 1983). However, EHEC O157: H7 isolates have EHEC-specific Shiga toxin genes encoded by prophages, carry EHEC-specific plasmids that encode adhesins, and have a EPEC-specific chromosomal *cae* gene that medicates attachment to epithelial cells (Donnenberg & Whittam, 2001). Phylogenetic analysis of *E. coli* isolates has shown that EHEC O157:H7 isolates are more closely related to EPEC O55:H7 isolates than to other EHEC isolates (Whittam *et al.*, 1993) (Reid *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, Reid (2000) and Donnenberg (2001) suggested that EHEC O157:H7 isolates evolved from an EPEC O55:H7-like ancestral clone by the addition of the EHEC specific Shiga-like toxins and plasmids.

1.5.7.2 Emergence of Vibrio cholerae O139

Among various serotypes of *Vibrio cholerae*, only *V. cholerae* serotype O1 has been responsible for epidemic cholera until serotype O139 was recovered in the cholera epidemic in India in 1992 (Albert *et al.*, 1993; Ramamurthy *et al.*, 1993). *V. cholerae* O139 produces LPS that has a distinct O-antigen with a shorter side-chain and a different sugar composition compared to that of *V. cholerae* serotype O1

(Comstock *et al.*, 1995; Johnson *et al.*, 1994). However, MLEE of *V. cholerae* (Johnson *et al.*, 1994) and *recA* sequence analysis (Stine *et al.*, 2000) have shown that *V. cholerae* O139 isolates are closely related to *V. cholerae* O1 strains. This suggests that *V. cholerae* O139 evolved from *V. cholerae* O1 after acquisition of the O139 type O-antigen genes by horizontal DNA transfer (Mooi & Bik, 1997).

1.6 Candidate genes for comparative sequence analysis

1.6.1 Genes encoding DNA repair and recombination enzymes

1.6.1.1 Recombinase A (recA)

The *recA* gene encodes RecA which is involved in nearly every type of homologous recombination event (Kowalczykowski *et al.*, 1994; Radman *et al.*, 2000). Mutations in *recA* affect not only recombination but also DNA repair, SOS mutagenesis, cell division, and chromosomal segregation. RecA is highly conserved among Gram-negative bacteria (Karlin & Brocchieri, 1996) and has been used to study the phylogenic relationships of *V. cholerae* (Byun *et al.*, 1999; Feil *et al.*, 1996; Stine *et al.*, 2000; Zhou & Spratt, 1992) and *Neisseria* species (Byun *et al.*, 1999; Feil *et al.*, 1999; Feil *et al.*, 1999; Feil *et al.*, 1999; Feil

1.6.2 Genes encoding metabolic enzymes

1.6.2.1 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (aroA)

The *aroA* gene encodes the enzyme 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (AroA) which catalyzes the condensation of shikimate 3-phosphate (S3P) and

phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) to form EPSP, a precursor for the aromatic amino acids, p-aminobenzoic acids, and dibydrobenzoate. AroA is an important enzyme for bacterial growth. Disruption of the *aroA* gene leads to auxotrophy of the bacteria and *aroA* mutants have been studied as vaccine candidates in several bacteria (Hernanz Moral *et al.*, 1998; Tabatabaci *et al.*, 2002; Tatum *et al.*, 1994).

1.6.2.2 Aspartate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase (asd)

The *asd* gene encodes the enzyme aspartate semialdehyde dehydrogenase (Asd) which catalyses the conversion of aspartyl phosphate to aspartate semialdehyde and is required for the biosynthesis of diaminopimelic acid (DAP), lysinc, methionine, threonine and isoleucine (Harb & Abu Kwaik, 1998; Hatten *et al.*, 1993; Hoang *et al.*, 1997; Le *et al.*, 1996; Rees & Hay, 1995). DAP is involved in peptide cross-linking of peptidoglycan which is required for cell wall structure and mutations in *asd* of *Legionella pneumophila* have been shown to affect survival in the intracellular environment of host cells (Harb & Abu Kwaik, 1998).

Sequence comparison of *asd* in *Psudomonas aeruginosa*, *E. coli*, and *H. influenzae* has revealed greater than 63% identity among these bacteria (Hoang *et al.*, 1997), demonstrating the conserved nature of this gene in Gram-negative bacteria. However, comparative sequence analysis of the *asd* gene from pathogenic clones of *V. cholerae* demonstrated a high rate of intragenic recombination without a suitable explanation (Byun *et al.*, 1999).

1.6.2.3 UDP-galactose 4-epimerase (galE)

The galE gene encodes the enzyme UDP-galactose 4-epimerase (GalE) which

catalyzes the interconversion of UDP galactose and UDP glucose in the Leloir pathway of galactose metabolism (Potter & Lo, 1996). However, it is also important in LPS biosynthesis because galactose is a constituent of the O-antigen and core oligosaccharide regions of LPS. Thus, GalE plays an important role in an organism's virulence. *H. influenzae galE* mutants have been shown to be less virulent than the wild type (Maskell *et al.*, 1992). The inferred amino acid sequence of the *M. haemolytica* A1 GalE shows a high level of homology, 81.6%, with that of the *H. influenzae* type b GalE (Potter & Lo, 1996)

1.6.2.4 Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (gap)

The *gap* gene encodes the enzyme glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Gap) which catalyzes the reversible interconversion of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate and 1,3-bisphosphoglycerate in the glycolytic pathway (Fothergill-Gilmore & Michels, 1993). Comparative nucleotide sequence analysis of the *gap* gene in *E. coli* and *S. typhimurium* have shown that the tree topologies were generally similar to those based on MLEE suggesting that allelic variation has been generated largely by point mutations rather than intragenic recombination (Nelson *et al.*, 1991).

1.6.2.5 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (gnd)

The *gnd* gene encodes the enzyme 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (Gnd) which eatalyzes the conversion of 6-phosphogluconate to ribulose-5-phopate in the pentose phosphate pathway (Sprenger, 1995). Ribulose-5-phosphate is the final product of the pentose phosphate pathway and is involved in the biosynthesis of RNA, DNA, nucleotide coenzymes, and cell wall constituents. The *gnd* gene of *E. coli* and *S. enteria*, in spite of its housekeeping nature, showed high levels of variation due to

intragenic recombination (Bisercic *et al.*, 1991). It was suggested that this was due to its location next to the highly polymorphic *rfb* genes, which encode O-antigen structures (Bisercic *et al.*, 1991; Nelson & Selander, 1994; Thampapillai *et al.*, 1994). However, the *gnd* gene is not located in the *rfb* operon of *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans* (Bisercic *et al.*, 1991) and in the MLEE study of *M. haemolytica* Gnd showed no amino acid polymorphism (Davies *et al.*, 1997a).

1.6.2.6 Glucose-6-phosphate-1-dehydrogenase (g6pd)

The *g6pd* gene encodes the enzyme glucose-6-phosphate 1-dehydrogenase (G6pd) which catalyzes the conversion of glucose 6 phosphate to 6-phosphoglucono-8-lactone in the first step of the pentose phosphate pathway (Sprenger, 1995). There is less information about sequence analyses of this gene, significant variation of G6PD was demonstrated in the MLEE study of *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a)

1.6.2.7 Malate dehydrogenase (mdh)

The *mdh* gene encodes the enzyme malate dehydrogenase (Mdh) which catalyses the conversion of malate to oxaloacetate in several metabolic processes, including the tricarboxylic acid and glyoxylate cycles. Previous studies of *mdh* have shown little or no evidence of recombination (Boyd *et al.*, 1994), and the *mdh* gene has been used to determine the genetic relationships of *E. coli* (Pupo *et al.*, 1997). Significant variation of Mdh was demonstrated in the MLEE study of *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a).

1.6.2.8 Mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (mtlD)

The *mtlD* gene encodes the enzyme mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (MtlD) which catalyses the conversion of mannitol-1-phosphate to fructose 6-phosphate (Teschner *et al.*, 1990). There is less information about sequence analyses of this gene, but significant variation of MtlD was demonstrated in the MLEE study of *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a).

1.6.2.9 Phosphomannomutase (pmm)

The *pmm* gene encodes the enzyme phosphomannomutase (Pmm) which converts mannose-6-phosphate to mannose-1-phospate. Mannose-1-phospate is required for the synthesis of a full-length core polysaccharide in addition to O-antigen (Allen et al., 1998; Conistock et al., 1996; Goldberg et al., 1993). Brucella abortus mutants in *pmm* had decreased virulence in mice, confirming the role of this enzyme in the biosynthesis of smooth-type LPS and its role in the intracellular survival of this organism (Allen et al., 1998). In Sphingomonas paucimobilis and P. aeruginosa Pmm is a bifunctional protein with phosphomannomutase (Pmm) and phosphoglucomutase (Pgm) activity. This protein converts glucose-6-phosphate to glucose-1-phosphate as well as mannose-6-phosphate to mannose-1-phospate. Pmm/Pgm is also involved in synthesis of O-antigen and the core origosaccharide region of LPS, (Regni et al., 2000; Videira et al., 2000; Ye et al., 1994). However, Pmm and Pgm are separate proteins in Brucella abortus and Brucella suis (Allen et al., 1998; Foulongne et al., 2000; Ugalde et al., 2000). Pmm is also required for alginate production (Goldberg et al., 1993; Ye et al., 1994), which is believed to protect the infecting bacterial cells from phagocytosis, as well as from antibiotic therapy (Govan & Deretic, 1996). The Pgm protein of *M. haemolytica* was shown to

have significant variation by MLEE analysis (Davies et al., 1997a).

1.6.3 Genes encoding secreted proteins

1.6.3.1 Glycoprotease (gcp)

The *gcp* gene encodes glycoprotease (Gcp) and was selected based on its putative virulence characteristics and because it is produced in secreted form. Further details of the glycoprotease of *M. haemolytica* are provided in section 1.3.1.2.

1.6.4 Genes encoding periplasm-associated proteins

1.6.4.1 Lipoproteins (plpA, plpB, and plpC)

The *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes encode the lipoproteins PlpA, PlpB, and PlpC, respectively, and were selected because the proteins have a highly antigenic nature. Further details of the lipoproteins of *M. haemolytica* are provided in section 1.3.2.3.1.

1.6.4.2 Lipoprotein (plpD)

The *plpD* gene encodes the lipoprotein PlpD and was selected because the protein has a highly antigenic nature. Further details of the lipoprotein of *M. haemolytica* are provided in section 1.3.2.3.2.

1.6.5 Genes encoding outer membrane proteins

1.6.5.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein (ompA)

The *ompA* gene encodes the heat modifiable outer membrane protein OmpA and was selected because of previously recognized molecular mass variation in bovine and ovine isolates of *M. haemolytica* and its potential role in virulence. Further details of the OmpA protein of *M. haemolytica* are provided in section 1.3.2.4.1.

1.6.5.2 Transferrin binding proteins (tbpB and tbpA)

The *thpB* and *tbpA* genes encode the transferrin binding proteins TbpB and TbpA and were selected because the transferrin receptor is an important virulence factor, and more importantly is known to exhibit specificity for host transferrin. Further details of the TbpB and TbpA proteins of *M. haemolytica* are described in section 1.3.2.4.2.

1.6.5.3 Capsule transport protein (wza)

The *wza* gene encodes the capsule transport protein Wza and was selected because it is located in the outer membrane and exposed to the host immune system. Further details of the Wza protein of *M. haemolytica* is described in section 1.3.2.1.

1.7 Analysis of nucleotide sequence data

1.7.1 Methods of phylogenetic tree reconstruction

There are numerous methods for constructing phylogenetic trees from molecular data

40

2000 - 2000

(Nei & Kumar, 2000a). Of these, the unweighted pair-group method using arithmetic averages (UPGMA), the Neighbour-joining method, and the Minimum Evolution method are commonly used for nucleotide sequence data.

UPGMA. UPGMA, which was originally used for phenotypic characters, can be used for constructing phylogenetic trees from nucleotide sequence data when the rate of nucleotide or amino acid substitution is the same for all evolutionary lineages. However, the rate of nucleotide substitution varies in different evolutionary lineages and, therefore, UPGMA often gives an incorrect topology (Nei & Kumar, 2000a).

Neighbour-joining method. The Neighbour-joining method generates a tree topology by finding neighbours, which are two taxa connected by a single node in an unrooted tree. This method is a simplified version of the Minimum Evolution method and can be used instead of the Minimum Evolution method when a small number of sequences are used (Nei & Kumar, 2000a).

Minimum Evolution method. The Minimum Evolution method has useful statistical properties because the method examines all possible topologies to find a topology showing the smallest value of the sum of all branches (S). However, the number of possible topologies rapidly increases with the number of sequences and it becomes difficult to examine all topologies. Therefore, it is suggested to construct a Neighbour-joining tree first, and then the neighbourhood of the Neighbour-joining tree is examined to find a tree with a smaller S value (temporary Minimum Evolution tree is examined to find an even smaller S value. This close-neighbour-interchange (CNI) search will be continued until the Minimum Evolution tree is obtained, which is the tree with the smallest S value. However, if many trees represent the data almost

equally, the Minimum Evolution tree may not be supported.

1.7.2 Distance measures to be used for phylogenetic reconstruction

Although there are various distance measures for estimating the number of nucleotide or amino acid substitutions (d), there is no general statistical method for choosing an appropriate distance measure for constructing tree topologies. However, computer simulations and empirical studies have supported the following guidelines for the purpose of topology construction (Nei & Kumar, 2000c)

1. When the Juke-Cantor estimate of the number of nucleotide substitution per site (d) is 0.05 or less, the P or Jukes-Cantor distance is used whether there is a transition/transversion (R) bias or not or whether the substitution rate (r) varies with nucleotide site or not.

2. When 0.05 < d < 1.0, the Jukes-Cantor distance is used unless the transition/transversion (R) ratio is high (R > 5). When the R ratio is high and the sequences examined are long, the Kimura distance or gamma distance should be used. However, if the number of sequences is large and the sequences examined are relatively short, the P distance often gives better results.

3. When d > 1.0, the phylogenetic tree constructed is generally unreliable.

1.7.3 Handling of sequence gaps and missing data

Gaps and missing data are generally ignored in the distance estimation, but there are two different ways to treat these sites (Nei & Kumar, 2000a). One approach, called

the complete-deletion, is to delete all of these sites from the analysis. This is generally desirable because different regions of DNA or amino acid sequences often evolve under different evolutionary pressures. However, if the number of nucleotides involved is small and gaps are distributed more or less at random, the other option, called the pairwise-deletion, may be used. This computes a distance for each pair of sequences ignoring only those gaps that are involved in the pairwise comparison.

1.7.4 Reliability of phylogenetic trees obtained

When a phylogenetic tree is constructed, it is important to examine the reliability of the tree obtained (Nei & Kumar, 2000d). The interior branch test and the bootstrap test are two major methods of testing the reliability of the tree for topological errors. Both tests examine the reliability of each interior branch of the tree and compute the confidence probability (P_C) or bootstrap value (P_B). If this P_C or P_B is over 95%, the interior branch is considered to be significantly positive. Even if the interior branches are not well supported by the high P_C or P_B , the phylogenetic tree could be a correct one because it is the best tree obtainable under the principles of reconstruction used.

1.8 Bacteriophages and their life cycle

1.8.1 Bacteriophages of the Proteobacteria

Bacteriophages are viruses that infect bacteria. According to the International Committee for the Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV), one order, nine families, and seventeen genera of bacteriophages are currently identified in the *Proteobacteria* (Van

Regenmortel *et al.*, 2000) (Table1.5). The current classification of phages is based mainly on phage morphology (tailed, cubic, or filamentous) and the type of phage genome (ds DNA, ss DNA, ds RNA, or ss RNA); it does not reflect hierarchical or evolutionary relationships. A genome-based evolutionary taxonomy for phages has also been proposed (Rohwer & Edwards, 2002) and showed roughly similar classification to that proposed by the ICTV. However, it has been argued that a definition of viral species is not meaningful in the presence of excessive gene transfer (Lawrence *et al.*, 2002; Weinbauer & Rassoulzadegan, 2004).

The taxonomic names of orders, families, and genera are latinized, ending in *-virales* (e.g., *Caudovirales*), *-viridae* (e.g., *Myoviridae*), and *-virus* (e.g., *Inovirus*), respectively. However, the tailed phage genera have vernacular names based on the type species, ending in "-like virus" (e.g., P2-like virus) (Van Regenmortel *et al.*, 2000).

The most abundant types of bacteriophage are ds DNA tailed phages which account for 96% of reported bacteriophages; the other phages comprise less than 4% of bacteriophages (Ackermann, 2003). Tailed phages consist of three families, the *Myoviridae* (61%), *Siphoviridae* (25%), and *Podoviridae* (14%), which have long noncontractile, long contractile tails, and short noncontractile tails, respectively (Ackermann, 2003). They are highly diverse in their DNA size, DNA composition, dimensions and fine structure, and in their physiology, but their common morphological and replication features indicate that they are fundamentally related and they have recently been classified into the order *Caudovirales* (Maniloff & Ackermann, 1998). Tailed phages are arguably very ancient and some estimates suggest that they are older than the separation of life into Bacteria, Archaea and Eukarya (Hendrix *et al.*, 1999).

ł

10. • C # C . S

. . . .

Family	Nature of the genome	Envelope	Genome size (kb)	Morphology
Myoviridae	dsDNA	No	39-169	
Siphoviridae	dsDNA	No	22-121	
Podoviridae	dsDNA	No	19-44	
Tectiviridae	dsDNA	No	15	
Corticoviridae	dsDNA	No	9	Ŕ
Inoviridae	ssDNA	No	7-9	<u></u>
Microviridae	ssDNA	Ňo	4-6	<₽
Cystoviridae	dsRNA	Yes	13	(
Leviviridae	ssRNA	No	3-4	\$

1.14

e and e an the sector

Table 1.5 The bacteriophages of the Proteobacteria

afferences and setting a subsection of the set fillence of

- 21

f

÷.,

1.8.2 Virulent and temperate bacteriophages

Bacteriophages can be grouped into two classes, virulent and temperate, based on the ability of lysogenization (Barksdale & Arden, 1974). Virulent phages are associated with all family types of bacteriophage (Van Regenmortel *et al.*, 2000) and the T series of dsDNA phages are well-studied examples (Birge, 1994a; Birge, 1994b). Virulent phages multiply inside the host cells and escape by lysing the cell or, in the case of filamentous phages, by a budding process. In contrast to lytic phages, temperate phages are associated exclusively with dsDNA tailed phages (*Caudovirales*) with the exception of *Inoviridae* phages that contain ssDNA (Van Regenmortel *et al.*, 2000). Temperate phages differ from virulent phages in that the phage genome is able to integrate into the bacterial chromosome without causing lysis of the host cell.

1.8.3 Major families of temperate phages

1.8.3.1 Myoviridae (dsDNA)

Myoviridae phages have long contractile tails, which are thick and more or less rigid (Figure 1.4A). However, the tail tubes surrounding the sheath become shorter and thicker during penetration (Caspar, 1980). Head and tails are assembled in separate pathways. *Myoviridae* phages seem to be more sensitive to freezing and thawing and to osmotic shock than other tailed phage families. Properties of temperate P1-like, P2-like, and Mu-like viruses are listed in Table 1.6.

1.8.3.2 Siphoviridae (dsDNA)

Siphoviridae phages have long noncontractile tails, which are thin and flexible (Figure

Table 1.6 Properties of temperate tailed bacteriophages

ţ

Family	Genus	Morphology	Head size (nm)	Tail size (nm)	Genome size (kb)	GC (%)	DNA topology	Pac site	Integration sites	UV Inducibility
Myoviridae	P1-like	Contractile tail Base plate 6 long fibers	85	228×18	100	46	Circular permuted Terminally redundant	Yes	Plasmid	Yes
	P2-like	Contractile tail Base plate, collar 6 short fibers	60	135×18	4	52	Circular permuted Cohesive end	Yes	Chromosome (Site specific recombination)	No
	Mu-like	Contractile tail Base plate 6 short fibers	60	120×18	39	50	Colinear	Yes	Chromosome (Transposition)	Ŵo
Siphoviridae	. λ-like	Noncontractife tail 4 short fibers	60	150×8	49	52	Circular permuted Cohesive end	No	Chromosome (Site specific recombination)	Yes
Podoviridae	P22-like	Noncontractile tail Base plate 6 spikes	65	18×8	4	47	Circular permuted Terminally redundant	Yes	Chromosome (Site specific recombination)	Yes



Figure 1.4 Negatively-strained electron micrographs of temperate phages of the major morphological types (families). (A) Enterobacteria phage P2 of the family *Myoviridae*, (B) Enterobacteria phage λ of the family *Siphoviridae*, (C) Enterobacteria phage P22 of the family *Podoviridae*, and (D) Enterobacteria phage M 13 of the family *Inoviridae*.

The sources: (A) http://www.biochem.wisc.edu/inman/empics/0021a.jpg

- (B) http://www.virustaxonomyonline.com
- (C) http://www.asm.org/division/m/foto/P22Mic.html
- (D) http://www.virustaxonomyonline.com

1.4B). Head and tails are assembled in separate pathways. Properties of temperate λ -like virus are listed in Table 1.6.

1.8.3.3 Podoviridae (dsDNA)

Podoviridae phages have short, noncontractile tails (Figure 1.4C). The head is assembled first and the tail subunits are added to the completed head. Properties of temperate P22-like virus are listed in Table 1.6.

1.8.3.4 Inoviridae (ssDNA)

Inoviridae phages are filamentous (Figure 1.4D). They are approximately 7 nm in diameter and 700 to 2,000 nm in length. Although they are not stable, the genomes of *Inoviridae* phages are able to integrate into bacterial genomes.

1.8.4 Life cycles of temperate phages

1.8.4.1 Phage receptor recognition

Before phage DNA can enter through the bacterial cell wall, phages must attach to specific attachment sites, or receptors, on the cell surface (Lindberg, 1973). Common receptor sites include OMPs (Etz et al., 2001; Lang, 2000), LPS (Nesper et al., 2000; Quirk et al., 1976), flagella (Samuel et al., 1999), and pili (Lubkowski et al., 1999; Malmborg et al., 1997). In contrast to these phage receptors, capsule may normally block the access of bacteriophages to the receptors present in an underlying cell wall structure (Weiner et al., 1995). Therefore, phages infecting encapsulated bacteria often produce capsular depolymerases which show substrate

specificity (Hughes et al., 1998; Pelkonen et al., 1992).

1.8.4.2 Penetration

Successful attachment is followed by penetration of the phage DNA into the cell. The sheath contraction of *Myoviridae* T4 phages is the best-studied mechanism of penetration for contracted tail types of bacterial phages (Caspar, 1980). This process is initiated by conformational changes in tail fibers bound to the cell wall. These trigger a rearrangement of the hexagon-shaped base plate into an extended star-shaped conformation. As a result, the sheath of the helical tail slips and forms a shorter helix and the tail tube slides through the cell wall and contacts the cytoplasmic membrane. A pore forms in the membrane and the DNA enters into the cell.

1.8.4.3 DNA circularisation

5

After attachment and penetration the phage DNA, which is mostly linear, becomes circularized by pairing of complementary cohesive ends (P2 and λ) or by generalized/site-specific recombination of terminally redundant ends (P1 and P22) (Keppel & Georgopoulos, 1988). Keppel and Georgopoulos (1988) suggested that a circular genome has several advantages: (1) it allows complete replication of the genome through a single, unidirectional DNA initiation event; (2) it is protected from degradation by host-coded exonucleases; (3) it is easily integrated into the bacterial genome through a single reciprocal recombinational event (see section 1.8.4.4.1); and (4) it is easily unwound or overwound through the action of topoisomerases

1.8.4.4 Lysogenization or lysis

1

An overall view of the life cycle of a temperate bacteriophage is shown in Figure 1.5. Temperate phages can enter into a lysogenic cycle or a lytic cycle. In the lysogenic cycle, phage DNA integrates into the bacterial chromosome and the phage genome is multiplied along with the bacterial genome at the time of cell division. However, in the lytic cycle, phage DNA is multiplied inside the host cells and mature phage escape by lysing the cell, in the same way as virulent phages (see section 1.8.2).

The genetic events leading to the lysogenic or lytic cycles have been well studied in phage lambda and are shown in Figure 1.6 (Birge, 1994c; Voyles, 2002b). First, immediate-early mRNA is transcribed to produce mainly N and Cro proteins (Figure 1.6A). Then, the antiterminator N protein allows transcription and translation of CII and CIII (Figure 1.6B). CII is a positive transcriptional regulator and CIII protects CII from rapid degradation by a host protease called HflA (for high frequency of lysogenation). CII/CIII proteins activate P_{RE} , causing transcription of CI (Figure 1.6C).

The Cro and CI proteins, which are the immediate-early and delayed-early gene products, respectively, are involved in a commitment to the lysogenic or lytic cycles. There are three binding sites between P_R and P_{RM} , which are accessible to both the CI and Cro proteins. CI proteins bind to the three sites from right to left, while the CI repressor proteins bind from left to right. If one CI protein fills the right site, it will block the transcription of Cro proteins (Figure 1.6D), but allow synthesis of CI until all three sites are occupied with CI proteins and lysogeny will be established (Figure 1.6E). In contrast, if one Cro protein fills the left site (Figure 1.6D'), it will block CI protein synthesis, but allow transcription of P, O, and Q proteins (Figure



Figure 1.5 Consequence of infection by a temperate bacteriophage. The alternatives upon infection are integration of the virus DNA into the host DNA (lysogenization) or replication and release of mature virus (lysis). The lysogenic cell can also be induced to produce mature virus and lyse.



Figure 1.6 The molecular events of the lambda phage lysogenic or lytic cycle.
(A), immediate-early gene expression of the Cro and N proteins. (B), antitermination by N permits synthesis of the CII and CIII gene activator proteins.
(C), synthesis of the CI repressor and Int proteins begins at PRE and PI, respectively.
Lysogenic cycle: (D), CI repressor protein blocks further transcription from PR and PL, but acts as gene activator permitting transcription of the CI gene form PRM.
(E), concentrated CI proteins finally block PRM. Lytic cycle: (D'), the N protein permits transcription to continue and O, P, and Q proteins are synthesized. (E'), the activator protein Q allows transcription of the late genes and concentrated Cro proteins block PR, PL, and PRM.

1.6E⁽⁾. P and O proteins are required for phage DNA replication, and the specific antiterminator Q proteins are required for transcription of late genes needed for the lytic cycle.

Although the Cro protein is made before the CI protein, the lysogenic cycle has frequently arisen due to two factors (Voyles, 2002b): 1) The efficiency and stability of the CI proteins on binding sites is better than those of the Cro proteins. 2) Low levels of energy sources activate adenylate cyclase and the concentration of cAMP becomes high, resulting in inhibition of transcription of the *hflA* gene. The lower concentration of HflA in turn reduces the degradation of CII and increases CI proteins. In starving cells, lysogenization is more advantageous than the lytic cycle to the phages because the overall biosynthetic rates of starving cells are low and the progeny virions will not be made quickly.

1.8.4.4.1 The lysogenic cycle

When the lysogenic cycle is established (Figure 1.6E), the phage genome integrates into the bacterial genome, via the Campbell model, by site-specific recombination between a bacterial attB site and the attP site of the circularized phage DNA (Figure 1.7) (Sadowski, 1986). There are various phage integration sites in the bacterial chromosome (Campbell, 2003). Some phages insert into intergenic DNA whilst others insert within genes; these may be either protein structural genes or tRNA genes. Intragenic insertion might be expected to inactivate the disrupted gene, but such inactivation is avoided by the presence within the phage of that part of the gene 3' to the crossover point. Thus, the lysogenic chromosome includes a complete copy of the gene and an incomplete pseudogene on the other end of the prophage. In general, insertion sites have an interrupted dyad symmetry. For example, the anticodon loop



Figure 1.7 Mechanism of integration and excision of phage lambda (Sadowski, 1986). After injection, the linear lambda genome circularizes (reaction 1), and the phage attachment (*attP*) and bacterial attachment (*attB*) sites undergo reciprocal sitespecific recombination promoted by Int and IHF (reaction 2). This creates two unique hybrid attachment sites (*attL* and *attR*) each of which differs from *attP* and *attB*. The integrated lambda phage DNA can be cut out by reversal of this reaction in the presence of the Int, IHF, and Xis proteins (reaction 3). The actual crossover takes place in the grey regions of each attachment sites.

region of *tRNA* genes is one of the common phage insertion sites.

1.8.4.4.2 The lytic cycle

When sufficient quantities of O and P proteins are produced (Figure 1.6D'), DNA replication is initiated and concatemers, multimeric DNA molecules, are made by rolling circle replication (Keppel & Georgopoulos, 1988). Then, late mRNA is transcribed to produce late proteins such as phage head and tail protein and lytic proteins, and the progeny viral DNA is cleaved from concatemeric DNA at *pac* sites (P1 and P22) or at unique sites to produce identical DNA molecules with *cos* sites (P2 and λ). The heads and tails are assembled independently (Voyles, 2002a). When DNA is packaged into the assembled head, the assembled tail and tail fibers are added. Ultimately, when assembly is finished, the virions are released from the host cell by lysing them.

1.8.5 Phage induction

Although lysogenic isolates rarely produce phages in nature, temperate phages can easily be induced by artificial treatments. The most popular agents for these treatments are mitomycin C (Humphrey *et al.*, 1995; Inoue & Iida, 1968; Jiang *et al.*, 1995; Pullinger *et al.*, 2004) and ultraviolet radiation (UV) (Inoue & Iida, 1968; Nordeen & Currier, 1983; Richards *et al.*, 1985) but also other agents such as danofloxacin (Froshauer *et al.*, 1996), ciprofloxacin (Strauch *et al.*, 2004), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) (Figueroa-Bossi & Bossi, 1999), and X-ray (Boling & Randolph, 1977) can also be used. However, not all prophages are inducible by all agents and some temperate phages can only be induced by natural events.

Phage induction is associated with the SOS regulatory system that is activated as a result of DNA damage (Walker, 1984). Inducing agents such as mitomycin C and UV light damage DNA and activate the SOS system. In the SOS system, DNA damage induces a protease called RecA. RecA inactivates LexA, the repressor of a number of DNA repair genes, in order to induce expression of DNA repair functions. Since the phage specific repressors of the lytic cycle such as CI (see section 1.8.4.4) are structurally similar to LexA, these proteins also become inactivated and the lytic cycle will begin (Walker, 1984).

1.8.6 Phage immunity

Lysogenic bacteria can be infected by other phages, but they cannot be infected by additional members of the same phage type (Voyles, 2002b). This immunity is conferred by intracellular repression mechanisms under the control of virus genes. When cells are lysogenized with phages, there will be plenty of CI proteins in the cytoplasm (Figure 1.6E). Thus, if new lambda phages are introduced to these cells, the CI proteins can immediately bind to P_R and P_L in the newly introduced phages to block any expression of that virus's genome. Thus, there will be no lysis. However, the lysogenic cells can be cured by heavy irradiation (Barksdale & Arden, 1974). Presumably this treatment causes the prophage to excise from the host chromosome and be lost during subsequent cell growth. These cured isolates are no longer immune to the virus and they can be infected again.

1.9 The role of bacteriophages in bacterial evolution

1.9.1 Evolutionary arms race between temperate phages and bacteria

Many temperate phages carry genes that can increase the fitness of the lysogen (see section 1.9.3) (Brussow *et al.*, 2004). However, they are dangerous to their lysogenic hosts because the lysogenized phages will inevitably enter their lytic cycles in descendants of the initial lysogen. High genomic deletion rates are maintained to remove dangerous genetic parasites in the bacterial chromosome, and control the size of the bacterial genome, despite a constant bombardment with parasitic DNA over evolutionary time (Lawrence *et al.*, 2001). The deletion rates are determined by natural selection where the benefits realized by somewhat promiscuous deletion are offset by the detriments incurred by occasional removal of useful DNA.

1.9.2 Prophages in bacterial genomes

ł

Since bacterial genome data have become available, one of the most surprising findings is the enormous extent of prophage DNA within bacterial genomes (Canchaya *et al.*, 2003a). A number of bacterial genomes contain multiple phage genomes which result in the introduction of numerous unique genes to the lysogen. The most extreme case is currently represented by the food pathogen *E. coli* O157:H7 isolate Sakai (Ohnishi *et al.*, 2001; Perna *et al.*, 2001). This *E. coli* isolate contains 18 prophage genome elements, which account for half of the isolate specific sequences. The sequenced *Streptococcus pyogenes* serotype M3 isolate also contains large number of prophage sequences which constitute about two-thirds of the strain-specific genes (Beres *et al.*, 2002). These findings suggest that bacteriophages have played a predominant role in the emergence of these pathogens. However, a number

of sequenced bacterial pathogens do not possess phage related genes suggesting that prophages may not be required for the evolution of a pathogenic life-style in every bacterial species (Brussow *et al.*, 2004).

1.9.3 Bacteriophages mediate gene transfer

Prophages are not only quantitatively important genetic elements of the bacterial chromosome, but also the most efficient virulence gene provider to bacterial chromosomes (Brussow *et al.*, 2004; Canchaya *et al.*, 2003b; Miao & Miller, 1999). Phage-mediated gene transfer can be achieved by two mechanisms, specialized transduction and generalized transduction (Birge, 1994d).

1.9.3.1 Specialized transduction

Sometimes, temperate phages are imprecisely excised from the host chromosome and small segments of flanking bacterial DNA can be co-packaged with the phage DNA (Birge, 1994d). Upon infection of the next host, this bacterial DNA, together with the phage DNA, can be incorporated into the bacterial chromosome by site-specific recombination. These extra genes frequently encode important virulence factors (Table 1.7) and allow the lysogen to enlarge its host range and increase its fitness in an environmental niche by phage conversion which promotes evasion of host immune defences or provide mechanisms to breach host barriers (Boyd & Brussow, 2002; Brussow *et al.*, 2004). Toxins are common phage-encoded virulence factors. A variety of major bacterial toxins such as cholera toxin, cytotoxin, exfoliative toxin A, and *Pasteurella multocida* toxin are located within the genome of temperate bacteriophages. In addition to toxins, bacteriophages carry O-antigen modification genes (*gtr*), type III secretion effector protein genes (*sopE*), superoxide dismutase

Virulence factor	Gene	Phage name	Phagc classification	Bacteríal host	Reference
Exotoxins	i				
Cholera toxin	ctxAB	CTXΦ	Inoviridae	Vibrio cholerae	(Waldor & Mekalanos, 1996)
Cytotoxin	ctx	ФСТХ	Myoviridae	Pseudomonas	(Nakayama <i>et al</i> ., 1999)
Exfoliative toxin A	eta	¢ET∆	Siphoviridae	Staphylococcus aureus	(Endo et al., 2003)
Toxin	toxA		Siphoviridae	Pasteurella multocida	(Pullinger et al., 2004)
Proteins that alter antigenic	city				
Glucosylation	gtr	P22	Podoviridae	Salmonella enterica	(Vander Byl & Kropinski, 2000)
Effector proteins involved i	in invasion				
The type III effector	sopE	SopEΦ	Myoviridae	Salmonella enterica	(Zhang <i>et al.</i> , 2002)
Enzymes required for intra	icellular survi	val			
Superoxide dismutase	sodC	Gifsy-2	Siphoviridae	Salmonella enterica	(Figueroa-Bossi & Bossi, 1999)
Serum resistance					
OMP	lom	Lambda	Siphoviridae	Escherichia coli	(Barondess & Beckwith, 1990)
OMP	bor	Lambda	Siphoviridae	Escherichia coli	(Barondess & Beckwith, 1995)
Adhesions for bacterial hos	st attachment				
TCP pilus	tcp	ΦĮϥν	Inoviridae	Vibrio cholerae	(Karaolis et al., 1999)

the Second second

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

-

Table 1.7 Phage-encoded virulence factors

5

60

74 J

genes (*sodC*), outer membrane protein genes (*lom* and *bor*), and adhesion genes (*tcp*). These phage-encoded virulence factors are always linked to the viral DNA.

1.9.3.2 Generalized transduction

Sometimes, bacteriophages commit the error of packaging lysed bacterial DNA along with or instead of phage DNA and upon infection of the next host, this bacterial DNA can be incorporated into the bacterial chromosome (Birge, 1994d). Almost any size of bacterial genome can be found inside the head of a transducing phage particle. Upon infection of the next host, the foreign bacterial DNA is injected and may be incorporated into the bacterial chromosome by homologous recombination. Using genetically marked genes, the ability of generalized transduction has been examined and a number of bacteriophages capable of generalized transduction have been identified. They include temperate phages from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Budzik *et al.*, 2004), *Streptomyces coelicolor* (Burke *et al.*, 2001), *V. cholerae* (Fidelma Boyd & Waldor, 1999; Hava & Camilli, 2001; Ogg *et al.*, 1981), *Pseudomonas syringae* (Nordeen & Currier, 1983), *Salmonella* and *E. coli* (Schicklmaier *et al.*, 1998), and *A. actinomycetemcomitans* (Willi *et al.*, 1997). Frequencies of transduction in many phages range from 10⁻⁵ to 10⁻⁸ per plaque-forming unit (PFU) (Burke *et al.*, 2001; Ogg *et al.*, 1981).

1.10 Objectives of research

The main objective of this study was to investigate the molecular evolution of genes of different functional classes in *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The study was inspired by previous work on the *M. haemolytica* leukotoxin operon (Davies *et al.*, 2001; 2002). These revealed that recombination involving

M. glucosida and P. trehalosi, together with host switching of isolates from cattle to sheep, have played important roles in generating the complex mosaic structure of the leukotoxin operon (Davies et al., 2001; 2002). There were a series of questions to address in this study. Is there evidence of horizontal DNA transfer and recombination in other genes? Is there a correlation between the extent of recombination and gene function? Does the intensity of purifying and diversifying selection vary among different functional classes genes? How do the various evolutionary processes relate to differences in virulence and host specialization? Is there further evidence that host-switching of isolates has contributed to the evolution of other genes? With respect to these questions, comparative sequence analysis of one DNA repair and recombinase gene (recA), nine metabolic enzyme genes (aroA, usd, galE, gap, gnd, g6pd, mdh, mtlD, and pmm), one secreted protein gene (gcp), four periplasm-associated protein genes (*plpA*, *plpB*, *plpC*, and *plpD*), and four outer membrane protein genes (*ompA*, *tbpB*, *tbpA*, and *wza*) was performed in representative M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi strains.

A further goal of the study was to identify and characterize temperate bacteriophages among representative *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* isolates since bacteriophages are known to mediate horizontal DNA transfer. Bacteriophages were characterized by electron microscopy, plaque assay, and restriction endonuclease analysis. In particular, a P2-like phage genome was identified and characterized in the bacterial genome of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH213 and the presence of this phage examined in selected isolates.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

이 지수는 것이 많은 것이 같은 것이 가지 않는지 않는 것이 같다.

a ave a constraint service a

1. 1. 1. 1. 1.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Bacterial isolates

Thirty two isolates of *M. haemolytica*, six isolates of *M. glucosida*, and four isolates of *P. trehalosi* were investigated in this study. These isolates were selected because they represent the various evolutionary lineages, serotypes, and host species of origin (bovine or ovine) and have been described in previous studies (Davies & Donachie, 1996; Davies & Quirie, 1996; Davies *et al.*, 1996; 1997a; 1997b; 2001; 2002). The properties of the isolates are shown in Table 2.1 and the genetic relationships of the *M. haemolytica* isolates are shown in Figure 2.1.

2.2 General bacteriological procedures

2.2.1 Growth media

Brain heart infusion agar (BHIA; Oxoid, UK) containing 5 % (v/v) sheep's blood (E & O laboratories Ltd) was used as routine solid medium for growth of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Brain heart infusion broth (BHIB; Oxoid, UK) was used as the liquid medium.

2.2.2 Sterilisation

1

All culture media, glassware, and plasticware were sterilised by autoclaving at 15 lbs p.s.i (121°C) for 15 min.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

1

Table 2.1 Properties of 32 M. haemolytica, six M. glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates

		-		,			
Isolate	EТ «	Capsular serotype	Host species	LPS ^o type	OMP [€] type	<i>lktA</i> allele ^d	Origin "
M. haemolytica							
PH2	1	A1	Bovine	1A	1.1.1	lktA1.1	University of Glasgow
PH30	щ	A1	Bovine	2A	1.1.1	lktAJ.J	University of Glasgow
PH376	F4	A6	Bovine	1A	1.1.4	lktA1.1	Dumfries VIC
PH346		A12	Ovine	1A	1.2.3	IkiA1.2	Auchineruvie VIC
PH540	ы	AI	Bovine	2A	1.1.3	lktA1.1	Germany
PH338	ы	A9	Ovine	1A	1.2.3	lktA1.2	Dumfries VIC
PH388	4	A7	Ovine	3A	1.2.1	lktA1.1	Edinburgh VIC
PH50	Ś	A5	Ovine	1A	1.2.3	lktA1.3	Edinburgh VIC
PH56	S	A8	Ovine	118	1.2.3	lktA1.4	Edinburgh VIC
PH238	ŝ	A9	Ovine	1A	1.2.3	lktAJ.4	Edinburgh VIC
PH8	9	A1	Ovine	1B	1.2.1	<i>lktAI.5</i>	Moredun Research Institute
PH398	٢	A1	Ovine	$1\mathbf{A}$	1.2.1	lktA1.5	Aberdeen VIC
PH284	8	A6	Ovine	1A	1.2.3	lktAJ.2	Edinburgh VIC
PH232	6	A6	Ovine	2A	1.2.3	lktAJ.5	Edinburgh VIC
PH66 (NCTC 11303)	10	A14	Ovine	1B	2.3.1	lktA9	Ethiopia
PH706	Ħ	A16	Ovine	1B	2.3.1	lktA7	Edinburgh VIC

× .
METHODS
AND
MATERIALS
CHAPTER 2:

ţ

Taalata	<i>t</i>	Capsular	Host	TbS_p	OMP"	lktA	Ominin ^e
tsolate	1	serotype	species	type	type	allele ^d	mgun
PH296	12	A7	Ovine	4A	3.1.1	lktA8.1	Pennith VIC
PH396	13	A7	Ovine	4B	3.1.1	lktA8.1	Aberdeen VIC
PH484	14	A7	Ovine	4A	3.1.1	lktA8.1	St. Boswells VIC
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	4A	3.3.2	lktA6	Sutton Bon VIC
PH494	16	A 2	Ovine	3B	2.2.4	lktA2.1	St. Boswells VIC
PH550	17	A2	Bovine	1B	2.1.2	IktA2.1	St. Boswells VIC
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	1B	2.1.1	lktA3	University of Glasgow
PH786	18	A2	Bovine	1B	2.1.1	lktA3	Aberdeen VIC
PH526	19	A2	Ovine	IB	2.2.2	lktA8.1	Newcastle VIC
PH598	20	A2	Ovine	B	2.2.1	lktA8.1	Shrewsbury VIC
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	3B	2.1.2	lktA2.2	University of Glasgow
PH470	21	A2	Bovine	3B	2.1.2	lktA2	Aberdeen VIC
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	3B	2.2.2	lktA10.1	Penrith VIC
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	3B	2.2.2	lktA10.1	Edinburgh VIC
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	1B	2.2.1	lkiA8.1	Edinburgh VIC
PH392	22	A2	Ovine	IB	2.2.1	lktA8.2	Aberdeen VIC
M. glucosida							
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	4C	3.2.2	lktA4.1	Auchincruvic VIC
PH498	3	A11	Ovine	4C	3.2.2	lktA4.2	St. Boswells VIC

METHODS
AND
ERIALS
: MAT
APTER 2
Ð

ì

" ET: electrophoretic type

^b See references Davies et al. (1997a; 1997b)

 c See reference Davies & Donachie (1996) and Davies & Quirie (1996)

^d See reference Davies et al. (2001)

" VIC: Veterinary Investigation Centre

Isolates in bold type represent the 12 preliminary isolates





isolates, blue: ovine isolates

2.2.3 Storage and growth of bacteria

Bacteria were stored at -85 °C in 50 % (v/v) glycerol in BHIB. Bacteria were subcultured from -85 °C stock cultures onto blood agar and incubated at 37 °C overnight. The following day, 4 to 5 colonies were inoculated into 15 ml BHIB in Universal tubes and incubated overnight at 37 °C with shaking (120 rpm).

2.2.4 Culture purity checks

All agar plates and broth cultures were subjected to thorough purity checks. Agar plate cultures were checked for any unusual colonies after 2 to 3 days. Broth cultures were subcultured onto blood agar and grown at 37 °C overnight.

2.3 Comparative sequencing analysis

2.3.1 General sequencing procedures

2.3.1.1 Selection of genes

Nincteen genes were selected based on the differing functions and usage of the encoded proteins (Table 2.2). These include one DNA repair and recombinase gene (*recA*), nine metabolic enzyme genes (*aroA*, *asd*, *galE*, *gap*, *gnd*, *g6pd*, *mdh*, *mtlD*, and *pmm*), one secreted protein gene (*gcp*), four inner membrane or periplasmic spanning lipoprotein genes (*plpA*, *plpB*, *plpC*, and *plpD*), and four outer membrane protein genes (*ompA*, *tbpB*, *tbpA*, and *wza*).

the second second

111

Table 2	.2 De	tails of	the	genes	selected	for	study
				B	Nº + - +		

and the second second second

1

1.111

the set of

. .

Gene name	Gene product	Function (usage)
Genes encoding	DNA repair and recombination enzymes	
recA.	RecA recombinase	DNA repair and recombination
Genes encoding	metabolic enzymes	
aroΛ	5-enolpyruvylshikimate 3-phosphate synthase	Amino acid biosynthesis
asd	Aspartate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase	Amino acid biosynthesis
galE	UDP-glucose 4-epimerase	Peptidoglycan biosynthesis Carbohydrate metabolism
0		LPS biosynthesis
gap	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	Carbohydrate metabolism
gnd	6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase	Carbohydrate metabolism
		(MLEE data)
g6pd	Glucose-6-phosphate I-dehydrogenase	Carbohydrate metabolism
.,		(MLBB data)
mdh	Malate denydrogenase	Energy production and conversion
	Manuital 1 alegalista deludrosconos	(MLEE data)
muD	Manufor-1-phosphate denydrogenase	(All FE data)
	Dhorphomanuomutaso	(MLEE data)
pmm	rnosphomannonmaase	L DC and our who biosupthewin
Canag angoding	corrected proteins	LI-S and capsuic biosynthesis
Genes encouning	Secreted proteins	N
gcp	Glycoprotease	Neutral protease
Genes encoding	periplasm-associated proteins	
plpA, plpB, and plpC	Lipoproteins PlpA, PlpB, and PlpC	Serum resistance
plpD	Lipoprotein PlpD	Not known
Genes encoding	outer membrane proteins	
ompA	OmpA	Outer membrane structural
,	•	integrity; adherence; phage receptor
tbpB and $tbpA$	TbpB and TbpA	Iron acquisition
wza	Wza	Capsule polysaccharide transport

69

11.5 19 10

Sec. Sec.

2.3.1.2 Primer design for PCR amplification and sequencing

The GenBank database was searched to identify the 19 genes in *M. haemolytica* and the closely related species *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*, *Haemophilus ducreyi*, *Haemophilus influenzae*, and *Pasteurella multocida*. The available gene sequences from each of the above species were aligned with the Lasergene Megalign (DNA star, Inc.) software application, and conserved regions were identified and used to design two pairs of universal primers (two forward and two reverse) using the computer program Primer Designer (version 2.0). Primers were synthesized by Sigma-Genosys (Cambridge, UK) and Hybaid Limited (Middlesex, UK).

The primers were tested in four combinations for PCR amplification with *M*. *haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair amplifying the largest fragment without non-specific bands was used for further PCRs. The successful PCR primer pair was also used for the first stage of sequencing and additional primers (forward and reverse) were designed as sequence data became available.

2.3.1.3 PCR amplification

2.3.1.3.1 Preparation of template DNA

Template DNA was prepared with the InstaGene matrix kit (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's instructions. One millilitre of overnight broth culture was centrifuged for 1 min at $13,000 \times g$, the supernatant removed, and the bacterial pellet resuspended in 1 ml of sterile dH₂O. The sample was centrifuged again for 1 min at $13,000 \times g$ and the supernatant was removed. The pellet was resuspended in 200 µl of

InstaGene matrix and incubated for 30 min at 56 °C. The mixture was then vortexed at high speed for 10 s and heated in a boiling waterbath for 8 min. After allowing the tubes to cool for 2 to 3 min, the samples were vortexed at high speed for 10 s and centrifuged for 3 min at $13,000 \times g$. The DNA samples were stored at -85 °C.

2.3.1.3.2 Components of PCR

PCRs were carried out in 0.5 ml Gene Amp reaction tubes (Applied Biosystems). Each PCR reaction mixture contained 32 μ l of sterile dH₂O, 5 μ l of 10x PCR buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl, 500 mM KCl, 15 mM MgCl₂, pH 8.3), 4 μ l of dNTPs (2.5 mM dATP, dTTP, dCTP, and dGTP) (Pharmacia Biotech), 4 μ l of each primer (12.5 pmol), 1 μ l of template DNA, and 0.2 μ l (1 unit) of Taq DNA polymerase (Roche, UK) in a final volume of 50 μ l. One drop of liquid paraffin was used to overlay each reaction.

2.3.1.3.3 PCR conditions

ŝ

PCRs were carried out in a Perkin-Elmer 480 DNA thermal cycler. For each new primer set, the following standard PCR conditions were used first: 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 45 s, annealing at 55 °C for 45 s, and extension at 72 °C for 2 min with a final extension step of 72 °C for 10 min. However, if non-specific amplimers were present on the agarose gel, the optimum annealing temperature was determined experimentally for each primer set.

2.3.1.3.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Five microlitres of the PCR mixture were mixed with 1.2 μ l of 10x loading dye (Invitrogen) and loaded onto a 1 % (w/v) agarose (Invitrogen) gel in 1x TAE buffer

(20 mM Trizma, 1mM EDTA, pH8.0) containing ethidium bromide (0.5 μ g/ml). 5 μ l of a 1 kb ladder (Promega) [50 ng/ μ l] were loaded onto one or two wells. The samples were electrophoresed in a horizontal submarine electrophoresis apparatus (Owl, USA) at 80 V for 1.2 h and the amplimers were visualised and photographed under UV light.

2.3.1.4 DNA sequencing

2,3.1.4.1 Purification of PCR products

PCR products were purified with the QIAquick PCR purification kit (Qiagen, Chatsworth, Calif.) following the manufacturer's protocol. Two hundred and fifty microlitres of buffer PB were mixed with 45 μ l of PCR mixture and transferred to a QIAquick spin column. The columns were centrifuged for 1 min at 13,000 × g and the supernatants discarded. The bound DNA was washed by adding 750 μ l of buffer PE and centrifuging for 1 min at 13,000 × g. The columns were centrifuged for an additional 1 min 13,000 × g. The DNA was eluted from the column by adding 30 μ l dH₂O and, after 1 min of standing, centrifuging for 1 min at 13,000 × g. The effectiveness of purification and approximate DNA concentrations were determined by running 1 μ l of purified sample on an agarose gel. For sequencing, the purified DNA was diluted by adding 10 μ l sample to 50 μ l dH₂O. The DNA samples were stored at -20°C.

2.3.1.4.2 Components of sequencing

The sequence reactions were carried out in 0.2 ml Micro Amp reaction tubes (Applied Biosystems). The reaction mixture contained 4.5 µl of diluted (1:6) purified PCR

product, 1.5 µl of primer (2 pmol/µl), and 4 µl of ABI Prism Big Dye Terminator Ready Reaction Mix (PE Applied Biosystems).

2.3.1.4.3 Conditions for sequencing

The sequence reactions were carried out in a GeneAmp PCR system 9600 thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems), using 30 cycles of denaturation at 96 °C for 10 s, annealing at 50 °C for 5 s, and extension at 60 °C for 4 min.

2.3.1.4.4 Ethanol precipitation

After cycle sequencing, the samples were ethanol precipitated as follow. Twenty five microlitres of 100 % ethanol and 1.5 μ l of 2 M sodium acetate pH 4.5 (Applied Biosystems) were added to each reaction tube. The tubes were vortexed gently for 1 s and left for 15 min at room temperature. The samples were centrifuged for 15 min at 13,000 × g and the supernatants were removed. The pellets were rinsed with 100 μ l of 70% ethanol and centrifuged for 5 min at 13,000 × g. The supernatants were removed and the samples centrifuged again briefly. The residual ethanol was carefully removed and the samples were air dried for 10 min. Finally, 4 μ l of sequence loading buffer were added to each sample and gently vortexed for 15 min.

2.3.1.5 Sequence analysis

Sequence analysis was performed in an Applied Biosystems 373A DNA sequencer by the University of Glasgow sequencing service.

2.3.1.5.1 Analysis of nucleotide and amino acid sequence data

Nucleotide sequence data were analysed and edited with the SEQEDTM computer software (Applied Biosystems; version 1.0.3). Statistical and phylogenetic analyses were carried out with MEGA2.1 (Kumar *et al.*, 2001) in conjunction with an amino acid conversion program (AASEQ), amino acid alignment program (CLUSTALX), and a realignment program (REALIGW). Secondary structure predictions were performed with the Psipred secondary structure prediction method (Jones, 1999) (http://bioinf.cs.ucl.ac.uk/psipred/).

For the *ompA* gene (section 3.1.1.5.1), the *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* OmpA sequences were aligned and compared with the *E. coli* OmpA three-dimensional structural models (MMDB 16249 and PDB 1G90 (Arora *et al.*, 2001); MMDB 9208 and PDB 1BXW (Pautsch & Schulz, 1998)) using the computer program Cn3D (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/structure/CN3D/cn3d.shtml).

For the *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes (section 3.1.1.5.2), the numbers of nucleotide polymorphic sites were computed using the program PSFIND (version 3). These statistics were then used to draw a similarity plot (Figure 3.41) using the HAPPLOT program (version 4).

The programs AASEQ, REALIGW, CLUSTALX, PSFIND, and HAPPLOT were kindly provided by T. S. Whittam (Michigan State University).

2.3.2 Specific sequencing procedures

Preliminary PCR amplification and sequencing were carried out with 10 diverse *M*. *haemolytica* isolates (PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, and PH706), one *M. glucosida* isolate (PH344), and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (PH246) for the 19 genes. If the sequences showed significant variation, a larger number of isolates, up to a total of 42 (Table 2.1), were investigated. The following sections contain details of different primer sets and their optimum annealing temperatures specific for the 19 genes. GenBank sequences were used to describe the locations of primers for each gene (see below) but, if appropriate sequences were unavailable, sequences from the unannotated *M. haemolytica* genome sequence (http://www.hgsc.bcm.tmc.edu/microbial/Mhaemolytica/) were used.

2.3.2.1 Genes for encoding DNA repair and recombination enzymes

2.3.2.1.1 RecA recombinase (recA)

Initially, two forward (#200 and #201) and two reverse (#202 and #203) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned *recA* sequences from *M*. *haemolytica* and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.2 and 2.3, and Table 2.3). The primers were tested in four combinations (#200/#202, #200/#203, #201/#202, and #201/#203) by PCR with *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #200/#202 was used for PCR and sequencing of the *recA* gene in 10 representative isolates of *M. haemolytica* and one isolate of *M. glucosida* (Figure 2.2). Attempts to amplify *recA* in *P. trehalosi* with the four primer combinations failed. Therefore, additional forward (#387) and reverse (#388) primers were designed and used for the *recA* gene



Figure 2.2 Diagrammatic representation of the *recA* gene of *M. haemolytica* taxon 746 (AF176376) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the sequence. The large arrow above *recA* indicates the direction of transcription.



Figure 2.3 Nucleotide sequence of the *recA* gene of *M. haemolytica* taxon 746 (AF176376) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.3 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the *recA* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

Primer ^a	Primer	Primer ^b	Yngletuef	Commence (Et to 2D)	Desition
use	No.	name	Isolates	Sequence (S ⁺ to S ⁺)	Position
P, S	#200	RecA/F/1	Mh, Mg	ACAGATTGATCCSGAACA	39 - 56
	#201	RecA/F/1		AGAAAAAGCRTTRGCAGC	60 - 77
P, S	#387	RecA/F/1	Pt	CAATTTGGCAAAGGCTC	100 - 116
P, S	#202	RecA/R/1	Mh, Mg	CCACITCAGGRTKTICTT	988 - 971
	#203	RecA/R/I		AWGAGAACCAWGCYCCTG	919 - 902
P, S	#388	RecA/R/1	Pt	CCYTGACCRATTTTHTC	944 - 928

^a P: PCR amplification, S: Sequencing

^b RecA/F/1: RecA/Forward/1, RecA/R/1: RecA/Reverse/1

^c Mh: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706

Mg: M. glucosida isolate PH344

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH246

^dS: G+C, R: G+A, Y: C+T, K: G+T, W: A+T, H: C+T+A

"Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within recA of the M. haemolytica

GenBank sequence (AF176376) (see Figure 2.3)

of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.2). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 55 °C. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *recA* gene of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.3 and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.3.

2.3.2.2 Genes encoding metabolic enzymes

2.3.2.2.1 5-eoolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (aroA)

Initially, two forward (#56 and #57) and two reverse (#58 and #59) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned aroA flanking sequences from M. haemolytica and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.4 and 2.5, and Table 2.4. The primers were tested in four combinations (#56/#58, #56/#59, etc) by PCR with *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #57/#58 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the aroA gene in 32 isolates of M. haemolytica (Figure 2.4A, B, and C). Attempts to amplify the aroA gene of M. glucosida and P. trehalosi with the four combinations of primers failed. Therefore, additional forward (#72) and reverse (#73) primers were designed. The primer pair #56/#73 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the aroA gene in six isolates of M. glucosida (Figure 2.4A and C), and the primer pair (#72/#73) was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the *aroA* gene in four isolates of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.4B). As sequence data became available, different sequencing primers were designed and used for each group of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.4). Four primer pairs were used to sequence aroA in M. haemolytica group Mhl and M. glucosida groups Mg1 and Mg2 (Figure 2.4A), whereas three primer pairs were used to sequence aroA in M. haemolytica groups Mh2 and Mh3, M. glucosida groups Mg3



(A) M. haemolytica group Mh1 and M. glucosida groups Mg1+2

(B) M. haemolytica group Mh2 and P. trehalosi group Pt



(C) M. haemolytica group Mh3 and M. glucosida groups Mg3+4



Figure 2.4 Diagrammatic representation of the aroA gene of M. haemolytica taxon 746 (U03068) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. (A) M. haemolytica group Mh1 and M. glucosida groups Mg1 and 2, (B) M. haemolytica group Mh2 and P. trehalosi group Pt, and (C) M. haemolytica group Mh3 and M. glucosida groups Mg3 and 4. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the GenBank sequence. The large arrow above aroA indicates the direction of transcription.

GTTCGCTCGATAGCAGGTTATGGAATGCCGA-----#57 ATGGAAAAAC TAACTTTAAC CCCGATTTCC CGAGTAGAAG GCGAGATCAA TTTACCTGGT TCTAAAAGCC TGTCTAACCG AGCCTTATTA TTAGCCGCCCT TACCACCOG TACGACTCAA GTGACCAATT TATTAGATAG TGATGATATT CGACATATGC TCAATGCCTT AAAAGCGTTA GGCGTGAAAT ATGAGCTATC GACGATAAA ACCGTCTGTG TACTTGAAGG GATTGGTGGA GCTTTTAAGG TTCAAAACGG CTTATCACTG TTTCTCGGCA ATGCAGGCAC GGCAATGCGA #79 CCACTTGCAG CAGCATTGTG TTTAAAAGGT GAGGAAAAAT CCCAAATCAT TCTTACCGGT GAACCAAGAA TGAAAGAACG CCCGATTAAA CACTTAGTCG ATGCTTTACE CCANGTAGGE GCAGAGGTAC AGTATTTAGA ARATGAAGGC TATCCACCET TEGCAATTAG CAATAGCETT TECAGEGEGCE GARAAGTECA ANTIGACEGE TEGATITECA SCEANTITET AACEGEATIS CTEATETETE CECENTASE GAAAGEGEAT ATEGAAATTE AGATATECE TEATETEGTA #76 TCANAACCTT ATATTGATAT TACCCTTTCG ATGATGAACG ATTITGGTAT TACGGTTGAA AATCGAGATT ACAAAACCTT ITTAGTTAAA GGTAAACAAG GCTATGTTGC TCCACAAGGT AATTATTTGG TGGAGGGGAGA TGCCTCTTCT GCCTCTTATT TCTTAGCCTC CGGTGCGATT AAGGCAGGTA AAGTAACGGG CATTGGTARA RAATCGATCC ARGCGACCG CTTGTTGCC GATGTGTTGG ARAAAATGGG GGCARAAATC ACTTGGGGAG AGGATTTTAT TCAAGCCGAG CAATCCCCCC TAAAAOGCCT AGATATGGAT ATGAATCATA TTCCTGATGC GGCAATGACG ATTGCAACAA CCGCTTTATT TGCCGAAGGA GAAACAGTTA #78 TCCGCAATAT TTATAACTGG CGGGTAAAAG AAACCGACCG CTTGACAGCA ATGGCAACCG AATTGCGTAA AGTCGGGGCA GAGGTAGAAG AAGGGGAAGA #71 AGOGGAAGAT TITATICOGA TICAACCOCT TOCOTTAGAA AACTICCAGC ACGCTGAAAT TGAAACCTAT AACGATCACC GTATOGCAAT GTGTTTTTCA TRAATTGCGT TATCGAATAC AGAAGTGACG ATCTTAGATC CAAATTGTAC CGCTAAAACG TTCCCGACTT ACTTTAGGGA CTTGGAAAAA TTATCGGTCA GATAA-----CGTTTTATTGTGGCAGACTAAGCC

Figure 2.5 Nucleotide sequence of the *aroA* gene of *M. haemolytica* taxon 746 (U03068) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1*. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

#58

Table 2.4 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the

Primer "	Primer	Primer ^b			·····
use	No.	name	Isolates "	Sequence (5' to 3')"	Position "
Four stage	es of seque	ncing (Figur	e 2.4A)		
P, S1	#56	AroA/F/1	MgI+2	GCTCGATAGCAGGTTATG	Not shown
P, S1	#57	AroA/I∛1	MhI	CAGGGTATGGAATGCCGA	Franking region
S2	#70	AroA/F/2	Mh1, Mg1+2	AAGCGTTAGGCGTGAAAT	173-190
\$3	#76	AroA/F/3	Mhl, Mgl	CTGATGTCTGCCCCATTA	541-558
S3	#80	AroA/F/3	Mg2	CTGATGTCTGCTCCACTA	Not shown
S4	#78	AroA/F/4	Mh1, Mg1+2	GGCGTAGATATGGATATG	916-933
P, S1	#58	AroA/R/1	Mh1, 2+3	GGCTTAGTCTGCCACAAT	Franking region
	#5 9	AroA/R/1		GTCTGCCACAATAAAACG	Not shown
P, S1	#73	AroA/R/1	MgI+2	GGAAACGTTTTTGCGGTACA	Not shown
S2	#71	AroA/R/2	Mh1, Mg1+2	GTTTCTTTTACCCGCCAG	1034-1017
S3	#77	AroA/R/3	Mh1, Mg1	GTTCATCATCGAAAGGGT	639-622
S3	#81	AroA/R/3	Mg2	CCAAAATCTTTCATCATCG	Not shown
S4	#79	AroA/R/4	Mh1, Mg1+2	CCAATCCCTTCAACTAC	236-220
Three stag	ges of seque	encing (Figu	re 2.4B and C)		
P, S1	#56	AroA/F/1	Mg3+4	GCTCGATAGCAGGTTATG	Not shown
P, S1	#57	AroA/F/1	Mh2+3	CAGGGTATGGAATGCCGA	Not shown
P, S1	#72	AroA/F/1	Pt	GTGCGTCCATTGCAGGTT	Not shown
S 2	#169	AroA/I7/2	Mh2+3, Mg3+4	TTAGTCGATGCTTTACGC	Not shown
S2	#170	AroA/F/2	Pt	CATTTGGTGGATGCTTTA	Not shown
S3	#78	AroA/F/3	Mh3, Mg3	GGCGTAGATATGGATATG	Not shown
S 3	#174	AroA/F/3	Mh2, Pt	GGCAAGGTAAAAGTAACG	Not shown
P, S1	#58	AroA/R/1	Mh2+3	GGCTTAGTCTGCCACAAT	Not shown
P, S1	#73	AroA/R/I	Mg3+4, Pt	GGAAACGTTTTTGCGGTACA	Not shown
S2	#71	AroA/R/2	Mh3, Mg3+4	GTTTCTTTTACCCGCCAG	Not shown
S2	#171	AroA/R/2	Mh2	ATCTCCCTCCACCAAATA	Not showu
S2	#172	AroA/R/2	Pt	CCITCCACCAAATAACGA	Not shown
83	#175	AroA/R/3	Mh2+3, Mg3, Pt,	GGGCGTTCTTTCATTCT	Not shown
\$3	#176	AroA/F/3	$M_{\mathcal{B}}4$	ATGAAGGTTATCCGCCGT	Not shown
\$3	#177	AroA/R/3	Me4	AAGAGGCAGAAGAGGCAT	Not shown

aroA gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

"P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing, S3: Third stage of sequencing, S4: Fourth stage of sequencing

^b AroA/F/1: AroA/Forward/1, AroA/R/1: AroA/Reverse/1

^e Mh1: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH8, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH232, PH238, PH278, PH284,

and the second state of the second state of the second state of the

PH292, PH296, PH338, PH388, PH396, PH398, PH484, PH494, PH526, PH540, PH550, PH588, PH598, PH706, PH786

Mh2: M. haemolytica isolate PH470

Mh3: M. haemolytica isolates PH30, PH376, PH346, PH50, PH56, PH372, PH392

Mg1: M. glucosida isolate PII290

Mg2: M. glucosida isolate PH344

Mg3: M. glucosida isolates PH240, PH496, PH498

Mg4: M. glucosida isolate PH574

Pt: P. trehalosi isolates PH246, PH252, PH254, PH68

^e Positions of the *aroA* primers for *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1* only are shown. Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *aroA* of the *M. haemolytica* GenBank sequence (U03068) (see Figure 2.5)

and Mg4, and P. trehalosi (Figure 2.4B and C). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 55 °C. The positions of representative M. haemolytica group Mh1 primers on the nucleotide sequence of the aroA gene of M. haemolytica are shown in Figure 2.5, and details of all primers are listed in Table 2.4.

2.3.2.2.2 Aspartate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase (asd)

Since a GenBank sequence was not available and the genome sequence was not published at the time for the *M. haemolytica asd* gene, two forward (#182 and #183) and two reverse (#184 and #185) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned asd sequences from closely related species of M. haemolytica (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.6 and 2.7, and Table 2.5). Attempts to amplify asd in M. haemolytica isolate PH2 with four primer combinations (#182/#184, #182/#185, etc) failed, and additional forward (#232) and reverse (#233) primers were designed. The new primers were tested in five combinations (#232/#184, #232/#185, #232/#233, etc) by PCR with M. haemolytica isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #183/#233 was used for PCR and sequencing of the asd gene in 10 representative isolates of M. haemolytica and one isolate of M. glucosida, and the primer pair #182/#233 was used for PCR and sequencing of the asd gene in one isolate of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.6). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 55 °C. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the asd gene of M. haemolytica are shown in Figure 2.7, and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.5.



Figure 2.6 Diagrammatic representation of the *asd* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (complementary contig 138 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the contig. The large arrow above *asd* indicates the direction of transcription.

ATGCAMART TA<u>GGTTTTAT CGGTTGGCG</u> GGTATGGTCG GTT<u>CGGTCT AATGGATCG A</u>TGGTTGAAG AAAATAACT CGCCAATATC AACCTGTTT **#182** TTTTCACTAC TTCACAAGCG GGTCAAAAAG CCCCTGTTT TGGCGGAAAA GATGCCGGCG AATTAAAAAA CGCCTTGAC ATTGAAGAAT TAAAAAAAT AGA<u>CATTATC GTAACTTGCC</u> AAGGTGGTGA TTATACAAAT GAAGTCATC CAAAATTAAA AGAAACGGT TGGAACGGCT ATTGGATGA CGCGGCTTCT **# 232** GCATTACGTA TGAAAGACGA TGCTATTATC GTATTAGACC CGGTGAACCA ACATGTGATT TCAGAAGGCT TAAAAAACG CATTAAAAAC TTTGTAGGCG GAAACTGTAC CGTAAGCCTA ATGCTAATGG CTATCGGTGG TTTATTGAG AAAGATTTGG TCGAGTGGGT TTCTGTAGCA ACTTACCAAG CCGCTTCCG TGCCGGTGCG AAAAATATGC GTGAATTGCT TTCTCAAATG GGTGAAATAG AAGAATTGG TCGAGTGGT TTAGGCAAATC CTGCCTCTTC TATTTAGAAT ATTGAACGTA AAGTTACGGC TAAAATGCGT GCGGAAGACT TCCCAACCGA GAACTTCGGT GCGGCATTGG GCGGTAGCT AATTCCTTGG ATTGATAAAT TATTAACGGA AACCGGGCAA ACTAAAGAAG AGTGGAAAGG TTATGCAGAA ACTAATAAAA TTTTAGGTTT AAGCGATAAC CCAATTCCAG TTGATGGTTT ATGCGTGCGT ATTGGAGCAT TACGCTGCCA CAGCCAAGCA TTCACAATTA AGCTGAAAAA AGATATTCCG TTAGCGGAA TCGAGCAAAT TATTGCTGCC CACAATGGAA<u>GGAT AATTCCAAAC</u> GACAAAGAAA CCACATGCG TGAATTGACC CCGGCGAAAG TCGAGCAAAT TATGCTGCC CACAATGGAA<u>GGGTGAAAGT AATTCCAAAC</u> GACAAAGAAA CCACATGCG TGAATTGACC CCGGCGAAAG TCGAGCAGA CCGGTTGGTC CACAATGGAA<u>GGGTGAAAGT AATTCCAAAC</u> GACAAAGAAA CCACATGCG TGAATGACC CCGGCGAAAG TCGAGCAGAG CCGGTTGGTC **#233** GCTTGCGTAA ATTAGCGAT<u>#185</u> **#185**

Figure 2.7 Nucleotide sequence of the *asd* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (complementary contig 138 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

 Table 2.5 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the

 asd gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Primer ^a	Primer	Primer ^b	Inclates	German (State 20 d	Destitions
use	No.	name	isolates	Sequence (5° to 5')"	Position
P, S	#182	Asd/F/1	Pt	GGYTTTATYGGYTGGCG	13 - 29
P, S	#183	Asd/F/1	Mh, Mg	CMGTHTTRATGGATCGTA	44 - 61
	#232	Asd/F/1		CATTATCGTSACBTGCCA	204 - 221
	#184	Asd/R/1		ARTAATTGRTCGCCMAC	1065 - 1048
	#185	Asd/R/1		GMYAAATATTCMGGYCC	1037 - 1021
P, S	#233	Asd/R/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	GGRATCACTTTYACCCA	926 - 910

"P: PCR amplification, S: Sequencing

^b Asd/F/1: Asd/Forward/1, Asd/R/1: Asd/Reverse/1

^c Mh: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706 Mg: M. glucosida isolate PH344

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH246

^dM: C+A, H: C+T+A, R: G+A, Y: C+T

^e Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *asd* of contig 138 of the *M*. *haemolytica* genome sequence as of 01/02/04

2.3.2.2.3 UDP-galactose 4-epimerase (galE)

Initially, two forward (#192 and #193) and two reverse (#194 and #195) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned *galE* sequences from *M. haemolytica* and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.8 and 2.9, and Table 2.6). The primers were tested in four combinations (#192/#194, #192/#195, *etc*) by PCR with *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #193/#194 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of *galE* gene in 10 representative isolates of *M. haemolytica*, one isolate of *M. glucosida*, and one isolate of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.8). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 55 °C. For the second stage of sequencing, primers specific to individual isolates were designed as sequence data became available. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *galE* gene of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.9 and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.6.

2.3.2.2.4 Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (gap)

Since a GenBank sequence was not available and the genome sequence was not published at the time for the *M. haemolytica gap* gene, two forward (#64 and #65) and two reverse (#66 and #67) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned *gap* sequences from closely related species of *M. haemolytica* (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.10 and 2.11, and Table 2.7). The primers were tested in four combinations (#64/#66, #64/#67, etc) by PCR with *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #65/#66 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the *gap* gene in 32 isolates of *M. haemolytica*, six isolates of *M. glucosida*, and four isolates of



Figure 2.8 Diagrammatic representation of the *galE* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate taxon 746 (U39043) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the GenBank sequence. The large arrow above *galE* indicates the direction of transcription.

ATGGCAATT<u>T</u> TAGTTACAGE TEGTOCAGEC TACATCEGTT CACATACATT AGTTGAATTA TTAAACGAAA ATCGTGAAAT CGTGGTGTA GATAATCTTT # 192 # 193 CTAATTCCTC TGAAGTATCA CTTGAGCGTG TGAAGCAGAT CACCGGCAAG AGCGTAAAAT TCTATCAAGG CGATATTTA GATCGTGATA TTTTACGCAA AATTTTTGCG GAAAATCAGA TTGAATCGGT AATTCACTTT GCCGGTTTAA AAGCTGTAGG CGAAACGTCA GAGAACCGCT ACGTTACTAT CAAAAACAAT GTAACCGGCT CGATTGTATT GGTAGAAGAG ATGCTAAAAG CCAATGTGAA TACCATTGTG TTTAGTTCAT CGGCGACCGT TTATGGTGAT CCGCAGATTA TCCCGATTGT GGAATCTTGC CCTGTCGGT<u>G GCACAACCAA CCCTTACGG</u> ACGTCCAAAT ATATGGTGAA CGGCATCTAT GAAGATACCG TTAAAGCCTT # 219 CCCACAATTA AGTGCGGTAG TATTCCGTTA CTTCAACCGG GTAGGGGGCT ACGAAAGCGG TTTAATGGTCAA ACGGTATCCC AAATAACTTA # 220 or 221 ATGCCGTTTA TCAGCCAAGT GGCTGTGGCC AAATTACCT AATTATCGT GTTTGGTGGC GATTATAATA CTCACGATGG CACAGGTGTG CGTGATTATA TCCACGTGGT AGATTTAGCA CTTGGTCACT TAAAAGCCTT AGACAAGCAC CAAAATGATG CCGGTTTCCA CGTTTACAAT TTAGGCACAG GAACAGGTTA TTCGGTGGTA GATATGGTAA AAGCCTTTGA AGCCGCAAAT GGCATTACTA TTCCATACAA AGTGGTAGAT COCCGCCCGG GC<u>GATATTGC CGTTTGCTACC</u> # 195 TCCGCTCCAC AAAAAGCGTT AGAGCAACTG GGTTGGGGAAA CCGAGCGTGG GCTAGAACAA ATGATGGAAGAT CGCCGCCCGG GC<u>GATATTGC CGTTTGCTAC</u> # 194 ATGGTTATAA AGGCTAA

Figure 2.9 Nucleotide sequence of the *galE* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate taxon 746 (U39043) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

 Table 2.6 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the

 galE gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

P rimer ^a	Primer	Primer ^b	Taslatas	Server (51 4- 21) 4	Desitions
use	No.	name	isolates	Sequence (5° to 5°)	Position
	#192	GalE/F/1		TTAGTWACAGGYGGKGC	10 - 26
P, S1	#193	GalE/F/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	GGYGGKGCAGGCTAYAT	19 - 35
\$2	#219	GalE/F/2	Mh, Mg, Pt	GGCACAACCAACCCTTAC	430 - 447
P, S1	#194	GalE/R/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	TGCCARTKCCAMGTGTC	986 - 970
	#195	GalE/R/1		GTARCAARYGGCAATATC	900 - 893
S2	#220	GalE/R/2	Mh, Mg	CTTCACCGATTAAACCGC	574 - 557
S2	#221	GalE/R/2	Pt	CTTCACCAATTAAACCGC	574 - 557

^a P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2:Second stage of sequencing

^b GalE/F/1: GalE/Forward/1, GalE/R/1: GalE/Reverse/1

^e Mh: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706

Mg: M. glucosida isolate PH344

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH246

^dW: A+T, Y: C+T, K: T+G, R: G+A, M: C+A,

^eNucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *galE* of the *M*. *haemolytica* GenBank sequence (U39043)





(B) M. haemolytica group Mh2, M. glucosida group Mg 2, and P. trehalosi group Pt



Figure 2.10 Diagrammatic representation of the gap gene of M. haemolytica isolate PHL213 (contig 156 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. (A) M. haemolytica group Mhland M. glucosida group Mgl and (B) M. haemolytica group Mh2, M. glucosida group Mg2, and P. trehalosi group Pt. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the contig. The large arrow above gap indicates the direction of transcription.

ARGECAATTA AAATTGETAT TAACGECTT GECCETATCE <u>TCTCTATCET TTTCCCTGCA</u> GCACACACACC GTGATGACAT CGAAGTGETA GETATCAACG $\frac{165}{165}$ CACGACACAC TGTTGATTAT ATGECTTATA TGCTGAAATA TGATTCAACT CACGGTCGTT TTGACGGTAC TGTTGAAGTA CGAAGCAGC AATTAGTACT TAACGETAAA GCGATCCGCG TAACAGCTGA GCGTGACCG GCTAACTTAA AATGGAATGA GATCGGTGTT GATATC<u>CCAC</u> <u>TTGAAGCAAC</u> <u>AGET</u>TTATCC $\frac{175}{175}$ TTAGATGATG AAACTGCTCG CAACACATC ACCGCGAGGTG CGAAGAAAGT T<u>GTTTTAACC GGTCCGTCT</u> AAGATGCAAC ACCTATGTTC GTAAACGGCG TAACACTGCTG CAAACACATC ACCGCAGGTG CGAAGAAAGT T<u>GTTTTAACC GGTCCGTCT</u> AAGATGCAAC ACCTATGTTC GTAAACGGCG TAACAAGAA GCTTTAATGA CAACTGTTCA CGCAACTAC GCCACCTACT ACAACTAACT GTTTAGCACC ATTAGCGAAA GTTATTCACG AAAAATTCG TATCAAAGAA GCTTTAATGA CAACTGTTCA CGCAACTAC GCAACGAAA AAACAGTAGA TGGTCCATCA GCGAAAGACT GGCGTGGTGG TCGTGGCGCG TCACAAAACA TCATTCCTC <u>ATCAACACGT GCAGCGAA</u>AG CAGTAGGTAA GGTATTACCT GCATAAACG GTAAATTAAC CGGTATGGCT TCCC<u>GTGTC</u> <u>474</u> AATGAAAGGC GTATTAGGCT ACAACGAAGA TGCAGTTGTT TCAACAGACT TCAATGGTGC AACTGAAACT TCAGTAATC AAACGGTACT CAGGAAAAGCA TTAACTGATA CTTTCGTTAA ATTAGTATCT <u>TGGTAGAAA ACGAAGTATA ACGAAGACT TCAGTAATTAG ACGAAGAACC ACCTAACTA ACTACAAAG</u> TTAACTGATA CTTTCGTTAA ATTAGTATCT <u>TGGTGGAAA ACGAAGTATA ACTACGAAACT TCAGTAATTAG ACTACGTGC TCACGTAATA ACTACAAAG</u> **GTTAA**

Figure 2.11 Nucleotide sequence of the gap gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (contig 156 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1*. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Primer	Primer	Primer ^b	Finainaf	Securation (El to 20) ^d	Do alta :f
use	No.	name	Strams	Sequence (5° to 5')	Position
Three sta	ges of sequ	tencing (Figu	re 2.10A)		
	#6 4	Gap/F/1		ATGGTTTTGGTCGTATCG	Not shown
P, S1	#65	Gap/F/1	Mhl, Mgl	GCCGTATCGTATTCCGTG	41-58
S2	#68	Gap/F/2	Mh1, Mg1	GTTTTAACCGGTCCGTCT	352-369
S 3	#74	Gap/F/3	Mh1, Mg1	GTGTTCCAACCACTAACG	695-712
P, S1	#66	Gap/R/1	Mh1, Mg1	ACCCGTTTGTTATCGTACCA	950-931
	#67	Gap/R/1		GTITIGAGTAACCCGTTTC	Not shown
S2	#6 9	Gap/R/2	Mh1, Mg1	TTCGCTGCACCTGTTGAT	638-621
S 3	#75	Gap/R/3	MhI, Mg1	ACCTGTTGCTTCAACTGC	294-277
Two stage	e of sequen	cing (Figure	2.10B)		
P, S1	#65	Gap/F/1	Mh2, Mg2, Pt	GCCGTATCGTATTCCGTG	Not shown
S2	#167	Gap/F/2	Mh2, Mg2, Pt	TGACAACTGTTCACGCAA	Not shown
P, S1	#66	Gap/R/1	Mh2, Mg2, Pt	ACCCGTTTGTTATCGTACCA	Not shown
S2	#168	Gap/R/2	Mh2, Mg2, Pt	GTTGCGTGAACAGTTGTC	Not shown

Table 2.7 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the gap gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

^a P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing, S3: Third stage

of sequencing

5

^b GAP/F/1: GAP/Forward/1, GAP/R/1: GAP/Reverse/1

^c Mh1: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH8, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH232, PH238, PH278, PH284,

PH292, PH296, PH338, PH388, PH396, PH398, PH484, PH494, PH526,

PH540, PH550, PH588, PH598, PH706, PH786

Mh2: M. haemolytica isolates PH470, PH30, PH376, PH346, PH50, PH56, PH372, PH392

Mg1: M. glucosida isolates PH290, PH344

Mg2: M. glucosida isolates PH240, PH496, PH498, PH574

Pr: P. trehalosi isolates PII246, PII252, PH254, PII68

^c Positions of the *gap* primers for *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1* only are shown. Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *gap* of contig 156 of the *M. haemolytica* genome sequence as of 01/02/04 (see Figure 2.11)

P. trehalosi (Figure 2.10). As sequence data became available, different sequencing primers were used for each group of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* isolate (Figure 2.10). Three primer pairs were used to sequence *gap* in *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1* and *M. glucosida* group *Mg1* (Figure 2.10A), whereas two primer pairs were used to sequence *gap* in *M. haemolytica* groups *Mh2*, *M. glucosida* group *Mg2*, and *P. trehalosi* group *Pt* (Figure 2.10B). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 50 °C. The positions of representative *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1* primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *gap* gene of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.11, and details of all primers are listed in Table 2.7.

2.3.2.2.5 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (gnd)

Since a GenBank sequence was not available and the genome sequence was not published at the time for the of *M. haemolytica gnd* gene, three forward (#238 to #240) and three reverse (#241 to #243) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned *gnd* sequences from closely related species of *M. haemolytica* (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.12 and 2.13, and Table 2.8). The primers were tested in nine combinations (#238/#241, #238/#242, *etc*) by PCR with *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #240/#241 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the *gnd* gene in 10 representative isolates of *M. haemolytica*, one isolate of *M. glucosida*, and one isolate of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.12). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 57 °C. For the second stage of sequencing, primers specific to individual isolates were designed as sequence data became available. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *gnd* gene of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.13, and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.8.



Figure 2.12 Diagrammatic representation of the *gnd* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (contig 160 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the contig. The large arrow above *gnd* indicates the direction of transcription.

ATGTCACAAA AAGGCGATAT CGGCGTGATT GGACTCGCCG TAATGGGTCA AAATTTAATT TTGAATATGA ATGACAACGG CTTTAAAGTG GTGGCGTACA #238 #239 #240 ACCGCACTAC TTCAAAAGTG GATGAGTTCT TAGAAGGTGC GGCGAAAGGC ACGAACATTA TCGGTGCTTA CTCGTTAGAA GATTTAGCGG CGAAGTTGGA ANAACCOCGT AAAGTGATGC TAATGGTGCG TGCCGGTGAG GTGGTGGATC AGTTTATCGA GGCTCTTCTG CCACATTTAG AAGAAGGCGA CATCATCATT GATGGCGGTA ACTCARACTA TCCGGACACC AACCGCCGTG TGARAGCGTT AGCGGARARA GGCATTCGCT TTATCGGCTC AGGTGTATCG GGCGGCGAAG AGGGTGCTCG TCACGGGCCCG TCAATTATGC CGGGCGGTGA TGAATCTGCG TGGCAATATG TGAAGCCGAT TTTCCAAGCA ATTTCAGCCA AAACCGACAA AGGTGAGECT TETTETGACT GEGETTEGTEG TEACEGARECA EGECATTITE TEAAAATEGT TEACAACGET ATEGAATATE GEGATATECA ETTAATTET GAAGCCTACC AATTCTTAAA AGATGGTTTA GGTTTAAGCT ATGATGAAAT GCACGAAATC TTTAAAGAGT GGAAAAACAC CGAATTAGAC AGCTATTTGG #255 or #256 Togatattac cactgatatt cttgcc<u>taca angacgaaga cgg</u>cgagcca ttggtagaga anattctcga caccgcaggt caanaaggaa cgggtaaatg #257 GACTGGTATT AACGCCCTTG ATTTCGGCAT TCCATTAACA CTGATTACCG AGTCGGTATT CGCCCGTTGC GTATCTGCGT TTAAAGATCA ACGTGTTGCG GCTTCAAGAT TOTTTAACAA AGAAATTGGT AAAGTTGAAG GCGACAAAAA AGTATGGGTA GAAGCGGTAC GCCGTGCGTT ACTTGCTTCC AAAATCATCT CITATOCACA AGGCTITATE ITGATICOTE AGGCTICIES GCAATICOET IGGGACATCA ACTACEGCCAT ATATEGCECETA THATEGCETE AAGGETETAT TATCCGCAGE COTTECTAG GEARCATEC TGATGEGTAT GAAGECAACE CATATETAGE STEETAGGE TEAGAECEAT ACTEEAAAGA TATTETGGAA NACTGETTES CAGATTEGES TANAGTAGTS GEANAATCES TEGANATCES TTTACETETA CETTETATES CETEAGECAT TACETTETA GATEGETACA CCTCGGCACG TTTACCGGCA AACTTACTCC AAGCACAACG TGACTACTTT GGTGCTCATA CTTATGAGCG TACAGACAAA GCTCGCGGTG AGTTCTTCCA #241 CACCAACTGG ACAGGACGTG GCGGTAATAC CGCATCGACC ACTTATGATG TGTAA

Figure 2.13 Nucleotide sequence of the gnd gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (contig 160 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.8 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the *gnd* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

Primer ^a	Primer	Primer ^b	T1_4£	Same (File 20)	The state of
use	No.	name	Isolates	Sequence (5' to 3')"	Position
	#238	Gnd/F/1		AAGGYGAYATCGGYGTTA	11 - 28
	#239	Gnd/F/1		TCGGYGTTATYGGCTTAG	20 - 37
P, S1	#240	Gnd/F/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	GGCTTAGCSGTRATGGG	31 - 47
S 2	#255	Gnd/F/2	Mh, Mg	GCTATGATGAAATGCACG	638 - 655
S 2	#256	Gnd/F/2	Pt	GCTACGATGAAATGCAAG	638 - 6 55
P, S1	#241	Gnd/R/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	RTAGTCRCGTTGTGCTTG	1347 -1330
	#242	Gnd/R/I		GCCACYACTTTRCGCCA	1232 - 1216
	#243	Gnd/R/1		ATACAACCTTCACGCCA	1100 - 1084
S2	#257	Gnd/R/2	Mh, Mg, Pt	CCGTCTTCGTCTTTGTA	733 - 727

"P: PCR amplification, S1: Fist stage of Sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing

^b Gnd/F/1: Gnd/Forward/1, Gnd/R/1: Gnd/Reverse/1

^c Mh: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706 Mg: M. glucosida isolate PH344

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH246

^dR: G+A, S: G+C, Y: C+T

1

^eNucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *gnd* of contig 160 of the *M*. *haemolytica* genome sequence as of 01/02/04 (see Figure 2.13)

2.3.2.2.6 Glucose-6-phosphate-1-dehydrogenase (g6pd)

Since a GenBank sequence was not available and the genome sequence was not published at the time for the *M. haemolytica g6pd* gene, three forward (#206 to #208) and two reverse (#290 and #210) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned g6pd sequences from closely related species of M. haemolytica (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.14 and 2.15, and Table 2.9). The primers were tested in six combinations (#206/#290, #206/#210, etc) by PCR with M. haemolytica isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #207/#210 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the g6pd gene in 10 representative isolates of *M. haemolytica* (Figure 2.14). Attempts to amplify g6pd in P. trehalosi and M. glucosida with the six primer combinations failed. Therefore, additional forward (#385 and #395) and reverse (#386 and #396) primers were designed, but no combination of any primer pair amplified the *g6pd* gene of *M*. glucosida and P. trehalosi (Figure 2.14). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 54 °C. For the second stage of sequencing, primers specific to individual isolates were designed as sequence data became available. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the $g \delta p d$ gene of M. haemolytica are shown in Figure 2.15, and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.9.

2.3.2.2.7 Malate dehydrogenase (mdh)

Since a GenBank sequence was not available and the genome sequence was not published at the time for the *M. haemolytica mdh* gene, three forward (#186, #187, and #191) and three reverse (#188, #189, and #190) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned *mdh* sequences from closely related species of *M. haemolytica* (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.16 and 2.17, and Table 2.10). 'The



Figure 2.14 Diagrammatic representation of the g6pd gene of M. haemolytica isolate PHL213 (contig 160 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the contig. The large arrow above g6pd indicates the direction of transcription.

ΑΤGAATGCTG AAAATAGCTG <u>AACCACTTAT TITIGGTGCTT CCGGTGACTT AACTTTTCG</u> AAATTAATTC CTGCTCTTTA TAACTTATAT AAGATGGCA **335 #206 #385 #207 335 #206 #385 #207 336 #208 350 350 350 350 4206 338 350 4207 300**

Figure 2.15 Nucleotide sequence of the g6pd gene of M. haemolytica isolate PHL213 (contig 160 of the genome sequence as of 2/1/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.9 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of theg6pd gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Primer ^a	Primer	Primer ^b	I solates ^c	Sequence (5' to 3') ^d	Position
use	N0.	name			
	#206	G6pd/F/1		TTTTYGGYGCVTCHGGYG	29 - 46
P, S1	#207	G6pd/F/1	Mh	CHGGYGAYYTMACTYATCG	41 - 59
	#208	G6pd/F/1		TGRSTGARVAYTTYTCCG	104 - 121
	#385	G6pd/F/1		TTTTGGYGCDTCHGGKGA	30 - 47
	#395	G6pd/F/1		TATEGTAATTTTEGGEGE	21 - 38
S2	#258	G6pd/F/2	Mh	GCAATGCGTGATATGTTC	700 - 717
	#209	G6pd/R/I		GCCACYACTTTRCGCCA	1478 - 1461
P, S1	#210	G6pd/R/1	Mh	TTTBGCGATBARTTTRTCRGC	1437 - 1417
	#386	G6pd/R/1		TTWCGCCAYACTTTGCC	1467 - 14 51
	#396	G6pd/R/1		TAAVCGYTCATAAGCGG	1266 - 1250
S2	#259	G6pd/R/2	Mh	TGCGACTTCATCACGCA	804 - 788

" P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2:Second stage of sequencing

^b G6pd/F/1: G6pd/Forward/1, G6pd/R/1: G6pd/Reverse/1

^e Mh: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706

^d Y: C+T, V: A+C+G, H: C+T+A, M: C+A, R: G+A, S: G+C, D: A+G+T, K: T+G, B: C+T, W: A+T

^e Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within g6pd of contig 160 of the M. haemolytica genome sequence as of 01/02/04 (see Figure 2.15)



(B) M. haemolytica PH2



(C) M. haemolytica (Mh), M. glucosida (Mg), and P. trehalosi (Pt)



Figure 2.16 Diagrammatic representation of the *mdh* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (contig 178 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. (A) PH2, first PCR, (B) PH2, second PCRs, and (C) *Mh*, *Mg* and *Pt*. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the contig. The large arrow above *mdh* indicates the direction of transcription.

ATGTGTCAAA GTAAAAAAGT TGCCCT TTTA GETECTICAS STOGAATCOS TCAATCACTC SCCTTATTAT TAAAAACTCAA TTTACCOGCT AAATCTGAAT #186 #265 #187 #191#266 TATCTCTTTA CGATATTTCC CCTGTTACTC CAGGAATTGC ACTGGATTTA AGCCATATTC CAACTGATGT AAAAGTAACC GGTTTTGCAG GTGAAGATCC #244 GACTGAGGCA CTAAAAGATG CCGATGTGGT CGTTATTTCT GCTGGTGTT<u>G CCCGTAAGCC GOGGAT</u>GACA CGTGCCGATT TATTCAATAC GAATGCCACT ATCOTOCATA ACTTACTCCA AAAAGCAGCG AAAGTTTGCC CTAAAGCTTG CATTGCAATT ATTACTAACC CGGTAAACAC CATTATTC<u>CG ATTCCGGCAG</u> #253 #24 ANOTATIGAA AAAAGCCOGT GTGTATGACA AAAATAAACT TTTCGGTGTT ACAACATTAG ATGTTATTCG AGCGAATACC TTTGTGGCTG AGCGAAAGA CGTAAATGTG AAATATGTAA GAGTGCCTGT GATTGGCGGA CATTCCGGCA CAACTATTCT TCCACTGCTT TCACAAGCAA CAGTAAATGG CTTAAAACTT GAGTTCACTC AAGAACAAAT CGAGCAATTA ACTCATCGTA TCCAAAACCC CGGTACTGAA GTOGTTGAGG CAAAAGCAGG TGGTGGCTCA GCAACCTTAT #252 #246 CTATOGCTCA ACCAGGAGCA GAATTTGCAC ITGGTTTAGT GAGAGCCTTA ATCOGGGAAG ATGTCATTCG TTATGCTTAT GTAGATAATG CCAATGGCGA AACCTCTCCC GCATTCTTTG CTTACCCGAT TCGTTTAGGT ACAAATGGTG TGGAAAAAGT TCTACCTATC GGCAATCTCA GCGAATTTGA AAAAGATCAA CTAGAGCAGT TAATTCCTGT ATTAAATGAT GAA #188 #323 #268 #267 #189 AGT TAGGACAAAC TTTTAATAAA AATGCTTAA GAAATTO #190

Figure 2.17 Nucleotide sequence of the *mdh* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (contig 178 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers selected for final PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

 Table 2.10 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the

 mdh gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Primer ^a use	Primer No.	Primer ^b name	Isolates ^c	Sequence (5' to 3') ^d	Position "
	#187	Mdh/17/1		CGCAGGYGGTATYGGTCA	36 - 53
	#191	Mdh/F/1		GCAGGTGGKATWGGWCA	37 - 53
P, S	#244	Mdh/F/1	Mh (PH2)	TWTKCBGGTGAAGATCC	183 - 200
	#245	Mdh/F/1		GCRCGTAAACCKGGTAT	250 - 266
P, S	#253	Mdh/F/1		CTTGTACCRCCTACTGC	389 - 406
P, S	#265	Mdh/F/1	Mh	TGTWYTAGGTGCYGCAGG	24 - 41
	#266	Mdh/F/1		GCAGGYGGWATYGGTCA	37 - 53
	#188	Mdh/R/1		CCTAATTCAATATCYGCACG	944 - 925
P. S	#189	Mdh/R/1		GGTARRATTTCTTCHACRCC	866 - 847
P, S	#190	Mdh/R/1	Pt	RCCYAATTCAATATCYGC	945 - 928
P, S	#246	Mdh/R/1	<i>Mh</i> (PH2)	ACTTCBGTVCCBGCATTT	662 - 645
P, S	#267	Mdh/R/1	Mh	TCCACRCCATTTKTACC	854 - 838
	#252	Mdh/R/1		CCGGCATTTTGGATACG	653 - 637
P, S	#254	Mdh/R/1	Mh (PH2)	CCAATCACAGGCACTCTT	
P, S	#268	Mdh/R/1	Mg	KTACCTAARCGAAYCGG	842 - 826
S	#323	Mdh/R/1	Pt	TTACCTAAACGCACAGGC	842 - 825

^w P: PCR amplification, S: Sequencing

^b Mdh/F/1: Mdh/Forward/1, Mdh/R/1: Mdh/Reverse/1

^e Mh: M, haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706

Mg: M. glucosida isolate PII344

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH246

4

化化学 医白垩

^d W: A+T, Y: C+T, K: T+G, B: C+T, R: G+A, V: A+C+G

"Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *mdh* of contig 178 of the *M*. *haemolytica* genome sequence as of 01/02/04 (see Figure 2.17)
primers were tested in nine combinations (#186/#188, #186/#189, etc) by PCR with M. *haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #186/#189 produced a band of the expected size, but also a strong non-specific band. Therefore, additional forward (#244 and #245) and reverse (#246) primers were designed. The primer pair #244/#246 was amplified a small segment of *mdh* for isolate PH2 (Figure 2.16A). The amplified product was sequenced and one forward (#253) and two reverse (#252 and #254) internal primers were designed to amplify a larger segment of the *mdh* gene. Two overlapping regions of *mdh* were amplified without non-specific bands and sequenced for isolate PII2 with primer pairs #186/#254 and #253/#189 (Figure 2.16B). Finally, two forward #265 and #266 and two reverse #267 and #268 internal primers were designed. The primer pair #265/#267 was used for PCR and sequencing of the mdh gene in 10 representative isolates of *M. haemolytica*, the primer pair #186/#268 was used for PCR and sequencing of the *mdh* gene in one isolate of *M. glucosida*, and the primer pair #186/#190 was used for PCR and sequencing of the mdh gene in one isolate of P. trehalosi (Figure 2.16C). The internal primer #323 was designated for sequencing of the *mdh* gene in *P. trehalosi* because the sequence quality with the reverse primer #190 was poor. The optimum annealing temperature of the PCRs was 55 °C for M. haemolytica and 50 °C for M. glucosida and P. trehalosi. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *mdh* gene of *M*. haemolytica are shown in Figure 2.17, and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.10.

2.3.2.2.8 Mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (mtlD)

Since a GenBank sequence was not available and the genome sequence was not published at the time for the of *M. haemolytica mdh* gene, two forward (#362 and #363) and two reverse (#364 and #365) primers were designed within the conserved

regions of the aligned *mtlD* sequences from closely related species of *M. haemolytica* (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.18 and 2.19, and Table 2.11). The primers were tested in four combinations (#362/#364, #362/#365, *etc*) by PCR with *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #363/#364 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of *mtlD* in 17 isolates of *M. haemolytica*, six isolates of *M. glucosida*, and one isolate of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.18). The optimum annealing temperature for the PCRs was 55 °C for *M. haemolytica* and *P. trehalosi* and 58 °C for *P. trehalosi*. For the second stage of sequencing, primers specific to individual isolates were designed as sequence data became available. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *mtlD* gene of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.19, and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.11.

2.3.2.2.9 Phosphomannomutase (pmm)

Since a GenBank sequence was not available and the genome sequence was not published at the time for the of *M. haemolytica pmm* gene, two forward (#215 and #216) and two reverse (#217 and #218) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned *pmm* sequences from closely related species of *M. haemolytica* (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.20 and 2.21, and Table 2.12). The primers were tested in four combinations (#215/#217, #215/#218, *etc*) by PCR with *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #216/#218 was used for PCR and sequencing of the *pmm* gene in 30 isolates of *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1* and four isolates of *P. trehalosi*, and the primer pair #215/#218 was used for PCR and sequencing of the *pmm* gene in two isolates of *M. haemolytica* group *Mh2* and six isolates of *M. glucosida* (Figure 2.20). The optimum annealing temperatures were 50 °C for isolates PH246 and PH254, 52 °C for



Figure 2.18 Diagrammatic representation of the *mtlD* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (complementary contig 121 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the contig. The large arrow above *mtlD* indicates the direction of transcription.

Figure 2.19 Nucleotide sequence of the *mtlD* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (complementary contig 121 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.11 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the *mtlD* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

Primer"	Primer	Primer ^b	Turletur	0	Position"	
use	No.	ваше	Isolates	Sequence (5° to 5')"		
	#362	MtlD/F/1		TGGTGCCGGTAATATYG	18 - 34	
P, S1	#363	MtlD/F/I	Mh, Mg, Pt	GGRCGTGGMTTTATCGG	34 - 50	
S2	#370	MtlD/F/2	Mh, Mg, Pt	GGATTGTGGATCAAACCC	548 - 565	
P, S1	#364	MtlD/R/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	GRTCWTCCTCATTGCGAT	1021 - 1004	
	#365	MtlD/R/1		CCATATTYCAASGTGCCA	956 - 939	
S2	#371	MtlD/R/2	Mh, Mg	GCCATCAGGTTATCGGTT	623 - 606	
S 2	#372	MtlD/R/2	Pt	ATGACGGGAATTTCGCC	590 - 574	

"P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing

^b MtlD/F/1: MtlD/Forward/1, MtlD/R/1: MtlD/Reverse/1

^e *Mh*: *M. haemolytica* isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706 PH540, PH8, PH398, PH322, PH396, PH484, PH598

Mg: M. glucosida isolate PH344, PH290, PH240, PH574, PH496, PH498

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH246

^dY: C+T, R: G+A, M: C+A, W: A+T, S: G+C

^e Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *mtlD* of contig 121 of the *M*. *haemolytica* genome sequence as of 01/02/04 (see Figure 2.19)



Figure 2.20 Diagrammatic representation of the *pmm* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (contig 171 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the contig. The large arrow above *pmm* indicates the direction of transcription.

ATGGGTATGA ACCGTGTTT GGTGGCACAA GCTGCCAGCG GTTAGCTGG GTTAATAAA GGTATGAAA AAGAGCCGC AATTGTTAT GGTTATGACG GTCGTAAAAA TTCCGATGT TTGGCCGTG ACCCGCTGA AATTATGGCA GCGGCAGGCA TAAAACGTA CCGCGTCCC GCAAATTGC CACACACAG GCTTGCCTAT GCGATCAAT ATTTTGATAC CACAGCCGGT GTGATGGTAA CTGCCAGCCA CA<u>ACCCACCG GAAGATAACG</u> GCTATAAAGT TTATTTAGGT AAAGCCAACG GTGGCGGACA AATTGTTTGG CGGCAGATA AAGAAATTGC TGCTCTGATT GATAAAGTAG CAGCAGGGGA TATTCGTGAT TTACCTCGTA GCCAAGATT CACGGTGTTG GCCATGAAG TGGTAAATGC TTATATGAG AAACCGCCT CACTAGCCAA ACGGCCAAAA GCCGAAAAA ACTACGTT CACTGCAATG CACGGTGTG GCTATGAAGT GTTAAAGAA ACATTAGAAA AAGACGCGCT ACCGCAACCG TATTTAGTTA GTGAGCAGAT TCACCGGAC GGTCGTTCC CAACGGTTAA TTCCCGAAC CGGAAGAGA AAGGGGCGT AGCCGGCT ACCGCCAACG TATTTAGTTA GTGAGCAGAT TCACCGGAC GGTTCGTTCC CAACGGTTAA TTCCCGAAC CGGAAGAGA AAGGGGCGT AGTTTAGCG ATAAATTGG CGAAAGGAA AAATCCCGAA TTTATTAGCG GCTACGTCCC CACCGGTGAG CGTTTAGCGG TAGCCGTCC TGATGCTCA GGCAACTGGA AACCACTGCA TGGCAACTGG ATATTGCGAA AAATTGCG GTATTTAGCC AAACAATTCC ACGCACAAGG TAAACAAGGC GTGTTGGCT GCTCGTTAGT ATCCTCCTCC GCGTTAGCTG AAATTGCGAA AAAATATGGT TTAAGCTCCG AAGAAACAATTCC ACGCACTAGG TAAATATATG GAAAAGTGA AAACCTATTA TTGGCTTG AAGAAGCCT AGGTTATTT GTTGACCCAC CGAAGTGCG GGCTTTATGT AACCGGCTAA ATTTCGATCA GAGTTTGGA TTAGCGAA AGAAGCCT AGGTTAAT TAATGCG ATTACCCCC CGAGGTTCGT CAAGAGTTCC GCGCTTATGT AAGCGGTCAA ATTTCGATCA GAGTTTGGA TTAGCCGAA AGAAGCTT AGGTTAATT GTTGACCCCC CGAGGTTTGTA CAAGAGTTCG GGCCTTATGT AAGCGGTCAA ATTTCGATCA GAGTTTGGA TTAGCCGAA ATGGCCAAAT TAATGACGG GTTACCCAC CGAGGTTGGA GCGATATGG TGCCTTAAGA AATTAGGT TTATGACCA TACCAAACA AGAAGGTAAA ACCCTTGCG GGCTTAATGT TAGGCGCAAA ATTCCCCCAA CGAAATTGG GGCCTTAAG AATTAGGT TTATGACCA TACCAAACA AGAAGGTAAA ACCCTTGCG GGCTTAAGCG GGCTTAAGT AAGCGGCAAA ATTTGGAC ACCCACACA AATCCTCCAA GCGAAATTGG TGCCTTAAG AAGCGGTGAA ATTTGGACA TACCAAACA AGAAGGTAAA ACCCTTGCG GGCTTAAGCG GGCTTAAGGC GTAGCGAAA ATTTGGAC ACCCCCAAA ATCCGCCAA ATCGGCAAA ATGGCCAAA ATCCGCCGAA AATTGGACGA AATTGGACG AACCCACGAG AAGCCTGAA AACCCACGAGC AACCGCGAAA ATCGGCCGAA AACCCACGAGC AACCGCGAA AATGGCCGAA AATGGCCGAA AATCGGCGAA AATTGGAC AACCCACGAC ACCGCC

Figure 2.21 Nucleotide sequence of the *pmm* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (contig 171 of the genome sequence as of 22/4/04) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1*. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.12 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the *pmm* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

Primer ^a	Primer	Primer ⁶	T\$_&C	D	Position	
use	No.	name	isolates	Sequence (5 to 5)		
P, S	#215	Pmm/F/1	Mh2, Mg	ACMGCAAGYCATAACCC	Not shown	
P, S	#216	Pmai/F/I	Mh1, Pt	CCCRCCAGAAGATAATG	264 - 281	
	#21 7	Pmm/R/1		CTTTGRCGRTCKGTTTT	Not shown	
P, S	#218	Pmm/R/1	Mh1+2, Mg, Pt	GCWGARATRCCGTCTTTAT	1031 - 1013	

"P: PCR amplification, S: Sequencing

^b Pmm/F/1: Pmm/Forward/1, Pmm/R/1: Pmm/Reverse/1

^c Mh1: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH30, PH50, PH56, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH232, PH238, PH278,

PH284, PH292, PH296, PH338, PH346, PH372, PH376, PH388, PH392,

PH396, PH398, PH470, PH484, PH526, PH540, PH598, PH588, PH706,

PH8, PH202,

Mh2: M. haemolytica isolates PH494, PH550

Mg : M. glucosida isolates PH344, PH240, PH290, PH496, PH498, PH574

Pt : P. trehalosi isolates PH246, PH68, PH252, PH254

^dM: C+A, Y: C+T, R: G+A, K: T+G, W: A+T

^c Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *pmm* of contig 171 of the *M*. *haemolytica* genome sequence as of 01/02/04 (Figure 2.21)

isolate PH68, 54 °C for isolate PH252, 58 °C for isolates PH56 and PH232, 60 °C for isolate PH290, and 56 °C for the remaining 35 isolates. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *pmm* gene of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.21, and details of all primers are listed in Table 2.12.

2.3.2.3 Genes encoding secreted proteins

2.3.2.3.1 Glycoprotease (gcp)

Initially, two forward (#196 and #197) and two reverse (#198 and #199) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned *gcp* sequences from *M. haemolytica* and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.22 and 2.23, and Table 2.13). The primers were tested in four combinations (#196/#198, #196/#199, *etc*) by PCR with *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #196/#199 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the *gcp* gene in 10 isolates of *M. haemolytica*, one isolates of *M. glucosida*, and one isolate of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.22). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 55 °C. The internal forward (#230) and reverse (#231 and #264) primers were designed for second and third stage sequencing of the *gcp* gene in *P. trehalosi* because the quality of original sequence data for *P. trehalosi gcp* was poor. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *gcp* gene of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.23, and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.13.



Figure 2.22 Diagrammatic representation of the *gcp* gene of *M. haemolytica* taxon 746 (U15958) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the GenBank sequence. The large arrow above *gcp* indicates the direction of transcription.



Figure 2.23 Nucleotide sequence of the *gcp* gene of *M. haemolytica* taxon 746 (U15958) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.13 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the *gcp* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

Primer ^a	Primer	Primer ^b	Tealator	$Summan\left(SI \neq a \; RI\right)^d$	D	
use	No.	name	isolates	Sequence (S to S)	FOSILION	
P, S1	#196	Gcp/F/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	CHTGTGATGAAACNGGKG	26 - 43	
	#197	Gcp/F/1		NGGKGTTGCBATTTATGA	38 - 56	
P, S2	#230	Gep/F/2	Pt	AGGATCCACTATTGCTCG	370 - 387	
	#198	Gcp/R/I		CCDGTRTARGCAATCAT	941 - 925	
P, S1	#199	Gcp/R/I	Mh, Mg, Pt	GCAATCATKGCNCCRTT	932 - 916	
S2	#2 31	Gep/R/2	Pt	GAAGGCGTGTGCAATATC	732 - 715	
\$3	#264	Gcp/R/3	Pt	TCTAACATAGGAGCCAGC	365 - 348	

^a P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing, S3: Third stage of sequencing

^b Gcp/F/1; Gcp/Forward/1, Gcp/R/1; Gcp/Reverse/1

^c Mh: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706 Mg: M. glucosida isolate PH344

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH246

5

^dH: C+T+A, N: C+T+G+A, K: T+G, B: C+T, D: A+G+T, R: G+A

^e Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within gcp of the *M. haemolytica* GenBank sequence (U15958) (see Figure 2.23)

2.3.2.4 Genes encoding periplasm-associated proteins

2.3.2.4.1 Lipoproteins (*plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC*)

Initially, two forward (#150 and #151) and two reverse (#152 and #153) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned plpA sequences from M. haemolytica and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.24 and 2.25, and Table 2.14). The primers were tested in four combinations (#150/#152, #150/#153, etc) by PCR with M. haemolytica isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #150/#152 was used for PCR and sequencing of the *plpA* gene in 10 isolates of *M. haemolytica* and one isolates of M. glucosida, and the primer pair #150/#153 was used for PCR and sequencing of the *plpA* gene in one isolate of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.24). To amplify the continuous plpB and plpC genes, two internal forward primers (#247 for M. haemolytica and M. glucosida and #248 for P. trehalosi) were designed as sequence data became available, and three reverse primers (#249 to #251) were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned continuous plpA, plpB, and plpC genes from M. haemolytica and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2). The primers were tested in three combinations (#247/#249, #247/#250, etc) by PCR with M. haemolytica isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #247/#250 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the plpB and plpC genes in eight isolates of M. haemolytica group Mh1 and the primer pair #247/#249 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the plpB and plpC genes in two isolates of M. haemolytica group Mh2 and one isolate of M. glucosida (Figure 2.24). Attempts to amplify the *plpB* and *plpC* genes in *P*. trehalosi with the three primer combinations (#248/#249, #248/#250, etc) were unsuccessful. The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 55 °C.



Figure 2.24 Diagrammatic representation of the *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of *M*. *haemolytica* taxon 746 (L16627) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the GenBank sequence. The large arrow above *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* indicates the direction of transcription.

(nInA)									
ATGAGTTTCA	AGAAAATTTT	AGGCGTTGCA	TTGGTTTCTG	CATTAGCATT	AACCGCTTGT	AAAGAAGAGA	AAAAGGCAGA	ATCTACCCGT	GCTCCGGCAG
CTCAAGCTCC	GGCTAAAATC	AAAGTAGGGG	TAATGTCAGG	CCCTGAGCAT	ACCGTTGCAG	AACGTGCAGC	ACAGATTGCA	AAAGAAAAAT	ATGGTTTAGA
(Helpesse)		#1	50	#151				100	
AGTTGAGTTC	GTTTTATTTA	ACGACTACGC	TITACCGAAT	ACTGCAGTAA	GTAAAGGIGA	TTTAGATGCA	AACGCATTCC	AACACAAACC	ATATTTAGAT
AAAGACAGCC	AATCAAAAGG	ттталасаас	TTAGTGATTG	TGGGTAACAC	CTTTGTTTAT	CCGTTAGCGG	GCTACTCTAA	AAAAGTGAAA	AATGTGTCTG
AGTTAGCAGA	AGGTGCGGTA	ATTGCAGTAC	CAAATGATCC	ттсаластта	GCTCGTGCTT	TGATTTTGAT	TTTATTAGAA	AAACTGGGGT	TAATTAAATT
AAAAGATAAT	ACCAATTTAT	TCTCAACTTC	AGTGGATATT	ATCGAAAATC	CGAAAAACTT	AAAAATTAAA	GAAGTOGATA	CTTCAATTGC	CGCAAACGTA
AGTGACGTAG	ATTTAGCOGT	GGTAAATAAC	ACTTATGCCG	GGCAGGTAGG	CTTAAATACC	CAAGATCACG	GTGTATTTGT	TGAGTCTAAA	GATTCACCGT
ATGTGAATAT	TATTGTGGCT	CGCCAAGACA	ATAAAGATGC	AGCTAATGTA	СААААСТТТА	TTAAATCTTA	CCAAACCGAA	GAAGTGTACC	AAGAAGCACA
AAAACACTTT	AAAGATGGTG	TAGTAAAAGG	TTGGTAA				#100		
(DIDB) ATGAACTTTA	AAAAATTATT	#152 AGGTGTAGCG	TTAGTATCTG	CCTTAGCACT	TACTGCGTGT	AAAGATGAAA	AAGCACAAGC	ACCTGCTACA	ACAGCTAAAA
		18							incrise musur
CTGAAAACAA	AGCCCCATTA	AAAGTGGGTG	TGATGACCGG	CCCTGAAGCC	CAAATGACCG	AAGTGGCAGT	GAAAATTGCA	AAAGAGAAAT	ATGGCTTAGA
TGTAGAGTTA	GTGCAGTTTA	CTGAATACAC	TCAACCAAAT	GCCGCACTTC	ATTCTAAAGA	TTTAGATGCT	AACGCGTTCC	AAACGGTGCC	TTATTTAGAG
CAAGAAGTGA	AAGATCGTGG	ттаталатта	GCGATTATCG	GCAATACGCT	AGTATOGCCA	ATCGCGGCTT	аттсталала	ААТТАААААС	ATTTCCGAGT
TAAAAGACGG	AGCGACTGTT	GCGATTCCAA	ACAATGCAAG	TAATACTGCT	CGTGCGTTAT	TATTGCTTCA	AGCTCACGGT	TTATTGAAAT	TAAAAGATCC
GAAAAATGTG	TTTGCTACCG	AAAACGATAT	TATCGAAAAC	ССБАААААТА	TCAAAATCGT	ACAGGCGGAT	ACCTCACTTT	TAACCCGTAT	GTTAGATGAT
GTAGAACTTG	#260 CGGTAATCAA	CAACACTTAC	GCAGGTCAAG	CTGGGTTAAG	TCCGGATAAA	GACGGTATTA	#27	TAAAGATTCA	CCGTATGTGA
ATTAGTOGT	AAGTCGTGAA	GATAATAAAG	ATGACCCACG	CTTACAAACT	TTTCTCAAGT	CATTCCALLC	CCARCAACTA	TTCCARGARC	COPPANANT
		ALC: NO.		ci inclusici		chilicentric	COMONIOTA	IICCANGRAG	COLLANAALI
ATTAACOGTG	CATGGTGTGG	TGAAAGGTTG	GTAA			There was	William Barris		
атдалалтал	TGAAATTAGC	CGGTGCAGTT	GCAATTTTCT	CGCTTTTTTT	AACCGCTTGT	AATGATAAAG	CCGAAAAGTT	GAAAGTCGGT	GTGATTTCCG
GCCCTGAACA	TAAGGTAATG	GAAGTGGCGG	CAAAAATTGC	АЛАБСАЛАЛА	TATAACCGTG	ATGTTGAATT	AGTGGTATT	ACCGATTATG	CCACGCCTAA
TGCAGCTTTA	GATAAAGGCG	ATCTTGATTT	GAATGCTTTC	CAGCATAAAC	CTTATTTAGA	TAACCAAATT	CAGGAAAAAG	GCTATAAATT	AGTOCCOGTC
GGCAATAGTT	TTGTTTATCC	GATTGCGGCT	таттссаааа	AAATTAAATC	GCTGGCAGAG	TTGAAAGATG	GTGATACTAT	#2 TGCAGTGCCT	AATGATCCGA
CTAATTTAGC	CCGTGCTTTA	ATTTTATTGG	АЛАЛАСАЛДА	TTTAATTAAG	CTGCGAGCAG	ATGCAGGCTT	AAAAGCAACC	AGTGTGGATA	TTATTGAAAA
CCCTCGTAAA	TTGGTGATCC	AAGAAATTGA	AGCACCATTA	TTGCCTCGAA	CGTTGGACGA	TGTTGCCTTT	TCGATTATTA	ATACTACCTA	CGCAGGCAAA
ACGGTTAACG	CCAACCAAAG	CGGAATATTC	GTTGAAGACA	AGGATTCGCC	TTATGTGAAT	TTAATTGTTG	CCCGTGAAAA	TAACCAACAT	TCTGAAGCCG
					19年,19月1日———————————————————————————————————		CONCOURSES 193	CARTER AND	
ATGTTACAGAC	#251 CCTGCTCC	TACCAAACAG	AAGAGGTGTA	TAACAAAGCG	AATGAAGAGT	TTAAAGGGGGC	<u>GATGATAAAA</u> #250	GGCTGGTAA	

Figure 2.25 Nucleotide sequence of the *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of *M*. *haemolytica* taxon 746 (L16627) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type and the unused primers are in thin type. The dashed lines indicate intragenic region (bases are not shown for simplicity) and the shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.14 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the plpA, plpB, and plpC genes of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Primer ^a	Primer	Primer ^b	Tl_46	6 /Fr 30 4	
use	No.	name	isolates	Sequence (5° to 5')"	Position
plpA					
P, S	#150	PIpA/F/1	Mh1+2, Mg, Pt	AGTAGGGGTAATGTCAGG	A123 - 140
	#151	PlpA/F/1		ATGTCAGGCCCTGAGCA	A133 - 149
P, S	#152	PlpA/R/1	Mhl+2, Mg	CCAACCTTTTACTACACC	A834 - 817
P, S	#153	PlpA/R/1	Pt	CACTTCTTCGGTTTGGTA	A786 - 769
<i>plpB</i> and	plpC				
P, S1	#247	PlpBC/F/1	Mh1+2, Mg	GGCTCGCCAAGACAATAA	A717 - 734
	#248	PlpBC/F/1		CATCATTGTAGCTCGTGA	A708 - 725
S2	#260	PipBC/F/2	Mh1+2, Mg	TGTTTGCYACCGAAAACG	B509 - 526
S 3	#269	PlpBC/F/3	Mhl+2, Mg	TTACCGATTATGCCACG	C170 - 186
P, S1	#249	PipBC/R/1	Mhl	GGAGCAGGTCTGTAACAT	Flanking region
P, S1	#250	PlpBC/R/1	Mh2, Mg	CCAGCCTITTATCATCGC	C777 - 760
	#251	PlpBC/R/1		GWAKGCTTTCACMAAATC	C714 - 697
S2	#261	PlpBC/R/2		CCGGCACTAATTTATAGC	C289 - 272
S3	#270	PlpBC/R/3	Mh1+2, Mg	CGGGTTAAAAGTGAGGT	B587 - 571

^a P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing

^b PlpA/F/1: PlpA/Forward/1, PlpA/R/1: PlpA/Reverse/1,

PlpBC/F/1: PlpBC/Forward/1, PlpBC/R/1: PlpBC/Reverse/1

^eMh1: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH202, PH278, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706

Mh2: M. haemolytica isolates PH196, PH292

Mg: M. glucosida isolate PH344

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH68

^d Y: C+T, W: A+T, K: T+G, M: C+A

^oNucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *plpA* (A), *plpB* (B), and *plpC* (C) of the *M. haemolytica* GenBank sequence (L16627) (see Figure 2.25)

Primers for the second and third stages of sequencing were designed as sequence data became available. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.25, and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.14.

2.3.2.4.2 Lipoprotein (plpD)

The primer pair (#154/#155) was designed within the conserved regions of the aligned plpD sequences from *M. haemolytica* and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.26 and 2.27, and Table 2.15). This primer pair was used for PCR and sequencing of the plpD gene in 11 isolates of *M. haemolytica*, one isolate of *M. glucosida*, and one isolate of *P. trehalosi* (Figure 2.26). The optimum annealing temperature for all the PCRs was 55 °C. The positions of all primers on the nucleotide sequence of the plpD gene of *M. haemolytica* are shown in Figure 2.27, and the details of all primers are listed in Table 2.15.

2.3.2.5 Genes encoding outer membrane proteins

2.3.2.5.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein (*ompA*)

Initially, two forward (#464 and #465) and two reverse (#466 and #467) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned sequences from *M. haemolytica* and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.28 and 2.29, and Table 2.16). The primers were designed in the two flanking genes (Figures 2.28) and preliminary PCR testing was carried out with representative isolates of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Successfully amplified bands were partially sequenced by use of the same primers, and a second set of internal forward



Figure 2.26 Diagrammatic representation of the plpD gene of *M. haemolytica* taxon 746 (AF058703) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the GenBank sequence. The large arrow above plpD indicates the direction of transcription.

Figure 2.27 Nucleotide sequence of the *plpD* gene of *M. haemolytica* taxon 746 (AF058703) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.15 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of theplpD gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Primer" use	ner" Primer Primer [↓] e No. name		Isolates ^c	Sequence $(5' \text{ to } 3')^d$	Position
P, S	#154	PlpD/F/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	AGTGGCTGCTTGTGGTAA	60 - 77
P, S	#155	PlpD/R/1	Mh, Mg, Pt	TTCAACACGACGGTTAGG	747 - 730

" P: PCR amplification, S: Sequencing

^b PlpD/I/1: PlpD/Forward/1, PlpD/R/1: PlpD/Reverse/1

^o Mh: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH588, PH706,

PH550

Mg: M. glucosida isolate PH344

Pt: P. trehalosi isolate PH68

^e Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *plpD* of the *M*. *haemolytica* GenBank sequence (AF058703) (see Figure 2.27)



(A) M. haemolytica and M. glucosida ompA

(B) P. trehalosi group Pt1 ompA



(C) P. trehalosi group Pt2 ompA



Figure 2.28 Diagrammatic representation of the *ompA* gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate 89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. (A) *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*, (B) *P. trehalosi* group *Pt1*, and (C) *P. trehalosi* group *Pt2*. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the GenBank sequence. The large arrows above *ompA*, *orf1* (FAD-binding protein gene) and *orf2* (hypothetical protein gene) indicates the direction of transcription.

(orf1) CCAGTTGCGG TACTTCAG (ompA) #471 ATGAAAAAAA CATTAGTTGC ATTAGCAGTA TTATCAGCAG CTGCAGTAGC TCAAGCAGCT CCACAAGCTA ACACTTTCTA CGCAGGTGCT AAAGCTGGTT #156 GEGCATCATT CCACGACGET, TTAACTCAAT, TTGACAACAC, ATATGATPAT, GGATCCGETA, TTAACCTCGE TATTAACCTC GETATTAACC GTAACTCTGT AACTIACGOT GTATTCOGTG GTTACCAAAAT CTTAAACCAA AACAACTTIG GTTTAGCGAC AGAATTAGGT TATGACTACT TTGGTCGTGT TCGTGGTAAC #468 АСТАСАТТТТ СТОСТОАТСА ТАЛААДАЛАЛА АСТОССОСТА ЛАСАТТСАОС ТСАСОСТОСС САСТТАЛОСТ ТАЛААССАЛО СТАССАЛОТТ ОТТССТАЛСТ TAGATGITTA COGTAAAGTA GOTGITIGCAT TAGITICGCAA CGATTACTAC GIACAACAAC AIGITAGAIAA AGAITICACGC AITAAAGITIC ACAACITAAA ACCATCTCTA TTATTAGGTG CTGGTCTTGA GTATGCAATT ACTCCTGAAT TAGCTGCTCG TGTTGAATAT CAATACTTAA ATCGTGTTGG TAACTTAGAT #158 #159 AAGGCAGTTC GTACAACAGT TGGTTATCTA ATACCAAGAG GTACAAATTT CCAATACAGC CCAGATATCC ACTCAGTATC TGCAGGTTTA TCATACCGTT TEGGTEAAGG IGCAGCACCA GTIGAAGCAC CAGAAGTIGI AACTAAAAAC TICOCATICA GETEGAIGI TITATITGAI ITOGGIAAAI CAAGETIAAA ACCAGCAGCA GCAACTTCTT TAGATGCAGC ACACGCTGAA ATCAGCAACT TAGGCTTAGC AAACCTAGCT ATCCAAGTTA ATGGTTACAC AGACCGCATC #469 ССТАЛАБЛАВ САТСТААСТТ АЛААСТТТСА СААССТССТС СТОЛААСАСТ АССТААТТАС АТССТТТСТА АЛАСТАСТАА СССАССТААТ СТААСАСТС TAGOTTACOG TGAAGCAAAC CCAGTAACTG GTCACACATG TGATGCAGTT AAAGGTCGTA AAGCATTAAT COCTTGCTTA GCACCAGATC GTCGTGTTGA #157 (orf2)AATCCAAGTT CAAGGTTCAA AAGAAGTAAC TATGTAA TAGAGAGC CTTAACCAGC #473

Figure 2.29 Nucleotide sequence of the *ompA* gene of *M*. *haemolytica* isolate 89010807N (AF133259) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for *M*. *haemolytica*. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type. Dashed lines indicate flanking regions of *ompA* gene (nucleotides are not shown for simplicity). The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.16 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the

(1) Some provide the second strategy provide an experimental second sec second sec

amnA	gene o	$f M_{\odot}$	haemolv	tica. M.	alucasida.	and P.	(rehalosi
unper	50.00		avinory		Sucosum	, and t i	ci c

an an an an the the second second

Primer ^a use	Primer No.	Primer ^b name	Isolates °	Sequence (5' to 3') ^d	Position *
Mh and M	lg ompA				
	#464	OmpA/F/1		CCRGARGCATCGGTGTT	Not shown
Р	#471	OmpA/F/1	Mh	CCAGTTGCGGTACTTCAG	Flanking region
Р	#472	OmpA/F/1	Mg	CCAGTTGAGGTACTTCAG	Not shown
S 1	#156	OmpA/F/1	Mh, Mg	CTCAAGCAGCTCCACAAG	50 - 67
S2	#158	OmpA/F/2	Mh, Mg	TAGGTGCTGGTCTTGAGT	515 - 532
S 3	#469	OmpA/F/3	Mh, Mg	TTAGATGCAGCACACGCT	820 - 837
	#466	OmpA/R/1		GACGSCTGARCAACGTAA	Not shown
	#467	OmpA/R/1		TGMACATAAYCKCCCCAC	Not shown
Р	#473	OmpA/R/1	Mh, Mg	GCTGGTTAAGGCTCTCTA	Flanking region
S 1	#157	OmpA/R/1	Mh, Mg	GTTIGCTICACCGTAACC	1020 - 1003
S2	#159	OmpA/R/2	Mh, Mg	GAGCAGCTAATTCAGGAG	559 - 542
S3	#468	OmpA/R/3	Mh, Mg	GTAACCACCGAATACACC	225 - 208
Pt1 and Pt	t2 segment	t 1 of <i>ompA</i> ' an	id <i>ompA</i> "		
Р	#465	OmpA ₁ /F/1	Pt2	ACTCGMACCCAACGYTC	Not shown
P, \$1	#474	OmpA _I /F/1	Pt1	GTATCAGTGGCAAGCGAA	Not shown
S1	#483	OmpA ₁ /F/1	Pt2	CTCGGCATAACTATCAGC	Not shown
S2	#479	OmpA ₁ /F/2	Pt1	GTGATGGTCCAACTGCTT	Not shown
S2	#424	OmpA ₁ /F/2	Pt2	GGTGCTAAAGCTGGTTGG	Not shown
S1	#394	OmpA ₁ /R/1	Pt1, Pt2	AGCGTGTGCTGCATCTAA	Not shown
S2	#480	OmpA ₁ /R/2	Pt1	TGCCACGAACACGACCAA	Not shown
S2	#481	OmpA ₁ /R/2	Pt2	GAACGCGACCGAAGTAGT	Not shown
Pt1 and Pt	2 segment	2 of <i>ompA</i> ' an	d ompA"		
Р	#476	OmpA ₂ /F/1	Pt1	GTGCTGGCAATTACGGAA	Not shown
P, S1	#4 84	OmpA ₂ /F/1	Pt2	TCCAGTAGCAGCTCCTGA	Not shown
S 1	#485	OmpA ₂ /F/1	Pt1	TCGACTTCGGTAAAGCA	Not shown
Р	#477	OmpA ₂ /R/1	PtI+Pt2	CCTGCTTTGGTTTGCTCT	Not shown
S 1	#486	OmpA2/R/1	PtI+Pt2	CCGTATITACCACCGTT	Not shown
Pt1 and Pt	2 segment	3 of <i>ompA</i> ' an	d <i>ompA</i> "		
P, S1	#424	OmpA ₃ /F/1	Pt1+Pt2	GGTGCTAAAGCTGGTTGG	Not shown
S2	#482	OmpA ₃ /F/2	2 Pt1+Pt2 CCAGTTGCTGAGCCAGA		Not shown
P, S1	#475	OmpA ₃ /R/1	Pt1+Pt2	TATGCAAGCTGGCTAAGG	Not shown
S2	#394	OmpA ₃ /R/2	Ptl + Pt2	AGCGTGTGCTGCATCTAA	Not shown

١

and the second secon

1.113

- ^a P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing, S3: Third stage of sequencing
- ^b OmpA/F/1: OmpA/Forward/1, OmpA/R/1: OmpA/Reverse/1
- ^c Mh1: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH8, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH232, PH238, PH278, PH284, PH292,

PH296, PH338, PH388, PH396, PH398, PH484, PH494, PH526, PH540, PH550,

PH588, PH598, PH706

Mh2: M. haemolytica isolate PH470

- Mh3: M. haemolytica isolates PH30, PH376, PH346, PH50, PH56, PH484, PH372, PH392
- Mg1: M. glucosida isolate PH290
- Mg2: M. glucosida isolate PH344
- Mg3: M. glucosida isolates PH240, PH496, PH498
- Mg4: M. glucosida isolate PH574
- Pt: P. trehalosi isolates PII246, PII252, PH254, PII68

^c Positions of the *ompA* primers for *M*. *haemolytica* only are shown. Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within *ompA* of contig 160 of the *M*. *haemolytica* genome sequence as of 01/02/04 (Figure 2.29)

primers (#471 and #472) and a reverse primer (#473) specific for individual isolates were designed (Figure 2.28). The primer pairs #471/#473 and #472/#473 were used to amplify ompA in M. haemolytica and M. glucosida, respectively (Figure 2.28A). During the course of these preliminary experiments, difficulties were encountered in sequencing the ompA gene of P. trehalosi, despite the fact that definite PCR products were obtained. The results led us to suspect that two tandem *ompA* genes were present. Consequently, it became necessary to adopt a more complex sequencing strategy in which the *ompA* genes were amplified and sequenced as three separate overlapping fragments (Figure 2.28B and C). The primer pairs #474/#394, #476/#477, and #424/#475 were used to amplify ompA in P. trehalosi group Pt1 (Figure 2.28B), and the primer pairs #465/#394, #484/#477, and #424/#475 were used to amplify *ompA* in *P. trehalosi* group *Pt2* (Figure 2.28C). The optimum annealing temperature for all PCRs was 56 °C. Internal sequencing primers were designed as sequence data became available. The positions of representative *M. haemolytica* group Mh1 primers on the nucleotide sequence of the ompA gene of M. haemolytica are shown in Figure 2.29, and details of all primers are listed in Table 2.16.

2.3.2.5.2 Transferrin binding proteins (*tbpB* and *tbpA*)

Various primers were used to amplify and sequence the continuous *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes in 32 *M. haemolytica*, six *M. glucosida*, and four *P. trehalosi* isolates (Figures 2.30 and 2.31, and Table 2.17). Of these, four forward (#426a, #192a, #193a, #223a) and three reverse (#198a, #224a, and #191a) primers have been shown to amplify transferrin binding protein genes in several members of the *Pasteurellaceae* (Ogunnariwo & Schryvers, 1996). However, the remaining PCR primers were designed within conserved regions of the aligned sequences of *M. haemolytica* and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2). The primer pairs #426a/#224a,

Figure 2.30 Diagrammatic representation of the tbpB and tbpA genes of M. haemolytica taxon 75985 (PHU73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. (A) M. haemolytica groups Mh1 to Mh4 and M. glucosida group Mg, (B) M. haemolytica group Mh5, (C) M. haemolytica group Mh6, (D) M. haemolytica group Mh7, and (E) P. trehalosi groups Pt1 and Pt2. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codou within the GenBank sequence. The large arrows above tbpB and tbpA indicate the direction of transcription.



.

(A) M. haemolytica groups Mh1-Mh4 and M. glucosida group Mg

(B) M, haemolytica group Mh5



(C) M. haemolytica group Mh6



(D) M. haemolytica group Mh7



(E) P. trehalosi group Pt1 and Pt2



(tooB)											
ATGTTTAAAC	TTAAAAGTAG	TTTTGTACTG	CTTAATGCGG	COCTACTTOC	TOCTTOTTCC	TCANATGGTG	HAAGCTTTGA	TGTTCAATCT	GCCAAAGTTG	AATCTCAAAC	GCAAACTACC
CCCAAAAAGC	CAAGTTTACA	AGATGATAAT	AGTAACGCAA	GACGTACAGT	AAGCGCTTCT	GAAACTGAAG	CTTTATTQCA	OCCGGGGTTT	GGTTTTTCAG	CCANAATTCC	GCGTCGTAAT
CTCCTTCCGC	AGGOGAAGGA	AGATGTAGCC	CCTATTGOTO	ATATAAAAGA	GATTACTOGA	GATCTGCCAA	AAATTCCGTA	TGAAGAAGAG	GTTAAAGCGT	GCOGTAGTAG	TGCTGATGGA
TTTAGCCATA	CTCATGATAG	AAATCATAAG	TTGTATACAA	GAGATTTTAA	TTTTGTTCGT	TCCGGCTATG	TTGTGCATTC	TGGTCCAAAA	CCTGAAATAA	AGCCTARAGA	AATTTTGAGA
ACAGGTGCAC	ATGGGTATGT	TTACTATTTA	GOTATAGAGC	COCCCAAAGC	AATACCTACC	САААААСТАА	CTTATAAAGG	ATATTGOGAT	TTACTACCT	ATGCOGCTAN	OGOGAGAGAT
AGTAATATT	TTCTAATTCC	COCAGOCATC	AATAGTOGCO	CCATACCOGA	AAATAGTCAC	GATATTAATG	TTGATGATTC	TGAAAAACCA	#12 ATGOGGCATA	CAGGAGAATT	TACOGCTGAT
TTTGCTAATA	AAACTTTAAC	#332 TGGAACATTO	GTTCGTAATG	GGTATGTTAG	TEGTAGCAAA	GAGCAAAAAA	TTACAACAAT	TTACGATATT	GATGCGAAAA	TTAAAGGTAA	TCOCTTTTCT
OCTABLOCAN		ACCONTONTO	CTTATTTTG	GRAAAAGCTC	CACQACACTT	GAAGGTOGAT	TTTTTGGTGG	GOAGGCTCAA	GAACTTGCCG	GTAAATTCTT	AGCTGATGAT
uu inanuun		macmanala				0007770170				LABORGLOAD	COLUMN
ANDICOUTAT		TUCTOUCACA	CONDATOCIA							AATCIONDA.	#290
COGALTOCOA	CACATTIGAT	TATTAACAAT	ANGCAGATT	#289	BUAADCCACA	AAAAOCITTU	CCUAGATUAA	ATTTUATUAT	TIGOTIACCC	UTACIATIUA	TUGAAAAACG
TATCOAGTTT	CASTCTGCTG	TAATAATTTA	GATTATGTCA	AATTTOGGAT	TTATAGCGAG	GGAAATAATA	GTGATACTGC	TCTCCAAGAA	TATTTAGTAG	GAGAACGTAC	AGCTCTGGCA
GATTTOCCAN	CAGGGACAGT	AAAATATCGA	GGTACTTOCO	ACGGGGTAAT	GTACAGTAAA	TCTGGCTCGG	CAGGGGTTGA	ATCOCCAAGT	AACAGCGAAA	GTGGTACTCO	TTCACTATTC
GATGTAGATT	TTGTCAATAA	AAAAATTAAT	GOCAAGCTGA	TTOCTAATOA	TOOTOTTOAA	GAACGCCCAA	TOCTOACACT	GUANGUCANT	CTGAAAGGGA	ATGGTTTTGG	AGGCACAGCC
AAAACGOGCA	ATTCTGGTTT	TAATCTTGAT	CCCAAAAGTA	CGAATGOTGO	CACOGTAGOG	CATATAAATA	CTCAATTTGA	AGGGGGGCTTT	TATGGCCCTA	#331	ATTAGGTOGT
ATTOTACAAA	ATACAGAAAC	GGATAAAGAT	AGAGTCAGTA	TTACATTCGG	COGAAAACOT	CARATAGANA	AATAA				
(IDDA) ATGATAATGA	AATATCATCA	TTTTCGCTAT	TCACCTOTTO	CCTTAACAGT	GTTATTTGCT	CTTTCTCATT	CATACOGTOC	TOCGACTGAA	*****	TCGAAGAAAA	TAACGATCTA
	ATGAAGTTAT	TOTGACAGAG	AGCCATTATG	CTCACGAACG	TCAAAACGAA	STAACTOOCT	TOODODAOT	AGTGAAAAAT	TATCACGAAA	TOAGTAAAAA	TCAAATTCTT
GGTATTCGTG	ATTTAACTCG	CTATGACCCT	GGTATTTCGG	TOGTOGAACA	AGGTCGCGGT	GCAAGTAGTG	GCTATGCCAT	TCGAGGTGTA	GATAAAAACC	GTGTCAGCTT	ACTTGTTGAT
GOGCTACCAC	AAGCGCACAG	TTATCATACG	CTAGGTTCAG	ATOCTAATOO	TOUTOCAATT	ATTAGATTG	AGTATGAAAA	CATTCGTTCA	ATTGAGTTAA	GCAAAGGAGC	AAGTTCTGCG
GAATATGOCT	CTOOTOCOCA	TOGTOGTOCT	ATTGGTTTTC	GTACTAAAGA	TOCOCAGOAT	ATTATTAAAG	AGOGGCAGCA	TTGGGGCTTA	GATAGTALCA	COTOTTATOC.	CACCAAAAAT
AGCCATTTTT	TACAGTCTAT	COCAGCOGCT	GOTGAGGCGG	OTGOTTTTGA	AGCACTTGTT	ATTGCAACTC	ACCOACACOO	TAAAGAGACC	AAAATTCATT	#126 CCGAGGCAAA	TAAATTAAAA
CATAATATTC	GGCGTATAAC	COOCTTTOAA	AATCGCTACO	ACTITACCCA	AATTCCGCAC	#33 AGAATGCTCC	9 TGGAGGATCT	CCTTTTAATT	GTGGAAGATA	CTTGCCCAAC	ATTAGATTGT
ACTCCTCGTG	CAAGGGTTAA	GTTGAACCGC	GATAATTTCC	CAGTGAGAAC	ATTTCCGGAA	TATACGCCTG	AAGAGCGCAA	ACAGCTTGAG	CAGATTCCTT	ATCGCACTGA	GCAGCTCTCA
OCCCALORAT	ATACCOUTAN	AGATCOCATT		CTTTAGATTA	CANGAGTAAT	-	TOALOTTTOO	CTATCACTTC	AACTCOTCTC	ATTATCTTOO	COCAATCETA
CLICITICAL	ALACCOUTAN	CONTATCORT	GATATOCAAA	COCCAGOTTA	CTATACAAAA	GACGATATTA	ACTTATCACT	TAGOLACTAT			
UAAUATACAA	AAACACUCTA	COATAICCUT	GATATOCAA	#291		UNCONTATIN	ACTIVICACI	TAUGAACTAT	GITTATGAAG	GUGATAATAT	TTTAGATGGC
TTAGTGTTCA	AGCCAAGGAT	#3.	34	GCCATGTGAA	GTTTTTTGAT	GAACGTCACC	ACAAACOTCG	TTTAGGATTC	ACCTATAAAT	ATAAACCAGA	GAATAATCGC
TGGTTGGATA	GCATTAAACT	CAGTGCGGAT	AAACAAGATA	TTGAACTATA	TAGCCGGCTA	CATCGCTTGC	ATTGTAGCGA	TTATCCTGTG	GTAGATAAAA	ATTOCCOCCC	GACTTTGGAT
AAATCTTGGT	CTATGTATCO	AACTGAGCOT	AATAATTACC	AAGAAAAGCA	TCGTGTCATT	CATTTAGAAT	TTGATAAAGC	GCTAAATGCT	OGTCAAGGCO	TATTTAACCA	AACCCACAAA
CTGAATTTAG	GOTTGOOCTT	TGATCGATTT	AATTCOCTTA	TGGATCATGG	GGATATGACT	SCCCAATATA	33	TTATACCAGC	TACCOCOGTA	GAGGGCGTTT	AGATAATCCA
TATATTTATC	GCCGCGATCC	#292	GAAACGGTAT	CTTTGTGTAA	TAATACACGC	GGCGACATCT	TAAACTGTGA	ACCOCOTAAA	ATTAAAGGCG	ATAGCCATTT	TGTTAGCTTC
COCGATCTAG	TGATAAGCGA	GTATGTGGAT	TTGGGATTAG	GGGTGCGTTT	TGATCAACAT	CGATTTAAAT	CTGATGATCC	GTGGACACTT	AGCCGAACTT	ATCGAAATTG	GTCTTOGAAT
GGTGGGATTA	COCTTANACC	AACAGAGTTT	GTATCGCTTT	CTTATCGCAT	TTCAAACGGT	TTTAGAGTGC	CTOCATTCTA	TGAACTTTAT	GGTAAACGTG	ATCATATTOG	GCTTAAAGAT
AACGAATATO	TOCANCOCOC	GCAACGTAGC	CACCAGTTAG	-	ATCGACTAAT	CATGAGATTG	GAGTTAGCTT	TAAAGGTCAA	TTTGGTTACC	TTGATGTCAG	CTATTTCCGT
AATAACTATA	ANAATATGAT	TOCOACAGCA	TOTAAAAGAA	-	ATCACACTOT	TTCTATAACT	ACCATAATAT	TCAAGATGTA	BOAAATAAACO	GGATAAATTT	AGTCOCTAAA
TTTGACTTAC	ACGGTATTTT	ATCTATOCTO	CCAGATOGTT	TTTATTCATC	AGTTOCTTAT	AACCGTGTAA	AAGTAAAAGA	GCGGAAACTA	ACCGACTCAA	GACTCGATAG	CGTAAACGAT
CCTATTCTAG	ATGCGATTCA	GCCAGCACGC	TATGTGCTTG	GATTCOGCTA	CUATCACCCA	GAAGAAAAAT	GOGGAATTOS	CATTACTACC	ACCTATTCTA		COCCGATGAG
OTOGCAGGCA	CACOTCATCA	COGNATACAT	COCOTTGATT	TAGGTGOCAA	ACTGACCOGT	TCTTOGTACA	CCCATGATAT	TACCOUTTAC	ATCAATTATA	AAAACTACAC	CTTACGTOGA
GGAATTTATA	ATGTGACTAA	TCGTAAATAT	TCCACTTOOD	AATCAGTOCO	CCAATCCGGT	GTGAATGCAG	TARACCAAGA	CCOGGGTAGC	AATTACACTC	GATTTOGCOC	TCCGGGGAGA
AATTTCAGTT	TAGCATTTCA	AATGAAGTTT	TAG								#198a
COLUMN A A SUPPORT & A											

Figure 2.31 Nucleotide sequence of the *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes of *M*. *haemolytica* taxon 75985 (U73302) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for *M*. *haemolytica* group *Mh1*. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type. Dashed lines indicate intergenic region between *tbpB* and *tbpA* (nucleotides are not shown for simplicity). The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

and the second second second

10 N. 1

- e -

Table 2.17	Details of	primers use	ed for PCF	amplification	and sequen	cing of the
tbpB and tb	pA genes o	of M. haemo	lytica, M. g	<i>glucosida</i> , and .	P. trehalosi	

16 C. 19 C.

ş

Primer ^a use	Primer No.	Primer ^b name	Isolates °	Sequence $(5' \text{ to } 3')^d$	Position °			
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	ips MhI-Mh4	and M. glucosid	a group Mg.for PCR1 (426a/224;	375/224)			
P, S1	#426 a	TbpB/F/1	Mh1, Mh4, Mg	TGGTGGAAGCTTTGA	B 66 - 80			
P, S1	#375	Tbp B/F/ 1	Mh2+Mh3,	CTGCCAAAGTTGAATCTC	Not shown			
S 2	#123	TbpB/F/2	MhI+2,4, Mg	TTACTACCGATGCGAGAA	B 572 - 589			
S 2	#429	TbpB/F/2	Mh3,	TCTAATTCCGCAGGCATC	Not shown			
S 3	#289	TbpB/F/3	Mh1-4, Mg	CCACITATTGCGGAAGG	B 1120 - 1136			
S4	#331	TbpB/F/4	Mh1-4, Mg	CTAAGGCGACGGAATTAG	B 1658 - 1675			
P, S1	#224a	TbpB/R/I	Mh1-4, Mg	CAATCTCATTAATTGCACC	A 430 - 412			
S 2	#125	TbpB/R/2	Mh1-4, Mg	CCGCCGAATGTAATACTG	B 1730 - 1716			
S 3	#290	TbpB/R/3	Mh1-4, Mg	GCATTCCCGAAAGTATCC	B 1088 - 1071			
S4	#332	TbpB/R/4	Mh1-4, Mg	ATATTGATGCCTGCGGA	B 635 - 618			
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	ps Mh1-Mh4	and M. glucoside	a group Mg for PCR2 (223a/198a	; 223a/287)			
P, S1	#223a	TbpA/F/1	Mh1-3, Mg	AGTAACTGGCTTGGGGAA	A 180 - 197			
S1	#133	ThpA/F/1	Mh4	GGTGCAAGTAGTGGCTAT	Not shown			
S2	#126	$Tbp\Lambda/F/2$	Mh1-4, Mg	AAGACCTCTTATGCCAGC	A 577 - 594			
S 3	#291	TbpA/F/3	Mh1-4, Mg	ACGCCAGCTTACTATAC	A 1120 - 1136			
S4	#333	TbpA/F/4	Mh1-4, Mg	CCAATATACCAAAGGCGG	A 1623 - 1640			
S5	#338	TbpA/F/5	Mh1-4 Mg	GGTTACCTTGATGTGAGC	A 2134 - 2151			
P, S1	#198a	TbpA/R/1	MhI-3, Mg	AAATTTCTCCCCGGAGC	A 2765 - 2749			
Р	#287	TbpA/R/1	Mh4	ACTGAAATTYCKCCCYGG	Not shown			
S 1	#374	TbpA/R/1	Mh4	ACTGAAATTTCTCCCCGG	Not shown			
S2	#127	TbpA/R/2	Mh1-4, Mg	CCCGTITAGTGCTACATC	A 2262 - 2245			
53	#292	TbpA/R/3	Mh1-4, Mg	CGTTTCAATACTGCGTGG	A 1716 - 1699			
S4	#334	TbpA/R/4	Mh1-4, Mg	ATAGCGCAACCCATAAGG	A1239 - 1222			
S5	#339	TbpA/R/5	MhI-4, Mg	GTGTCGGTGAGTTGCAAT	A 678 - 661			
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	p <i>Mh5</i> for PC	CR1 (399/380)					
P, S1	#399	TbpB1/F/1	Mh5	CTTCAAACGGTGGTAGT	Not shown			
S 2	#426	TbpB1/F/2	Mh5	CAGGTCCTACAGGGTATG	Not shown			
P, S1	#380	TbpB1/R/1	Mh5	GCCAGACCAAAAGTATCC	Not shown			
S2	#427	TbpB1/R/2	Mh5	GCCAGCATTACTTCCTTC	Not shown			
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	p <i>Mh5</i> for PC	CR2 (379/339)					
P, S1	#379	TbpB2/F/1	Mh5	GGTGAAGACAAGGTCGAA	Not shown			
S2	#428	TbpB2/F/2	Mh5	CCGATGCTGACATTAGA	Not shown			
Р	#339	TbpB2/R/1	Mh5	GTGTCGGTGAGTTGCAAT	Not shown			
S1	#134	TbpB2/R/1	Mh5	ATAGCCACTACTTGCACC	Not shown			
S2	#377	TbpB2/R/2	Mh5	CAGCTTGCGGACCATAA	Not shown			
M, haemoi	M, haemolytica group Mh5 for PCR3 (223a/287)							
Primers a	re identical	to Mh1-Mh4	and Mg PCR2 pri	mers except for #361				
<u>S4</u>	#361	TbpA/R/4	Mh5	CACGGATATCGTAGCGTT	Not shown			

A set of the set of

18 St. Constant of the barrier

1.5

and the second second

22

and the second second

Primer " use	Primer No.	Primer ^b name	Isolates °	Sequence (5' to 3') ^d	Position "
M, haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	p Mh6 for PCI	R1 (426a/191a))	
P, S1	#426a	TopB1/F/1	Mh6	TGGTGGAAGCTTTGA	Not shown
S2	#124	TbpB1/F/2	Mh6	ACTGATGCAAGAAAAGGG	Not shown
P, S1	#191a	TbpB1/R/1	Mh6	CCAAAAAATCCACCTTC	Not shown
S2	#351	TbpB1/R/2	Mh6	ACATACCCATGTGCACCT	Not shown
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	p Mh6 for PCI	R2 (124/442)		
Р	#124	TbpB2/F/i	Mh6	ACTGATGCAAGAAAAGGG	Not shown
S1	#132	TbpB2/F/1	Mh6	GTCGTACTACAGAGCAAG	Not shown
S2	#447	TbpB2/F/2	Mh6	GTGCAATATCGCGGAACT	Not shown
S3	#449	TbpB2/F/3	Mh6	CGGCGGCTGAAAATGAAA	Not shown
Р	#442	TbpB2/R/1	Mh6	CSSRKAAAGATCATAGCG	Not shown
S1	#453	TbpB2/R/1	Mh6	GCAGCGGCAATAGATTGT	Not shown
S2	#450	TbpB2/R/2	Mh6	TTCCTAAGCCGGTTACCT	Not shown
S 3	#448	TbpB2/R/3	Mh6	AAGAGTGAGCGAGTACCA	Not shown
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	ıр <i>Mh6</i> for PCI	R3 (449/ 452)		
Р	#449	TbpA1/F/1	Mh6	CGGCGGCTGAAAATGAAA	Not shown
SI	#454	TbpA1/F/1	Mh6	TACGCTCACGAACGTCAA	Not shown
S 2	#456	TbpA1/F/2	Mhб	CTCACTCTGAAGCCAAT	Not shown
S3	#457	TbpA1/F/3	Mh6	CTGCGTTATAGCCGTGTA	Not shown
S4	#459	TbpA1/F/4	Mh6	TGGACACTTAGTCGAAC	Not shown
P, S1	#452	TbpA1/R/I	Mh6	ACGATGTATACCGTGGTG	Not shown
S2	#455	ТърА1/R/2	Mh6	GCCGGTACTCTAAATCCA	Not shown
S3	#458	TbpA1/R/3	Mh6	CTACAATGCAAGCGGTG	Not shown
S 4	#460	TbpA1/R4	Mh6	AATGATCCTCCAGGAGCA	Not shown
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	p Mh6 for PCI	R4 (456/300)		
Р	#456	ТврА2/F/1	Mh6	CTCACTCTGAAGCCAAT	Not shown
\$1	#461	TbpA2/F/1	Mh6	GATCGCAACGGCTTGTAA	Not shown
Р	#300	TbpA2/R/I	Mh6	ACTCGTGCAGCAACAATG	Not shown
S1	#462	TbpA2/R/1	Mh6	CCGTGGTACATTACGCAA	Not shown
M. haemo	lytica grou	p Mh7 for PCI	R1 (337/290)		
P, S1	#337	TbpB/F/1	Mh7	CTTAATGCGGCGCTACT	Not shown
S2	#345	ТърВ/F/2	Mh7	GGTGCACATGGGTATGTT	Not shown
P, S1	#290	TbpB/R/1	Mh7	GCATTCCCGAAAGTATCC	Not shown
S2	#346	TbpB/R/2	Mh7	GATGCCTGCTGAATCAGT	Not shown
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	p Mh7 for PCI	R2 (345/198a)		
Р	#345	TbpB/F/1	Mh7	GGTGCACATGGGTATGTT	Not shown
S1	#378	TbpA/I7/1	Mh7	CTCAAGAACTTGCCGGTA	Not shown
S2	#130	TbpA/F/2	Mh7	ACGTACCGAATTTCAGTC	Not shown
S3	#350	TbpA/F/3	Mh7	TAGATAGCAAGCGGGCAA	Not shown
S4	#359	TbpA/F/4	Mh7	ATATGGTTCTGGTGCGCT	Not shown
S5	#361	TbpA/F/5	Mh7	CACGGATATCGTAGCGTT	Not shown
S6	#397	TbpA/F/6	Mh7	AGGGTTGGGCTTTGATCG	Not shown

Table 2.17 (continued)

1. A. A. A. A.

ny na hara a s

ł

1 2 1

.

والأبود والمرجع والمراجع والمراجع

Primer ^a use	Primer No.	Primer ^b name	Isolates ^c	Sequence (5' to 3') ^d	Position '
S7	#422	TbpA/F/7	Mh7	GGTTACCTTGATGTGAG	Not shown
S 1	#198a	TbpA/R/1	Mh7	AAATTTCTCCCCGGAGC	Not shown
82	#131	TbpA/R/2	Mh7	CCGTTTAACACCACATCT	Not shown
\$3	#292	TbpA/R/3	Mh7	CGTTTCAATACTGCGTGG	Not shown
S4	#360	TbpA/R/4	Mh7	TAGTAAGCCTGCGTTTGC	Not shown
85	#367	TbpA/R/5	Mh7	GCTGGCATAGGCAGTTTT	Not shown
S6	#398	TbpA/R/6	Mh7	AGGCAACAGGTGAATAGC	Not shown
S 7	#423	TbpA/R/7	Mh7	GTTACTTGGCGATTCAGC	Not shown
P. trehalos	si group Pt	I and Pt2 for I	PCR1 (335/224	; 336/224)	
P, S1	#335	TbpB/F/1	Pt2	GGYGGWAGYTTTGATGT	Not shown
P, S1	#336	TbpB/F/1	Pt1	CGGCGGTAGTTITGATGT	Not shown
S2	#341	TbpB/F/2	Pt1+Pt2	TACGACCGATGCAAGAA	Not shown
53	#343	TbpB/F/3	Ptl+Pt2	CCTCTGATTGCAGAAGGT	Not shown
S4	#347	TbpB/F/4	PtI+Pt2	GGAGGCACCGTCATACAT	Not shown
P, S1	#224	TbpB/R/I	PtI+Pt2	CAATCTCATTAATTGCACC	Not shown
S2	#342	TbpB/R/2	Pt1+Pt2	TGCACAATTCCACCAAGC	Not shown
S3	#344	TbpB/R/3	Pt1+Pt2	ACCAACGGTGGGCATAA	Not shown
S4	#348	Tbp B/R/ 4	Pt1+Pt2	AGATTCACGTCTCGACTG	Not shown
P. trehalos	si group Pt	I and Pt2 for I	PCR2 (223a/28	7)	

Table 2.17 (continued)

Primers are identical to Mh1-Mh4 and Mg PCR2 primers

^a P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing, S3: Third stage of sequencing, S4: Forth stage of sequencing

^b TbpB/I7/1: TbpB/Forward/1, TbpB/R/1: TbpB/Reverse/1,

TbpA/If/1: TbpA/Forward/1, TbpA/R/1: TbpA/Reverse/I

"Mh1: M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH66, PH232, PH296, PH588, PH30, PH376, PH346, PH8, PH396,

PII484, PII50, PII388

Mh2: M. haemolytica isolates PH540, PH338, PH238, PH398

: Mh3: M. haemolytica isolates PH56, PH284

Mh4: M. haemolytica isolates PH706, PH278, PH372

Mh5: M. haemolytica isolates PII494, PII292, PII392, PH526, PH598

Mh6: M. haemolytica isolates PH550, PH202, PH470

Mh7: M. haemolytica isolates PH196, PH786

Mg: M. glucosida isolates PH344, PH290, PH240, PH496, PH498, PH574

Pt1: P. trehalosi isolates PH246, PH68

ş

Pt2: P. trehalosi isolates PH252, PH254

^e Positions of the *tbpB* and tbpA primers for *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1* only are shown. Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within the *tbpB* (B) and *tbpA* (A) gene of the *M. haemolytica* GenBank sequence (PHU73302)

#375/#224a, and #223a/#198a were used for PCRs and for the first stage of sequencing of tbpB and tbpA in M. haemolytica group Mh1 to Mh4 and M. glucosida (Figure 2.30A). The primer pairs #399/#380, #379/#339, and #223a/#287 were used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of tbpB and tbpA in M. haemolytica group Mh5 (Figure 2.30B). The primer pairs #426a/#191a, #124/#442, #449/#452, and #456/#300 were used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of tbpB and tbpA in M. haemolytica group Mh6 (Figure 2.30C). The primer pairs #337/#290 and #345/#198a were used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of tbpB and tbpA in *M. haemolytica* group *Mh7* (Figure 2.30D). The primer pairs #336/#224a and #223a/#287 were used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of tbpB and tbpA in *P. trehalosi* groups *Pt1* and *Pt2* (Figure 2.30E). The optimum annealing temperature of the PCRs was 55 °C in most cases, but 50 °C (PCR 223/287 for PH246, PH252, PH254, PH68), 52 °C (PCR 399/380 and 379/339 for PH494, PH292, PH392, PH526, PH598), 56 °C (PCR 345/198 for PH196 and PH786), 57 °C (PCR 335/224 for PH252, PH254), and 58 °C (PCR 456/300 for PH550, PH202, PH470 and PCR 223/287 for PH706, PH278, PH372, PH494, PH292, PH392) were also used. Internal sequencing primers were designed as sequence data became available. Also. first stage sequencing primers were redesigned when the sequences were poor. The positions of *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1* primers on the nucleotide sequence of the tbpB and tbpA genes of M. haemolytica are shown in Figure 2.31, and details of all primers for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi are listed in Table 2.17.

2.3.2.5.3 Capsule transport protein (wza)

Initially, two forward (#234 and #235) and two reverse (#236 and #237) primers were designed within the conserved regions of the aligned wza sequences from M. *haemolytica* and closely related species (see section 2.3.1.2) (Figures 2.32 and 2.33)



(A) M. haemolytica groups Mh1-Mh4

Figure 2.32 Diagrammatic representation of the wza gene of M. haemolytica taxon 746 (complementary GenBank sequence AF170495) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers. (A) M. haemolytica groups Mhl to Mh4, (B) M. glucosida groups Mgl and Mg2, and (C) P. trehalosi group Pt. The locations of the primers used for PCR and sequencing are indicated by bold arrows and the locations of the unused primers are indicated by thin arrows. The numbers under the start and stop codons indicate the positions of the first base of the start codon and third base of the stop codon within the GenBank sequence. The large arrow above wza indicates the direction of transcription. ATGAAACAAA AAAATTAAA TACTACATTA TTATTATAA CATTATCAT AATTTCACC AATTCACC TACCAACGT COCCCAACGT TATACCAACGT TATAGCAACAA $\frac{4234}{4234}$ TCTTAGCAAG TAATGAAAAT ACAGCTGAAA CGCAGTTGCC TGAAGTCAAT TTAATCAAGT TAGATAACAT CACCGTACAA AACTATAAC AAGAGCAACA ATCTCAACGT TTTTCAGGAT TTGATGGCTC AATGGGTGG GGTGGTTATG CTGGAACAGT TAATGTAGGC GATATATTAG AAATACCAT TTGGGAACGA CCACCTGCCG TGTTATTGG TGGAACATT AGTGCTGAAG GGCAAGGTAA TGGGCATTA ACCCAATTAC CTCAGCAAAA GGTGAACAAA AATGGAACGG TAACTGTGCC TTTTATCGGT AATATTAAAG TTGCTGGAAA AACACCTGAA GTAATTCAGA ATCAAATTGT TCGGAGCTTG AGCCGTAAAG CTAATCAACC TCAAGCAATA GTTCGTATTG CGAATAACTT GTCGTCTGAT GTTACGGTAA AACACCTGAA GTAAATAGCATT CGTATGCCAT TAAGTGCCAA TAATGAACGG TAACATTAAT GTCGTATTG CGAATAACTT GTCGTCTGAT GTTACGGTAA AACACCTGAA GTAACACT GTGGAAATAA AGTGCGTTCA ATGGCGTTG AACATTAAT TGCTGACCC AGTAGCTGGT ACAAGCGAAA ATATTGAAGA TGTAACAGT CGTTTAACAC GTGGAAATAA AGTGCGTTCA ATGGCGTTG AACATTAAT TGCTGACCC TCACAAAATA TTACATTACG TTCAGGTGA GTTATTGCTT TAATGAATAC TCCTTATAGC TTACCGGAT TAGGAGCAT AGCGATTA AGGTAATAAT CAACAAATGC GTTTTTCAAG TAAAGGCATT ACCCTTGCTG AAGCCATCA TGGCGTAAAA AAGGTATTGC AGAGCGGTC AGACCCTCCT GGTGTGTTTG TATTCCGCCA TATTCCTTTT ACACAATTGG ATTACGGATA CCAAGCTCAA TGGCGTAAAA AAGGTATTGC AGAGGGAATG GACGTTCCAA CTGTTTACCA GGTGAATTTA TTAAAACCGC AATCAAGTT TTTATGCAG CAGGCTCAA TGGCGTAAAA AAGGTATTGC AGAGGGAATG GACGTTCCACT $\frac{2237}{237}$

Figure 2.33 Nucleotide sequence of the *wza* gene of *M. haemolytica* taxon 746 (complementary GenBank sequence AF170495) showing locations of the PCR and sequencing primers for *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1*. The primers used for PCR and sequencing are in bold type. The shaded area corresponds to the region of sequence that was analysed.

Table 2.18 Details of primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of the

Primer ^a use	Primer No.	Primer ^b name	Isolates "	Sequence $(5' \text{ to } 3')^d$	Position '
M. haemo	<i>lytica</i> grou	ips Mh1-Mh	3 (234/237) and Mi	h4 (234/273)	
P, S1	#234	Wza/F/1	Mh1-Mh4	CTGCTCTAGCCTACCAAC	60-77
	#235	Wza/F/1		GAACAGTTAATGTAGGCG	Not shown
S2	#262	Wza/F/2	Mhl	CCAAGGAAATAGCATTCG	555-572
S2	#271	Wza/F/2	Mh2++Mh3	CTGATGTTACGGTTATCC	Not shown
S2	#313	Wza/F/2	Mh4	CAGTIGGTGGTGCAAGTG	Not shown
	#236	Wza/R/1		GTTAGCCACAACAAAGGG	Not shown
P, S1	#237	Wza/R/1	Mh1-Mh3,	TCTTGAATAGGGAAACG	1067-1051
P, S 1	#273	Wza/R/1	Mh4	GGMGCATTCGACACATA	Not shown
S2	#263	Wza/R/2	Mh1, Mh3, Mh4	CITGIACCRCCTACTGC	625-619
S2	#322	Wza/R/2	Mh2	TTGTGCCGCCTACTGCT	Not shown
M. glucos	ida groups	Mg1and Mg	<i>32 (312/237)</i>		
P, S1	#312	Wza/F/1	Mg1+Mg2	TGTTCTAGCCTACCTAC	Not shown
S2	#262	Wza/F/2	MgI	CCAAGGAAATAGCATTCG	Not shown
S2	#324	Wza/F/2	M_{g2}	ACAGTGGTTCGTGAAGGT	Not shown
P, S1	#237	W2a/R/1	MgI+Mg2	TCTTGAATAGGGAAACG	Not shown
S2	#263	Wza/R/2	Mg1	CTTGTACCRCCTACTGC	Not shown
S2	#325	Wza/R/2	Mg2	TACCGCCTACAGCTGCAA	Not shown
P. trehalo:	si group Pa	t (311/273)			
P, \$1	#311	Wza/F/1	Pt	TCTAGCCTACCTACCTCG	Not shown
S2	#314	Wza/F/2	Pt	GCTGCAGTAGGTGGTTC	Not shown
P, S1	#273	Wza/R/1	Pt	GGMGCATTCGACACATA	Not shown
S2	#315	Wza/R/2	Pt	GATACGGCTCTGCGATTA	Not shown

wza gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

^a P: PCR amplification, S1: First stage of sequencing, S2: Second stage of sequencing

^b Wza/F/1: Wza/Forward/1, Wza/R/1: Wza/Reverse/1

^e*Mh1*: *M. haemolytica* isolates PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH494, PH706, PH8, PH30, PH238, PH346, PH372, PH376, PH388, PH392, PH396, PH398, PH470, PH484, PH526, PH540, PH550, PH598

Mh2: M. haemolytica isolates PH56, PH238, PH338

Mh3: M. haemolytica isolates PH50, PH232, PH284	Mh4: M. haemolytica isolates PH588
---	------------------------------------

Mg1: M. glucosida isolates PH344, PH498, PH240

Mg2: M. glucosida isolate PH496

Pt: P. trehalosi isolates PH246, PH252, PH254, PH68

^{*d*}M: C+A, R: G+A

^e Positions of the *wza* primers for *M. haemolytica* group *Mh1* only are shown. Nucleotide position corresponding to the first 5' bp of the primer within the *wza* gene of the *M. haemolytica* GenBank sequence (AF170495) (see Figure 2.33)

and Table 2.18). The primers were tested in four combinations (#234/#236, #234/#237, etc) by PCR with M. haemolytica isolate PH2 to determine the optimum primer pair and annealing temperature. The primer pair #234/#237 was used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of the wza gene in M. haemolytica groups Mh1-Mh3 (Figure 2.32A). Attempts to amplify wza in M. haemolytica groups Mh4. *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* with the four primer combinations failed. Therefore, additional forward (#311 and #312) and reverse (#273) primers were designed. The primer pairs #234/#273, #312/#237, and #311/#273 were used for PCR and for the first stage of sequencing of wza in M. haemolytica group Mh4 (Figure 2.32A), M. glucosida (Figure 2.32B), and P. trehalosi (Figure 2.32C), respectively. Attempts to amplify wza in M. glucosida isolates PH574 and PH290 with the primers were unsuccessful. The optimum annealing temperatures for the PCRs were 45 °C for M. glucosida group Mg2, 51 °C for P. trehalosi, 52 °C for M. haemolytica groups Mh1-Mh3, and 55 °C for M. haemolytica group Mh4 and M. glucosida group Mg1. Internal sequencing primers were designed as sequence data became available. When the sequence data were poor, the first stage sequencing primers were redesigned. The positions of representative M. haemolytica group MhI primers on the nucleotide sequence of the wza gene of M. haemolytica are shown in Figure 2.33, and details of all primers for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* are listed in Table 2.18.

2.4 SDS-PAGE analysis of P. trehalosi OmpA proteins

P. trehalosi outer membrane proteins (OMPs) were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) using the SDS discontinuous system (Laemmli, 1970) as described previously (Davies *et al.*, 1992). After stacking in a 4% (w/v) gel, OMPs were separated in 12% (w/v) resolving gels. A total of 25 μ g protein was loaded per lane (25 μ l). Electrophoresis was performed

in buffer comprising 25 mM Tris/HCl, 192 mM-glycine and 0.1% SDS (pH 8.3), at a constant current of 20 mA per gel through the stacking gel and 30 mA per gel through the resolving gel. Proteins were visualized by staining with Coomassie blue.

2.5 Characterization of temperate phages

2.5.1 Optimum concentration of mitomycin C for bacteriophage induction

To determine the optimum concentration of mitomycin C for the induction of temperate bacteriophages in *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*, different concentrations of mitomycin C (final concentration of 0, 0.01, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 1.0, and 2.0 µg/ml) were tested with four isolates. *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 isolates PH2, PH280, PH342, and PH372 were selected because isolates of this serotype were previously shown to produce temperate phages (Froshauer *et al.*, 1996; Richards *et al.*, 1985). For each isolate, 200 µl of overnight BHIB culture were inoculated into 20 ml of prewarmed BHIB in seven conical flasks. The cultures were mixed by swirling and 1 ml was removed from each flask to measure the optical density (OD) at 660 nm in a spectrophotometer (Heλios Thermo Spectronic). The flasks were incubated at 37 °C with shaking at 120 rpm and further OD readings were measured at 60 min intervals. When the OD value was over 0.2, increasing volumes (0, 2, 10, 20, 40, 200, and 400 µl) of mitomycin C solution (0.1mg/ml) were added to each group of seven flasks and incubation was continued. To monitor the extent of bacterial lysis, OD₆₆₀ readings were taken at 30 min intervals during the incubation period.

2.5.2 Induction of bacteriophages in *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* isolates

Thirty two *M. haemolytica*, six *M. glucosida*, and four *P. trehalosi* isolates (Table 2.1) selected for previous comparative nucleotide sequence analysis were tested for the presence of temperate phages by mitomycin C induction (0.2 μ g/ml final concentration). For the first 12 isolates (PH2, PH66, PH196, PH202, PH246, PH278, PH292, PH296, PH344, PH494, PH588, and PH706), 0.2 ml of an overnight BHIB culture were inoculated into 20 ml of prewarmed BHIB in each of two conical flasks, but 2.0 ml of overnight culture was used for the remaining 30 isolates so that the mitomycin C could be added sooner. The flasks were incubated until the OD₆₆₀ value of the culture reached a value of 0.2 or greater at which point 40 μ l of mitomycin C solution (0.1 mg/ml) were added to one of each pair of flasks. The mitomycin C treated and untreated (control) cultures were incubated for 6 to 7 h and OD₆₆₀ readings were measured at 30 min intervals. If there was no sign of induction with 0.2 μ g/ml of mitomycin C for a particular isolate, the experiment was repeated with a higher concentration of mitomycin C.

2.5.3 Preparation of phage samples

After phage induction by mitomycin C treatment, the lysates were centrifuged at $4,000 \times \text{g}$ for 20 min at 4°C and the supernatants were filtered through 0.2 µm membrane filters (Millipore) to remove bacterial cell debris. These phage preparations were immediately used for plaque assay (Section 2.5.4.2) or stored for short periods (less than five days) at 4 °C before electron microscopy (section 2.5.5) and DNA isolation (section 2.5.6).

2.5.4 Host range of bacteriophages

The host range of induced bacteriophages was examined by plaque assay using appropriate indicator strains.

2.5.4.1 Preparation of overlay indicator plates

A base layer of BHIA (1 %) was poured into a standard petri dish and allowed to solidify. The plate was dried in a 37 °C constant temperature room for 20 min. One hundred microlitres of an overnight culture of each indicator isolate were inoculated into 3 ml of molten soft agar (0.7 % w/v agar) at 56 °C, containing 2 mM CaCl₂, mixed, and immediately poured onto the base layer. The overlay plates were dried in a laminar-flow hood for 20 min before use.

2.5.4.2 Plaque assays

Five microlitres of each phage sample (filtered supernatants) were spotted onto each plate seeded with each of the indicator isolates. The plates were incubated at 37 °C overnight and examined for plaques. The plaque assays were carried out on the same day as phage induction to avoid the possible reduction of phage activity with time.

2.5.5 Electron microscopy by negative staining

Five to ten millilitres of phage sample (filtered supernatants) were centrifuged at $20,000 \times \text{g}$ for 3 h at 4 °C. The supernatant was carefully removed and the pellet was slowly resuspended in 0.5 to 1.0 ml of 0.1 M ammonium acetate buffer (pH 7.3)

Section 200

at 4°C overnight. Five microlitres of phage suspension were dropped onto a glowdischarged carbon-coated 200 mesh copper grid. After 10 s of adsorption time, excess fluid was removed by touching the rim of the grid with a piece of filter paper and a drop of the staining solution, Nanovan (Nanoprobes), was placed on the grid and excess fluid was immediately removed by touching the rim of the grid with a piece of filter paper. The grid was air-dried and imaged using a LEO 902 electron microscope (Zeiss) at 80 kV using different magnifications (20,000 to 250,000 ×).

2.5.6 Isolation of bacteriophage DNA

ł

Bacteriophage DNA was prepared with a Wizard lambda DNA purification kit Ten millilitres of phage samples (filtered supernatants) were treated with (Promega). DNase (Promega) and RNAse (Promega) (both at 1 µg/ml final concentration) for 30 min at 37 °C. After adding 4 ml of phage precipitant (33 % polyethylene glycol and 3.3 M NaCl), the samples were mixed gently, placed on ice for 2 to 3 h, and centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 10 min at 4 °C. The pellets were resuspended in 500 µl of phage buffer (150 mM NaCl, 40 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.4], 10 mM MgSO₄), and treated with proteinase K (Promega, lyophilized powder) (50 µg/ml final concentration) for 1 h at 56 °C. The samples were transferred to 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes, centrifuged at $10,000 \times g$ for 10 s to remove any insoluble particles, and the supernatants were transferred to clean microcentrifuge tubes. The supernatants were mixed with 1 ml of purification resin and the mixtures were transferred to syringe barrels attached to minicolumns. The resin/lysate mixtures were forced through the minicolumns, and the minicolumns were washed with 2 ml of 80 % isopropanol and centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 2 min. Phage DNA was eluted by adding 100 µl of distilled water preheated to 80°C and centrifuging at $10,000 \times g$ The phage DNA was examined by agarose gel electrophoresis and stored at for 20 s.
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

4 °C.

In some experiments, larger volumes (40 ml) of phage sample were used. The phage samples were treated with 9 ml of phage precipitant and centrifuged as described above. The pellets were resuspended in 700 µl of phage buffer and phage suspensions were treated with 6 µl of nuclease mixture (0.25 mg/ml of DNase I and RNAse A) for 30 min at 37 °C. The phage samples were treated with SDS (0.5 % final concentration) and EDTA (20 mM final concentration) for 15 min at 70 °C. The phage DNA was purified with Promega minicolumns as described above.

2.5.7 Restriction endonuclease digestion

Bacteriophage DNA was double digested with 1 µl of each of the restriction enzymes HindIII and ClaI (Promega). The final 20 µl reaction mixture contained 5 µl of phage DNA and 9 µl distilled water (PH2, PH376, PH786) or 14 µl of phage DNA and no distilled water (PH56, PH8, PH398, PH284, PH66, PH484, PH344, PH252, PH396, PH196, PH292, PH296, PH392, PH598, PH388, and PH238) together with 2 µl of 10× buffer E, 2 µl of 1× bovine serum albumin (1 µg/µl), and I µl of each restriction enzyme (1 U/µl). The reactions were incubated at 37 °C for 3 h and the digested DNA was assessed by agarose gel electrophoresis. Five (PH2, PH376, PH56, PH8, PH398, PH284, PH66, PH484, PH344, and PH252) or nine (PH196, PH786, PH396, PH292, PH296, PH392, PH598, PH388, PH238) microlitres of digested DNA were run in 0.8 % (w/v) agarose gels containing ethidium bromide (0.5 µg/ml) at 100 V for 1 h and visualised and photographed under UV light.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.5.8 Genomic analysis of bacteriophages from M. haemolytica bovine A1 isolates

2.5.8.1 Restriction endonuclease assays

Six different restriction endonuclease (RE) assays were carried out with bacteriophage DNA obtained from *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2. Five RE assays were single digestions with restriction enzymes HindIII, ClaI, HpaII, PstI, and RsaI (all from Promega) using buffers E, C, A, H, and C, respectively. One RE assay was a double digestion with restriction enzymes HindIII and Cla I using buffer E. The 20 µl reaction mixture contained 4 µl of phage DNA, 11 µl of distilled water, 2 µl of 10× buffer, 2 µl of bovine serum albumin (1 µg/µl), and 1 µl of restriction enzyme (1 U/µl). The reactions were incubated at 37 °C for 3 h. The reannealing of cohesive ends of digested fragments was avoided by heating the samples for 10 min at 70 °C and cooling immediately on ice. Five microlitres of each sample were run on a 0.8 % agarose gel containing ethidium bromide (0.5 µg/ml) at 100 V for 1 h and visualised and photographed under UV light.

2.5.8.2 Construction of bacteriophage genome from *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213

Using six different digested fragment patterns of PH2Φ representing phages of bovine serotype A1 and A6 *M. haemolytica* isolates, the prophage genome was searched within the unfinished genome sequence of the bovine serotype A1 *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 (www.hgsc.bcm.tmc.edu/projects/microbial/mhaemolytica). Twelve contigs of PHL213 (as of 10/04/01) containing phage related genes were kindly provided by Dr. S. K. Highlander (Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas). Each of them was examined for putative digested fragments of six different RE

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

enzyme by using a restriction map generator program, NEB Cutter (http://tools.neb.com/NEBcutter2) and one contig, Contig C243 (as of 10/04/01), was suspected to be associated with the prophage genome. Blast analyses of the contig C243 (4978 bp) against the phage sequence databanks (http://salmonella.utmem.edu/ phage) identified that the contig C243 contain genes similar to those of phage P2. Since the genetic organization of contig C243 genes was similar to that of the corresponding region of phage P2, the flanking genes of the regions of phage P2 were thought to be similar to the flanking region of contig C243 of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213. As expected, three additional contigs C19, C358, and C359 (as of 10/04/01) that contained genes similar to phage P2 genes were identified by a blast analysis with the flanking genes of phage P2 against *M. haemolytica* database. These contigs have been updated and the most recent contigs (as of 01/02/04), C91 (updated from C243), C137 (updated from C19), and C150 (updated from C358 and C359), were used for the construction of phage genome. The order of C150, C91, and C137 was similar to the genetic organization of the complete P2 phage genome.

To confirm that these contigs are associated with phages from *M. haemolytica* PH2 (bovine A1), and to determine the size of the gaps between C150 and C91, and between C91 and C137, two forward #504 and #506 and two reverse #503 and #505 primers were designed to amplify the gaps as shown in Figure 2.34. The primer pair #505/#506 was used to amplify the segment A region and the primer pair #503/#504 was used to amplify the segment B region in the phage DNA of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 (as described previously - see section 2.3.1.3). The optimum annealing temperature of the two PCRs was 55 °C and details of the primers are listed in Table 2.19.

2.5.8.3 Presence of the PH2 Φ phage genome among *M*. haemolytica, *M*. glucosida, and *P*. trehalosi isolates

The existence of the PH2 Φ phage genome among isolates of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* was examined by PCR amplification of segment B, using the primer pair #505/#506 and an annealing temperature of 55 °C, in bacterial DNA from 42 isolates.



Figure 2.34 Diagrammatic representation of the contigs 137, 91 and 150 of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 showing positions of PCR primers.

 Table 2.19
 Sequence of primers used to amplify segments A and B in phage DNA

 from *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 (see Figure 2.34)

Primer No.	Sequence (5' to 3')
503	AGATCCAGCGTGCAACTT
504	CTAGCACCAGCACAATCA
505	AGCAAGAGCAAGATCGTC
506	CAATAGTGCCAAGTCGGA

ł

210.00

1.211.212

30.2

the second second second second

. . . .

(1) S. S. S. S. S.

- 1 m m 1 Se

-

1997

그렇게 왜 사람했다. 한 그 말씀도 한 것이 가 한 것

1, 10, 14,

ι.

3.1 Comparative sequencing analysis

Details of the 19 genes studied are given in Table 3.1. Two genes (plpB and ompA) were completely sequenced whereas the remaining 17 genes (recA, aroA, asd, galE, gap, gnd, g6pd, mdh, mtlD, pmm, gcp, plpA, plpC, plpD, tbpB, tbpA, and wza) were partially sequenced. Seven genes (recA, asd, mdh, gnd, gcp, galE, and plpA) were sequenced in 12 representative isolates of M. haemolytica (10), M. glucosida (1), and P. trehalosi (1). Nine genes (aroA, gap, mtlD, pmm, plpD, ompA, tbpB, tbpA, and wza) were sequenced in more than 12 representative isolates of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi because the preliminary analysis of 12 isolates of these genes showed evidence of recombination or other interesting points (discussed in each gene section). Three genes (g6pd, plpB and plpC) were sequenced in less than 12 representative isolates because of unsuccessful amplifications.

The amino acid sequence of each gene of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 was compared with the amino acid sequence of the corresponding gene in seven members of the *Pasteurellaceae* including *M. glucosida* isolate PH344, *P. trehalosi* isolate PH246, *A. pleuropneumoniae* isolate 4074, *H. ducreyi* isolate 35000hp, *H. somnus* isolate 2336, *P. multocida* isolate PM70, and *H. influenzae* isolate KW20 (Table 3.2). The sequence data for *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* are from this study, whereas those of the other five species are from the GenBank database (Table 3.2). Each of the genes from *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 showed amino acid identity with the corresponding genes of *M. glucosida* (93 to 100 %), *P. trehalosi* (63 to 94 %), *A. pleuropneumoniae* (38 to 93 %), *H. ducreyi* (62 to 92 %), *H. somnus* (31 to 91 %), *P. multocida* (50 to 90 %), and *H. influenzae* (34 to 91 %). However, there was no Gap homologue in *A. pleuropneumoniae*, no G6pd homologues in *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* and *P. trehalosi* (unsuccessful amplification in this study), no MtID homologues in *H. ducreyi* and

1

×.•

Table 3.1 Size of gene and sequenced fragment and number of isolates and alleles analyzed for 19 genes of *M*. haemolytica, *M*.

glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Gene	Size of gene ⁴	Size of sequenced fragment	No. of	f isolates / No. of al	leles
name	No. of nucleotides	No. of nucleotides b (%)	M. haemolytica	M. glucosida	P. trehalosi
Genes encodin	g DNA repair and recombin	lation enzymes			
recA	1107	810 (73)	10/3	1/1	1/1
Genes encodin	ıg metabolic enzymes				
aroA	1305	1239 (95)	32 / 11	6/5	4/4
asd	1116	846 (76)	10/5	1/1	1/1
galE	1017	933 (92)	10/4	1/1	1/1
dab	1005	870 (87)	32 / 10	6/5	4/4
gnd	1455	1281 (88)	10/3	1/1	1/1
gbdd	1488	1353 (91)	10/4	Q	ND
mdh	696	780 (80)	10/6	1/1	1/1
mtlD .	1140	951 (83)	17/6	6/5	1/1
uuud	1464	729 (50)	32 / 10	6/5	4/4
Genes encodin	ig secreted proteins				
8 <i>cp</i>	678	870 (89)	10/3	1/1	1/1

143

Table 3.1 (continued)

s

Gene	Size of gene a	Size of sequenced fragment	No. of	f isolates / No. of all	leles
ame	No. of nucleotides	No. of nucleotides b (%)	M. haemolytica	M. glucosida	P. trehalosi
Genes encoding p	beriplasm-associated prote	ins			
plpA	837	624 (75)	10/2	1/1	1/1
plpB	831	831 (100)	10/4	1/1	Ð
plpC	780	771 (99)	10/6	1/1	QN
DdpD	855	651 (76)	11/6	1/1	1/1
Genes encoding o	outer membrane proteins				
ompA	1137	1137 (100)	31/11	6/3	$4/4 + 4^{*}$
tbpB	1755	1677 (95)	32 / 20	6/5	4/4
tbpA	2793	2748 (98)	32 / 12	6/5	4/3
wza	1185	966 (82)	32 / 12	4/3	4/3

^a The source of the complete gene is indicated in Materials and Methods.

^b The size of the sequenced fragment is based on M. haemolytica isolate PH2

ND: not determined (unable to amplify)

* ompA' + ompA"

그는 영향 방송 가운

1999 - N. A. A. A.

Qψ.

DNA repair and recombination proteins RecARecAM. glucosida isolate PH344100This study P. trehalosi isolate PH24688This study A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407490ZP_001341H. ducreyi isolate 35000bp89NP.872984H. sominus isolate 233679ZP_00132C P. muitocida isolate PM7077NP_246754H. influenzae isolate KW2077NP_43875Metabolic enzymesAroAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This study P. trehalosi isolate PH24685This study P. trehalosi isolate PH24685This study A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001320P. muitocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdM. glucosida isolate PH344100This study P. trehalosi isolate PH344100This study P. trehalosi isolate PH34493ZP_001346M. glucosida isolate PH34493ZP_001347M. glucosida isolate PH34493ZP_001346M. glucosida isolate PM7086NP_245776H. influenzae isolate 407493ZP_001346P. multocida isolate PH34499This study P. trehalosi isolate PM7086NP_245735H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806CalEM. glucosida isolate PH34499This	Protein and organism	Protein ^a identity (%)	GenBank accession No.
RecAImage: Constraint of the studyM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407490ZP_001341H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp89NP_87298H. somnus isolate 233679ZP_001320P. multocida isolate PM7077NP_246754H. influenzae isolate KW2077NP_43875Metabolic enzymesAroASAroAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24685This study71NP_873807H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34493ZP_001340H. influenzae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. influenzae isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_438806Gale91NP_438806M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_873335H. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344 <td>DNA repair and recombination protei</td> <td>ns</td> <td></td>	DNA repair and recombination protei	ns	
$M.$ glucosida isolate PH344100This study $P.$ trehalosi isolate PH24688This study $A.$ pleuropneumoniae isolate 407490 ZP_001341 $H.$ ducreyi isolate 35000hp89 NP_87298 $H.$ somnus isolate 233679 ZP_001320 $P.$ multocida isolate PM7077 NP_246750 $H.$ influenzae isolate KW2077 NP_438757 Metabolic enzymes 81 ZP_001341 AroA $M.$ glucosida isolate PH34496 $M.$ glucosida isolate PH24685This study $A.$ pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481 ZP_001340 $H.$ ducreyi isolate 35000hp71 NP_873807 $H.$ somnus isolate 233680 $P_0013200$ $P.$ multocida isolate PM7074 NP_245774 $H.$ influenzae isolate KW2078 NP_439734 Asd $M.$ glucosida isolate PH344100This study $P.$ trehalosi isolate PH344100This study $P.$ trehalosi isolate PH24693This study $A.$ pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493 ZP_001340 $H.$ influenzae isolate KW2091 NP_438806 $Galle$ $M.$ glucosida isolate PH34499This study $M.$ glucosida isolate PH34499This study $A.$ pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481 ZP_001340 $H.$ influenzae isolate XW2091 NP_438806 $Galle$ $M.$ glucosida isolate PH34499 $M.$ glucosida isolate PH34499This study $A.$ pleurop	RecA		
P. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407490ZP_001341H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp89NP_87298H. somnus isolate 233679ZP_001326P. multocida isolate PM7077NP_246751H. influenzae isolate KW2077NP_438757Metabolic enzymes71NP_438757AroAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24685This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_0013200P. multocida isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245774H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. influenzae isolate PM7086NP_245774H. influenzae isolate 233691ZP_001340H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001340H. influenzae isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340H. influenzae isolate PM7086NP_243574H. influenzae isolate PM7086NP_243574H. influenzae isolate PM7077Q9CN45H. influenzae isolate PM7077Q9CN45H. influenzae isolate PM7077Q9CN45H. glucosida isolate PH344	M. glucosida isolate PH344	100	This study
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407490 ZP_001341 H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp89NP_87298H. somnus isolate 233679 ZP_001326 P. multocida isolate PM7077NP_246756H. influenzae isolate KW2077NP_438757Metabolic enzymesAroAAroAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24685This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481 ZP_001340 H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp71NP_873807H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493 ZP_001340 P. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493 ZP_001340 H. influenzae isolate PH344100This studyH. influenzae isolate 233691 ZP_001319 P. multocida isolate PH34499This studyA. glucosida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate PM7086NP_246573H. influenzae isolate 233680ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PH34499This studyA. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyA. glucosida isolate PH34499NP_438515GaleM. gluco	P. trehalosi isolate PH246	88	This study
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp89NP_872986H. somnus isolate 233679ZP_001320P. multocida isolate PM7077NP_246750H. influenzae isolate KW2077NP_438757Metabolic enzymesAroAAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24685This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp71NP_873807H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34493ZP_001340P. multocida isolate PH34493ZP_001340P. multocida isolate PH34493ZP_001340P. multocida isolate PH34491NP_438806Galle81NP_873345H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001310P. multocida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34499This studyA. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyA. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyA. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyA. glucosida isolate PH34491NP_873335H. influenzae isolate 35000hp80NP_8733	A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	90	ZP_00134135
H. somnus isolate 233679 ZP_001326 P. multocida isolate PM7077NP_246754H. influenzae isolate KW2077NP_43875'Metabolic enzymesAroA77NP_43875'AroAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24685This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481 ZP_001340 H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate XW2078NP_439734Asd78NP_439734M. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493 ZP_001340 H. influenzae isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493 ZP_001340 H. somnus isolate 233691 ZP_001340 H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GallE91ZP_001315M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481 ZP_002044 H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680 ZP_001346 GallEM. glucosida isolate PH34499M. glucosida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate XW2076A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481 ZP_001336 <t< td=""><td>H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp</td><td>89</td><td>NP_872986</td></t<>	H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	89	NP_872986
P. multocida isolate PM7077NP_246756H. influenzae isolate KW2077NP_438757Metabolic enzymesAroA 77 NP_438757AroAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24685This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdA100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. influenzae isolate S000hp81NP_873345H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PH7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalEGalEGaleGaleM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_0013300GalEM. glucosida isolate PH34499M. glucosida isolate PH34490This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. influenzae isolate 233680ZP_0013300P. multocida isolate PH34499This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH34491 </td <td>H. somnus isolate 2336</td> <td>79</td> <td>ZP_00132641</td>	H. somnus isolate 2336	79	ZP_00132641
H. influenzae isolate KW2077NP_43875'Metabolic enzymesAroAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24685This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp71NP_873807H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_439734AsdM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34493ZP_001340H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001341H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001342H. influenzae isolate 407493ZP_001345H. influenzae isolate PM7086NP_245571H. influenzae isolate PM7086NP_245571H. influenzae isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34499This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001346B. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001346M. glucosida isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001346M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PH24688Th	P. multocida isolate PM70	77	NP_246756
Metabolic enzymesAroAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24685This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp71NP_873807H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdA400This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340II. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873345H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001340II. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001340M. glucosida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438800GalEM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyM. glucosida isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340GalEM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyM. glucosida isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340GaleM. multocida isolate PH34499This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001336M. glucosida isolate PH24698This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407477Q9CNY5H. influenzae	H. influenzae isolate KW20	77	NP_438757
ArOAM. glucosida isolate PH34496This studyM. glucosida isolate PH24685This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp71NP_873807H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734Asd4100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873345H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001310P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE5This studyM. glucosida isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340GalE577Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate PM7076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PM7076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PM7076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH344	Metabolic enzymes		
<i>III.III.SO</i> This study <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolate PH24685This study <i>A. pleuropneumoniae</i> isolate 407481ZP_001340 <i>H. ducreyi</i> isolate 35000hp71NP_873807 <i>H. somnus</i> isolate 233680P_0013200 <i>P. multocida</i> isolate PM7074NP_245776 <i>H. influenzae</i> isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdA.glucosida isolate PH344100 <i>M. glucosida</i> isolate PH24693This study <i>A. pleuropneumoniae</i> isolate 407493ZP_001340 <i>H. ducreyi</i> isolate 35000hp81NP_873345 <i>H. somnus</i> isolate 233691ZP_001319 <i>P. multocida</i> isolate PM7086NP_246571 <i>H. influenzae</i> isolate 407481ZP_001340 <i>P. multocida</i> isolate PH34499This study <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolate 233691NP_438806ChalEM.glucosida isolate PH34499 <i>M. glucosida</i> isolate PH24688This study <i>A. pleuropneumoniae</i> isolate 407481ZP_002044 <i>H. ducreyi</i> isolate 233680ZP_001336 <i>P. multocida</i> isolate PM7077Q9CNY5 <i>H. influenzae</i> isolate PM7076NP_438515 <i>Gap</i> M.glucosida isolate PM7076 <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolate PM344100This study <i>A. pleuropneumoniae</i> isolate PM7077Q9CNY5 <i>H. influenzae</i> isolate PM7077Q9CNY5 <i>H. influenzae</i> isolate PM344100This study <t< td=""><td>AIOA Maluansida isolata DH344</td><td>06</td><td>This study</td></t<>	AIOA Maluansida isolata DH344	06	This study
P. memuosi isolate PH24063This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp71NP_873807H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734Asd100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806Galle100M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34499This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_0013360P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515Gap77Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. multocida isolate PH4691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumo	D trahulowi isolate DH046	90 85	This study
A. pleutopheutoniae isolate 40748121_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp71NP_873807H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734Asd100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE31ZP_002044M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate 233680ZP_001336GalE35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001360GalE3677Q9CN45H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001360SapM. glucosida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae is	A playrophaymaniag isolate 4074	05 81	77D 00124045
H. ducreyi isolate 33000hp71INP_87380.H. somnus isolate 233680P_0013200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245776H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734Asd78NP_439734M. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE3This studyM. glucosida isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34491This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate A074Jap </td <td>H. duorani isolate 35000hp</td> <td>71</td> <td>ND 272207</td>	H. duorani isolate 35000hp	71	ND 272207
II. Sommus isolate 255080I0015200P. multocida isolate PM7074NP_245770H. influenzae isolate KW2078NP_439734AsdIII. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalEIII. somnus isolate PH24688M. glucosida isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapII. influenzae isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH344100This studyA.	H. gammus isolate 2336	71 80	RF_073007
P. manocina isolate FW10P4F4F4H. influenzae isolate FW1078NP_439734Asd78NP_439734Asd100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE78This studyM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407491This study	P. multonida isolate DM70	7/	NP 245776
H. Influenzae Isolate KW2078INF_439734AsdM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438800GalEM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34491This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407476NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34491This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407491This study	L influenzae isolate KW20	74 78	ND 420724
M. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE3Sale3M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate FM7076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH344100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH34491This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate PH34491This study	A ed	70	Nr_439734
In. gutosida isolate PH24693This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24693This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407493ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE3This studyM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074100This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407491This study	M alucasida isolate PH3//	100	This study
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 1124093ZP_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalEM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH34491This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	P trabalasi isolata PH246	03	This study
A. preuropneumoniae isolate 40749321_001340H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp81NP_873349H. somnus isolate 233691ZP_001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP_246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE363636M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	A plauronnaumonica isolate 4074	03	70 0013/00/
H. uucreyt isolate 35000hpSIINST354H. somnus isolate 233691ZP001319P. multocida isolate PM7086NP246571H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE31MP_438806M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	U duorani isolata 35000hp	25 81	NP 873340
<i>H. sommus</i> isolate 235091 <i>L1_001319P. multocida</i> isolate PM7086NP_246571 <i>H. influenzae</i> isolate KW2091NP_438806GalE99This study <i>M. glucosida</i> isolate PH34499This study <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolate PH24688This study <i>A. pleuropneumoniae</i> isolate 407481ZP_002044 <i>H. ducreyi</i> isolate 35000hp80NP_873335 <i>H. somnus</i> isolate 233680ZP_001336 <i>P. multocida</i> isolate PM7077Q9CNY5 <i>H. influenzae</i> isolate KW2076NP_438515Gap <i>M. glucosida</i> isolate PH344100This study <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolate PH24691This study <i>A. pleuropneumoniae</i> isolate 4074	H. communicate 2326	01	7D 00131037
H. influenzae isolate FM7000FM240371H. influenzae isolate KW2091NP_438800GalEM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	P. multacida isolate PM70	86	NP 246571
H. Influenzie Isolate KW2091NF_438800GalEM. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	L influenza isolate KW20	01	ND /28806
M. glucosida isolate PH34499This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	An influenzae Isolate K w 20	71	NI+00000
M. glucosida isolate PH246S9This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24688This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP_002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515Gap	M. alucasida jeplate PH344	QQ	This study
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 111240001113 studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 407481ZP002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515Gap	P trabulovi isolate PH246	88	This study
H. pleuropheumoniae isolate 4074S1Eli002044H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp80NP_873335H. somnus isolate 233680ZP_001336P. multocida isolate PM7077Q9CNY5H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	A plauropraumaniag isolate A07A	81 81	ZP 00704476
H. tudreyi isolate 35000hp30H	H ducran isolate 35000hn	80 81	NP 873335
<i>H. sommus</i> Isolate 25503021_001550 <i>P. multocida</i> isolate PM7077Q9CNY5 <i>H. influenzae</i> isolate KW2076NP_438515Gap <i>M. glucosida</i> isolate PH344100This study <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolate PH24691This study <i>A. pleuropneumoniae</i> isolate 4074	H. sommus isolate 2326	80	7P 00133678
H. influenzae isolate FW7077QVC/V13H. influenzae isolate KW2076NP_438515GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	<i>B. multagida</i> isolate PM7 0	80 77	O9CNV5
H. influenzae isolate RW2070RI_438312GapM. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	L influenza isolate KW20	76	ND 438515
M. glucosida isolate PH344100This studyP. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	Gan	70	141 -420212
P. trehalosi isolate PH24691This studyA. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	$M_{alucosida}$ isolata DH3//	100	This study
A, pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	P trabalasi isalata DU246	01	This study
A, picaropheanonae 1801ais 4014	A - n aurophalimanian isolate $A074$	ブエ	-
H duarani isolata 35000hp 02 ND 072704	A, pieuropheumonuue Isolais 4074	07	- NID 972794

Table 3.2 Comparison of the proteins encoded by *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2with the corresponding proteins of seven members of the *Pasteurellaceae*

•

14

and the second state of the

an an an the the the the the the

 $\{0,1,\dots,n\}$

4

...

145

1.1.1.

and the second second

×4,

A Sec. Share A

nger er 1998 – De sterne sterne sterne sterne var de sterne in de sterne sterne sterne sterne sterne sterne var

1. A. M. M. M.

.

í.,

Table 3.2 (continued)

ومعروب والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع والمراجع

Sec. 4

and the state of the

ć

ş

Protein and organism	Protein ^a Identity (%)	GenBank accession No.	
H. somnus isolate 2336	90	ZP 00131873	
P. multocida isolate PM70	90	NP_245861	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	85	NP_438174	
Gnd			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	100	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	90	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	89	ZP_00135245	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	86	NP_873339	
H. somnus isolate 2336	90	ZP_00131777	
P. multocida isolate PM70	87	NP_246493	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	91	NP_438711	
G6pd			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	-	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	-	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	88	ZP_00135250	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	84	NP_873342	
H. somnus isolate 2336	82	ZP_00131780	
P. multocida isolate PM70	83	NP_246488	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	82	NP_438715	
Mdh			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	98	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	72	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	65	ZP_00135237	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	63	NP_872857	
H. somnus isolate 2336	31	ZP_00122604	
P. multocida isolate PM70	60	Q9CN86	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	60	NP_439366	
MtlD			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	96	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	89	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	82	ZP_00348359	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	-	-	
H. somnus isolate 2336	62	ZP_00133150	
P. multocida isolate PM70	64	Q9CLY7	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	-	-	
Pmm			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	99	This study	
P. trehalost isolate PH246	90	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	92	ZP_00134557	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	83	NP_873912	
H. somnus isolate 2336	90	ZP_00131762	
P. multocida isolate PM70	88	NP_246011	

and the state of the second state of the secon

and the states of

17 A 27 A 444

1110

a service and the service of the ser

Table 3.2 (continued)

1996 B. M. Maria (1997)

27 - N. N.

1.12

1

server and the set of the set of some

Protein and organism	Protein ^a identity (%)	GenBank accession No.	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	86	NP 438900	
Secreted proteins			
Gep			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	100	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	88	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	86	ZP_00135231	
II. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	76	NP_873041	
H. somnus isolate 2336	83	ZP_00132762	
P. multocida isolate PM70	77	NP_246175	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	76	NP_438688	
Periplasm-associated proteins			
PlpA			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	100	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH68	85	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	81	ZP_00133876	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	72	NP_873577	
H. somnus isolate 2336	79	ZP_00204652	
P. multocida isolate PM70	59	NP246668	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	69	NP_438778	
PlpB			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	100	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH68	-		
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	59	ZP_00133875	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	-	-	
H. somnus isolate 2336	-	-	
P. multocida isolate PM70	-	-	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	*	-	
PlpC			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	100	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH68	-	-	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	59	ZP_00204591	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	-	-	
H. somnus isolate 2336	-	-	
P. multocida isolate PM70	-		
H. influenzae isolate KW20	-	-	
PlpD			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	100	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH68	85	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	89	ZP_00134888	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp		-	
H. somnus isolate 2336	42	ZP 00204642	

- - - D

1.2.5

<u>t in a straig</u> ,

Table 3.2 (continued)

a .a

ł

1.1.1

Protein and organism	Protein ^a identity (%)	GenBank accession No.	
P. multocida isolate PM70	78	NP 245523	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	-	-	
Outer membrane proteins			
OmpA			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	93	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	69 + 63*	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	65	ZP_00134486	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	62 + 63*	NP_872672 +	
H. somnus isolate 2336	63	ZP_00132943	
P. multocida isolate PM70	51	NP_245723	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	52	NP_439322	
TbpB			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	94	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	78	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	38	ZP_00135181	
II. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	-	-	
H. somnus isolate 2336	34	ZP_00122045	
P. multocida isolate PM70	-	-	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	34	NP_439158	
TbpA			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	98	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	94	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	45	ZP_00135182	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	*	-	
H. somnus isolate 2336	50	ZP_00122044	
P. multocida isolate PM70	-		
H, influenzae isolate KW20	40	NP_439157	
Wza			
M. glucosida isolate PH344	96	This study	
P. trehalosi isolate PH246	70	This study	
A. pleuropneumoniae isolate 4074	79	ZP_00133758	
H. ducreyi isolate 35000hp	-	-	
H. somnus isolate 2336	-	5	
P. multocida isolate PM70	50	NP_245715	
H. influenzae isolate KW20	-	_	

an she ar a she she she sh

" Protein identity (%) was calculated against protein of M. haemolytica isolate PH2

Second Second

 $||z| < |z| = ||z| < \varepsilon$

H. influenzae, no TbpB and TbpA homologues in *H. ducreyi* and *P. multocida*, and no Wza homologues in *H. ducreyi*, *H. somnus*, and *II. influenzae*.

The nucleotide and amino acid sequence diversities of the 19 genes were determined separately for M. haemolytica isolates and also for all M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi isolates (Table 3.3). The nucleotide and amino acid diversities of recA, asd, galF, gnd, g6pd, mtlD, gcp, and plpD within M. haemolytica (0.2 to 0.8 % and 0.0 to 1.4 %, respectively) were relatively low, while the corresponding diversities of aroA, gap, mdh, pmm, plpA, plpB, plpC, ompA, tbpB, tbpA, and wza within *M. haemolytica* (2.3 to 45.2 % and 0.5 to 49.8 %, respectively) were relatively In the case of the aroA, gap, pmm, ompA, tbpB, tbpA and wza genes, which high. were sequenced in a larger number of M. glucosida and P. trehalosi isolates, the nucleotide and amino acid sequence diversities were also determined separately for isolates of *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*. With the exception of ompA' (12.3 % and 10.8 %, respectively), the nucleotide and amino acid diversity was relatively low in P. trehalosi (0.7 to 2.3 % and 0.0 to 1.6 %, respectively). The higher diversity of ompA' in P. trehalosi was due to variation in one isolate (PH254), since the other three isolates were highly conserved (0.9 and 0.2 %, respectively). In contrast, the corresponding diversities were higher in M. glucosida (0.8 to 16.0 % and 0.0 to 7.5 %) and were even higher in *M. haemolytica* (2.3 to 45.2 % and 1.0 to 49.8 %, respectively). The reasons for this will be discussed later.

The numbers of synonymous substitutions per 100 synonymous sites (d_S) and the number of nonsynonymous substitutions per 100 nonsynonymous sites (d_N) (Nei & Gojobori, 1986) were estimated for the 19 genes (Table 3.3). When the nucleotide diversity was > 1 %, the d_S/d_N ratios were also calculated. A high d_S/d_N ratio indicates that natural selection at the molecular level is purifying (conservative),

Gene and organism "	No of polyr	norphic sites	Mean #	SD ^b	
(No. of strains)	Nucleotides (%)	Amino acids (%)	d _s	d _N	$= d_{s}/d_{s}^{c}$
Genes encoding DNA rep	air and recombin	nation enzymes			
recA					
Mh (10)	2 (0.2)	0 (0.0)	0.39 ± 0.02	0.00 ± 0.06) -
Mh(10) + Mg(1) - Pt(1)	157 (19.4)	33 (12.2)	19.10 ± 3.12	1.30 ± 0.22	2 14.69
Genes encoding metaboli	c enzymes				
aroA					
Mh (32)	46 (3.7)	11 (2.7)	4.54 ± 0.79	0.36 ± 0.1	12.61
Mg (6)	94 (7.6)	15 (3.6)	12.22 ± 1.40	0.67 ± 0.13	3 18.24
<i>Pt</i> (4)	28 (2,3)	5 (1.2)	4.69 ± 0.96	0.26 ± 0.1	18.04
Mh(32) + Mg(6) + Pt(4)	360 (29.1)	80 (19.4)	$32.68~\pm~3.45$	2.90 ± 0.34	11.27
asd					
<i>Mh</i> (10)	5 (0.6)	3 (1.1)	0.45 ± 0.31	0.13 ± 0.03	3 -
Mh(10) + Mg(1) + Pt(1)	158 (18.7)	23 (8.2)	$22.25~\pm~4.27$	1.03 ± 0.20	21.60
galE					
Mh (10)	4 (0.4)	3 (1.0)	$0.09~\pm~0.09$	0.13 上 0.03	3 -
Mh(10) + Mg(1) + Pt(1)	214 (22.9)	40 (12.9)	28.60 ± 5.48	1.53 土 0.2:	5 18.69
gap					
Mh (32)	20 (2.3)	3 (1.0)	$2.93~\pm~0.71$	0.05 ± 0.03	3 58.60
Mg (6)	60 (6.9)	0 (0.0)	13.42 ± 1.77	0.00 ± 0.00) ~
<i>Pt</i> (4)	6 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	$1.50~\pm~0.59$	0.00 ± 0.0) ~
Mh(32) + Mg(6) + Pt(4)) 170 (19.5)	28 (9.7)	16.52 ± 1.78	1.20 ± 0.24	4 13.77
gnd					
Mh (10)	2 (0.2)	0 (0.0)	$0.34~\pm~0.23$	-0.00 ± 0.0) -
Mh(10) + Mg(1) + Pt(1)) 234 (18.3)	41 (9.6)	$17.96~\pm~2.04$	1.10 ± 0.1	7 16.33
g6pd					
Mh (10)	5 (0.4)	2 (0.4)	$0.38~\pm~0.24$	0.12 ± 0.03	8 -
mdh					
Mh (10)	36 (4.6)	4 (1.5)	4.05 ± 0.74	0.14 ± 0.0	7 28.93
Mh(10) + Mg(1) + Pt(1)) 261 (33.5)	76 (29.2)	29.39 ± 4.38	3.76 ± 0.4	2 7.82
mtiD					
Mh (17)	7 (0.7)	4 (1.3)	0.26 ± 0.15	0.14 ± 0.0	7 -
Mg (6)					
-Mh(17) + Mg(6) + Pt(1)) 259 (27.2)	53 (16.7)	11.36 ± 7.67	1.60 🗄 0.2	8 7.10
pmm					
Mh (32)	94 (12.9)	15 (6.2)	9.44 土 1.47	0.60 ± 0.2	15.73
Mg (6)	39 (5.3)	0 (0.0)	10.74 ± 1.75	0.0 ± 0.0	0 -
<i>Pt</i> (4)	5 (0.7)	1 (0.4)	1.20 ± 0.56	0.09 ± 0.0	9 13.33
Mh(32) + Mg(6) + Pt(4)) 193 (26.5)	34 (14.0)	34.13 ± 5.27	1.74 ± 0.3	4 19.61
Genes encoding secreted	proteins				
gcp	_				
Mh (10)	2 (0.2)	2 (0.7)	$0.00~\pm~0.00$	0.10 ± 0.0	7 -
Mh(10) + Mg(1) + Pt(1)) 228 (26.2)	37 (12.8)	8.42 ± 1.90	1.79 ± 0.2	6 4.70

Table 3.3 Nucleotide and amino acid sequence diversity, d_s and d_N values, and d_s/d_N ratios for conserved genes of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

1.1

Table 3.3 (Continued)

Gene and organism "	No of polyr	norphic sites	Mean	± SD ^b	
(No. of strains)	Nucleotides (%)	Amino acids (%)	d _s	d_{κ}	d_{s}/d_{n}°
Genes encoding periplasi	n-associated prot	eins		······································	
plpA					
Mh (10)	25 (4.0)	1 (0.5)	3.89 ± 0.88	0.04 ± 0.04	97.25
Mh(10) + Mg(1) + Pt(1)	154 (24.7)	30 (14,4)	27.89 ± 6.93	1.95 ± 0.36	14.30
plpB					
Mh (10)	57 (6.9)	9 (3.3)	6.31 ± 0.91	0.31 ± 0.10	20.35
Mh(10) + Mg(1)	61 (7.3)	10 (3.6)	6.76 ± 0.98	0.31 ± 0.10	21.81
$plpC^*$					
Mh (9)	41 (5.4)	б (2.4)	5.13 ± 0.90	0.26 ± 0.10	19.73
Mh(9) + Mg(1)	44 (5.8)	7 (2.8)	8.04 ± 1.34	0.32 ± 0.11	25.13
$plpD^{\$}$					
Mh (10)	5 (0.8)	3 (1.4)	0.16 ± 0.16	0.35 ± 0.19	-
Mh(10) + Mg(1) + Pt(1)	135 (20,7)	36 (16.6)	20.82 ± 4.35	2.18 ± 0.38	9.55
Genes encoding outer me	mbrane proteins				
ompA*					
Mh (31)	49 (4.3)	28 (7.4)	0.84 ± 0.31	1.33 ± 0.30	0.63
Mg (6)	26 (2,3)	7 (1.9)	3.28 ± 0.80	0.65 ± 0.24	5.05
<i>Pt</i> ' (4)	140 (12.3)	41 (10.8)	17.86 ± 2.13	4.09 ± 0.62	4.37
<i>Pt</i> " (6)	9 (0.8)	0 (0.0)	1.84 ± 0.57	0.00 ± 0.00	-
Mh(31) + Mg(6) + Pt(10)	438 (38.5)	150 (39.7)	19.71 ± 1.68	$7.62~\pm~0.70$	2.59
tbpB					
Mh (32)	758 (45.2)	278 (49.8)	57.56 ± 7.98	12.71 ± 0.77	4.53
Mg (6)	54 (3.2)	18 (3.2)	4.41 ± 0.73	0.73 ± 0.18	6.04
<i>Pt</i> (4)	14 (0.8)	9 (1.6)	0.80 ± 0.35	0.40 ± 0.12	2.00
Mh(32) + Mg(6) + Pt(4)	850 (50,7)	299 (53.6)	68.16 ± 7.07	12.09 ± 0.67	5.64
tbpA					
Mh (32)	687 (25.0)	168 (18.3)	26.01 ± 1.68	2.69 ± 0.21	9.67
$M_{\mathcal{B}}$ (6)	23 (0.8)	10(1.1)	0.68 ± 0.18	0.18 ± 0.06	3.78
<i>Pt</i> (4)	34 (1.2)	7 (0.8)	2.39 ± 0.45	0.20 ± 0.07	11.95
Mh(32) + Mg(6) + Pt(4)	727 (26,5)	185 (20,2)	21.60 ± 1.32	2.74 ± 0.23	7.88
wza					
Mh (32)	241 (24.9)	45 (14.0)	33.57 ± 3.20	1.76 ± 0.30	19.07
$M_{\mathcal{B}}(4)$	155 (16.0)	24 (7.5)	46.95 ± 6.60	2.29 ± 0.44	20.50
<i>Pt</i> (4)	14 (1.4)	4 (1.2)	1.97 ± 0.67	0.37 ± 0.20	5.32
Mh(32) + Mg(4) + Pt(4)	414 (42.9)	118 (36.6)	56.18 ± 4.96	5.87 ± 0.56	9.57

^a Mh: M. haemolytica, Mg: M. glucosida, Pt: P. trehalosi

^b d_s and d_n represent the number of synonymous substitutions per 100 synonymous sites and the

number of nonsynonymous substitutions per 100 nonsynonymous sites, respectively.

 $^{c}d_{s}/d_{N}$ was calculated when nucleotide diversity was >1 %.

* Isolate PH202 has been removed from the Mh calculation because this isolate has a nucleotide

insertion in the middle of *plpC*, which disrupts the reading frame.

⁸ Isolates PH494 and PH550 have been removed from the Mh calculation because these isolates have a

13 nucleotides deletion in the middle of *plpD*, which disrupts the reading frame.

* Pt' indicates P. trehalost ompA' and Pt" indicates P. trehalosi ompA".

acting against mutations resulting in amino acid replacements. Conversely, a d_y/d_N ratio of < 1 indicates that selection is diversifying and favours amino acid replacement. Four metabolic enzyme genes, *aroA*, *gap*, *mdh*, and *pmm*, had relatively high d_y/d_N ratios in *M. haemolytica* (12.61 to 58.60) whereas two outer membrane protein genes, *ompA* and *tbpB* had relatively low d_y/d_N ratios in *M. haemolytica* (0.63 and 4.53, respectively). The d_y/d_N ratios of the other outer membrane protein genes, *tbpA*, and *wza*, were 9.67 and 19.07, respectively. The reasons for this will be discussed later.

3.1.1 Details of nucleotide analyses for specific genes

3.1.1.1 Genes encoding DNA repair and recombination enzymes

3.1.1.1.1 Recombinase A (recA)

1

The *recA* gene, encoding recombinase A, was selected because it plays an important role in DNA repair and recombination and because it has been used previously for population studies (see section 1.6.1.1). The partial sequence of *recA* (810 nucleotides [73%]) was determined in 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (Table 3.4). Five different *recA* nucleotide sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to three subclasses, *recA1* to *recA3*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.4).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the five *recA* alleles, with respect to *recA1.1*, are shown in Figure 3.1. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicates that the *M. haemolytica recA1*-type alleles, *M. glucosida recA2.1* allele, and *P. trehalosi recA3.1* allele have 2, 9, and 157 polymorphic nucleotide sites,

3.41 J

Table 3.4 Distribution of recA alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M.glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate

Isolate	ET ^a	Capsular serotype	Host species	<i>recA</i> allele	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolytica					
PH2	1	A1	Bovine	recA1.1	AY837586
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	recA1.2	AY837587
PH706	11	Л16	Ovine	recA1.2	-
PH296	12	A7	Ovine	recA1.3	AY837588
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	recA1.3	-
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	recA1.2	-
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	recA1.3	-
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	recA1.3	-
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	recA1.3	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	recA1.3	-
M. glucosida					
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	recA2.1	AY837589
P. trehalosi					
PIH246	2	T 4	Ovine	recA3.1	AY837590

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

153

a sheer

(A)	111111111111111111111111111111122222222
	112245556667778889001111222234445555666667888990111122333455667789012333345
	1389681521480691681476281479036984780346023584235281036929147338230621987036951
recA1.1	ATAGGTTGACTCTACCTACTTATTGATATAGGTTATATTAGGGGTCATGTCTCACATATCCGGAGGAAGCTGTCTGT
recA1.2	
recA1.3	
recA2.1	
recA3.1	GACTCACAGAAACGTTCCTCCGGCTGCTCTTAGATCTCCTCTATAACAACACAGTTCGCTGAACAAGTATCACTCTACC
	3333334444444444444444455555555555566666666
	666777801234566777889992233445566780001123334456678899000122334445555667778888
	069025751058928567793585847092547900372544794671321739012713020580369381470469
recA1.	1 TGACTAGTCCATACTGCGTGATCAACTCCATTCTGTTTCACGACGGGATCTGTCCAACGGGCATCCTAGTCCCTTGAG
recAl.	2G
recA1.	3G
recA2.].TTA
recA3.	ATCTAGACTAGCGTCAATCAGATTCTATATACACTCCGAGAATGACTGGTGACGATGTCATTGCTACGTGATACATT

(B)	111222222222222222222
	22455667885690011112344455566
	136904045127589543823561414756802
RecA1.1	IKDALSYVVNGIDGAIASDVISEIQEANSHFNA
RecA1.2	
RecAl.3	
RecA2.1	
RecA3.1	VTQTILFLITDVNKNVSAEILNQVMQSSAQLKS

Figure 3.1 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *recA* alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5' end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. recA1.1).



Figure 3.2 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *recA* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).

respectively (Figure 3.1A). Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.1B). Two amino acid variants were identified among the five *recA* alleles; the *M. haemolytica* (*recA1*-types) and *M. glucosida* (*recA2.1*) alleles have identical amino acid sequences while the *P. trehalosi recA3.1* allele has 33 variable amino acid positions compared to the *M. haemolytica* (*recA1*-type) and *M. glucosida* (*recA2.1*) alleles. There was no evidence of intragenic recombination within any of the *recA* alleles.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences indicated that the *M. haemolytica recA1*type alleles are highly conserved (1 to 2 polymorphic sites), whereas the *M. glucosida recA2.1* allele shows moderate divergence from the *M. haemolytica recA1*-type alleles (7 to 9 polymorphic sites), and the *P. trehalosi recA3.1* allele exhibits substantial divergence from both the *M. haemolytica recA1*-type alleles (156 to 157 polymorphic sites) and the *M. glucosida recA2.1* allele (151 polymorphic sites).

The *recA* tree topology (Figure 3.2) shows three distinct phylogenetic lineages, I to III, corresponding to the three species, *M. haemolytica* (*recA1*), *M. glucosida* (*recA2*), and *P. trehalosi* (*recA3*), respectively. This phylogeny is in good agreement with those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and indicates that recombination has not affected the evolution of *recA*.

3.1.1.2 Genes encoding metabolic enzymes

3.1.1.2.1 5-enolpyruvylshikimate 3-phosphate synthase (aroA)

The *aroA* gene, encoding 5-enolpyruvylshikimate 3-phosphate synthase, was selected because it is an important housekeeping gene for bacterial growth (see section 1.6.2.1).

The partial sequence of *aroA* (1239 nucleotides [95 %]) was determined in 32 *M*. *haemolytica*, six *M*. *glucosida*, and four *P*. *trehalosi* isolates (Table 3.5). Twenty different *aroA* sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to five subclasses, *aroA1* to *aroA5*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.5). *M. haemolytica* was represented by *aroA1* to *aroA3* type alleles, *M. glucosida* by *aroA4* type alleles, *P. trehalosi* by *aroA5* type alleles

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the 16 *aroA1*- to *aroA4*-type alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* are shown in Figure 3.3. The *P. trehalosi aroA5*-type alleles were excluded because they are highly divergent from both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* (Table 3.6) and there was no visible evidence of recombination. Visual inspection of the nucleotide sequences of the *aroA1*- to *aroA4*-type alleles indicated that the *M. haemolytica aroA1*-type alleles are highly conserved, whereas the *M. haemolytica aroA2.1* and *aroA3*-type alleles have diverged from the *aroA1*-type alleles due to intragenic recombination (Figure 3.3A). The *aroA2.1* allele (ovine serotype A2 isolates of ETs 19 to 22) contains a recombinant segment (green, nucleotides 330 to 565) that is identical to the corresponding region of the *aroA3*-type alleles. The *aroA3*-type alleles (serotype A14, A16, A7, and A2 isolates of ETs 10 to 14 and ET18) contain divergent recombinant segments (yellow, nucleotides 42 to 565) that have possibly been derived from an external source.

The nucleotide substitutions in the recombinant segments were mostly synonymous because only four and seven amino acid changes occurred within the green and yellow regions, respectively (Figure 3.3B), suggesting strong selective constraint for amino acid replacement within the *aroA* gene of *M. haemolytica*.

- ... · · ·

Isolate	ET "	Capsular scrotype	Host species	<i>aroA</i> allele	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolytica					
РН2	1	A1	Bovine	aroA1.1	AY847793
PH30	Ī	AI	Bovine	aroA1.1	-
PH376	ī	A6	Воуілс	aroA1.1	-
PH346	1	A12	Ovine	aroA1.3	AY847794
PH540	2	A1	Bovine	aroA1.2	AY847795
PH338	3	A9	Ovine	droA1.3	-
PH388	4	A7	Ovine	aroA1.3	-
PH50	5	A5	Ovine	aroA1.3	-
PH56	5	- A8	Ovine	aroA1.3	-
PH238	5	A9	Ovine	aroA1.3	-
PH8	6	AI	Ovine	aroA1.6	AY847796
PH398	7	A1	Ovine	aroA1.6	-
PH284	8	A6	Ovine	aroA1.7	AY847797
PH232	9	A6	Ovinc	aroA1.7	-
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	aroA3.1	AY847798
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	aroA3.1	
PH296	12	Α7	Ovine	aroA3.3	AY847799
PH396	13	A7	Ovine	aroA3.3	-
PH484	14	Δ7	Ovine	aroA3.3	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	aroA1.3	-
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	aroA1.5	AY847800
PH550	17	A2	Bovine	aroA1.5	-
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	aroA3.2	AY847801
PH786	18	A2	Bovine	aroA3.2	-
PH526	19	A2	Ovine	aroA2.1	-
PH598	20	A2	Ovine	aroA2.1	-
PH202	21	Δ2	Bovine	aroA1.4	AY847802
PH470	2 1	A2	Bovine	aroA1.4	-
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	aroA2.1	AY847803
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	aroA2,1	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	aroA2.1	-
PH392	22	A2	Ovine	aroA2.1	-
M. glucosida					
PH344	1	AU	Ovine	aroA4.1	AY847804
PH498	- 3	All	Ovine	aroA4.1	_
PH240	5	AH	Ovine	aroA4.2	AY847805
PH496	7	UG3	Ovine	aroA4.3	AY847806
PH574	10	UG3	Ovine	aroA4.5	AY847807
PH290	16	UG3	Ovine	aroA4.4	AY847808
P. trehalosi	_ =				
PH246	2	Τ4	Ovine	aroA5.1	AY847809
PH252	4	T'10	Ovine	aroA5.2	AY847810
PH254	15	T15	Ovine	aroA5.3	AY847811
PH68	19	Τ3	Ovine	aroA5.4	AY847812

Table 3.5 Distribution of *aroA* alleles among 32 *M*. *haemolytica*, six *M*. *glucosida*, and four *P*. *trehalosi* isolates

-

•

1

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

1. 1. 1.1



Figure 3.3 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *aroA* alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The Roman numerals I and II correspond to the major lineages of Figure 3.4. The *M. glucosida* alleles are highlighted within the green boxes. The coloured shading indicates sequence identity and putative recombinant segments in alleles that are otherwise different. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide or amino acid sites from the 5'end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *aroA1.1*)

١

Table 3.6 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the five aroA allele types of M. haemolytica, M.

glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Alla		Pairwise differences in	a nucleotide and amine) acid sequences $(\%)^a$	
AUUA	aroAJ.J	aroA2.1	aroA3.1	aroA4.1	aroA5.1
amA1.1		4 (1.0)	7 (1.7)	15 (3.6)	63 (15.3)
aroA2.1	12 (1.0)		3 (0.7)	15 (3.6)	63 (15.3)
aroA3.1	39 (3.1)	27 (2.2)		16 (3.9)	63 (15.3)
aroA4.1	86 (6.9)	86 (6.9)	95 (7.7)		63 (15.3)
aroA5.1	291 (23.5)	287 (23.2)	288 (23.2)	295 (23.8)	

^a Values in the lower left represent pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences (number of polymorphic nucleotide sites and percentage of nucleotide variation); values in the upper right represent pairwise differences in inferred amino acid sequences (number of polymorphic amino acid sites and percentage of amino acid variation).



Figure 3.4 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *aroA* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).

Pairwise differences in nucleotide and amino acid sequences between representative pairs of the five allele types of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* ranged from 12 to 295 (1.0 to 17.0 %) nucleotide sites and 3 to 63 (0.7 to 15.3 %) amino acid positions (Table 3.6).

The *aroA* tree topology (Figure 3.4) shows three distinct phylogenetic lineages, I to III, corresponding to the three species, *M. haemolytica* (*aroA1* to *aroA3*), *M. glucosida* (*aroA4*), and *P. trehalosi* (*aroA5*), respectively. This phylogeny is in good agreement with those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davics *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE data (Davies *et al.*, 1997a). However, the *M. haemolytica* isolates are represented by three clusters, A, B, and C, which correspond to *aroA1*-type, *aroA2.1* type, and *aroA3*-type alleles, respectively.

3.1.1.2.2 Aspartate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase (asd)

The *asd* gene, encoding aspartate semialdehyde debydrogenase, was selected because the Asd protein is essential in the biosynthesis of cell wall material and some amino acids (see section 1.6.2.2). The partial sequence of *asd* (846 nucleotides [76 %]) was determined in 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (Table 3.7). Seven different *asd* nucleotide sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to three subclasses, *asd1* to *asd3*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.7).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the seven *asd* alleles, with respect to allele *asd1.1*, are shown in Figure 3.5. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicates that the *M. haemolytica asd1*-type, *M. glucosida asd2.1*, and *P. trehalosi asd3.1* alleles have 7, 14, and 150 polymorphic nucleotide sties, respectively

Table 3.7 Distribution of asd alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M.glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate

Isolate	ET "	Capsular serotype	Host species	<i>asd</i> allele	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolytic	a				
PH2	1	Al	Bovine	asd1.1	AY837573
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	asd1,1	-
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	asd1.1	-
PH296	12	A7	Ovine	asd1.2	AY837574
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	asd1.2	-
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	asd1.3	AY837575
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	asd1.4	AY837576
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	asd1.5	AY837577
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	asd1.5	-
PH292	22	Α2	Ovine	asd1.5	
M. glucosida					
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	asd2.1	AY837578
P. trehalosi					
PH246	2	T 4	Ovine	asd3.1	AY837579

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

(A)	111111111111111111222222222222222222222
(A)	2223347778889990001233444555667778000111234555667788999011334566778900111222
	3491474652340143780281706347036251473047369840035146929189058098719281928147039
asd1.1	TGACTCGTTTGTGCACGATACCTATTTCATCTTTATCACTCCTCTAAGCTTCGGCTTCACCTACACTCTACGTTAATCC
asd1.2	
asd1.3	C
asd1.4	
asd1.5	T
asd2.1	GT
asd3.1	acgtctaccaaccgctacccttcccttctc.ccctca.ttctaggaagctcca.gatt.ctattatcgtaaaggcta
	444444444444444444445555555555555555555
	33447788888899999901111355556677788899011334456900113455566788890000111123333444
	2517140123902345840345725896703657847668792510302475103928703622478023921467036
asd1.1	TCCGTATGAAAGTAGCATAAAATTGTAGTGACCAGCTGTATAAGCTTTATCTCTAACCACATGATGTACGCGTTGCCTA
asd1.2	GG
asd1.3	G
asdl.4	
asd1.5	G
asd2.1	G.T
asd3.1	ATGAAGCATTGCATCAGAGGGCGGTAC.AACTTCATGACTCT.ATCCCGCTCTCTGTTGTCCCTAACTAATACCCGTCG

(B)	11111111222	
(-)	1223446889066778899677	
	22573487457014297916819	
Asd1.1	EVVGEKIEKDHSEDNDKREEIAC	
Asd1.2	E	
Asd1.3	T	
Asd1.4	E.H	
Asd1.5	E	
Asd2.1	E	
Asd3.1	QITATQ.AEKNDIQAEQ.DALES	

Figure 3.5 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *asd* alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5'end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *asd1.1*).



Figure 3.6 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the asd gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine M. haemolytica isolates are highlighted in red, ovine M. haemolytica isolates in blue, M. glucosida in green, and P. trehalosi in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b). (Figure 3.5A). Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.5B). Five amino acid variants were identified among the seven *asd* alleles; 3, 1, and 21 variable amino acid positions were detected in the *M. haemolytica asd1*-type, *M. glucosida asd2.1*, and *P. trehalosi asd3.1* alleles, with respect to the *M. haemolytica asd1.1* allele, respectively. There was no evidence of intragenic recombination within any of the *asd* alleles.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences indicated that the *M. haemolytica asd1*type alleles are highly conserved (two polymorphic sites), whereas the *M. glucosida asd2.1* allele shows moderate divergence from *M. haemolytica asd1*-type alleles (12 to 14 polymorphic sites), and the *P. trehalosi asd3.1* allele exhibits substantial divergence from both the *M. haemolytica asd1*-type alleles (148 to 150 polymorphic sites) and the *M. glucosida asd2.1* allele (148 polymorphic sites).

The *asd* tree topology (Figure 3.6) shows three distinct phylogenetic lineages, I to III, corresponding to the three species, *M. haemolytica* (*asd1*), *M. glucosida* (*asd2*), and *P. trehalosi* (*asd3*), respectively. This phylogeny is in good agreement with those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and indicates that recombination has not affected the evolution of *asd*.

3.1.1.2.3 UDP-galactose 4-epimerase (galE)

ł

The *galE* gene, encoding UDP-galactose 4 epimerase, was selected because the enzyme is involved in carbohydrate metabolism as well as LPS biosynthesis (see section 1.6.2.3). The partial sequence of *galE* (933 nucleotides [92%]) was determined in 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (Table 3.8). Six different *galE* sequences, each representing a

. . . . A

Table 3.8 Distribution of galE alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M.glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate

1.5

Isolate	ET ^a	Capsular serotype	Host species	<i>galE</i> allele	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolytica					
PH2	1	A1	Bovine	galE1.1	AY837580
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	galE1.3	AY837581
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	galE1,I	-
PH296	12	A7	Ovinc	galE1.3	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	galE1,1	-
PH494	16	٨2	Ovine	galE1.1	-
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	galE1.4	AY837582
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	galE1.3	-
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	galE1.3	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	galE1.2	AY837583
M, glucosida					
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	galE2.I	AY837584
P. trehalosi					
PH246	2	T4	Ovine	galE3.1	AY837585

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

(A)	111111111111111111111112222222222222222
()	11112333344456667778889990011122555566689900112233333344445667788888890
	323581013625843592560480692814706267923522517092514567806792170601236883
galEl.1	TATATACGATACGATCTCTGTAGGGGGCCGCACATTACAAAGACCTTACCCAGAGAACTCCACGGTATGACA
galE1.2	
galE1.3	
galEl.4	
galE2.1	.CGTAGC.CG.A.AATGCG.ACTGG
galE3.1	CCGTA.ACGCGTAGGG.TAAA.ATTAAATATGTCCCGTC.C.TTG.GGT.GGCGA.TTGTTGATACGC.TTT
	333333333333333333333333333334444444444
	0000112333345566666667777888911234455566678888990001113444567889999000001
	678989403695170123693459017047022445625840347581470391369216581489013472
galE1.1	CAATCAGTAGGTTGGATTCGGTGTCTTCTGCTCTGTTCCAAGAGTCCCGAGTACACTCCCGTGCTTACTCTG
galE1.2	
galE1.3	
galEl.4	
galE2.1	GCACA
galE3.1	AGGGG.ACGAAACAAGAGTAACTAACAAGTAACCTTGTAGACTTTATCAGTGTGTTTAAATCGCTAGCA
	6666666666666666666677777777777777888888
	1222333455667888999011344456777889990011111122233344455566668899000112
	5247016214692457036814615702124396781712346926814703656747895814169561
galE1.1	GGCTTATTTGCCGACTTCACGCGCTACTGCAACGCCACACTATACGGATCCGCCGTCCGCAGAGGCGGCA
galE1.2	
galE1.3	A
galE1.4	A
galE2.1	CCCTTCA
galE3.1	AATCCGC.CAT.CCA.GTGAAT.TCTTGATGTGCAACTCAAGGGTTAGATTATTACTTAAGAGCATATTG

(B)	11111111122222222222222223
(2)	112223556788990002225560000123467777890
	5012670151903461371572820128196661268601
GalE1.1	LNESEVEDKQRERVVKNIIVSVLVLPQGNLDVATIVDVAE
GalE1.2	IK
GalE1.3	
GalE1.4	K
GalE2.1	V
GalE3.1	VKQCKENAQPAKWT.NG.ETNTFIRSESDIE.QQVLETNK

Figure 3.7 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the galE alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5'end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. galE1.1).



Figure 3.8 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the galE gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine M. haemolytica isolates are highlighted in red, ovine M. haemolytica isolates in blue, M. glucosida in green, and P. trehalosi in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b). distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to three subclasses, *gatE1* to *gatE3*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.8).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the six *galE* alleles, with respect to *galE1.1*, are shown in Figure 3.7. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicates that the *M. haemolytica galE1*-type, *M. glucosida galE2.1*, and *P. trehalosi galE3.1* alleles have 4, 41, and 200 polymorphic nucleotide sites, respectively (Figure 3.7A). Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.7B). Six amino acid variants were identified among the six *galE* alleles; 3, 3, and 37 variable amino acid positions were detected in the *M. haemolytica galE1*-type, *M. glucosida galE2.1*, and *P. trehalosi galE3.1* alleles, with respect to the *M. haemolytica galE1.1* allele, respectively. There was no evidence of intragenic recombination within any of the *galE* alleles.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences indicated that the *M. haemolytica galE1*type alleles are highly conserved (one to three polymorphic sites), whereas the *M. glucosida galE2.1* allele shows moderate divergence from the *M. haemolytica galE1*type alleles (40 to 41 polymorphic sites), and the *P. trehalosi galE3.1* allele exhibits substantial divergence from both the *M. haemolytica galE1*-type alleles (199 to 200 polymorphic sites) and the *M. glucosida galE2.1* allele (191 polymorphic sites).

The *galE* tree topology (Figure 3.8) shows three distinct phylogenetic lineages, I to III, corresponding to the three species, *M. haemolytica* (*galE1*), *M. glucosida* (*galE2*), and *P. trehalosi* (*galE3*), respectively. This phylogeny is in good agreement with those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and indicates that recombination has not affected the evolution of *galE*.

ì

3.1.1.2.4 Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (gap)

The gap gene, encoding glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, was selected because it is a housekeeping gene that has undergone gene transfer between eubacteria and eukaryotes as well as between different species of eubacteria (see section 1.6.2.4). The partial sequence of gap (870 nucleotides [87%]) was determined in 32 *M. haemolytica*, six *M. glucosida*, and four *P. trehalosi* isolates (Table 3.9). Nineteen different gap sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to six subclasses, gap1 to gap6, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.9)

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the gap I- to gap 5type alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* are shown in Figure 3.9. *P. trehalosi gap6*-type alleles were excluded because they are highly divergent from both M. haemolytica and M. glucosida (Table 3.10) and there was no visible evidence of recombination. Visual inspection of the nucleotide sequences of the gap1- to gap5type alleles (Figure 3.9A) indicates that *M. haemolytica gap1* to gap2-type alleles are relatively conserved, whereas the *M*, haemolytica gap3.1 allele has diverged from the *M. haemolytica gap1*- to *gap2*-type alleles due to intragenic recombination. The gap3.1 allele (A2 isolates of ETs 19 to 22) contains a recombinant segment (yellow, nucleotides 339 to 612) that is very similar to the corresponding region of the M. glucosida gap3.2 and gap3.3 alleles. The M. glucosida isolates contain five allele types that have complex mosaic structures: gap 2.4, gap 3.2 and gap 3.3, gap 4.1, and gap5.1. The gap2.4 allele (UG3 isolate of ET 16) is very similar to the M. haemolytica gap2-type alleles, indicating that assortative (entire gene) recombination has occurred. The gap 3.3 allele (A11 isolate of ET 5) contains a recombinant segment (red, nucleotides 417 to 768) that is very similar to the corresponding region
able 3.9 Distribution of gap alleles among 32 M. haemolytica, six M. glucosid	da,
nd four <i>P. trehalosi</i> isolates	

-

1

Icolato	ET 4	Capsular	Host	gap	GenBank
1501410	1.7 I,	serotype	species	allele	accession no.
M. haemolytica					
PH2	1	Al	Bovine	gap1.1	AY839682
PH30	1	A1	Bovine	gap1.2	AY839683
РН376	1	A6	Bovine	gap1.1	-
PH346	1	A12	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH540	2	A1	Bovine	gap1,1	-
PH338	3	A9	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH388	4	A7	Ovine	gap].3	AY839684
PH50	5	A.5	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH56	5	A8	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH238	5	A9	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH8	6	A1	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH398	7	A1	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH284	8	AG	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH232	9	A6	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	gap1.4	AY839685
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	gap1.1	-
PH296	12	A7	Ovine	gap2.1	AY839686
PH396	13	A7	Ovine	gap2.1	-
PH484	14	A7	Ovine	gap2.1	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	gap2.5	AY839687
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	gap2.6	AY839688
PH550	17	A2	Bovine	gap2.6	-
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	gap2.3	AY839689
PH786	18	A2	Bovine	gap2.2	AY839690
PH526	19	A2	Ovine	gap3.1	AY839691
PH598	20	A2	Ovine	gap3.1	-
P H2 02	21	A2	Bovine	gap3.1	-
PH470	21	A2	Bovine	gap3.1	_
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	gap3.1	-
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	gap3.1	-
PII292	22	A2	Ovinc	gap3.1	*
PH392	22	A2	Ovine	gap3.1	-
M. glucosida					
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	gap3.2	AY839692
PH498	3	A11	Ovine	gap3.2	-
PH240	5	A11	Ovine	gap3,3	AY839693
PH496	7	UG3	Ovine	gap5.1	AY839694
PH574	10	UG3	Ovine	gap4.1	AY839695
PH290	16	UG3	Ovine	gap2.4	AY839696
P. trehalosi				÷ -	
PH246	2	T4	Ovine	gap6.1	AY839697
PH252	4	T10	Ovine	gap6.2	AY839698
PH254	15	T15	Ovine	gap6.4	AY839699
PH68	19	T 3	Ovine	gap6.3	AY839700

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

172

.



Figure 3.9 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *gap* alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The Roman numerals I to IV correspond to the major lineages of Figure 3.10. The *M. glucosida* alleles are highlighted within the green boxes. The different colors indicate nucleotide sequence identity and putative recombinant segments in alleles that are otherwise different. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide or amino acid sites from the 5' end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *gap1.1*)

١

Table 3.10 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the six gap allele types of M. haemolytica, M.

glucosida, and P. trehalosi

A llalo		Pairwise differenc	es in nucleotide and	amino acid sequence	es (%) ^a	i
	gap I.I	gap2.1	gap3.1	gap4.1	gap5.1	gap6.1
gap1.1		1 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	25 (6.4)
gap2.1	3 (0.3)		1(0.3)	1(0.3)	1 (0.3)	26 (6.7)
gap3.1	14 (1.6)	13 (1.5)		0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	25 (6.4)
gap4.1	18 (2.1)	17 (2.0)	21 (2.4)		0 (0.0)	25 (6.4)
gap5.1	38 (4.4)	39 (4.5)	37 (4.3)	48 (5.5)		25 (6.4)
gap6.1	137 (15.7)	137 (15.7)	136 (15.6)	135 (15.5)	140 (16.1)	

^a Values in the lower left represent pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences (number of polymorphic nucleotide sites and percentage of nucleotide variation); values in the upper right represent pairwise differences in inferred amino acid sequences (number of polymorphic amino acid sites and percentage of amino acid variation).

174

)



Figure 3.10 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the gap gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine M. haemolytica isolates are highlighted in red, ovine M. haemolytica isolates in blue, M. glucosida in green, and P. trehalosi in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

of the gap5.1 allele (UG3 isolate of ET 7) and a recombinant segment (blue, nucleotides 810 to 861) that is identical to the corresponding region of the gap3.2 allele. The gap4.1 allele (UG3 isolate of ET 10) has a recombinant segment (green, nucleotides 1 to 363) that is identical to the corresponding region of the *M. glucosida* gap2.4 allele and the *M. haemolytica gap2*-type alleles.

The nucleotide substitutions within the recombinant segments of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida isolates are all synonymous changes and the recombination events do not lead to any amino acid changes (Figure 3.9B). This suggests that there is strong selective constraint against amino acid replacement acting on the gap gene of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide and amino acid sequences between representative pairs of the six allele types of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* ranged from 3 to 140 (0.3 to 16.1 %) nucleotide sites and from 0 to 25 (0 to 6.4 %)amino acid positions (Table 3.10).

The gap tree topology (Figure 3.10) indicates that lineages I and II each includes isolates of both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*, whereas lineages III to V are associated exclusively with *M. glucosida* (III and IV) or *P. trehalosi* (V). For example, the *M. haemolytica gap1*- and gap2-type alleles and the *M. glucosida gap2.4* allele cluster together in lineage I, and the *M. haemolytica gap3.1* allele and the *M. glucosida gap3.2* and gap3.3 alleles cluster together in lineage II. This topology is clearly different from that based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE data (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and provides strong evidence that horizontal DNA transfer and recombination have disrupted the phylogeny of the gap gene in *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*.

3.1.1.2.5 Phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (gnd)

The gnd gene, encoding 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase, was selected because it exhibits high levels of variation in *E. coli* and *S. enterica* in spite of its housekeeping nature (see section 1.6.2.5). However, Gnd was shown to be monomorphic in the MLEE study of *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a). The partial sequence of gnd (1281 nucleotides [88 %]) was determined in 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (Table 3.11). Five different gnd sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to three subclasses, gnd1 to gnd3, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.11).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the five gnd alleles, with respect to gnd1.1, are shown in Figure 3.11. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicated that the *M. haemolytica gnd1*-type, *M. glucosida gnd2.1*, and *P. trehalosi gnd3.1* alleles have 2, 30, and 218 polymorphic nucleotide sites, respectively (Figure 3.11A). Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.11B). Three amino acid variants (A to C) were identified among the five gnd alleles. There were no amino acid variations among the *M. haemolytica gnd1*-type alleles, which corresponds to the MLEE data at the Gnd locus (Table 3.11). In contrast, 1 and 41 variable amino acid sites were detected for *M. glucosida gnd2.1* and *P. trehalosi gnd3.1* respectively. There was no evidence of intragenic recombination within any of the gnd alleles.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences indicated that the *M. haemolytica gnd1*type alleles are highly conserved (one to two polymorphic sites), whereas the *M. glucosida gnd2.1* allele shows moderate divergence from *M. haemolytica gnd1*-type

Isolate	ET ª	Capsular serotype	Host species	Gnd ^b allele	<i>gnd</i> allele (amino acid type [°])	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolytica						
PH2	1	A1	Bovine	3	gnd1.1 (A)	AY839648
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	3	gnd1.1 (A)	-
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	3	gnd1.1 (A)	-
PH296	12	A7	Ovine	3	gnd1.1 (A)	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	3	gnd1.1 (A)	~
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	3	gnd1.2 (A)	AY839649
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	3	gnd1.1 (A)	-
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	З	gnd1.3 (A)	AY839650
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	3	gnd1.3 (A)	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	3	gnd1.3 (A)	-
M. glucosida						
PH344	1	A1 1	Ovine	3	gnd2.1 (B)	AY839651
P. trehalosi						
PH246	2	T4	Ovinc	3	gnd3.1 (C)	AY839652

Table 3.11 Distribution of gnd alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M.glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate

^aEach species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

^b Gnd alleles as defined by MLEE (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

^e Based on the inferred amino acid sequence (Figure 3.11B).

(A)	111111111222222222222222222333333333333
	54517056358367024025403679258983690264908951013928409214567892691476216571236925
gndi.1	CTGCCTTAGGCCGGCCAGGGGGGGGTCTGATCUTCGCCGCAACCCTTAGCGAATCTGCTTGGCACTTTCGTCAAG
gnal.z	
gnal, 3	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
gna2.1	C. CUAT. A.A.GA, ATTATA. A.A.GA, A.T.A.A. A.A. A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A.A
gnas. P	ACA PT, C, ATT, AAT, PAATTATAASCTTUTTVATTATUGTTTAUTATAA, TAATIGAA, GUUGAAAATGT
	45555555566666666666666666666666666666777777
	92233557900011123345556677779999000112222445666678899900011223345666677788888390
	82314286468925670381240323578678925878036914625891032581473659149804745690234576
gndl.1	${\tt TTCTCTCTCAACCTAGGGTCTCTCCCGAGAGATCCCCCAAGTTCCCCCCAGGTTAGGTGAATGTAAACA}$
gndl.2	
gndl.3	
gnd2.1	CCT,,GGG.
gnd3.1	CCTCTCCACGTCCGA.CAACCTCTAGT.ACAGATCTAT.GA.CTGTATCCACTAATTCTACGTAACACGCACCCTTG
	999999999999900000000000011111111111111
	112345788999990122222355990001223334445555567788899999000011123334555566668
	02492734703469810123923668157329017239567897392581248046902570368147904691
gnd1.1	GACTOTTGTTGCACCCCAATCATCGCCTTGCCCACATGCTGCTTTAGAAGGGACTATGATACTCCCCCGCATAGC
gnd1.2	
gnd1.3	*****
gnd2.1	
gnd3.1	ATTGACCAGAAACTTTTGCGATCTAGTGCATGATTGCATGCGACCGAGGTACGGACAAGATGCGTTTAAGGGAG
(B)	111111111122222222222333333333344444
	27900133333466000112376999034667888900022
	91403112367212236086377245421697167802402
Gnd1.1	EETAESDESQYFRDHEKNVAEAREGKVQNAYPDCLVILVAL
Gnd1.2	
Gnd1.3	*****
Gnc2.1	.D
Gnd3.1	ADSDATNI EEHL KEQAQKIGTSKTSPINATDDGAMIVIMEV

Figure 3.11 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the gnd alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5'end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. gnd1.1).



Figure 3.12 Minimum Evolution (ME) tree for the gnd gene of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine M. haemolytica isolates are highlighted in red, ovine M. haemolytica isolates in blue, M. glucosida in green, and P. trehalosi in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

alleles (30 to 31 polymorphic sites), and the *P. trehalosi gnd3.1* allele exhibits substantial divergence from both the *M. haemolytica gnd1*-type alleles (218 to 219 polymorphic sites) and the *M. glucosida gnd2.1* allele (224 polymorphic sites).

The gnd tree topology (Figure 3.12) shows three distinct phylogenetic lineages, I to III, corresponding to the three species, *M. haemolytica* (gnd1), *M. glucosida* (gnd2), and *P. trehalosi* (gnd3), respectively. This phylogeny is in good agreement with those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and indicates that recombination has not affected the evolution of gnd.

3.1.1.2.6 Glucose-6-phosphate-1-dehydrogenase (g6pd)

The *g6pd* gene, encoding glucose-6-phosphate 1-dehydrogenase, was selected because G6pd is an important metabolic enzyme (see section 1.6.2.6) and has been shown to be variable in the previous MLEE study of *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a). The partial sequence of *g6pd* (1353 nucleotides [91 %]) was determined only in 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates because all attempts to amplify *g6pd* in *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* were unsuccessful (Table 3.12). Four different *g6pd* nucleotide sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to the same subclass, *g6pd1*, because their sequences are very similar (Table 3.12).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the four *g6pd* alleles, with respect to *g6pd1.1*, are shown in Figure 3.13. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicates that the *M. haemolytica g6pd1*-type alleles have five polymorphic nucleotide sites (Figure 3.13A). Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.13B). Three amino acid variants were

Isolate	ET ^a	Capsular serotype	Host species	G6pđ ^b atlele	<i>g6pd</i> allele (amino acid type ^с)	Genßank accession no.
M. haemolyt	ica					
PH2	1	A1	Bovine	3	<i>g6pd1.1</i> (А)	AY 839 653
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	3	g6pd1.1 (A)	-
PH706	1 1	A16	Ovine	3	<i>g6pd1,1</i> (А)	-
PH296	12	Α7	Ovine	3	<i>g6pd1.2</i> (B)	AY839654
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	3	g6pd1.2 (B)	-
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	2,5	<i>g6pd1.4</i> (С)	AY839655
PI1196	18	A2	Bovine	3	<i>g6pd1.2</i> (В)	~
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	2.5	<i>g6pd1.3</i> (С)	AY839656
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	2.5	g6pd1.3 (C)	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	2.5	g6pd1.3 (C)	-

Table 3.12 Distribution of g6pd alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a).

^b G6pd alleles as defined by MLEE (Davies et al., 1997a).

^c Based on the inferred amino acid sequence (Figure 3.13B).

(A) 111 79222 61089 93975 96pd1.1 TAACC g6pd1.2 CG..A g6pd1.3 CGC.G g6pd1.4 CGCAG

54
)3
52
ΚA
ΞD
ΞG
ΞG

Figure 3.13 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *g6pd* alleles of *M. haemolytica*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5'end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. g6pdA1.1).



Figure 3.14 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *g6pd* **gene of** *M. haemolytica*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, and ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described for *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a)

identified among the four g6pd alleles and two variable amino acid positions were detected. There was no evidence of intragenic recombination within any of the g6pd alleles.

The relationship between G6pd (MLEE) allele types and inferred amino acid types of the *g6pd* alleles of *M. haemolytica* is shown in Table 3.12. As expected, there was a correlation between the G6pd (MLEE) allele types and the inferred amino acid types of the *g6pd* alleles of *M. haemolytica*. However, nucleotide sequence analysis (four alleles) and amino acid sequence analysis (three protein types, A to C) were more discriminating than MLEE analysis (two alleles).

The *g6pd* tree topology is shown in Figure 3.14. Isolates of ETs 1, 10, and 11 cluster together in lineage I, isolates of ETs 12, 15, 18 cluster together in lineage II, and isolates of ETs 16, 21, and 22 cluster together in lineage III. With the exception of isolate PH494 of ET 16, lineages I, II, and III of the *g6pd* gene tree correspond to lineages A, B, and C, respectively of the MLEE tree (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and indicates that recombination has not affected the evolution of *g6pd*. In the MLEE tree (see Figure 2.1) isolate PH494 of ET 16 appears to be more closely related to isolates of ETs 12, 15, and 18 (lineage B), whereas in the gene tree (Figure 3.14) isolate PH494 of ET 16 is more closely related to isolates of ETs 21 and 22 (lineage III)

3.1.1.2.7 Malate dehydrogenase (mdh)

The *mdh* gene, encoding malate dehydrogenase, was selected because it has been used in other molecular evolutionary studies (see section 1.6.2.7) and Mdh has shown to be polymorphic in the previous MLEE studies of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P.*

trehalosi (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b). The partial sequence of *mdh* (780 nucleotides [80 %]) was determined in 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (Table 3.13). Eight different *mdh* nucleotide sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to three subclasses, *mdh1* to *mdh3*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.13).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the eight *mdh* alleles, with respect to *mdh1.1*, are shown in Figure 3.15. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicates that the *M. haemolytica mdh1-*type and *mdh2.1* alleles, *M. glucosida mdh2.2* allele, and *P. trehalosi mdh3.1* alleles have seven, 31, 49, and 229 polymorphic nucleotide sites, respectively (Figure 3.15A). However, the *M. haemolytica mdh2.1* allele contains a recombinant segment (green, 507 to 748bp) that is almost identical to the corresponding region of the *M. glucosida mdh2.2* allele, although the rest of these two alleles are different. Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.15B). Five amino acid variants were identified among the eight *mdh* alleles; 2, 2, 4, and 70 variable amino acid sites were detected in the *M. haemolytica mdh1-*type and *mdh2.1* alleles, *M. glucosida mdh2.2* allele, and *P. trehalosi mdh3.1* alleles, respectively.

The relationship between Mdh (MLEE) allele types and inferred amino acid types of the *mdh* alleles of *M. haemolytica* is shown in Table 3.13. As expected, there was a correlation between the Mdh (MLEE) allele types and the inferred amino acid types of the *mdh* alleles of *M. haemolytica*. However, nucleotide sequence analysis (six alleles) and amino acid sequence analysis (three protein types, A to C) were more discriminating than MLEE analysis (two alleles). Surprisingly, isolate PH588 was not differentiated by MLEE.

Table 3.13 Distribution of mdh alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M. glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate

Isolate	ET "	Capsular serotype	Host species	Mdh [*] allele	<i>mdh</i> allele (amino acid type ^c)	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolytica	1					<u></u>
PH2	1	Al	Bovine	3	mdh1.1 (A)	AY839657
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	3	<i>mdh1.4</i> (A)	AY839658
PH706	11	Λ16	Ovine	3	mdh1,5 (A)	AY839659
PH296	12	A7	Ovine	3	<i>mdh1,4</i> (A)	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	3	mdh2.1 (C)	AY839660
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	3	mdh1.2 (A)	AY839661
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	4	mdh1.3 (B)	AY839662
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	3	<i>mdh1.2</i> (A)	
PH278	21	Λ2	Ovine	3	mdh1.2 (A)	F
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	3	<i>mdh1.2</i> (A)	' a
M. glucosida						
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	1.8	mdh2.2 (D)	AY839663
P. trehalosi						
PH246	2	T 4	Ovine	1	<i>mdh3.1</i> (E)	AY839664

"Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

^b Mdh alleles as defined by MLEE (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

^c Based on the inferred amino acid sequence (Figure 3.15B).

(A)	111111111111111111111111111111111111111
(A)	111122223333444445555666778899999000122222233334556666667777788889990111122223334444
	23935681247467902589012446968240346926870235692578709034589124670469028103692678124378990266666666666666666666666666666666666
mdhl.1	${\tt AATTACCCTAACCATTAGTAAATTCTCTCGTAAATAGTATAGTATAACCATGAGAGACAAAATCGGCGTTTCTGGGACATGCCACG$
mdh1.2	
mdh1.3	
mdh1.4	
mdh1.5	
mdh2.1	GT
mdh2.2	G
mdh3.1	GTCGGTAGCCGTACGCCTAGGGAGTATGG,GTGGCTTGGCCCGTG.AA.GTGCCTTTGCGGCACTTTAAAGTTGAT.TTT.TT
	222222222222222333333333333333333333333
	555556666778888990011112223333444455679999000111122223333344455555666667777888990000111
	256781456464589010602451470369123647051279258124534690235847812389012381278369584789037
mdh1.1	TCACTCGCAGCCAGAAATTATCATTCGACCTTACGAACCACTCTTAAATTATAGGATCGTGGCGACGTAAGATAAGTGCACCACATC
mdh1.2	
mdh1.3	
mdh1.4	
mdh1.5	
mdh2.1	
mdh2.2	CAATGGC.CCT
mdh3.1	$. {\tt GGGATA}, {\tt GATTCAGCGG}, {\tt GGGGCATTTTTCCGGTTGACGTATCGTTGCGTGTTTGAA}, {\tt A}, {\tt CTAGTAAGG}, {\tt TAGCAA}, {\tt TGAGGT}, {\tt GT}$
	33353535353535353535353535353535353535
	12233443333333334000111112222344444433500000011111111112222344444433500000111
mdh1 1	50317250012001503047505247505475052507245501750125475914054759145047591450475912224059010
mdh1.2	
mdh1.3	Α
mdh1.4	Α.
mdh1.5	Α
mdh2.1	A THE REPORT OF A THE REPORT OF A THE REPORT OF A
mdh2.2	A CONTRACTOR OF
mdh3.1	ATATGACCGACACCGCGGT.AGCTAGT.AAATGAC.CCTC.CGTTGCTCAGTAAG.GTTGCTGGAAT.GGGA.AGGAAAGCCGT.
	111111111111111111111111111111122222222
(B)	11122334445555667788899900111334445555555788888999999223333333444444555555
	1537868261264589246836925745456182450134578012467023458570123457023489014567
Mdh1.1	ESNKSSVILTDTTEKDVVTATTHVAKIAIIPNTIANEADVNKYTVNLLEOOIEOHGELGLVRAIDIRYDNANTSPA
Mdh1.2	
Mdh1.3	кк.
Mdh1.4	
Mdh1.5	
Mdh2.1	······
Mdh2.2	I
Mdh3.1	GAOGTA, VV, AKAPOGLLDSIGRIVAVGTVARSLSE, LGKDNVETDIAAEV, AKARRSVLKGSHVEFEGDCKYAR

Figure 3.15 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *mdh* alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The green shading indicates sequence identity and putative recombinant segments in alleles that are otherwise different. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5' end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. mdh1.1).



Figure 3.16 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *mdh* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b). Pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences indicated that the *M. haemolytica mdh1*type alleles are highly conserved (one to five polymorphic sites), whereas the *M. haemolytica mdh2.1* allele (30 to 35 polymorphic sites) and the *M. glucosida mdh2.2* allele (46 to 49 polymorphic sites) have diverged form the *M. haemolytica mdh1*-type alleles, and the *P. trehalosi mdh3.1* allele exhibits substantial divergence from the *M. haemolytica mdh1*-type (225 to 229 polymorphic sites) and *mdh2.1* (233 polymorphic sites) alleles, and from the *M. glucosida mdh2.2* allele (235 polymorphic sites).

The *mdh* tree topology (Figure 3.16) shows three distinct phylogenetic lineages, 1 to III. With the exception of *M. haemolytica* isolate PII588 (*mdh2.1*) which clustered with *M. glucosida* (*mdh2.2*) in lineage II, the three lineages corresponded to the three species *M. haemolytica* (*mdh1*), *M. glucosida* (*mdh2*), and *P. trehalosi* (*mdh3*), respectively. This phylogeny is, with the exception of isolate PH588, is good agreement with those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a).

3.1.1.2.8 Mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (mtlD)

The *mtlD* gene, encoding manuitol-1-phosphate, was selected because MtlD has been shown to be polymorphic in the previous MLEE studies of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b). The partial sequence of *mtlD* (951 nucleotides [83 %]) was initially determined in the 'standard' set of 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate. However, an additional seven *M. haemolytica* and five *M. glucosida* isolates, which showed variation in this gene in the MLEE study (Davies *et al.*, 1997a), were examined (Table 3.14). Twelve different *mtlD* nucleotide sequences, each

Table 3.14 Distribution of *mtlD* alleles among 17 *M. haemolytica* isolates, six *M.*

glucosida isolates, and one P. trehalosi isolate

Isolate	ET "	Capsular serotype	Host species	MtD ^b allele	<i>mttD</i> allele (amino acid type ^c)	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolytica			<u> </u>			
PH2	1	A1	Bovine	3	mtlD1.1 (A)	AY839665
PH540 [*]	2	A1	Bovine	2.5	mtlD1.2 (B)	AY839666
рн8*	6	Al	Ovine	4	mtlD1.6 (E)	AY839667
РН398*	7	A1	Ovine	4	<i>mtlD1.6</i> (E)	~
PH232 [*]	9	A6	Ovine	4	<i>mtlD1.6</i> (E)	-
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	3	<i>mtlD1.1</i> (A)	-
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	3	mtlDL1 (A)	-
PH296	12	Λ7	Ovine	2.5	<i>mtlD1.4</i> (D)	AY839668
PH396 [*]	13	A7	Ovine	2.5	<i>mtlD1.4</i> (D)	-
PH484 [*]	14	A7	Ovine	2.5	<i>mtlD1.4</i> (D)	
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	3	mtlD1.5 (A)	AY 839669
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	3	<i>mtlD1.1</i> (A)	-
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	3	mtlD1.1 (A)	
PH598 [*]	20	A2	Ovine	4	<i>mtlD1.3</i> (C)	AY839670
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	3	mtlD1.1 (A)	-
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	3	mtlD1.1 (A)	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	3	<i>mtlD1.1</i> (A)	
M. glucosida						
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	1	mtlD2.1 (F)	AY839671
PH498 [*]	3	A11	Ovine	1	<i>mtlD2.1</i> (F)	
PH240°	5	ΛH	Ovine	2	<i>mtlD2.3</i> (H)	AY839672
PH496 [*]	7	UG3	Ovine	2	<i>mtlD2.5</i> (J)	AY839673
PH574 [*]	10	UG3	Ovine	2	mtlD2.2 (G)	AY839674
PH290 [*]	16	UG3	Ovine	1.5	mtlD2.4 (1)	AY 8 39675
P. trehalosi						
PH246	2	T4	Ovine	l	<i>mtlD3.1</i> (K)	AY 839676

^{*a*} Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).

^h MtlD alleles as defined by MLEE (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

^e Based on the inferred amino acid sequence (Figure 3.17B).

* additional isolates

(A)	111111111111111111111111111111111111111
(A)	111222233344455667789990011223333444556667778889999999001111234445566778888999001223346792891456028258240389404925140601250143935814838901256817036981069283439257834569547033766776767676767676767676767676767676
mt1D1.2	
mt1D1.3	
mt1D1.4	
mt1D1.5	
mt 102.2	C. CGT T. C. TG. T. AT.C. C. C. C. T. T. GG
mt1D2.2	CCGTACGTCAT.CC
mt1D2.3	CCGTC.AAAT.CC
mt1D2.4	CCGTTCTTCT.CCTTTGG
mt1D2.5 mt1D3.1	. ATAAAGTCCA.T.CCTGGTTTC.T.TCTTTT.CGCTAAGCTCAGAGAAGTGTTGCG.AGT.ACTAATTAC.TCTT.T.ATAGAA.T
mt1D1.1	333333333333333333333333333333333444444
mt1D1.2	
mt1D1.4	C
mt1D1.5	
mt1D1.6	
mt1D2.1	TACAAACGCTTGCGA.GAA.CGCGGGTCCGC.TC.TCTCT.
mt1D2.2	TA. CAAACGCTTCCCG. GAA. CCC GGGTC
mt1D2.4	TA CAAACCTTECG GAA CGCC G GTC T C T CT A
mt1D2.5	TA CAAACGCTTGCG GAA. CGCC GGGTC G
mt1D3.1	TGTGCAACAAGGTATACGTCACA.GAGAAGTTAAAGGTG.ATTAATCACGT.TCTT.AAATGT.TATAT
mt1D1.1	11111 6666677777777777777777777778888888888
mt1D1.2	
mt1D1.4	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
mt1D1.5	Т
mtlDl.e	T
mt1D2.1 mt1D2.2 mt1D2.3 mt1D2.4	GT. GA.G.G.G. G.G.G.G. G.G.G.G.G.G. G.G.G.G.G.G.G.G.G. T. T. A.G.G.G.C.TT A. C.T. AG.G.G.G.G.G.G. AT. T. T. A.G.G.G.G.T. GT. GT. G.G.G.G.T.G. AT. T. T. G.G.G.G.T.G. GT. GT. G.G.G.G.T.G. AT. T. A.G.G.G.G.T.G. GT.G.G.G.G.G.G.G.G. G.G.G.G.G.G.G.G.
mt1D2.5 mt1D3.1	AACGTAT.TACGCAAC.ATGAG.AAC.A.CGT.TGGGC.TTGTCATATGTTCTATTATTA.GAAAT.ACACTAGTCA.T
(B)	111111111111-1111222222222333333 111223445566668991122222233345-77780013444577778123334
	79138172475803458682615678902300-34760339159424590690691
Mt1D1.1	RFTATDKKKANIQNTDVTPTGHEQQAE1KVAPAEDNLGKEITGDPSAIYQVAQ
Mt1D1.3	G
Mt1D1.4	
Mt1D1.5	······
Mt1D1.6	
ME102.1	G T SINCE EK.Q
Mt1D2.3	G. E. T. SANCE EK.O MA. S. V.
Mt1D2.4	G. V
Mt1D2.5	GSANCE.EK.QLSN.EVOO.AA.AAHTA.H
Start Starter and Auto-Auto-Auto-Auto-Auto-Auto-Auto-Auto-	

Figure 3.17 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *mtlD* **alleles of** *M. haemolytica, M. glucosida,* **and** *P. trehalosi.* Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5'end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *mtlDA1.1*). Note: Nucleotides 448 to 519 (segment D) of *mtlD1.2* represents a duplicated DNA segment that is identical to nucleotides 376-447 (CAGCAAGCAGAAATTGAAAAAGTGGTTGGTTTGGTTGATAGTGCGGTGGACAGA ATTGTACCACCTGCCGAG). Similarly, amino acids 150 to 173 (segment D) of MtlD1.2 represents a duplicated amino acid segment that is identical to amino acids 126 to 149 (QQAEIEKVVGFVDSAVDRIVPPAE).



Figure 3.18 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *mtlD* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option was used for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown.
Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).

representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to three subclasses, *mtlD1* to *mtlD3*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.14).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the twelve *mtlD* alleles, with respect to *mtlD1.1* are shown in Figure 3.17. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicates that the *M. haemolytica mtlD1*-type, *M. glucosida mtlD2*-type, and *P. trehalosi mtlD3.1* alleles have 7, 104, and 210 polymorphic nucleotide sites, respectively (Figure 3.17A). Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.17B). Eleven amino acid variants were identified among the twelve *mtlD* alleles; 4, 22, and 34 variable amino acid sites were detected in the *M. haemolytica mtlD1*-type, *M. glucosida mtlD2*-type, and *P. trehalosi mtlD3.1* alleles, respectively. There was no evidence of intragenic recombination within any of the *mtlD* alleles.

The relationship between MtID (MLEE) allele types and inferred amino acid types (A to K) of the *mtID* alleles of *M. haemolytica* is shown in Table 3.14. As expected, there was a correlation between MtID (MLEE) allele types and the inferred amino acid types of the *mtID* alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. However, nucleotide sequence analysis (6 alleles for *M. haemolytica* and 5 alleles for *M. glucosida*) and amino acid sequence analysis (5 protein types for both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*) were more discriminating than MLEE analysis (3 alleles for both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*).

Excluding the duplicated segment of *mtlD1.2*, pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences indicate that *M. haemolytica mtlD1*-type alleles are highly conserved (1 to 4 polymorphic sites), whereas the *M. glucosida mtlD2*-type alleles, which are themselves relatively divergent (25 to 34 polymorphic sites), shows moderate

divergence from the *M. haemolytica mtlD1*-type alleles (58 to 68 polymorphic sites), and the *P. trehalosi mtlD3.1* allele exhibits substantial divergence from both the *M. haemolytica mtlD1*-type alleles (209 to 212 polymorphic sites) and the *M. glucosida mtlD2*-type alleles (213 to 221 polymorphic sites).

The *mtlD* tree topology (Figure 3.18) shows three distinct phylogenetic lineages, 1 to III, corresponding to the three species, *M. haemolytica* (*mtlD1*), *M. glucosida* (*mtlD2*), and *P. trehalosi* (*mtlD3*), respectively. This phylogeny is in good agreement with those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and indicates that recombination has not affected the evolution of *mtlD*.

3.1.1.2.9 Phosphomannomutase (pmm)

The *pmm* gene, encoding phosphomannomutase, was selected because it is a housekeeping gene but is also involved in LPS biosynthesis (see section in 1.6.2.9). The partial sequence of *pmm* (729 nucleotides [50 %]) was determined in 32 *M*. *haemolytica*, six *M. glucosida*, and four *P. trehalosi* isolates (Table 3.15). Nineteen different *pmm* sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to six subclasses, *pmm1* to *pmm6*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.15).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within *pmm1*- to *pmm5*type alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* are shown in Figure 3.19. *P. trehalosi pmm6* type alleles were excluded because they are highly divergent from both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* (Table 3.16) and there was no visible evidence of recombination. Visual inspection of the nucleotide sequences of the *pmm1*- to *pmm5*-type alleles (Figure 3.19A) indicates that *M. haemolytica* isolates contain three

Isolate	ET "	Capsular serotype	Host species	<i>pmm</i> allele	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolvtica					
PH2	l	A1	Bovine	pmm1.1	AY847831
PH30	Ī	Al	Bovine	omm1.1	<u> </u>
PH376	t	A6	Bovine	pmm1.1	-
PH346	l	At2	Ovine	pmm1.3	AY 847832
PH540	2	AI	Bovine	pmm1.1	-
PH338	3	A9	Ovine	pmm1.3	-
PH388	4	A7	Ovine	pmm1.1	-
PH50	5	A5	Ovine	pmm4.1	AY 847833
PH56	5	A8	Ovine	pmm4.3	AY847834
PH238	5	A9	Ovine	pmm4.1	-
PH8	6	A1	Ovine	pmm4.1	-
PH398	7	AI	Ovine	pmm4.1	-
PH284	8	A6	Ovine	pmm4,3	
PH232	9	Α6	Ovine	pmm4.3	-
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	pmm4.1	-
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	, pmm4.2	AY847835
PH296	12	Α7	Ovine	pmm1.1	-
PH396	13	Α7	Ovine	pmm1.1	-
PH484	14	A7	Ovine	pmm1.1	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	pmni5.1	AY847836
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	pmm4.4	AY 847837
PH550	17	A2	Bovine	pmm4.5	AY847838
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	pmm1,4	AY847839
PH786	18	A2	Bovine	pmm1.4	-
PH526	19	A2	Ovine	pmm1.2	AY847840
PH 1598	20	Α2	Ovine	pmm1.2	-
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	pmm1,2	-
PH470	21	Α2	Bovine	pmm1.2	-
PI4278	21	A2	Ovine	pmm1.2	-
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	pmm1.2	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	pmm1.2	-
PH392	22	Α2	Ovine	pmm1.2	-
M. glucosida					
PH344	l	All	Ovine	pmm3.2	AY847841
PH498	3	A11	Ovine	pmm3.2	•
PH240	5	AH	Ovine	pmm3.3	AY847842
PH496	7	UG3	Ovine	pmn3.1	AY847843
PH574	10	UG3	Ovine	pmm2,1	AY847844
PH290	16	UG3	Ovine	pmm3.4	AY847845
P. trehalosi				,	-
PH246	2	Τ4	Ovine	pmm6.1	AY847846
PH252	4	TIO	Ovine	, pmm6.2	AY 847847
PH254	15	T15	Ovine	pmm6.3	AY847848
PH68	19	Т3	Ovine	pmm6.4	AY847849

Table 3.15 Distribution of pmm alleles among 32 M. haemolytica, six M.glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates

"Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

.



Figure 3.19 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *pmm* alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The Roman numerals correspond to the major lineages of Figure 3.20. The *M. glucosida* alleles are highlighted within the green boxes. The coloured shading indicates nucleotide sequence identity and putative recombinant segments in alleles that are otherwise different. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide sites from the 5' end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *pmm1.1*)

Table 3.16 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the six pmm allele types of M. haemolytica, M.

glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Allele						
	Г.Інша	pmm2.1	LEmm3.1	pmm4.1	pmm5.1	['yuud
pmm1.1		2 (0.8)	2 (0.8)	3 (1.2)	11 (4.5)	25 (10.3)
pmm2.1	18 (7.4)		0 (0.0)	1 (0.4)	9 (3.7)	24 (9.9)
pmm3.1	18 (7.4)	23 (9.5)		1(0.4)	9 (3.7)	24 (9.9)
pmm4.1	23 (9.5)	26 (10.7)	19 (7.8)		10 (4.1)	25 (10.3)
l.čmmą	78 (32.1)	82 (33.7)	82 (33.7)	74 (30.5)		28 (11.5)
pmm6.1	149 (61.3)	145 (59.7)	150 (61.7)	144 (59.3)	149 (61.3)	

941 (b)

" Values in the lower left represent pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences (number of polymorphic nucleotide sites and percentage of nucleotide variation); values in the upper right represent pairwise differences in inferred amino acid sequences (number of polymorphic amino acid sites and percentage of amino acid variation).

198



Figure 3.20 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the pmm gene of M. haemolytica,
M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option was used for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown.
Bovine M. haemolytica isolates are highlighted in red, ovine M. haemolytica isolates in blue, M. glucosida in green, and P. trehalosi in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

major allele types, *pmm1*, *pmm4*, and *pmm5*. The *M*. *haemolytica pmm1*-type alleles are relatively conserved, whereas the *pmm4*-type alleles and *pmm5.1* allele have diverged from the *M. haemolytica pmm1*-type alleles, due mainly to intragenic recombination. In particular, allele 5.1 isolate PH588 has diverged substantially from *M. haemolytica* alleles. The *pmm4*-type alleles (ovinc A1, A5, A6, A8, A9. A14, A16 isolates of ETs 5 to 11 and bovine A2 isolates of ETs 16 and 17) contain a recombinant segment (yellow, nucleotides 191 to 385) that is very similar to the corresponding region of the *M. glucosida pmm3.4* allele. The *pmm5.1* allele (ovine A13 isolate of ET 15) contains a highly divergent segment (green; nucleotides 24 to 504) that has possibly been acquired from an external source by recombination. Interestingly, the *pmm4*-type alleles and *pmm5.1* allele contain segments (red. nucleotides 507 to 726) that are identical, or nearly identical, in all alleles. In addition, allele pmm1.4 contains a segment (red, nucleotides 615 to 726) that is identical to the corresponding region of *pmm4*-type and *pmm5.1* alleles. M. glucosida isolates contain two major allele types, pmm2 and pmm3. M. glucosida alleles *pmm3.2* to *pmm3.4* have identical segments (yellow, nucleotides 191 to 306) but alleles pmm3.2 and pmm3.3 differ from allele pmm3.4 between nucleotides 318 to 726 (blue segment).

The nucleotide substitutions within the recombinant segments of the *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* isolates are mostly synonymous changes (Figure 3.19B) and result in three and eleven amino acid changes within the yellow and green recombinant segments, respectively. The conserved amino acid sequence within the yellow recombinant region of the *M. haemolytica pmm4*-type alleles and the *M. glucosida pmm3*-type alleles also suggest that the segment originated from the same source (possibly *M. glucosida*).

Pairwise differences in nucleotide and amino acid sequences between representative pairs of the six allele types of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Table 3.16) ranged from 18 to 150 (7.4 to 61.7 %) nucleotide sites and from 0 to 28 (0 to 11.5 %) amino acid positions.

The *pmm* tree topology (Figure 3.20) indicates that *M. glucosida pmm2*- (lineage II) and *pmm3*- (lineage III) type alleles are more closely related to *M. haemolytica pmm1*-type (lineage I) alleles than are the *M. haemolytica pmm4*- (lineage IV) and *pmm5*- (lineage V) type alleles. *P. trehalosi pmm6*-type alleles represent a more distantly related lineage, VI. This gene tree topology is clearly different from that based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and provides strong evidence that horizontal DNA transfer and recombination have disrupted the phylogeny of the *pmm* gene in *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*.

3.1.1.3 Genes encoding secreted proteins

3.1.1.3.1 Glycoprotease (gcp)

The *gcp* gene, encoding glycoprotease, was selected because glycoprotease is one of the secreted putative virulence factors of *M. haemolytica* (see section 1.3.1.2). The partial sequence of *gcp* (870 nucleotides [89 %]) was determined in 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (Table 3.17). Five different *gcp* sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to three subclasses, *gcp1* to *gcp3*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.17).

Table 3.17 Distribution of gcp alleles among 10 M. haemolytica isolates, one M.glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate

Isolate ET "		Capsular scrotype	Host species	<i>gcp</i> allele	GenBank accession no.	
M. haemolytic	a					
PH2	1	Al	Bovine	gcp1.1	AY839677	
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	gcp1.1	-	
PH706	Y1706 11		A16 Ovine		-	
PH296 12		A7 Ovine		gcp1.I	-	
PH588	PH588 15		Ovine	gep1.1	-	
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	gcp1.3	AY839678	
PH196	PH196 18		A2 Bovine		AY839679	
PH202	PH202 21		Bovine	gcp1.3	-	
PH278	PH278 21		Ovine	gcp1.3	-	
PH292	22	Α2	Ovine	gcp1.1	-	
M. glucosida						
PH34 4	1	A11	Ovine	gcp2.1	AY839680	
P. trehalosi						
PH246	2	14	Ovine	gcp3,1	AY839681	

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

(A)	11111111111111111111111111111111111112222
	6694809573692147039250136927812403790135678703581457625814036928703469025473
gcp1.1	TGACGGGTTCCTCACTAGTACGTGAATAACTAGCCGCACCTCGCCGCCACTGTGCCACCTGGTTTGATGCGTCAGA
gcp1.2	
gcp1.3	A
gcp2.1	CGGAAT
gcp3.1	CCCTACACATACTTACGTGTTACCCTCCTACTAAATACGTCAATTTAGTGCAGAAACTTCCTCAGATCCTACTGCG
	333333333333333333333333333333333444444
	001123333445555556777789999990001122223444555667778899000001222234444456666779889900000122223444445666679000000000000000000000000000000000
	6928804592812457892589434567923817045621470365914703281247860128701239214570
gcp1.1	${\tt TCAGGCGATGGATATGAACCACACGGCGTGCCACGTCATCTACTCCCACTGTCAGAGAACTCCGTTAAATTCCAAG}$
gcp1.2	
gcp1.3	
gcp2.1	ACG.GCTTC.CTACG.GC
gcp3.1	${\tt GTTACTCTCCCCCGCTGGTAGTTAAATACCATGGTAGT. {\tt ACGTCTATGGCA.TTAGTTCTAAAAC.GTTACATCCA}$
	5555555666666666666666666666666666666777777
	7788899011122222333344445556777890011123333456789990000011111222222333446667
	3625814925812478013456891570258462824734568472135890145701246045789017691470
gcp1.1	AGCTCCTTGTGTAACATCTATGACCGGATTCACTTTATCTAGGCTACCAAGCACCTGGAAGAAATAAAAACTTCTC
gcp1.2	A
gcp1.3	
gcp2.1	GACAAC.CCTGCCC.
gcp3.1	GCTCTAC.TCA.CTGCCTGG.CGTACAACAACATCT.GCAACCAAGCCAAG

(B)	1111111111122222222222222222
(-)	11455556911233336778011113446777777
	6709634565402012358041802698567124567
Gcp1.1	DKVDELQPSAVAEIDGVQMKSKKNNEELLEAEMKKLK
Gcp1.2	S
Gcp1.3	T
Gcp2.1	
Gcp3.1	HQIEAITAQSIPLVENIKVQKVHHDQQI.QQTFQSYG

Figure 3.21 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the gcp alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5'end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. gcp1.1).



Figure 3.22 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the gcp gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option was used for handling gaps. The complete deletion option was used for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the five *gcp* alleles, with respect to *gcp1.1* are shown in Figure 3.21. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicates that the *M. haemolytica gcp1*-type, *M. glucosida gcp2.1*, and *P. trehalosi mdh3.1* alleles have 2, 31, 219 polymorphic nucleotide sites, respectively (Figure 3.21A). Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.21B). Four amino acid variants were identified among the five *gcp* alleles; 2, 1, and 37 variable amino acid sites were detected in *M. haemolytica gcp1*-type, *M. glucosida gcp2.1*, and *P. trehalosi gcp3.1* alleles, respectively. There was no evidence of intragenic recombination within any of the *gcp* alleles.

7.5

えりかく パリー・

The pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences indicated that the *M. haemolytica gcp1*-type alleles are highly conserved (1 to 2 polymorphic sites), whereas the *M. glucosida gcp2.1* allele shows moderate divergence from *M. haemolytica gcp1*-type alleles (30 to 31 polymorphic sites), and the *P. trehalosi gcp3.1* allele exhibits substantial divergence from both *M. haemolytica* (218 to 219 polymorphic sites) and *M. glucosida* (217 polymorphic sites).

The *gcp* tree topology (Figure 3.22) shows three distinct phylogenetic lineages. I to III, corresponding to the three species, *M. haemolytica* (*gcp1*), *M. glucosida* (*gcp2*), and *P. trehalosi* (*gcp3*), respectively. This phylogeny is in good agreement with those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and indicates that recombination has not affected the evolution of *gcp*.

3.1.1.4 Genes encoding periplasm-associated proteins

3.1.1.4.1 Lipoproteins (plpA, plpB, and plpC)

The contiguous plpA, plpB, and plpC genes, encoding lipoproteins PlpA, PlpB, and PlpC, were selected because the lipoproteins are highly immunogenic and are presumably subject to immune selection (section 1.3.2.3.1). The partial sequence of plpA (624 nucleotides [75 %]) was determined for 10 *M*. haemolytica isolates, one *M*. glucosida isolate, and one *P*. trehalosi isolate, whereas the complete sequence of plpB(831 nucleotides) and the partial sequence of plpC (771 nucleotides [99 %]) were determined for only 10 *M*. haemolytica isolates and one *M*. glucosida isolate (Table 3.18). Attempts to amplify plpB and plpC in *P*. trehalosi were unsuccessful. Four, five, and seven different nucleotide sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified for plpA, plpB, and plpC, respectively (Table 3.18). The contiguous plpA, plpB, and plpC genes (plpABC) of *M*. haemolytica and *M*. glucosida have nine different sequences which were designated alleles plpABC1.1, etc (Table 3.18).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the nine *plpABC* alleles, with respect to *plpABC1.1*, are shown in Figure 3.23. The number of polymorphic nucleotide sites within the *M. haemolytica plpABC1*-type, *M. glucosida plpABC2.1*, and *M. haemolytica plpABC3.1* alleles are 0, 3, and 29 in *plpA*, 2, 13, and 55 in *plpB*, and 4, 37, and 39 in *plpC*, respectively (Figure 3.23A). The *plpABC2.1* allele of *M. glucosida*, which is divergent from *M. haemolytica* in 16S rRNA and MLEE studies, has a recombinant segment (yellow, nucleotides1 to 1292) that is almost identical to the corresponding region of the *M. haemolytica plpABC1*-type alleles. The *M. haemolytica plpABC3.1* allele has diverged substantially from the *M. haemolytica plpABC1*-type alleles presumably due to the acquisition of a large DNA

Table 3.18 Distribution of plpA, plpB, and plpC alleles among 10 M. haemolyticaisolates, one M. glucosida isolate, and one P. trehalosi isolate

Isolate	ET"	Capsular serotype	llost species	<i>plpA</i> allele	<i>plpB</i> allele	<i>plpC</i> allele	<i>plpABC</i> allele	GenBauk accession no.
M. haemolytica								
PH2	I	AI	Bovine	plpA1.1	plpB1.1	plpCLI	plpABC1.1	AY847813
PH66	10	Δ14	Ovine	plpA1.1	plpB1.2	plpC1.4	plpABC1.3	AY847814
PH706	Ħ	A16	Ovine	plpA1.1	plpB1.1	plpCL2	plp.4BC1.2	AY847815
PH296	12	Α7	Ovine	plpA1.1	plpB1.1	plpC1.4	plpABC1.6	AY847816
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	plpA1.1	plpB1.1	plpC1.4	plpABC1.6	-
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	plpA1.1	plpB1,1	plpC1.3	plpABC1.5	AY 8 47817
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	plpA2.1	plpB3.1	plpC2.2	plpABC3.1	AY847818
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	plpA1.1	plpB1,1	plpC1.5	plpABC1.7	AY847819
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	plpA1.1	plpB1.1	plpC1.4	plpABC1.6	-
PH292	22	Λ2	Ovinc	plpA1.1	plpB1.3	plpC1.4	plpABC1.4	AY847820
M. glucosida								
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	plpA1.2	plpB2.1	ptpC2.1	plpABC2.1	AY847821
P. trehalosi								
PH68	19	Т3	Ovine	plpA3.1	-	-		AY 8 47822

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).
(Y)	hqlq	plpB	plpC
	11122223333344444455555556666	11111111111111111111111111111111111111	11111111111111111111111111111111111111
	1461120369123390248990113393457	23447778888900034666770167893445678800014560692345688012001 954715901463125430140365983561270273947960874039545367838262	35899900044477811134456124556890022571-568956 74702425681471563889106618421477925095692-767082
plpABC1.1	CATATTTCATTGAGCTGCCTCCACATACGAA 1	ACTTACCTAAAACACCCCAGTAGTGGTACGCAGTTCCAGCGGTGTTGTTTTTTAGTTCTTG	GCCAATCTGGGACGGTCAATGCTCTGCACTAGTTTACG-CGTCAC
plpABC1.2			·····
pipABC1.3			
plpABC1.4		······································	······································
plpABCI.5			T
plpABCI.6			······
plpABC1.7			GÅ
plpABC2.1	GGGGGGCTGCAAGATCATTCATG, GAGGTTG, 6	CACAGETTATCGGACTTTT GACCAGACCGETTTGACCTGTA ACA CA	

(B) I	PipA	PlpB	PipC
	t	222222223	555566777777777777777777777777777777777
	7	5666666687	135756011111111222222222222333333344444444455555555
	2	9012578970	31932090123456790123456789013567902345678901235679
PlpABC1.1	H	PATTINKAAT	GKDADATPTKDGI FVDKDSPYVNLIVARNQHSAVDLVKAYQTEEVYKANE
PlpABC1.2.			V
PlpABC1.3		V.	G
PIPABCI.4		V.	G
PlpABC1.5			6
PIPABC1.6			····6·································
PIPABCI.7			G.NANQRRNIR*
PIPABC2.1			.TN. GV
PIPABC3.1	A	SVSPAKQV	STN.GCC

The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *plpABCI.I*). The * in the amino vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5' end of the partial plpA Figure 3.23 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *plpABC* alleles of *M*. haemolytica and *M*. gene. The coloured shading indicates nucleotide sequence similarity and putative recombinant segments in alleles that are otherwise different. The glucosida. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The M. glucosida allele is highlighted within the green box. acid sequence of PlpABC1.7 in PlpC indicates a stop codon.



trehalosi. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling haemolytica isolates in blue, M. glucosida in green, and P. trehalosi in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate Figure 3.24 Minimum evolution (ME) trees for the (A) plpA, (B) plpB, and (C) plpC genes of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine M. haemolytica isolates are highlighted in red, ovine M. schemes for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

segment by assortative recombination that includes all three genes. The recombinant segment of the *M. haemolytica* allele p/pABC3.I has probably been derived from *M.* glucosida, since the green region of the *M. haemolytica* plpABC3.I allele (nucleotides 1293 to 2262) is very similar to the corresponding region of the *M.* glucosidaplpABC2.I allele (Figure 3.23A). In addition, the plpABC1.7 allele (isolate PH202) has a nucleotide insertion at position 2125 in plpC, which disrupts the reading frame. Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.23B). Six amino acid variants were identified among the nine plpABC alleles; *M. haemolytica* plpABCI-type, *M.* glucosida plpABC2.I, and *M. haemolytica* plpABC3.I alleles have 0, 0, and 1 variable amino acid sites in plpA, 1, 1. and 8 variable amino acid sites in plpB, and 2, 4, and 5 variable amino acid sites in plpC (excluding allele plpABC1.7).

The *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* tree topologies are shown in Figure 3.24. The previously constructed phylogenies based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis (Davies *et al.*, 1996) and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) indicate that *M. haemolytica* isolates are closely related, but have diverged from *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*. In *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC*, this is true for all of the *M. haemolytica* isolates with the exception of isolate P11196. The *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH196 have diverged from those of the other *M. haemolytica* isolates (Figure 3.24 \wedge to C). The *plpA* and *plpB* genes of *M. glucosida* isolate PH344 are more closely related to the majority of the *M. haemolytica* isolates than are the *plpA* and *plpB* genes of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH344 and *plpB* genes of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH344 and *plpB* genes of *M. glucosida* isolate PH196 cluster together in lineage fl (Figure 3.24C). These findings suggest that horizontal DNA transfer and recombination have occurred in the *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH196 and *M. glucosida* isolate PH196 and *plpA* and *plpB* and *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of *M. glucosida* isolate PH196 cluster together in lineage fl (Figure 3.24C). These findings suggest that horizontal DNA transfer and recombination have occurred in the *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH196 and *M. glucosida* isolate PH196 have of *M. glucosida* isolate PH196 horizontal DNA transfer and recombination have occurred in the *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH196 and *M. glucosida* isolate PH344, and disrupted the phylogenies of these genes.

3.1.1.4.2 Lipoprotein (plpD)

The *plpD* gene, encoding lipoprotein PlpD, was selected because the lipoprotein has a highly immunogenic nature (see section 1.3.2.3.2) and is presumably subject to immune selection. The partial sequence of *plpD* (651 nucleotides [76 %]) was determined in 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (Table 3.19). An additional *M. haemolytica* isolate, PH550, was examined because the inferred amino acid sequence of the *plpD* gene in the closely related isolate PH494 has an abnormal termination codon due to nucleotide deletions (see below). Eight different *plpD* nucleotide sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to two subclasses, *plpD1* and *plpD2*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.19).

The polymorphic nucleotide and inferred amino acid sites within the eight plpD alleles, with respect to plpD1.1 are shown in Figure 3.25. Nucleotide sequence analysis indicated that the *M. haemolytica plpD1*-type, *M. glucosida plpD1.7*, and *P. trehalosi plpD2.1* alleles have 5, 5, and 131 polymorphic nucleotide sties, respectively (Figure 3.25A). In addition, the *plpD1.4* allele (isolates PH494 and PH550) both have 13 nucleotide deletions, between nucleotides 507 to 519, which disrupts the reading frame. Amino acid sequence analysis detected less variation than nucleotide sequence analysis (Figure 3.25B). Five amino acid variants were identified among the seven of eight *plpD* alleles; 3, 1, and 32 variable amino acid positions were detected in the *M. haemolytica plpD1*-type, *M. glucosida plpD1.7*, and *P. trehalosi plpD2.1* alleles, respectively. The 13 nucleotide deletion in *plpD1.4* caused a sudden change in amino acid sequence from position 169 and a stop codon at position 178.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences indicated that the M. haemolytica plpD1-

Isolate	ET ^a	Capsular serotype	Host spccies	<i>plpD</i> allele	Gen Bank accession no.
M. haemolytica					<u> </u>
PH2	1	Al	Bovine	plpD1.1	AY847823
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	plpD1.1	-
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	plpD1.1	~
PH296	12	Α7	Ovine	plpD1.2	AY847824
PI:1588	15	Δ13	Ovine	plpD1.6	AY847825
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	plpD1.4	AY847826
PH550*	17	A2	Bovine	plpD1.4	-
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	plpD1.5	AY847827
PH202	21	Α2	Bovine	plpD1.3	AY847828
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	plpD1.3	-
PH292	22	Α2	Ovine	plpD1.3	
M. glucosida					
PH344	l	AH	Ovine	plpD1.7	AY847829
P. trehalosi					
PH68	19	Т3	Ovine	plpD2.1	A¥847830

Table 3.19 Distribution of *plpD* alleles among 11 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

* Additional isolate (see text)

	111111111111111111122222222233333333333
	11122333344556667789113333455556677788992344789991233333344444455
	16723404036928470695846470125136790534709785736681478701456801267814
plpD1.1	TTAGAGAATACGAGCAAATCTAACTAAAGCATATCTCTTTCGTTTATTTA
plpD1.2	T
plpD1.3	
plpD1.4	
plpD1.5	
plpD1.6	
plpD1.7	CCA
plpD2.1	${\tt CCGATCCTATTTTATTGGCTCTTTACGCTTGCTCTC.AC.TCCCCTCCTGCTT.GAGCAAACGAATC}$

333333444444444444444444444445555555555
6778890222333344445556667788000011222233446667777889901122233334455
3787802012358901473791561738145736027817451570123455735857801890114
$plp D1.1 \verb CCGTAAATCAGATAAAAATGACCTATCCACTAGTTTCATTGTACATGAAATATATTGAATGCATTTA$
p1pD1.2
plpD1.3
plpD1.4A
plpD1.5
plpD1.6
<i>plpD1.7</i> C
plpD2.1 TACAGTGAGCTTAGGTTGAATATCTCTTGTCTACGGTGGACACGGGACTTACCTACC

Figure 3.25 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *plpD* alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide and amino acid sites from the 5'end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *plpD1.1*). The * in the amino acid sequence of *plpD1.4* indicates a stop codon.



Figure 3.26 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *plpD* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b). type and *M. glucosida plpD1*.7 alleles are highly conserved (1 to 8 polymorphic sites), whereas the *P. trehalosi plpD2.1* allele exhibits substantial divergence from both species (128 to 132 polymorphic sites).

The *plpD* tree topology (Figure 3.26) shows two distinct phylogenetic lineages, I and
II. *M. haemolytica plpD1*-type and *M. glucosida plpD1.7* alleles cluster together in
lineage I, whereas *P. trehalosi plpD2.1* represents the more distantly related lineage II.

3.1.1.5 Genes encoding outer membrane proteins

3.1.1.5.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein (ompA)

The *ompA* gene, encoding the heat modifiable outer membrane protein OmpA, was selected because of its possible role in bacterial pathogenesis and host specificity (see section 1.3.2.4.1. The complete sequence of *ompA* (1,104 to 1,137 nucleotides) was determined in 31 *M. haemolytica*, six *M. glucosida*, and four *P. trehalosi* isolates (Table 3.20). *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* isolates contain a single *ompA* gene, but *P. trehalosi* was shown to possess two tandemly-arranged *ompA* genes, designated *ompA'* and *ompA''* (Figure 2.27). Twenty two different *ompA* sequences, each representing a distinct allele, were identified, and the alleles were assigned to ten subclasses, *ompA1* to *ompA10*, based on their overall sequence similarity (Table 3.20). Of these, four subclasses, *ompA1* to *ompA4*, occur in *M. haemolytica*, three subclasses, *ompA8* to *ompA10*, are associated with *P. trehalosi*. The molecular masses of the inferred amino acid OmpA sequences of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* varied from 39,135 to 40, 528 Da (Table 3.20). Since these proteins contain a putative signal sequence of 19 amino acids (1,855 Da) (Zeng *et al.*, 1999), the predicted

Isolate	ET	Capsular serotype	Host species	<i>ompA</i> [#] allele	Molecular mass of protein (Da)	GenBank accession no.
M. haemolytica	····· ·	· · · · ·				
PH2	1	A1	Bovine	ompAL1	40,460	AY244653
PH30	1	Al	Bovine	ompA1.1	40,460	-
PH376	1	A6	Bovine	ompA1.1	40,460	-
PH346	1	A12	Ovine	omp.42.1	39,778	AY244658
PH540	2	A1	Bovine	ompA1.2	40,472	AY244654
PH338	3	Λ9	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	-
PH388	4	Λ7	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	-
PH50	5	A5	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	
PH56	5	A8	Ovine	ompA2.2	39,794	AY244659
PH238	5	Λ9	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	
PH8	6	AL	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	-
PH398	7	Δ1	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	
PH284	8	A6	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	-
PH232	9	A6	Ovine	ompA2.I	39,778	-
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	-
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	ompA2.1	39,778	-
PH296	12	Α7	Ovine	ompA4.1	39,151	AY244662
PI1396	13	A7	Ovine	ompA4.1	39,151	-
PH484	14	A7	Ovine	ompAd.l	39,151	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	ompA4.2	39,179	AY244663
PH494	16	Λ2	Ovine	ompA1.4	40,528	AY244656
PH550	17	A2	Bovine	ompA1.5	40,062	AY244657
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	ompA3.1	39,911	AY244661
PH786	18	A2	Bovine	-		-
PH526	19	A2	Ovine	ompA2.3	39,798	-
PH598	20	A2	Ovine	ompA2.3	39,798	-
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	ompA1.3	40,460	AY244655
PH470	21	A2	Bovine	ompA1.3	40,460	-
PH278	21	Λ2	Ovine	ompA2.3	39,798	AY244660
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	ompA2.3	39,798	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	ompA2.3	39,798	
PH392	22	A2	Ovine	ompA2.3	39,798	
M. glucosida						
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	ompA5.1	39,135	AY244664
PH498	3	AH	Ovine	ompA5.I	39,135	-
PH240	5	Λ11	Ovine	ompA7.1	39,233	AY244666
РН496	7	UG3	Ovine	ompA6.1	39,233	AY244665
PH574	10	UG3	Ovine	ompA7.I	39,233	-
PH290	16	UG3	Ovine	ompA6.1	39,233	-
P. trehalosi						
PH246	2	T 4	Ovine	ompA8.1 ompA10.1	38,633 37,978	AY582755
PH252	4	T10	Ovine	ompA8.2 ompA10.2	38,633 37.978	AY582756
PH254	15	T15	Ovinc	ompA9,1 ompA10.4	38,662 37,978	AY582757
PH68	19	Τ3	Ovine	ompA8.3 ompA10.3	38,844 37,978	AY582758

Table 3.20 Distribution of ompA alleles among 31 M. haemolytica, six M.glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates

" Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

molecular masses of the putative mature proteins varied from 37,280 to 38,673 Da.

The polymorphic nucleotide sites within the *ompA1*- to *ompA7*-type alleles of *M*. haemolytica and M. glucosida, with respect to ompA1.1, are shown in Figure 3.27. The *P. trehalosi ompA8- to ompA10*-type alleles were excluded because they are highly divergent from both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* and there was no visible evidence of intragenic recombination. There was a relatively high degree of micleotide variation between *ompA1*-type and *ompA2*-type alleles, but alleles representing each group contain only one to three polymorphic nucleotide sites. Visual inspection of the nucleotide sequences of the *ompA1*- to *ompA7*-type alleles indicates that there was no evidence of intragenic recombination within M. haemolytica alleles ompA1.1 to ompA3.1, but recombinant segments were present in *M. haemolytica ompA4-* and *M. glucosida ompA5-*type alleles. The *M. haemolytica* ompA4.1 and ompA4.2 alleles (serotype A7 and A13 isolates of ETs 12-14) contain recombinant segments (green and yellow) that are identical to the corresponding regions of the *M. glucosida ompA5.1*, *ompA6.1*, and/or *ompA7.1* alleles. The *M.* glucosida alleles ompA5.1 to ompA7.1 are similar to each other but contain regions (yellow and blue segments) that differ due to recombinational exchanges.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide and amino acid sequences between representative pairs of the 10 allele types of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Table 3.21) ranged from 8 to 304 (0.7 to 26.7 %) nucleotide sites and from 0 to 122 (0.0 to 32.3 %) amino acid positions.

The *ompA* tree topology (Figure 3.28) indicates that the *M. haemolytica* lineages I to III and *M. glucosida* lineage 1V are closely related, whereas *P. trehalosi* lineages V and VI, representing *ompA'* and *ompA''*, respectively, are highly divergent from



Figure 3.27 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites among the 14 *ompA* alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. Roman numerals I to IV represent the major allele classes and lineages in Figure 3.28. The *M. glucosida* alleles are highlighted within the green box. The numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide sites. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides match those of the first (topmost) sequence. Gaps are indicated by dashes. Green, yellow, and blue shaded boxes highlight identical, or nearly identical, segments of DNA in class III and IV alleles. HV1 to HV4 represent the hypervariable domains.

ļ

Table 3.21 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the 10 ompA allele types of M. haemolytica, M.

glucosida, and P. trehalosi

-1-11			Pairwise c	lifferences in	a nucleotide	and amino :	acid sequenc	es (%) ^a		
Alleke	U.I.F.dmo	omp.42.1	ompA3.1	ompA4.1	ompA5.1	ompA6.1	ompA7.1	ompA8.1	ompA9.1	ompA10.1
ompA1.1		18 (4.8)	17 (4.5)	16 (4.2)	17 (4.5)	23 (6.1)	23 (6.1)	101 (26.7)	98 (25.9)	122 (32.3)
omp42.1	29 (2.6)		12 (3.2)	15 (4.0)	16 (4.2)	22 (5.8)	22 (5.8)	96 (25.4)	94 (24.9)	120 (31.7)
ompA3.1	26 (2.3)	13 (1.1)		9 2.4()	10 (2.6)	17 (4.5)	17 (4.5)	95 (25.1)	92 (24.3)	118 (31.2)
ompA4.1	26 (2.3)	21 (1.8)	16 (1.4)		1 (0.3)	8 (2.1)	8 (2.1)	90 (23.8)	88 (23.3)	118 (31.2)
ompA5.1	36 (3.2)	31 (2.7)	26 (2.3)	12 (1.1)		7 (1.9)	7 (1.9)	89 (23.5)	87 (23.0)	117 (31.0)
ompA6.1	53 (4.7)	47 (4.1)	43 (3.8)	29 (2.6)	19 (1.7)		0 (0.0)	88 (23.3)	86 (22.8)	117 (31.0)
ompA7.1	59 (5.2)	53 (4.7)	49 (4.3)	35 (3.1)	25 (2.2)	8 (0.7)		88 (23.3)	86 (22.8)	117 (31.0)
ompA8.1	264 (23.2)	256 (22.5)	252 (22.2)	239 (21.0)	237 (20.8)	236 (20.8)	238 (20.9)		40 (10.6)	83 (22.0)
ompA9.1	244 (21.5)	233 (20.5)	231 (20.3)	218 (19.2)	216 (19.0)	215 (18.9)	217 (19.1)	135 (11.9)		86 (22.8)
0mpA10.1	304 (26.7)	298 (26.2)	294 (25.9)	297 (26.1)	298 (26.2)	293 (25.8)	293 (25.8)	223 (19.6)	221 (19.4)	
								- - 		

^a Values in the lower left represent pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences (number of polymorphic nucleotide sites and percentage of nucleotide variation): values in the upper right represent pairwise differences in inferred amino acid sequences (number of polymorphic amino acid sites and percentage of amino acid variation).

 $\frac{23}{9}$



Figure 3.28 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *ompA* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b). *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* and are as divergent from each other as they are from the *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* lineages. Lineage I is associated exclusively with bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates, with the exception of the atypical ovine isolate PH494 (ET 16), whereas lineages II and III are associated exclusively with ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates, with the exception of the atypical bovine isolate PH196 (ET 18).

The nucleotide and amino acid sequence analysis of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* indicates that the majority of polymorphic sites occur within four hypervariable regions, HV1 to HV4 (Figures 3.27 and 3.29). The hypervariable domains contain higher nucleotide and amino acid substitutions (35 and 57 %, respectively), whereas the remaining regions are highly conserved and contain a low percentage of nucleotide and amino acid substitutions (3 and 1 %, respectively). Domains HV1, HV2, and HV4 were characterized by amino acid deletions and/or insertions (Figure 3.29) that accounted for the molecular mass variation of OmpA described in Table 3.20.

The locations of the four hypervariable regions within the *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* OmpA proteins, in relation to the β -strands and surface-exposed loops of the transmembrane domain, were identified by secondary structure prediction (Jones, 1999; McGuffin *et al.*, 2000), alignment with the three-dimensional structural models of the *E.coli* OmpA protein (Arora *et al.*, 2001; Pautsch & Schulz, 1998), and comparison with the proposed secondary structure model of the P5 (OmpA) protein of *H. influenzae* (Webb & Cripps, 1998). The OmpA protein of *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 contains four surface exposed loops and eight β -strands regions. The four hypervariable regions are located at the distal ends of the surface exposed loops (Figure 3.30). The d_N/d_N ratios for the hypervariable domains HV1 to HV4 ranged



Figure 3.29 Distribution of polymorphic amino acid sites among the 14 ompAalleles within the transmembrane domain of the OmpA proteins of *M*. *haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. Protein designations are shown to the left of each sequence. Roman numerals I to IV represent the major allele classes. The *M*. *glucosida* alleles are highlighted within the green box. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent amino acid positions. The dots represent sites where the amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. ompA1.1). Gaps are indicated by dashes. HV1 to HV4 represent the hypervariable domains within the surface exposed loops 1 to 4. Shaded regions represent predicted membranespanning β -strand structures.



Figure 3.30 Proposed secondary structure of the N-terminal transmembrane domain of the OmpA proteins of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. The sequence is based on OmpA1.1 of isolate PH2. The hypervariable domains are shown in red.

from 0.34 to 0.78 (i.e < 1), whereas the corresponding value for the combined conserved regions was relatively high at 35.17 (Table 3.22). These data provide strong evidence of selective constraint against amino acid replacement in the conserved parts of the gene and of diversifying selection in the hypervariable regions.

The comparison of the MLEE and *ompA* trees (Figure 3.31) indicate that distantly related isolates have identical or almost identical alleles. This suggests that these alleles have undergone horizontal transfer and assortative (entire gene) recombination. Distantly related bovine isolates (PH2, PH540, PH550, and PH202; ETs 1, 2, 17, and 21) and one ovine isolate (PH494; ET 16, which has previously been shown to have bovine properties (Davies & Donachie, 1996; Davies *et al.*, 2001), in the MLEE tree clustered together in the *ompA* tree to form a single major bovine lineage, I. Similarly, distantly related ovine isolates of lineages A and C (PH338, PH388, PH56, PH8, PH398, PH284, PH232, PH66, PH706, PH56; ETs 3 to 11 and PH526, PH598, PH278, PH292; ETs 19 to 22) in the MLEE tree clustered together in the *ompA* tree to form a singlate bovine isolate PH196 represents a sub branch of lineage II. Ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of lineage B together with certain *M. glucosida* isolates (PH344 and PH498; ETs 1 and 3) in the MLEE tree clustered together in the *ompA* tree to form lineage II. Other *M. glucosida* isolates clustered together in the *ompA* tree to form lineage IV.

For the two tandemly arranged ompA' and ompA'' genes of *P. trehalosi*, putative ribosome-binding and promoter sites were identified upstream of the start codons of ompA' and ompA'', and potential inverted repeat terminator sequences were present downstream of the stop codons of ompA' and ompA'' (Figure 3.32). The ompA'alleles were assigned to two subclasses, ompA8 (ompA8.1 to ompA8.3) and ompA9(ompA9.1), whereas the ompA'' alleles consisted of a single subclass, ompA10

Table 3.22 Sequence diversity and substitution rates for the hypervariable domains HV1 to HV4 and for the conserved regions of the ompA genes of 31 M. haemolytica, six M. glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates

	Sequence d	iversity (%)	д У.	تع : حر	- 14- F
Пошаня	Nucleotide	Amino acid	Sm	Na	NnAn
HVI	44.4	66.7	13.96 ± 9.92	40.64 ± 14.70	0.34
HV2	42.4	72.7	8.31 ± 6.01	15.86 ± 5.64	0.52
HV3	13.3	30.0	0.00 ± 0.00	6.91 ± 3.98	ı
HV4	33.3	53.3	15.18 ± 11.03	19.54 ± 8.23	0.78
Conserved regions b	3.0	1.2	2.11 ± 0.43	0.06 ± 0.04	35.17

 a d_{s} is the number of synonymous substitution per 100 synonymous sites; d_{v} is the number of nonsynonymous substitution per 100

nonsynonymous sites. Values are means ± standard deviations.

^b Values are for the individual conserved regions combined.

225

•



Figure 3.31 Comparison of MLEE tree (left) and *ompA* **tree (right).** (Left) Phylogenetic relationships of 178 *M. haemolytica* and 16 *M. glucosida* isolates based on electrophoretically demonstrable variation of 18 housekeeping enzymes (Davies *et al.*, 1997a). (Right) Phylogenetic relationships of *ompA* genes from 31 *M. haemolytica* and six *M. glucosida* strains. Both trees were constructed by the unweighted pair group method using arithmetic average (UPGMA). Red boxes represent the bovine isolates. Blue boxes represent the ovine isolates. Green boxes represent the *M. glucosida* isolates.

1 AGACACHCHCCCATAACHATCACCAMAATCGCCTGOGAAATGTTGGTGTTTGAGTTCGGCGACAAATTGCFGAACCTCAGGGGAAAATTGGCGGACAATAFCGG 101 TAAGATGASGGATCATTTTTTTTTTTTTTCTCCCCTAAAAAGGAAATGACTCTCATATAGCAAGAAATTGCCCCGGGCTTTTAAGCGCGTDTAATTGATDAAAAAAA 501 GGTCCAACTGCTTADGUGAYTAATOSTAACTCAGTAACTTACGGTGTGTGTGGTGATCAAATTATTGATAACTTAGGGTIGACC AGGTTATGACG G P T A Y G I N R N S V T Y G V F C G Y O L I D N L A V F V G Y D 601 ACCOTECTCOCCTECGIGGCAACGTEGGIGATCGCCGAECCPTTAAASACACTAAACACGGEGGCCCATAFTACCTCAAAACCAAGUTATGAAGTEGETTC Y F G R V R G N V G C R R A F K D T K H G A H 1 S L K P S Y E V V S RGN 901 AAGCAGARGCHAARGCGGGFARTGTAAC''GATTEACETEATACCCCAGATTCCCCCATCEGCAGGTTTAACETTCCGGTCAAGTGCGC K A F A K A G N V T D L R Y S P D A H S V S A G D T Y R F G Q G A A 1001 ACCASTISTISCISASCEASAAATCSTAACFAAAAACTCBECATITASCICISAISIASIATAITABACTOSSIAAAAACTCBECAGASA PVVAEPETVIKNFASSSOVELFEDFEKAKJKKKAAAACTCBECAGASA 1101 GCAPCTTTRGATCCAGCACACGCTGAAAACCAAAAACTTAGGTTTAKCAGCTCCGGCTATCCAAGTAAATGGCTATACAGACCGTATTGGTAAAAAAGTGCGC A S L D A A H A L 1 Q N L G L A A P A I Q V N G Y T D R I G K D A 1201 CAAACTTAGCATTATCACAACCTCCCCCCCCCCCCAAACTGCTACCGAACCTCCTAACGGGTGTAGCGCCCCCACAACCTCCCCCGGTASSTTACGGTAA PNLALSQRRAESVANYMVSKGVAPESITAVGYGY 1301 AGCARACUCAGTAACTGGCAACACTTTGGTGGAATGCATTGAAGCCATTAATCCCTTGCTAGCACCGGAPCGTUGAATTACAACAPTCAA A N F V T G N T C D A V K G R K A L T A C L A F L R R V E L Q V Q 1401 GETTCHAAGAAGTTGCAATGTAATTTCSGFTAGAASGGTAAATTTATTAAR<u>GAAGGACCA</u>TTTTT<u>TSGGGGTT</u>TTTTTGTAAATTT<u>TAAGCA</u>AA KEVAM $1631 \quad \texttt{NFCACCTAANT} \underline{ACAGCATCAANTGAAAAATCATTAGTTSCATTAGCAGTAGCTGGCTIIGCTGCTTCCGCAAATGCTCCCGGAAGCTAACT$ RBS MKKSLVALAVAGFAVAEANA 1701 CTGTATATGTTGGTGGTAAAGCT5GTTGGGCTTCATTCCATGACGODATCAGCCAAAACGGTGGTAAAAGCGGTGGTAAAAGCGGTATCAATAAAAATTC S V Y V C A K A S W A S F H D 3 I S Q I D H K N G G K Y G I N K N S 1801 TETALCITACUGTGCATTEGTEGTTATCAAAYTALYGALAACTTRGCAGCEGAAGEAGGTTATCAATACTTTEGTCGTGTTCGTGGTTTAGAGCBAACC V T Y G A F V J Y Q I I D N L A A S V G Y K Y F G R V R G L B Q T 1901 AARGCAGGCGGTTCTAAGAAAACTTTCCGTCACTOTCCGCACTACTACTACTACCATTABAAGGTAACTACCAAGTTATCACGGTTTAGATACTATG нзанст Ψr. TRLKG N Y E V G GSKKT F. I S G L 11 2001 CAAAAGUTGGTTTTGGCTTTTAGUTAATAACAGGTACAAAAGUTGTGAGATACTAAAGUGCAACCAAAAGUTGTGGGATGCGAAGUTGTGGGATTCGGGTTTCGGAGGGTTTCGGAGGGTTTCGGGTTTCGGAGGGTGTTAATGTT A X A G I A L V N N S Y K T V N V D T K V P T K T S 3 3 0 3 3 4 7 4 2101 AGGIGCIGGIGTIGAGIATGGAATIACICOATCITIAGGIGCACGIATIGAG/A+CAATGGITAAAIAACCCMCCFAAMCAAGCIACCCACCCFCCFCCF P S L G A R I E Y Q W L N N A G K A S ī. 2201 CETA FEGGE STTSAAGGETETEGATTACCETECGACACAGETEGACACAGETEGACCAG 2401-acade cystatic arrange transformed according to a statement of the cordination ofH A E I Q N L G L A T P A I Q V N G Y T D R I G K D A P N L A L 2601 GEARCACTTGIGATGCAGFGAAAGGTGGTAAAGCAYTAATGGCTTGCTAGCACGGATGGTGGATTGAATGAAGETCAAGGTGCAAGGTGTAAAGAAGTTGC G N T C D A V K C R K A L I A C L A P D K R V B L Q V Q G S X E V S 2701 TATE (ARTACATORY, GASONAGOPS<u>GAAAACGCOATO</u>ATA<u>GAGGETTTIT</u>ETTTETTETACIICAATAATEUTTAAGIICTEATITTA

Figure 3.32 Nucleotide sequence of the *P. trehalosi* isolate PH246 *ompA*' and *ompA*" genes, together with the deduced amino acid sequences of the OmpA' and OmpA" proteins, respectively, encoded by these genes. The numbers (left) correspond to nucleotide positions within the GenBank sequence (AY582755). The * in the amino acid sequences indicate stop codons. The proposed promoters (-35 and -10 regions) and the putative ribosomal binding sites (RBS) are underlined in bold. The putative N-terminal signal sequences of the OmpA' and OmpA" proteins are underlined. Inverted nucleotide repeats are indicated by opposing arrows.

(*ompA10.1* to *ompA10.4*) (Figure 3.28). Nucleotide and amino acid analyses of *ompA'* indicate that allele *ompA9.1* is highly divergent, whereas alleles *ompA8.1* to *ompA8.3* are highly conserved (0.9 and 0.2 % nucleotide and amino acid diversity, respectively). The corresponding analyses of *ompA''* show that all four *ompA10*-type alleles are highly conserved (0.8 and 0.0 % nucleotide and amino acid diversity, respectively). The sequence comparison of the two OmpA homologs of *P. trehalosi* indicates that the major three subclasses, OmpA8, OmpA9, and OmpA10 contain significant amino acid variation in their N- terminal regions, particularly in the surface-exposed regions, whereas the C- terminal regions are highly conserved (Figure 3.33).

The expression of two OmpA proteins, OmpA' and OmpA", by *P. trehalosi* was confirmed by SDS-PAGE analysis of OMPs after heating the samples at 80, 90, and 100°C (Figure 3.34). The OmpA protein undergoes a characteristic shift from low-to high-molecular-mass forms after heating at 100°C. Two low-molecular-mass proteins (29 to 30 kDa) were clearly visible for isolates PII68, PH246, and PH252 at 80 and 90°C, whereas these were transformed to two high-molecular-mass proteins (37 to 39 kDa) at 100°C (Figure 3.34, lanes 1 to 9, arrows). However, only one low-molecular-mass band was present in isolate PH254 at 80 and 90°C (Figure 3.34, lanes 10 and 11, arrow), although two bands, of 29 and 39 kDa, were present at 100°C (Figure 3.34, lane 12, arrows). The most probable explanation for this difference is that the single 29-kDa band present at 80 and 90°C consists of both proteins (OmpA' and OmpA"), which in this isolate differ in their heat modification properties. Thus, at 100°C the 29-kDa band presumably corresponds to the OmpA' protein OmpA9.1 (since this band and protein were not present in any of the other isolates), whereas the 39-kDa band represents the OmpA" protein OmpA10.4.



Figure 3.33 Distribution of polymorphic amino acid sites among the eight *ompA* alleles of the OmpA' and OmpA'' proteins of *P. trehalosi*. Protein designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent amino acid positions. The dots represent sites where the amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *ompA1.1*). Gaps are indicated by dashes. The locations of the surface exposed loops 1 to 4 and periplasmic region are indicated by arrows. Shaded regions represent predicted membrane-spanning β -strand structures.



Figure 3.34 Coomassie blue-stained SDS-PAGE OMP profiles of *P. trehalosi* isolates. The isolates include PH68 (lanes 1 to 3), PH246 (lanes 4 to 6), PH252 (lanes 7 to 9), and PH254 (lanes 10 to 12) after heating at 80 °C (lanes 1, 4, 7, and 10), 90 °C (lanes 2, 5, 8, and 11), and 100 °C (lanes 3, 6, 9, and 12). Molecular mass standards (ovalbumin, 43 kDa; carbonic anhydrase, 30 kDa) are shown in lane 13. Only the relevant part of the gel is shown. Arrows indicate the low- and highmolecular-mass forms of the two OmpA proteins in each isolate. The transition is clearly seen between 90 and 100 °C. Only one band is present in isolate PH254 at 80 and 90 °C, whereas two bands occur at 100 °C (see the text for further explanation).

3.1.1.5.2 Transferrin binding proteins (tbpB and tbpA)

The *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes, encoding the transferrin binding proteins TbpB and TbpA, were selected because of the specificity of the transferrin receptor for ruminant transferrin and their utility as vaccine antigens (see section 1.3.2.4.2). The partial sequences of *tbpB* (1677 nucleotides [95 %]) and *tbpA* (2748 nucleotide [98 %]) were determined in 32 *M. haemolytica*, six *M. glucosida*, and four *P. trehalosi* isolates (Table 3.23). Nucleotide sequence analysis of the *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes identified 28 unique *tbpB* sequences, 20 unique *tbpA* sequences, and 29 unique continuous sequences for the *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes. These unique sequences were designated as individual alleles (Table 3.23).

Transferrin binding protein B (TbpB). The 28 *tbpB* alleles could be classified into six subclasses, *tbpB1* to *tbpB6*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.23). Of these subclasses, *tbpB1*, *tbpB3*, *tbpB4*, and *tbpB6* occur in *M. haemolytica*, *tbpB2* is present in both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*, and *tbpB5* is associated with *P. trehalosi*.

The polymorphic nucleotide sequences within the *tbpB1*- to *tbpB3*-type alleles of *M*. *haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* are shown in Figure 3.35. *M. haemolytica tbpB4*- and *tbpB6*-type alleles and *P. trehalosi tbpB5*-type alleles were excluded because they are highly divergent from the *tbpB1*- to *tbpB3*-type alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* (see below) and there was no visible evidence of intragenic recombination. Visual inspection of the distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites among the *tbpB* alleles revealed that intragenic recombinational exchanges have occurred within *tbpB1-*, *tbpB2-*, and *tbpB3*-type alleles because runs of nucleotides representing recombinant segments were present (Smith, 1999). The aligned *tbpB1-*, *tbpB2-*, and

Joolata	FT d	Capsular	Host		Alleles		GeuBank
Isolate	172 H.	serotype	species	tbpB	tbpA	tbp B A	accession no.
M. haemolytica							
PH2	1	A1	Bovine	tbpB1.1	tbpA1.1	tbpBA1	AY850230
PH30	1	Al	Bovine	tbpB1.2	tbpA1.1	tbpBA2	AY850231
PH376	1	A6	Bovine	tbpB1.1	tbpA1.1	tbpBA1	-
PH346	1	A12	Ovine	tbpB2.1	tbpA1.5	tbpBA3	AY850232
PH540	2	Al	Bovine	tbpB1.3	thpA1.1	(bpBA4	AY850233
PH338	3	A9	Ovine	tbpB2.1	tbpA1.5	tbpBA3	-
PH388	4	A7	Ovine	tbpB2.2	tbpA1.5	tbpBA5	AY850234
PH50	5	A5	Ovine	tbpB2.2	tbpA1.5	tbpBA5	-
PH56	5	A8	Ovine	tbpB1.5	tbpA1.3	tbpBA6	AY850235
PH238	5	A9	Ovine	tbpB1.4	tbpA1.2	tbpBA7	AY850236
PH8	6	A1	Ovine	tbpB2.2	tbpA1.4	tbpBA8	AY850237
PH398	7	A1	Ovine	(bpB2.2	tbpA1.4	tbpBA8	-
PH284	8	A6	Ovine	tbpB2.2	tbpA1.4	tbpBA8	-
PH232	9	A6	Ovine	tbpB2.2	tbpA1.4	tbpBA8	-
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	tbpB1.6	tbpA1.5	tboBA9	AY850238
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	tbpB1.7	tbpA1.7	tbpBA10	AY850239
PH296	12	Λ7	Ovine	tbpB2.4	IbpA1.6	tbnBAH	AY850240
PH396	13	A7	Ovine	tboB2.4	tbpA1.6	tboBAII	-
PH484	14	A7	Ovine	tbpB2.4	tboA1.6	tbpBA11	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	tbpB2.3	tbpA1.4	tbpBA12	AY850241
PH494	16	A2	Ovine	(bpB6.1	tbpA4.1	tbnBA13	AY850242
PH550	17	A2	Bovine	tbpB4.1	tbpA6.1	tbpBA14	AY850243
PH196	18	Λ2	Bovine	tbpB3.1	tbpA5.1	ibnBA15	ΔΥ850244
PH786	18	A2	Bovine	tbpB3.2	tbpA5.1	tbpBA16	AY850245
PH526	19	A2	Ovine	IbpB6.2	tbpA4.2	tbnBA17	AY850246
PH598	20	A2	Ovine	tbpB6.3	tbnA4.2	tbpBA18	AY850247
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	tbpB4.2	tbpA6.1	tbpBA19	AY850248
PH470	21	A2	Bovine	tboB4.3	tbpA6.1	tbpBA20	AY850249
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	tbpBL8	tbn.41.8	tbpRA21	AY850250
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	tbpB1.8	tbnA1.8	thoBA21	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	tbnB6.2	tbpA4.2	tbpBA17	
PH392	22	A2	Ovine	tbpB6.2	tbpA4.2	tbpBA17	-
M. glucosida					•		
PH344	1	A11	Ovine	tbnB2.9	1bp.42.4	tbpBA22	AY850251
PE1498	3	A11	Ovine	tbpB2.9	10042.4	tbpBA22	-
PH240	5	A11	Ovine	tbnB2.6	ibpA2.1	tbnBA23	AY850252
PH496	7	UG3	Ovine	tbpB2.5	tbpA2.3	tbpBA24	AY850253
PH574	10	UG3	Ovine	thpB2.7	(bpA2.5	tbpBA25	AY850254
PH290	16	UG3	Ovine	tbpB2.8	thpA2.2	(bpBA26	AY850255
P. trehalosi	- •					1	
PH246	2	T4	Ovine	tbpB5.1	tbpA3.2	IbpBA27	AY850256
PI-1252	4	T10	Ovine	tbpB5.2	tbpA3.1	(bpBA28	AY850257
PH254	15	T15	Ovine	tbpB5.3	tbpA3.3	tbpBA29	AY850258
PH68	19	Т3	Ovine	tbpB5.1	tbpA3.2	ibpBA27	
PH68	19	Т3	Ovine	tbpB5,1	tbpA3,2	төрВА27	-

Table 3.23 Distribution of tbpB and tbpA alleles among 32 M. haemolytica, six M.glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates

^{*a*} Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).



Figure 3.35 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide (A) and amino acid (B) sites among the *tbpB* alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* isolates of lineages I and II. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The Roman numerals correspond to the major lineages of Figure 3.36. The *M. glucosida* alleles are highlighted within the green box. The coloured shading indicates nucleotide sequence identity and putative recombinant segments. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide or amino acid sites from the 5' end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *tbpB1.1*).

tbpB3-type allele sequences (Figure 3.35A) clearly show visible evidence of mosaicism. There was no evidence of intragenic recombination within *M. haemolytica* alleles *tbpB1.1* to *tbpB1.6*, but recombinant segments were present in *tbpB1.7* (yellow, nucleotides 1507 to 1626) and *tbpB1.8* (blue, nucleotides 942 to 991 and yellow, nucleotides 1507 to 1694). The *M. haemolytica tbpB2.1* to *tbpB2.4* alleles and the *M. glucosida tbpB2.5* to *tbpB2.9* alleles had similar overall sequences but also possessed small putative recombinant segments (red, nucleotides 103 to 182 and 410 to 426; blue, nucleotides 942 to 991; and green, nucleotides 1416 to 1609). In particular, the *M. glucosida tbpB2.9* allele contains a recombinant segment (green, nucleotides 1416 to 1609) that is very similar to the corresponding region of the *M. haemolytica tbpB3*-type alleles.

Amino acid sequence analyses of the *tbpB1*- to *tbpB3*- type alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* (Figure 3.35B) indicated that the majority of nucleotide substitutions that occur in the recombinant segments result in amino acid changes. The relatively low d_s/d_N ratio for *M. haemolytica* (4.53) and *M. glucosida* (6.04) *tbpB* alleles indicates that constraint against amino acid replacement is, overall, relaxed in the TbpB protein (Table 3.3).

The distribution of the *tbpB* alleles among *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* isolates indicates that, in general, the same subclass, i.e., *tbpB1* to *tbpB6*, is associated with isolates representing closely related ETs. However, certain subclasses are associated with distantly related ETs (Table 3.23) suggesting that assortative (entire gene) recombinational exchanges between unrelated isolates have frequently occurred in the evolution of the *tbpB* gene. For example, subclass *tbpB1* is associated with *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 1, 2, 5, 10, 11, and 21; subclass *tbpB2* is associated with *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 1, 3 to 9, and 12 to 15 but

. . .

Table 3.24 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the six thpB allele types of M. haemolytica, M.

glucosida, and P. trehalosi

24

A 11 - 1 -		Pairwise differe	ences in nucleotide a	nd amino acid sequ	ences (%) ^a	
Alleic	tbpB1.1	tbpB2.1	tbpB3.1	tbpB4.1	tbpB5.1	tbpB6.1
tbpB1.1		33 (5.9)	56 (10.0)	92 (16.5)	115 (20.6)	233 (41.8)
tbpB2.1	47 (2.8)		50 (9.0)	88 (15.8)	118 (21.1)	236 (42.3)
thpB3.1	156 (9.3)	147 (8.8)		72 (12.9)	109 (19.5)	232 (41.6)
(bpB4.1)	253 (15.1)	250 (14.9)	222 (13.2)		119 (21.3)	233 (41.8)
t <i>bpB5.1</i>	394 (23.5)	407 (24.3)	392 (23.4)	404 (24.1)		231 (41.4)
tbpB6.1	629 (37.5)	629 (37.5)	607 (36.2)	604 (36.0)	628 (37.4)	

^a Values in the lower left represent pairwise differences in nucleouide sequences (number of polymorphic nucleotide sites and percentage of nucleotide variation); values in the upper right represent pairwise differences in inferred amino acid sequences (number of polymorphic amino acid sites and percentage of amino acid variation).

235

**::

also with *M. glucosida* isolates; subclass *tbpB4* is associated with *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 17 and 21; and *tbpB6* is associated with *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 16, 19, 20, and 22. Subclasses such as *tbpB3* (bovine A2 isolates of ET 18), *tbpB4* (bovine A2 isolates of ETs 17 and 21) and *tbpB6* (ovine A2 isolates of ETs 19, 20, and 22) contain highly divergent host-specific sequences (Table 3.23) that have possibly been acquired from external sources by assortative (entire gene) recombination.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide and amino acid sequences between representative pairs of the six allele types of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* ranged from 47 to 629 (2.8 to 37.5 %) nucleotide sites and from 33 to 233 (5.9 to 41.8 %) amino acid positions (Table 3.24).

The *tbpB* tree topology (Figure 3.36) indicates that the *M. haemolytica tbpB1*- and *tbpB2*-type alleles form two clusters, A and B, in lineage I. However, cluster B also contains the *M. glucosida* alleles *tbpB2.5* to *tbpB2.9*. The *M. haemolytica tbpB3*- and *tbpB4*-type alleles represent lineages II and III, respectively, and are more distantly related to the *M. haemolytica tbpB1* and *tbpB2*-type alleles of lineage I than are the *M. glucosida tbpB2*-type alleles. The *P. trehalosi tbpB5*-type alleles represent lineage V which, surprisingly, is more divergent than the *P. trehalosi* alleles. This is clearly very different from the tree topologies based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1996; 1997a) which show that *M. glucosida* has diverged from *M. haemolytica* that the *I. trehalosi* has further diverged from both species. The data provide strong evidence that horizontal DNA transfer and recombination have played important roles in the evolution of *tbpB*.

Alignment of the N-terminal (amino acid sites 1 to 339) and C-terminal (amino acid



Figure 3.36 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *tbpB* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).

sites 340 to 678) regions of the inferred amino acid sequences of six representative TbpB proteins of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* revealed that several identical or similar amino acid sequences were present in the N- and C-terminal halves of the same protein (Figure 3.37).

Recently, two transferrin binding sites were identified in the N- terminal half of TbpB in meningococcal isolate B16B6 by a sequence-based prediction method based on hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity profiles and confirmed by site-directed mutagenesis (Renauld-Mongenic *et al.*, 2004). The corresponding transferrin binding sites were located in the conserved regions of the inferred amino acid sequences of six TbpB proteins of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Figure 3.37). In particular, there was no variation in the two amino acid sites corresponding to the sites used for site-directed mutagenesis in *N. meningitidis* TbpB (i.e. R in site 1 and Y in site 2)

Transferrin binding protein A (*tbpA*) The twenty *tbpA* alleles could also be classified into six subclasses, *tbpA1* to *tbpA6*, based on their overall sequence similarities (Table 3.23). Of these subclasses, *tbpA1*, *tbpA4*, *tbp5*, and *tbpA6* occur in *M. haemolytica*, *tbpA2* is present in *M. glucosida*, and *tbpA3* is associated with *P. trehalosi* (Table 3.23).

The polymorphic nucleotide sequences of the alleles representing subclasses *tbpA1* to *tbpA4* of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*, with respect to *tbpA1.1*, are shown in Figure 3.38. The *M. haemolytica* subclasses *tbpA5* and *tbpB6* were excluded because they are highly divergent from the subclasses *tbpA1* to *tbpA4* (see below) and there was no visible evidence of intragenic recombination. Visual *tbpA2-*, *tbpB3-*, and *tbpA4-*type alleles because runs of nucleotides representing

	★★	
(TbpB1.1	VOSAKVEBOTOTTYKKPSLODDNSNARRTVSASETEALLOPGFGFSAKTPR NIFPOGKEDVAPTGDIKEITGDLTKIPYEEEVKAYGSSADGFSHTHDRNHK	1131
TbpB2.1	VOSAKVESOTOTTEKKESLODDNSNARRTVSASETEALLOPGEGESAKIPE NINPKGKEDVAPIGDITELTGOLTK IPHEDEVKKYGSSDDGESHTHDGNHK	1131
., TbpB3.1	VOSAKVESOTOTTPKKPSLODDNSNARRTVSDSKAEALLOPGIGFSAKLPR HLOPPPKGGEDAAPIGDITEITGDLTKIPYLLEVKAYGSNDDGESHTHDGNHK	1131
N ThpB4.1	VQSSKAESHTPNVPQKPSLQDDNSNARRTVNSTEAFALLKPGFGFSAK PF HDQPFAKGGEEVAPIGDITLITGDITKIPYEEEVKAYGRSDDGFSHTHDGKHK	1131
TbpB5.1	1 VOSVKVESNTOESS-KPSLODONSSARRTINNTEABALLOPGFOFSAKIPR NOLPOANENTAPIGETTPIAGDLTKTPYETEVKAYGYDDEGFSHTHDGHNG [[113]
TbpB6.1	1 TNSVKASSSYSSSKESTAOPKSERRTISSTESPAOPSLOFOTKIPRENEFGGTGEENGALGEITPIVGEPGKPLSLEEEMKKLKTEVKKLGYDEDDIIHTHDGKKL [11131
(TbpB1.1	1KUDSESAFTAFKIKIKDINKSEDDTFONATHLIINNKQIPLIAEGKKSFAEKKFDULATRTIDG-KTERVE	[452]
TbpB2.1	1ENDGERTFDAFRIKIKDUNKEMDTFONATHLINNKQTPLAEGKKSFAEKEFDDIVTRTIDG-KTYRVE	4521
TbpB3.1	1ENDERTFDAFKISKOLSKSELDT FONATHLIINNKQ	[452]
TbpB4.1	1ENDSESTFLALKINLKDLSKIEMDTFUNATHLIINNQQIPLIAEGKNSFSE	[452]
TbpB5.1	1ENDSERAFDALKVSEKULSKERMUTFONATHILLINNTOIPLIAEGKKSFAEKEFDDLMMPTVGG-KTERIE	[452]
TbpB6.1	1GEDKVEKKFDSVQVS-KDLA	[452]
$C \begin{cases} TbpB1.1 \\ TbpB2.1 \\ TbpB3.1 \\ TbpB4.1 \\ TbpB5.1 \\ TbpB6.1 \\ \\ TbpB2.1 \\ TbpB2.1 \\ TbpB3.1 \\ TbpB4.1 \\ TbpB4.1 \\ TbpB4.1 \\ \\ TbpB4.1 \\ \\ TbpB4.1 \\ \\ TbpB4.1 \\ \\ TbpB5.1 \\ \\ \\ \\ TbpB5.1 \\ \\ \\ \\ TbpB5.1 \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ TbpB5.1 \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$	1 EVTROPN FVRSGYVLHSGAKPEIK PKE-ILRTGAHGYVYYEGIEPANA-IPTOKATIKGYNDPTTDARKGROSKYPSNS-AGINIEMTPENSYDINVDOSEKPMEHTGETI 1 ENTROPN VRSGYVLHSGAKPEIK PKE-ILRTGAHGYVYYEGIEPANA-IPTOKATIKGYNDPTTDARKGROSKYPSNS-AGINIEMTPENSYDINVDOSEKPMEHTGETI 1 ENTROPN VRSGYVLHSGAKPEIK PKE-ILRTGARGYYYLGTERAGA-PKOGKATIKGYNDPTTDARKGROSKYPSNS-AGINIEMTPENSYDINVDOSEKPMEHTGETI 1 ENTROPN VRSGYVLHSGAKPEIK PKE-ILRTGARGYYYLGTERAGA-PKOGKATIKGYNDPTTDARKGROSKYPSNS-AGINIEMTPENSYDINVDOSKMPHTGETI 1 HYTROPY VRSGYVLHSGAKPEIK RKS-LLRTGARGYYYLGTERAGA-PKOGKATIKGYNDPTTDARKGROSKYPSNS-AGINIEMTPENSYDINVDOSKMPHTGETI 1 HYTROPY VRSGYVLHSGAKPEIK RKS-LLRTGARGYYLGTERAGA-PKOGKATIKGYNDPTTDARKGROSKYPSNS-AGINIEMTPENSTUNIGARKTENSE 1 HRKPEKFVRSGYLHSGANGPEIK RKS-LLRTGARGYYLGTUR PHTARKAL PKOGKATIKGYNDPTTDARKGROSKYPSNS-AGINIEMTPENSTUNIGARKTENSE 1 HKREKKYVRSGYLHSGANGPEIK RKS-LLRTGARGYNYYLGTUR PHTARKAL PKOKST 1 KCCNNLDYVKPGTYRSGNNSSDTANOYLUGBRTAVADLFGTYKTRGYNDGWRYSKSSACAESPSNSESGTRSLTD 1 VCCNNLDYVKPGTYRSGNNNSDTANOYLUGBRTAVADLFTGTYKTRGYNDGWRYSKSSACAESPSNSESGTRSLTD 1 VCCNNLDYVKPGTYRSGNNNSDTANOYLUGBRTAVADLFTGTYKTRGYNDGWRISKSSACAESPSNSESGTRSLTD 1 VCCNNLDYVKPGTYRSGNNNSDTANOYLUGBRTAVADLFGTYKTRGYNDGWRISKS	(226) (226) (226) (226) (226) (565) (565) (565) (565)
Стърве.1	1 VCCNNLDYWYFFFYEQDSQD	[565]
TopBL.1	A ANTARCIAL INFORMATION OF A START ANTAL ANTARCON ANTARCAN TO PERSON ANTARCAN ANTARC	[339]
Thepp2.1		[339]
NX Thomas		[339]
TopB4.1		[339]
Tupbo.1		[333]
C Topbo. 1		[333]
e mine D.1 1	1 VERY LAW TANK TANK OF THE SAME AND TANK AND TANK AND DEPARTMENT OF THE PART	reast
TheB2 1	VIEW WARK MALE ANT OF THE ATTACK AND A T	[670]
ThpB3 1	VDFANKCINKLIANDOF	16781
C Thomas 1	1 VDFANRATNAKLEAN X4F	16701
Thoas 1	UNDER KEINIGE TANDOR - ER DIT TIGET KANG DATE KENDIGEN I DE HINGETY I NUDGEN AN ENGEN UNDER DE TIGET KENDIGEN I DE HINGETY I NUDGEN AN ENGEN UNDER DE TIGET KENDIGEN I DE HINGETY I NUDGEN AN ENGEN UNDER DE TIGET KENDIGEN I DE HINGETY I NUDGEN AN ENGEN UNDER DE TIGET KENDIGEN I DE HINGETY I NUDGEN AN ENGEN UNDER DE HINGETY I NUDGEN	16701
ThoRe 1		10781
C ropae.1	THE PROPERTY AND	1018]

Figure 3.37 Comparison of the inferred amino acid sequences corresponding to the N-terminal regions (N) and the C-terminal regions (C) of the six TbpB proteins of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Numbers (left) represent the amino acid positions from the 5' end of the protein. The shaded regions indicate the positions where amino acid sites are identical or similar. Similar residues are defined as Y, F and W; V, L, I and M; K and R; D and E; S and T; P and A (Renauld-Mongenie *et al.*, 2004). Red boxes in the N-terminal region indicate putative transferrin binding sites similar to the corresponding sites of the *N. meningitidis* TbpB protein (Renauld-Mongenie *et al.*, 2004). Red lines indicate amino acid sites used for site-directed mutagenesis of the *N. meningitidis* TbpB protein.



Figure 3.38 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites among the *tbpA* alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The Roman numerals correspond to the major lineages of Figure 3.39. The *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. The black vertical arrow represents the mature amino acid terminus of TbpA identified in *M. haemolytica* h196 (U73302). The coloured shading indicates nucleotide sequence identity and putative recombinant segments. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide sites from the 5' end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *tbpA1.1*).

recombinant segments were present (Smith, 1999). The *M. haemolytica thpA1.1* to tbpA1.3 alleles are conserved, but the M. haemolytica tbpA1.4 to tbpA1.6 alleles contain a recombinant segment (blue, nucleotides 1308 to 1470) that is identical to the corresponding region in various other isolates of M. haemolytica and P. trehalosi. The *M. haemolytica tbpA1.7* allele contains a recombinant segment (yellow; nucleotides 1186 to 1839) that is identical to the corresponding region of allele *tbpA4.1.* The *M. haemolytica* allele *tbpA1.8* contains a recombinant segment (yellow. nucleotides 1186 and 1680) that is identical to the corresponding region of alleles tbpA1.7 and tbpA4.1, but also a short recombinant segment (red. nucleotides 1693 to 1839) that is identical to the corresponding region of allele *tbpA*4.2. The M. glucosida tbpA2-type alleles contain a recombinant segment (green, nucleotides 772 to 2246) that is almost identical to the corresponding region of the P. trehalosi tbpA3type alleles. Finally, the M. haemolytica tbpA4.2 allele contains a recombinant segment (grey, nucleotides 772 to 1174) that is almost identical to the corresponding region of the *tbpA2*- and *tbpA3*-type alleles of *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*, respectively.

The distribution of the *tbpA* alleles among *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Table 3.23) indicates that *tbpA1*-type alleles are associated with *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 1 to 15 whereas *tbpA4-*, *tbpA5-*, and *tbpA6*-type alleles are associated with *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 16 to 22. The *tbpA5.1* and *tbpA6.1* alleles are associated with bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 18, and 17 and 21, respectively, and these differ at 10.2 % and 19 % of nucleotide sites from the *M. haemolytica tbpA1.1* allele, respectively (Table 3.25). The isolates also have distinctive *tbpB* genes that differ at 9.3 % (*tbpB3.1*) and 15.1 % (*tbpB4.1*) of nucleotide sites from *tbpB1.1*, respectively (Table 3.24). The *tbpA3.1* and *tbpA4.1* alleles of *P. trehalosi* and ovine *M. haemolytica* A2 isolates differ at 4.7 % and 3.6 %

Ì

Table 3.25 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the six thpA allele types of M. haemolytica, M.

glucosida, and P. trehalosi

		Pairwise differe	ences in nuclcotide a	nd amino acid sequ	$ences (\%)^{a}$	
- Allefe	tbpA1.1	tbpA2.1	tbpA3.1	tbpA4.1	tbpA5.1	tbpA6.1
tbpA1.1		23 (2.5)	53 (5.8)	37 (4.0)	64 (7.0)	123 (13.4)
tbpA2.1	52 (1.9)		41 (4.5)	44 (4.8)	66 (7.2)	122 (13.3)
tbpA3.1	128 (4.7)	103 (3.7)		51 (5.6)	95 (10.4)	142 (15.5)
tbpA4.1	100(3.6)	115 (4.2)	134 (4.9)		88 (9.6)	137 (15.0)
tbpA5.1	281 (10.2)	280 (10.2)	338 (12.3)	329 (12.0)		108 (11.8)
tbpA6.1	521 (19.0)	520 (18.9)	564 (20.5)	570 (20.7)	491 (17.9)	

^a Values in the lower left represent pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences (number of polymorphic nucleotide sites and percentage of nucleotide variation); values in the upper right represent pairwise differences in inferred amino acid sequences (number of polymorphic amino acid sites and percentage of amino acid variation).

of nucleotide sites from *tbpA1.1*, respectively. However, these isolates contain *tbpB5.1* and *tbpB6.1* alleles that differ at 23.5 % and 37.5 % of nucleotide sites from *tbpB1.1*, respectively. These different levels of diversity between *tbpB* and *tbpA* of *P. trehalosi* and *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 19, 20, and 22, with respect to other *M. haemolytica* isolates, indicates they are derived from different external sources.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide and amino acid sequences between representative pairs of the six allele types of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Table 3.25) ranged from 52 to 570 (1.9 to 20.7 %) nucleotide sites and from 23 to 142 (2.5 to 15.5 %) amino acid positions.

The *tbpA* tree topology (Figure 3.39) indicates that the *M. glucosida tbpA2*-type alleles (cluster B) are closely related to the *M. haemolytica tbpA1*-type alleles (cluster A) and together comprise lineage I. The *P. trehalosi tbpA3*-type alleles and the *M. haemolytica tbpA4*-type alleles together represent the diverse lineage II. The *M. haemolytica tbpA5.1* and *tbpA6.1* represent two lineages, III and IV, that are both highly divergent from the *tbpA* alleles of other *M. haemolytica* isolates, as well as from *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* isolates. The *tbpA* topology is clearly different from those based on 16S rRNA sequence analysis and MLEE (Davies *et al.*, 1996; 1997a) which show that *M. glucosida* has diverged from *M. haemolytica* and that *P. trehalosi* has further diverged from both species. The data provide strong evidence that horizontal DNA transfer and recombination have played important roles in the evolution of the *tbpA* gene.

The locations of the tonB box, 21 β -strands and eleven surface-exposed loop regions (L1 to L11) were identified in the inferred amino acid sequences of the *tbpA* alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Figure 3.40) based on alignment with


Figure 3.39 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *tbpA* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of >50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).





Figure 3.40 Amino acid sequence alignments of the *tbpA* alleles of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The Roman numerals I to IV represent the major allele classes and lineages of Figure 3.38. The green boxes indicate *M. glucosida* alleles and the yellow boxes indicate *P. trehalosi* alleles. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of amino acid sites from the 5' end of the gene. The dots represent sites where the amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *tbpA1.1*). The black vertical arrow represents the mature amino acid terminus of TbpA identified in *M. haemolytica* h196 (U73302). The white box represents the conserved TonB box. Gaps are indicated by dashes. L1 to L11 represent the surface-exposed loops 1 to 11. V1 and V2 represent variable domains that are not located within the loop regions. The shaded regions represent predicted membrane-spanning β -strand structures.

ę -

ê

- -

Table 3.26 Sequence diversity and substitution rates for the 11 loop regions L1 to L11, the variable domains, V1 and V2, and the

conserved regions of the tbpA genes of 32 M. haemolytica, six M. glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates

Domeiu	Sequence di	iversity (%)	n _ 1	A. a	A.A.
T/Ulitati	Nucleotide	Amino acid	ac,	Ň	N71 X71
L]	5.6	16.7	0.00 ± 0.00	0.93 ± 1.06	
L2	24.7	17.2	22.34 ± 5.50	2.02 ± 0.61	11.1
L3	27.0	23.8	21.08 ± 6.30	6.09 ± 2.17	3.5
L4	23.5	15.7	34.83 ± 7.27	1.31 ± 0.51	26.6
L5	25.3	24.2	18.32 ± 5.96	2.88 ± 0.79	6.4
1.6	10.6	4.5	8.32 ± 4.90	$0.27~\pm~0.27$	30.8
L7	22.9	17.1	14.17 ± 5.31	2.40 ± 0.94	5.9
L8	30.2	28.1	21.37 ± 8.44	3.42 ± 1.32	6.2
L9	27.8	16.7	23.85 ± 8.82	2.44 ± 1.17	9.8
L10	29.8	25.0	21.85 ± 7.22	$2.60~\pm~0.96$	8.4
E11	21.1	16.7	18.00 ± 5.26	1.06 ± 0.49	17.0
V1	73.8	78.6	52.92 ± 14.98	37.37 ± 9.14	1.4
V2	28.9	33.3	7.73 ± 9.81	5.63 ± 2.39	1.4
Conserved regions	23.3	13.4	22.76 ± 2.50	1.26 ± 0.18	18.1

 $^{a}d_{s}$ is the number of synonymous substitution per 100 synonymous sites; d_{v} is the number of nonsynonymous substitution per 100 nonsynonymous

sites. Values are means \pm standard deviations.

the hypothetical topology model of gonococcal TbpA (Boulton *et al.*, 2000), and secondary structure prediction (Jones, 1999; McGuffin *et al.*, 2000). With the exception of the variable regions V1 and V2, polymorphic amino acid sites occurred more frequently in the surface-exposed loop regions than in the N-terminal plug region or β -strand regions. The d_g/d_N ratios were calculated for the loop regions, L1 to L11, the two variable regions, V1 and V2, and the remaining conserved regions of the sequences (Table 3.26). The d_g/d_N ratio for L3 (3.5) and for the variable regions V1 (1.4) and V2 (1.4) were relatively low whereas those for L2 (11.1), L4 (26.6), L6 (30.8), and L11 (17.0), together with the remaining conserved regions (18.1) were relatively high, suggesting that different regions of the TbpA protein are subject to different degrees of evolutionary constraint.

Nucleotide variation and mosaic structure within the *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes. The tbpB and tbpA genes of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi isolates were classified into 13 groups based on sequence similarity (Table 3.27). Group 1 is associated with both bovine and ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates, whereas groups 2 to 5, 12, and 13 are associated exclusively with ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates and groups 9 and 10 are associated exclusively with bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates. The *tbpB* and tbpA genes of ovine M. haemolytica isolates PH278 and PH372 of ET 21 (group 4) are very different from those of closely related bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates PH202 and PH470 of ET 21 (group 10) and ovine M. haemolytica isolates PH292 and PH392 of ET 22 (group 13). The distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites within the *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes of 13 representative isolates of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and P. trehalosi is shown in Figure 3.41. The mosaic structure of the tbpB and tbpA genes in these isolates is shown schematically in Figure 3.42. The data show that intragenic recombination has been frequent in the tbpB and tbpA genes of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi. M. haemolytica isolates PH196 and

Group	thpB and thpA alleles	ET a	Serotype	Host species	Strain
Group 1	tbpB1.1-1.5 & tbpA1.1-1.3	ETs 1, 2/ET 5	AI, A6/A8, A9	Bovine/Ovine	PH2, PH30, PH376, PH540, PH56, PH238
Group 2	tbpB1.6 & tbpA1.5	ET 10	A14	Ovine	PH66
Group 3	tbpB1.7 & tbpA1.7	ET II	A16	Ovine	PH706
Group 4	tbpB1.8 & tbpA1.8	ET 21	A2	Ovine	PII278, PH372
Group 5	tbpB2.1-2.4 & tbpA1.4-1.6	ETs 1, 3-9, 12-15	AI, A5-7, A9, A12, A13	Ovine	PH346, PH338, PH388, PH50, PH8, PH398, PH284, PH232, PH296, PH396, PH484, PH588
Group 6	tbpB2.5, 2.6 & tbpA2.1, 2.3	ETs 5, 7	A11, UG3	Ovine	PH240, PH496
Group 7	tbpB2.7, 2.8 & tbpA2.2, 2.5	ETs 10, 16	UG3	Ovine	PH574, PH290
Group 8	tbpB2.9 & tbpA2.4	ETs 1, 3	A11	Ovine	PH344, PH498
Group 9	tbpB3.1, 3.2 & tbpA5.1	ET18	<u>A2</u>	Bovine	PH196, PH786
Group 10	tbpB4.1-4.3 & tbpA6.1	ETs 17, 21	A2	Bovine	PH550, PH202, PH470
Group 11	tbpB5.1-5.3 & tbpA3.1-3.3	E Ts 2, 4, 15, 19	T3, T4, T10, T15	Ovine	PH246, PH252, PH254, PH68
Group 12	tbpB6.1 & tbpA4.1	ET 16	A2	Ovine	PH494
Group 13	tbpB6.2, 6.3 & tbpA4.2	ETs 19, 20, 22	A2	Ovine	PH526, PH598, PH292, PH392

The M. glucosida and P. trehalosi alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, respectively. ^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Table 3.27 Thirteen groups of thpB and thpA genes of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi based on sequence similarity

tbpB(1734bp) → tbpA(2769bp)														1000 2000 3000 4000 450	Nucleotides
	(tbpB1.1/tbpA1.1)	(tbpB1.6/tbpA1.5)	(tbpB1.7/tbpA1.7)	(tbpB1.8/tbpA1.8)	(tbpB2.2/tbpA1.5)	(tbpB2.6/tbpA2.1)	(tbpB2.7/tbpA2.5)	(tbpB2.9/tbpA2.4)	(tbpB3.1/tbpA5.1)	(tbpB4.1/tbpA6.1)	(tbpB5.1/tbpA3.2)	(tbpB6.1/tbpA4.1)	(tbpB6.2/tbpA4.2)	0	
	PH2/ET1/A1	PH66/ET10/A14	PH706/ET11/A16	PH278/ET21/A2	PH388/ET4/A7	PH240/ET5/A11	PH574/ET10/UG3	PH344/ET1/A11	PH196/ET18/A2	PH550/ET17/A2	PH246/ET2/T4	PH494/ET16/A2	PH292/ET22/A2		
	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	Group 5	Group 6	Group 7	Group 8	Group 9	Group 10	Group 11	Group 12	Group 13		

Figure 3.41 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites within the tbpB and tbpA genes of representative M. haemolytica, M. respectively. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi glucosida, and P. trehalosi isolates. The M. glucosida and P. trehalosi alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b). Vertical lines represent polymorphic nucleotide sites with respect to isolate PH2.



Figure 3.42 Schematic representation of the mosaic structures of the tbpB and tbpA genes of representative M. haemolytica, M. respectively. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi glucosida, and P. trehalosi isolates. The M. glucosida and P. trehalosi alleles are highlighted within the green and yellow boxes, (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b). The coloured shading indicates sequence similarity and the likely origins of recombinant segments.

Table 3.28 Distribution of wza alleles among 32 M. haemolytica, four M.

glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates

		Capsular	Host	wza ^L	GenBank
Isolate	EI	serotype	species	afleie	accession no.
M. haemolytica					
PH2	I	AI	Bovine	wzal.l	AY847850
PH30	1	Al	Bovine	wzal.1	-
PH376	1	A6	Bovine	wzał.1	-
PH346	1	A12	Ovine	wza3.3	AY847851
PH540	2	A1	Bovine	wzal.1	+
PH338	3	٨9	Ovine	wza9.2	AY847852
PH388	4	A7	Ovine	wza3.1	AY847853
PH50	5	A5	Ovine	wza4.1	AY847854
PH56	5	A8	Ovine	wza9.1	AY847855
PH238	5	A9	Ovine	wza9.2	-
PH8	6	Al	Ovine	wza2.1	AY847856
PH398	7	A1	Ovine	wza2.1	-
PH284	8	A6	Ovine	wza2.2	AY847857
PH232	9	A6	Ovine	wza2.3	AY847858
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	wza5.1	AY847859
PH706	11	A16	Ovine	wza5.1	
P11296	12	A7	Ovine	wza3.1	-
PH396	13	A7	Ovine	wza3.1	~
PH484	14	A7	Ovine	wza3.1	-
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	wzą7.1	AY 847860
PH494	16	Α2	Ovine	wza3.4	AY847861
PH550	17	A2	Bovine	wza3.4	-
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	wza3.2	AY847862
PH786	18	A2	Bovine	wza3.2	
PH526	19	A2	Ovine	wza3.4	-
PH598	20	A2	Ovine	wza3.4	-
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	wza3.4	-
PH470	21	A2	Bovine	wza3.4	-
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	wza3.4	-
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	wza3.4	-
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	wza3.4	-
PH392	. 22	A2	Ovine	wza3.4	-
M aluensida					
DH34A	1	Δ11	Ovíne	wz a6 1	AV847863
DUMOR	2	A11	Ovine	11/240.1 11/246.1	
F11470 DE1240	ر ح	A 11	Ovine	w200.1	12847864
PH496	7	UG3	Ovine	wza0.2 wza8.1	AY847865
P. trehalosi					
PH246	2	T4	Ovine	wza10.1	AY 847866
PH252	4	T10	Ovine	wza10.3	AY847867
PH254	15	T15	Ovine	wza10.2	AY847868
PH68	19	Т3	Ovine	wza10,4	AY 847869

^a Each species has a different MLEE scheme (Davies et al., 1997a; 1997b).



Figure 3.43 Distribution of polymorphic nucleotide sites among the *wza* alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The Roman numerals correspond to the major lineages of Figure 3.44. The *M. glucosida* alleles are highlighted within the green boxes. The coloured shading indicates nucleotide sequence identity and putative recombinant segments. The vertical numbers above the sequences represent the positions of polymorphic nucleotide sites from the 5' end of the partial gene sequence. The dots represent sites where the nucleotides or amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *wza1.1*).

1

j

Table 3.29 Nucleotide and amino acid differences between representative pairs of the 10 wza allele types of M. haemolytica, M.

glucosida, and P. trehalosi

A tlata			Pairwise d	lifferences in	1 nucleotide	and amino a	icid sequenc	cs (%) ^a		
	wza1.1	wza2.1	wza3.1	W7 a4.]	¥Za5.I	wza6.1	I.Tazw	wza8.1	WZa9.1	<i>нza10.1</i>
wzał.l		6 (1.9)	5 (1.6)	12 (3.7)	11 (3.4)	14 (4.3)	17 (5.3)	33 (102)	28 (8.7)	96 (29.8)
WZa2.1	21 (2.2)		11 (3.4)	16 (5.0)	14 (4.3)	14 (4.3)	19 (5.9)	33 (10.2)	28 (8.7)	96 (29.8)
wza3.1	58 (6.0)	79 (8.2)		10 (3.1)	8 (2.5)	11 (3.4)	14 (4.3)	30 (9.3)	25 (7.8)	93 (28.9)
WZQ4,]	81 (8.4)	100(10.4)	60 (6.2)		12 (3.7)	15 (4.7)	16 (5.0)	30 (9.3)	25 (7.8)	93 (28.9)
wza 5 .1	58 (6.0)	68 (7.0)	72 (7.5)	87 (9.0)		12 (3.7)	13 (4.0)	31 (9.6)	26 (8.1)	93 (28.9)
wza6.1	78 (8.1)	82 (8.5)	92 (9.5)	100 (10.4)	41 (4.2)		12 (3.7)	23 (7.1)	20 (6.2)	90 (28.0)
wza7.1	116 (12.0)	126 (13.0)	119 (12.3)	124 (12.8)	99 (10.2)	100(10.4)		30 (9.3)	29 (9.0)	92 (28.6)
wza8.1	166 (17.2)	171 (17.7)	172 (17.8)	177 (18.3)	166 (17.2)	153 (15.8)	173 (17.9)		15 (4.7)	98 (30.4)
wza9.1	146 (15.1)	151 (15.6)	148 (15.3)	148 (15.3)	133 (13.8)	113 (11.7)	155 (16.0)	109 (11.3)		97 (30.1)
wza10.1	287 (29.7)	292 (30.2)	282 (29.2)	279 (28.9)	289 (29.9)	289 (29.9)	294 (30.4)	297 (30.7)	288 (29.8)	

^a Values in the lower left represent pairwise differences in nucleotide sequences (number of polymorphic nucleotide sites and percentage of nucleotide variation); values in the upper right represent pairwise differences in inferred amino acid sequences (number of polymorphic amino acid sites and percentage of amino acid variation).

Since the 5' region of the wza gene is close to the variable capsular alleles. biosynthesis region and the wza3-type alleles are most common in M. haemolytica isolates, the upstream segments of wza1.1 and the wza2-type alleles (green) have possibly been acquired by horizontal transfer. The wza2-type alleles contain unique sequences in the 3' region of the gene which may be also have been acquired by horizontal transfer. The *wza3*-type alleles are highly conserved and only single nucleotide substitutions occur. The wza4.1 allele differs from the wza3-type alleles mainly due to two recombinant segments (yellow, nucleotides 1 to 219, and 678 to 777) although single site substitutions are also present. The M. haemolytica wza5,1 allele is similar to the M. glucosida alleles wza6.1 and wza6.2 due to a recombinant segment (light blue, nucleotides 270 to 750). The M. haemolytica wza7.1 allele contains a recombinant segment (blue, nucleotides 1 to 324) that is almost identical to the corresponding region of the M. glucosida alleles wza6.1 and wza6.2, but the remainder differs from any wza alleles. The M. glucosida allele wza8.1 contains a recombinant segment (red, nucleotides 1 to 138) that is almost identical to the corresponding region of the *M. haemolytica wza9*-type alleles, and also contains a recombinant segment (orange, nucleotides 819 to 903) that is almost identical to the corresponding region of the M. glucosida wza6-type alleles as well as the M. haemolytica wza9-type alleles. The M. haemolytica wza9-type alleles contain a recombinant segment (grey, nucleotides 753 to 966) that is almost identical to the corresponding region of the M. glucosida wza6-type alleles.

The distribution of *wza* allele types among isolates (Table 3.28) indicates that the *wza3*-type alleles occur in a broad range of *M. haemolytica* isolates of scrotypes A2, A7, and A12 and ETs 1, 4, 12-14, and 16-22, whereas the *wza1.1* allele occurs in bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of scrotypes A1 and A6 and ETs 1 and 2, the *wza2*-type alleles occur in ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of scrotypes A1 and A6 and ETs 1 and A6 and ETs 6-

1

9, the *wza4.1* allele occurs in an ovine *M. haemolytica* A5 isolate of ET 5, the *wza5.1* allele occurs in ovine *M. haemolytica* A14 and A16 isolates of ETs 10 and 11, the *wza7.1* allele occurs in an ovine *M. haemolytica* A13 isolate of ET 15, and the *wza9*-type alleles occur in ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of serotypes A8 and A9 of ETs 8 and 9. The *wza6*-type alleles occur in *M. glucosida* serotype A11 isolates of ETs 1, 3, and 5, whereas the *wza8.1* allele is present in an untypeable (UG3) *M. glucosida* isolate of ET 5. These alleles (*wza6.1, wza6.2,* and *wza8.1*) are divergent except for a recombinant segment (orange) that is also similar to the corresponding region of the *M. haemolytica wza9*-type alleles.

Pairwise differences in nucleotide and amino acid sequences between representative pairs of the 10 allele types of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* ranged from 21 to 297 (2.2 to 30.7 %) nucleotide sites and from 5 to 98 (1.6 to 30.4 %) amino acid positions (Table 3.29).

The *wza* tree topology (Figure 3.44) shows that lineages I, II, and IV are associated exclusively with *M. haemolytica* and lineage VI is associated with *P. trehalosi*, whereas lineages III and V consist of isolates of both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. Lineage I is associated with *M. haemolytica wza1*- and *wza2*-type alleles, lineage II with *M. haemolytica wza3*- and *wza 4*-type alleles, lineage IV with *M. haemolytica wza1*- type alleles. Lineage III is associated with the *M. haemolytica wza3*- and *wza 4*-type alleles, lineage IV with *M. haemolytica wza1*-type alleles, and lineage VI with *P. trehalosi wza10*-type alleles. Lineage III is associated with the *M. haemolytica wza5.1* allele and *M. glucosida wza8.1* allele and *M. haemolytica wza9.1* and *wza9.2* alleles.

ł

The positions of variable inferred amino acid sites within the Wza protein of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida correspond to the locations of three hypervariable



Figure 3.44 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the *wza* gene of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates in blue, *M. glucosida* in green, and *P. trehalosi* in yellow. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been described in separate schemes for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).



Figure 3.45 Distribution of polymorphic amino acid sites among the *wza* alleles of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida*. Allele designations are shown to the left of each sequence. The Roman numerals correspond to the major lineages of Figure 3.44 The *M. glucosida* alleles are highlighted within the green boxes. The numbers above the sequences represent amino acid positions. The dots represent sites where the amino acids match those of the first (topmost) sequence (i.e. *wza1.1*). HV1 to HV3 represent the hypervariable domains. Shaded region represents a common domain of the polysaccharide biosynthesis/export protein.

regions, HV1 to HV3 (Figure 3.45). The secondary structure prediction (Jones, 1999; McGuffin et al., 2000) indicates that the three hypervariable regions are located within the helices and coils of the 5' and 3' ends of the Wza protein sequence. In contrast, the remainder of the Wza protein sequence, particularly the common domains of polysaccharide biosynthesis/export proteins (grey region), are highly conserved. The relatively low d_s/d_N ratios for the HV1 (3.93), IIV2 (5.26), and HV3 (5.91), in contrast to the high d_s/d_N ratio for the conserved regions (43.84) indicate that the variable regions are subject to different degrees of evolutionary constraint compared to the conserved regions (Table 3.30). Amino acid divergence in the conserved regions is subject to a higher degree of selective constraint in comparison to that in the hypervariable regions.

3.1.2 Phylogenetic relationships among 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates based on the concatenated sequences of seven conserved genes

The conserved genes *recA*, *asd*, *mtlD*, *galE*, *gnd*, *g6pd*, and *gcp* were selected for analysis of the concatenated nucleotide sequences because the variation that occurred in each gene was due mainly to point mutation and there was no evidence of horizontal DNA transfer and recombination. The seven sequences of each gene for the 10 *M. haemolytica* isolates were concatenated to provide an in-frame sequence of 7044 nucleotides. There were 24 polymorphic nucleotide sites and pairwise differences raged from 1 to 12 nucleotide sites. A minimum-evolution tree was constructed from the concatenated sequences (Figure 3.46). The tree shows that isolates PII2, PH706, and PH66 cluster together in lineage I, PH296, PH588, and PH196 cluster together in lineage II, and PH494, PH202, PH278, and PH292 cluster together in lineage III. The tree topology (Figure 3.46) is very similar to that based on MLEE (Figure 2.1). With the exception of isolate PH494, lineages I, II, and III of

ţ

•

Table 3.30 Sequence diversity and substitution rates for the hypervariable domains, HV1 to HV3, and conserved regions of the wza

genes of 32 M. huemolytica and four M. glucosida isolates

	Sequence d	iversity (%)	2 G	, a	r / r
	Nucleotide	Amino acid	Sn .	Nn	ngan
HVI	59.0	76.9	53.30 ± 18.54	13.55 ± 3.79	3.93
HV2	30.3	31.8	24.32 ± 9.35	4.62 ± 1.75	5.26
HV3	43.1	58.8	58.08 ± 14.63	9.83 ± 3.90	5.91
Conserved regions	26.3	10.7	39.46 ± 3.88	0.90 ± 0.19	43.84

 $^{a}d_{s}$ is the number of synonymous substitution per 100 synonymous sites; d_{y} is the number of nonsynonymous substitution per 100 nonsynonymous sites. Values are means ± standard deviations.



Figure 3.46 Minimum evolution (ME) tree for the concatenated sequences (7044 bp) of the seven conserved genes *recA*, *asd*, *mtlD*, *galE*, *gnd*, *g6pd*, and *gcp* of *M*. *haemolytica*. The tree was constructed with Jukes-Cantor correction for nucleotide substitutions and the complete deletion option for handling gaps. Bootstrap values (1000 replications) of > 50 only are shown. Bovine *M*. *haemolytica* isolates are highlighted in red, and ovine *M*. *haemolytica* isolates in blue. Electrophoretic types (ETs) have been previously described in *M*. *haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b).

the concatenated sequence tree correspond to lineages A, B, and C, respectively, of the MLEE tree. In the MLEE tree (Figure 2.1) isolate PH494 appears to be more closely related to isolates PH296, PH588, and PH196 (lineage B), whereas in the sequence tree (Figure 3.46) isolate PH494 is more closely related to isolates PH202, PH278, and PH292 (lineage III). In particular, the bovinc and ovine A2 isolates PH202 and PH278 have identical sequences which suggests that they have common origins.

3.2 Characterization of temperate phages

3.2.1 Optimum concentration of mitomycin C

The optimum concentration of mitomycin C required to induce bacteriophages was determined in four serotype A1 *M. haemolytica* isolates (PH2, PH280, PH342, PH370) by adding increasing volumes of mitomycin C (final concentration of 0, 0.01, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 1.0, and 2.0 μ g/ml) to early logarithmic phage cultures and measuring the OD₆₆₀ at regular intervals. The data for isolate PH342 (Figure 3.47) indicates that the minimum concentration of mitomycin C required to give complete lysis was 0.1 μ g/ml. The results for isolates PH2, PH280, and PH370 were similar to those for isolate PH342 (data not shown). A final mitomycin C concentration of 0.2 μ g/ml was selected for subsequent experiments because this concentration resulted in more rapid lysis than a concentration of 0.1 μ g/ml.

3.2.2 Induction of bacteriophages in *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* isolates

Thirty two M. haemolytica, six M. glucosida, and four P. trehalosi isolates



Figure 3.47 Influence of mitomycin C concentration on the lysis kinetics (induction of bacteriophages) of bovine *M. haemolytica* isolate PH342 (serotype A1). The cultures were treated with 0.00 µg/ml (\rightarrow)(control), 0.01 µg/ml (\rightarrow), 0.05 µg/ml (\rightarrow), 0.1 µg/ml (\rightarrow), 0.2 µg/ml (\rightarrow), 1.0 µg/ml (\rightarrow), and 2.0 µg/ml (\rightarrow) final concentration of mitomycin C. The arrow indicates the point at which the mitomycin C was added.

representing various ETs, serotypes, and host species, were tested for phage induction with a final mitomycin C concentration of 0.2 µg/ml. The addition of mitomycin C induced lysis in 26 of the 32 *M. haemolytica* isolates, in one of the six *M. glucosida* isolates, and in two of the four *P. trehalost* isolates. Three different lysis patterns were identified in the 42 cultures of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* based on the final OD_{660} values 6-7 h after addition of mitomycin C (Figure 3.48). Complete lysis was represented by a final OD_{660} value of 0.4 or less (Figure 3.48A), partial lysis by a final OD_{660} value in the range 0.4 to 1.0 (Figure 3.48B), and no lysis was represented by no reduction of the final OD_{660} value (Figure 3.48C). Complete lysis occurred in 20 *M. haemolytica* isolates, partial lysis in six *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and three *P. trehalosi* isolates, whereas no lysis was detected in six *M. haemolytica* isolates, five *M. glucosida* isolates, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (Table 3.31).

The isolates that were not induced by 0.2μ g/ml mitomycin C treatment were subsequently tested with higher concentration of mitomycin C (0.5, 1.0, and 5.0 μ g/ml). Cultures of *M. haemolytica* isolates PH202, PH494, and PH550 were partially lysed with 1.0 μ g/ml mitomycin C and cultures of *M. glucosida* isolate PH574 and *P. trehalosi* isolate PH254 were partially lysed with 0.5 μ g/ml mitomycin C (Table 3.31).

3.2.3 Phage morphology

The 30 cultures that were lysed with 0.2 µg/ml mitomycin C were examined by electron microscopy (EM) for the presence of bacteriophage particles. Intact phage particles were detected in 26 cultures, but no phages were detected in the cultures of *M. haemolytica* isolates PH232 and PH706, and *P. trehalosi* isolates PH246 and PH68.



Figure 3.48 Phage induction profiles showing (A) complete lysis (isolate PH2), (B) partial lysis (PH66), and (C) no lysis (PH494). The cultures were treated with 0.2 µg/ml of mitomycin C (----). The untreated culture (----) is shown as control. The arrow indicates the point at which the mitomycin C was added.

The cultures of isolates PH484, PH598, and PH372 contained two types of phages, but the remaining 23 cultures contained only one type of phage. All phages had icosahedral heads as evidenced by the presence of capsids with hexagonal outlines, but three different tail morphologies occurred (Figure 3.49). The differences in tail morphologies were used to classify the phages into one of three phage families, namely *Myoviridae*, *Siphoviridae*, and an unrecognised family. The classification of the phages, including head and tail dimensions, from *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* are shown in Table 3.31.

Bacteriophages from 11 *M. huemolytica* isolates had long, flexible, and noncontractile tails and were classified as *Siphoviridae* (Figure 3.50 and Table 3.31). The phages had three different head types; an elongated head (Figure 3.50A-C), a small-sized isometric head (Figure 3.50D), and a normal-sized isometric head (Figure 3.50E-F).

Bacteriophages from 14 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate had contractile tails and were classified as *Myoviridae* (Figure 3.51 and Table 3.31). These phages varied in the size of their head and tail shapes resulting in four distinctive types: a normal sized isometric head (Figure 3.51A-E), a large-sized isometric head (Figure 3.51F), a small-sized isometric head (Figure 3.51G), and a large, well defined base plate (Figure 3.51H-I).

Bacteriophages from two *M. haemolytica* isolates, PH196 and PH786, had heads similar to those of the *Siphoviridae*, *Myoviridae*, and *Tectiviridae*, but had unique noncontractile, short, thick tails that are unique to these phages and represent an unrecognized phage family type (Figure 3.52). Rough spherical particles were also detected in the lysates of PH196 and PH786 and, in most cases, intact phages were

a ter a ter tarige

Table 3.31 Properties of bacteriophages induced in 32 *M. haemolytica*, six *M. glucosida*, and four *P. trehalosi* isolates representing various ETs, serotypes, and host species.

ŝ

١

states with the second constraints.

Strain	£T	Serotype	Host species	Type of ^a lysis	No of phage types	Phage b family	Head size ^C (nm)	Tait size ^d (nm)	DNA isolation	RE type	PCR ^e band
M. haemo	lytica										
PH2	ł	Ai	Bovine	Complete	1	Siphoviridae	53 × 63	175 × 7	Yes	٨	-t·
PH30	l	Al	Bovine	Complete	1	Myoviridae *	55 × 55	156 × 18	No	ND	+\$
PH376	1	A6	Bovine	Complete	1	Myoviridae	55 × 55	151 × 15	Yes	А	۰ŧ۰
PH346	Ţ	A12	Ovine	No	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	+
PH540	2	Al	Bovine	Complete	1	Myoviridae *	55 × 55	151 × 18	No		-
PH338	3	A9	Ovine	No	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ŀ
PH388	4	A7	Ovine	Complete	1	Myoviridae	60 × 60	157 × 17	Lory yield	ND	÷
PH50	5	A5	Ovine	Complete	1	Siphoviridae	48 × 48	166 × 9	No	ND	÷
PH56	5	A8	Ovine	Complete	1	Siphoviridae	58 × 58	170 × 9	Yes	В	-
PH238	5	A9	Ovine	Complete	1	Siphoviridae	56 × 56	233 × 8	Low yield	ND	-
PJ 18	6	ΛI	Ovine	Complete	1	Siphoviridae	58 × 58	207 × 8	Yes	Ċ	-
PH398	7	AI	Ovine	Complete	1	Siphoviridae	58 × 58	207 × 8	Yes	С	-
PH284	8	A6	Ovine	Complete	I	Siphoviridae	58 × 58	199 × 8	Yes	D	-
PH232	9	Аб	Ovine	Partial	0	NÐ	ND	ND	ND	ND	÷
PH66	10	A14	Ovine	Partial	i	Myoviridae	61 × 61	162 × 19	Yes	E	÷
PH706	11	A.16	Ovine	Partial	0	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
PH296	12	A7	Ovine	Complete	1	Myoviridae	64 × 64	144×17	Yes	F	+
PH396	13	A7	Ovine	Partial	1	Myoviridae	57×57	133 × 17	Yes	G	+
P1·1484	14	A7	Ovinc	Complete	2	Myoviridae	57 × 57	133 × 17	Yes	Ģ	÷
						Myoviridae *	43 × 43	150×20	No	-	+·
PH588	15	A13	Ovine	No	ND	ND	ND	NÐ	ND	ND	-
PH494	16	Λ2	Ovine	No ^s	0	ND	מא	ND	ND	ND	4.
PH550	17	A2	Bovine	No ^{\$}	0	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	+
PH196	18	A2	Bovine	Complete	τ	Unknown	60 × 60	40 × 12	Yes	H	-
PH786	18	A2	Bovine	Complete	l	Unknown	60 × 60	40 × 12	Yes	Н	-
PH526	19	A2	Ovine	Partial	1	Myoviridae *	43 × 43	150 × 20	No	ND	-
PH598	20	A2	Ovine	Complete	2	Myoviridae *	43 × 43	150×20	No	-	~
						Siphoviridae	58 × 58	196 × 8	Yes	ł	
PH202	21	Λ2	Boviue	No ^s	O	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	4-
PH470	21	A2	Bovine	Partial	1	Myoviridae *	53 × 53	144 × 20	No	ND	-
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	Complete	I	Myoviridae *	53 × 53	157 × 19	No	ND	- ! •
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	Complete	2	Myoviridae *	68 × 68	168 × 14	No	ND	+
						Siphoviridae	58 × 58	166 × 6	No	ND	
PH292	22	A2	Ovine	Complete	1	Siphovirídue	58 × 38	196 × 8	Yes	ſ	+
1914392	22	Λ2	Ovine	Complete	1	Siphoviridae	58 × 58	196 × 8	Yes	۱	+

Strain	ЕТ	Serotype	Host species	Type of ^a lysis	No of phage types	Phage ^b family	flead size ^C (nm)	Tail size ^d (nm)	DNA isolation	RE type	PCR ^e band
M, glucos	sida						·				
РН344	1	AH	Ovine	Partial	I	Myoviridae	53 × 53	127 × 15	Yes	J	-4-
PH498	3	AH	Ovine	No	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
PH240	5	AH	Ovine	No	ND	ND	NÐ	ND	ND	ND	-
P H496	7	UG3	Ovine	No	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
PH574	10	UG3	Ovine	No ^s	0	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
PH290	16	UG3	Ovine	No	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	
P. trehalo	nși -										
PH246	2	Т4	Oyin¢	Partial	0	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
PH252	4	T10	Ovine	Partial	1	Myoviridae *	62 × 62	139 × 20	Yes	K	-
PH254	15	T15	Ovine	No ^s	0	ND	NĎ	ND	ND	ND	-
PH68	19	13	Ovine	Partial	0	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	-

Table 3.31 (continued)

^a 0.2 µg/ml mitomycin C was used. Complete lysis, final OD₆₆₀ of 0.4 or less; partial lysis, final OD₆₆₀ of 0.4 -

1.2; No lysis, final OD_{660} is the same as the control.

* At higher concentrations of mitomycin C (1.0 µg/ml - PH202, PH494, and PH550 and 0.5 µg/ml - PH574 and

PH254) partial lysis was observed.

^{*b*}, ^{*c*}, and ^{*d*} Based on electron microscopy (see Figure 3.49).

* Only contracted tail forms were found and the measurements are based on these.

^e PCRs were carried out for all 42 isolates with primer pair 505/506. This primer pair amplifies tail genes of phage from bovine *M. haemolytica* A1 isolate PHL213 (see Appendix I).

§ PCR band of larger size (approximately 1980 bp) than expected (approximately 700 bp) (see section 3.2.9.6)

ND: Not determined

ŝ



1.4

2999-2010 - 770

1

Figure 3.49 Diagrammatic representation of morphological types of temperate phages from *M. haemolytica, M. glucosida,* and *P. trehalosi.* (A) *Siphoviridae* type (long noncontractile tail), (B) *Myoviridae* type (contractile tail), and (C) unrecognized family type (short tail). Measurement details are also indicated (a, head width; b, head height; c, tail length; d, tail width).



Figure 3.50 Negatively-stained electron micrographs of *Siphoviridae*-type phages of *M. haemolytica*. Phages are from *M. haemolytica* isolate PH2 (elongated head) (A to C), PH50 (small isometric head, 48 nm) (D), PH392 (normal isometric head, 58 nm) (E), and PH292 (normal isometric head, 58 nm) (F). Bar = 100 nm.



Figure 3.51 Negatively-stained electron micrographs of *Myoviridae*-type phages of *M. haemolytica*. Phages are from *M. haemolytica* isolate PH66 (head, 61 nm) (A and B), PH388 (head, 60 nm) (C), PH376 (head, 56 nm) (D), PH376 (abnormal phage) (E), PH372 (head, 68 nm) (F), PH598 (head, 43 nm) (G), PH484 (prolonged base plate) (H), and phage tails from isolate PH484 (I). Bar = 100 nm.



Figure 3.52 Negatively-stained electron micrographs of an unrecognized family type of phages of *M. haemolytica*. Phages are from *M. haemolytica* isolate PH196 (A and B) and PH786 (C). Bar = 100 nm.



Figure 3.53 Negatively-stained electron micrographs of phage head-like
structures of *M. haemolytica*. They are from isolate *M. haemolytica* isolate PH494
(A), *M. haemolytica* isolate PH202 (B), *P. trehalosi* isolate PH254 (C), and spiral
structure from *M. haemolytica* isolate PH398. Bar = 100 nm.

relatively rare because the heads and tails were separate structures. In this respect, the hexagonal heads and rough spherical particles are similar to colicin K (Bradicy, 1967) and the tail like objects are similar to *Plectrovirus* virions of *Inoviridae*.

The isolates that were lysed with higher concentrations of mitomycin C (*M. haemolytica* isolates P11202, PH494, and PH550, *M. glucosida* isolate PH574, and *P. trehalosi* isolate PH254) were also examined by electron microscopy. Typical phage particles were not observed in these isolates, but many spherical particles were present (Figure 3.53A to C). In addition, spiral structures (Figure 3.53D) were commonly seen in cultures of *M. haemolytica* isolates PH30, PH50, PH66, PH238, PH292, PH396, and PH398 and *P. trehalosi* isolate PH246.

3.2.4 Phage DNA isolation

Electron microscopy unambiguously identified lysogenic phages from 24 *M. haemolytica* isolates, one *M. glucosida* isolate, and one *P. trehalosi* isolate. However, phage DNA was successfully isolated from only 17 (65 %) of the corresponding lysates (Table 3.31). These included 15 *M. haemolytica* isolates (PH2, PH376, PH56, PH8, PH398, PH284, PH66, PH296, PH396, PH484, PH196, PH786, PH598, PH292, and PH392), one *M. glucosida* isolate (PH344), and one *P. trehalosi* isolate (PH254). Of these, isolates PH484 and PH598 produced two phage types, whereas the remaining isolates produced one phage type (Table 3.31). However, restriction endonuclease analysis of isolates PH484 and PH598 suggested that DNA representing only one phage type was isolated (see section 3.2.5). The phages were designated as PH2Φ, PH376Φ, PH56Φ, PH8Φ, PH398Φ, PH284Φ, PH66Φ, PH296Φ, PH396Φ, PH484Φ, PH196Φ, PH786Φ, PH598Φ, PH292Φ, PH392Φ, PH344Φ, and PH254Φ, respectively.

The yield of phage DNA varied for different isolates. For example, 10 ml of phage lysate were used to recover DNA from 11 phages (PH2 Φ , PH376 Φ , PH56 Φ , PH8 Φ , PH398 Φ , PH284 Φ , PH66 Φ , PH396 Φ , PH484 Φ , PH344 Φ , and PH246 Φ), but 50 ml of phage lysates were required to obtain a similar amount of DNA from six phages (PH296 Φ , PH196 Φ , PH786 Φ , PH292 Φ , PH392 Φ , and PI1598 Φ). Attempts to isolate phage DNA from the remaining nine lysates (PH30, PH540, PH388, PH50, PH238, PH526, PH470, PH278, and PH372) were unsuccessful. Yields of DNA were extremely low from 50 ml of lysate for two isolates (PH388 and PH238) whereas no DNA was recovered from the remaining seven lysates.

3.2.5 Restriction endonuclease analysis

The 17 samples of bacteriophage DNA were characterized by restriction endonuclease analysis using two different restriction enzymes, HindIII and Clal. Eleven distinct restriction enzyme (RE) patterns (A to K) were observed among the 17 phages (Figure 3.54 and Table 3.31). RE types A to I were represented by *M. haemolytica* isolates, RE type J was represented by *M. glucosida* isolate PH344, and RE type K was represented by *P. trehalosi* isolate PH252.

Phage of the same RE types occurred only in closely related *M. haemolytica* isolates (Table 3.31). For example, RE type A phages were associated with isolates PH2 and PH376 (bovine A1 and A6 isolates of ET 1), RE type C phages were associated with isolates PH8 and PH398 (ovine A6 isolates of ETs 8 and 9), RE type G phages were associated with isolates PH396 and PH484 (ovine A7 isolates of ET 13 and 14), RE type H phages were associated with isolates PH196 and PH786 (bovine A2 isolates of ET 18), and RE type I phages were associated with isolates PH598, PH292, and PH392 (ovine A2 isolates of ETs 20 and 22).



M 9 10 11 M 2 3 5 8 1 6 7 4

Figure 3.54 Restriction enzyme (RE) patterns of phage DNA from M. haemolytica (lane 1-9), M. glucosida (lane 10), and P. trehalosi (lane 11) isolates digested with HindIII and ClaI. The phages and their RE types in lanes 1-11 are as follows: 1, PH2Φ (type A); 2, PH56Φ (type B); 3, PH8Φ (type C); 4, PH284Φ (type D); 5, PH66 Φ (type E); 6, PH296 Φ (type F); 7, PH484 Φ (type G); 8, PH786 Φ (type H); 9, PH392Φ (type I); 10, PH344Φ (type J); 11, PH252Φ (type K). One Kb DNA markers are shown in the end lanes (M).

Although *M. haemolytica* isolates PH484 and PH598 produced two types of phages, the RE types of their phage DNA samples (G and I, respectively) were identical to those of phage DNA samples from isolates that produced only one phage type. These results indicate that only one type of phage DNA was recovered from isolates PH484 and PH598. The same RE types C, G, H, and I were associated with morphologically identical phages, whereas RE type A occurred in heterogeneous phage families (*Siphoviridae* and *Myoviridae*) (Table 3.31).

3.2.6 Determination of host range of bacteriophages

The host range of induced bacteriophages and non-induced cultures representing 42 isolates was examined by plaque assay using the same 42 indicator isolates (Table 3.31). Lysates from 13 of 32 *M. haemolytica*, one of six *M. glucosida*, and one of four *P. trehalosi* isolates caused zones of lysis (plaques) on certain sensitive indicator isolates (Table 3.32). The plaques caused by lysate of isolate PH376 on indicator isolates PH30, PH540, PH8 and PH398 were clear but all other plaques were faint (Figure 3.55). There was a correlation between the lysates and sensitive indicator strains. For example, *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* lysates caused plaques only on indicator isolates of their own species. Furthermore, *M. haemolytica* isolates PH30 (bovine A1) and PH376 (bovine A6) caused plaques mostly on serotype A1 and A6 strains, whereas *M. haemolytica* isolates PH598, PH470, PH278, and PH392 (ovine A2) caused plaques mostly on serotype A2 isolates (Table 3.32).

3.2.7 Comparison of M. haemolytica bovine serotype A1 and A6 strains

In the first series of experiments described above, M. haemolytica isolates PH2, PH30,

Table 3.32 Lytic spectra of lysates of M. haemolytica (Mh), M. glucosida (Mg),

		-	1.1	Mh li	neage	A		Mh lin	eage B		Mh 1	ineage	С		Mg	Pt
1	Lysate	PH30 (A1)	PH376 (A6)	PH388 (A7)	PH50 (A5)	PH56 (A8)	PH284 (A6)	PH296 (A7)	PH396 (A7)	PH598 (A2)	PH470 (A2)	PH278 (A2)	PH292 (A2)	PH392 (A2)	PH344 (A11)	PH (T
1	PH2/ET1/A1	+		-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
1	PH30/ET1/A1	-	++	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		1
1	PH346/ET1/A12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	+	-	-	-	- 1	1
1	PH540/ET2/A1	-	++	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	PH338/ET3/A9	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	- 1	
	PH50/ET5/A5	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	1
1	PH238/ET5/A9	-	11-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
	PH8/ET6/A1	+	++	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.2	-	-	-	-	-	1
	PH398/ET7/A1	+	++	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
1	PH706/ET11/A16	-	-	-	-	1	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	1
	PH494/ET15/A2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	
1	PH550/ET17/A2	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-		-		
	PH196/ET18/A2	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	+		+	+	. +	-	-	1
	PH786/ET18/A2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	1
	PH526/ET19/A2	-	- F	+	+	-	+	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	1
	PH598/ET20/A2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	1
	PH202/ET21/A2	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	-		1
1	PH278/ET21/A2	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	+	-	1	-	-	1
-	PH372/ET21/A2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	10.004	-	-	-	-	-
	PH292/ET22/A2	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	+	-	-	-	
-	PH392/ET22/A2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	
	PH344/ET1/A11	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	+	1
	PH498/ET3/A11	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		+	
	PH252/ET4/T10	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	14	-	

and P. trehalosi (Pt) isolates against indicator isolates

^a The indicator isolates are shown with their ETs and serotypes. The ETs have been described separately for *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (see Davies *et al.*, 1996a; 1996b).

++, clear plaque zone; +, faint plaque zone; -, no plaque zone



Figure 3.55 Plaque assays showing (A) a clear plaque (lysate of isolate PH376 on indicator isolate PH30) and (B) faint plaques (lysates of isolates PH396, PH388, and PH470 on indicator isolate PH196).

PH376, and PH540, which represent bovine A1 and A6 isolates of ETs 1 and 2, showed significant variation in phage morphology, DNA yield, and host range (Tables 3.31 and 3.32). Since isolates of ET 1 are the major causes of bovine pasteurellosis (Davies *et al.*, 1997a), seven additional isolates were characterized in further detail. The properties of 11 *M. haemolytica* isolates representing serotypes A1 and A6 of ETs 1 and 2 are shown in Table 3.33.

3.2.7.1 Phage morphology

Electron microscopy was carried out for two additional isolates, PH280 and PH560, that underwent lysis after mitomycin C treatment. Bacteriophages from isolates PH280 and PH560 had contractile tails and were classified as *Myoviridae* (Table 3.33). These phages were, morphologically, indistinguishable from those of isolates of PH30, PH540, and PH376.

3.2.7.2 Host range

à

The host range of phages from the 11 isolates was examined by plaque assay using the same range of indicator strains. Four different patterns of lysis, A -D, were observed for the lysates (phages), whereas three different patterns of lysis, I to III, were observed for the indicator isolates (Table 3.34). When the lysis patterns of phage and indicator isolates were combined, six different combinations (lytic types) were apparent (Table 3.35). Interestingly, there were strong correlations between the lytic types and cell-surface characteristics (capsule and OMP-type) of the isolates (Table 3.35). For example, lytic types 1, 2, and 3 are associated with isolates of serotype A1 and OMP type 1.1.1; lytic type 4 is associated with isolates of serotype A6
. ۸

ł

ł,

,ذ.

بر

32

Table 3.33 Properties of bacteriophages induced in seven serotype A1 and four scrotype A6 isolates of M. haemolytica

rotype		Host species	LPS type	OMP type	Geographic origin	Type of " lysis	No of phage types	Phage ⁶ Family	Head size ^e (nm)	Tail size ^d (nm)	Phage DNA Isolation
Al Bovine LA	Bovine 1A	IA		1.1.1	Glasgow	Complete	1	Siphoviridae	53 × 63	175×7	Yes
Al Bovine 1A	Bovine 1A	IA		1.1.1	Glasgow	Complete		Myoviridae*	55 × 55	151 × 18	Ycs
Al Bovine IA	Bovine 1A	ΙA		1.1.1	Glasgow	Complete	I	Myoviridae	55 × 55	151 × 18	Yes
Al Bovine 2A	Bovine 2A	2A		1.1.1	Germany	Complete	-	Myoviridae*	5 5 × 55	151×18	Yes
Al Bovine 2A	Bovine 2A	2A		1.1.1	Glasgow	Complete	<u>tani</u>	Myoviridae*	55 × 55	151×18	No
Al Bovine 2A	Bovine 2A	ZA		1.1.3	Germany	Complete	1	Myoviridae*	55 × 55	151 × 18	No
Al Bovine 2A	Bovine 2A	2A		1.1.3	Germany	Complete	1	Mpoviridae	55 × 55	151×18	No
A6 Bovine 1A	Bovine 1A	IA		1.1.4	Dumfries	Complete	<u>Jama</u>	Myoviridae"	55 × 55	151×18	Yes
A6 Bovine 1A	Bovine 1A	IA		1.1.4	Newcastle	Complete	erti	Myoviridae	55 × 55	151×18	Yes
A6 Bovine 1A	Bovine 1A	1A		1.1.4	Germany	Complete	Part.	Myovīridae	55 × 55	151 × 18	Yes
A6 Bovine 2A	Bovine 2A	2A		1.1.4	Aberdeen	Complete	I	Myoviridae	55 × 55	151×18	Yes
			1								

The previously studied four isolates (PH2, PH30, PH340, PH376) are indicated in bold type.

 a Complete lysis, final OD $_{\rm sso}$ of 0.4 or lcss

 $h_{c}a$ and ^d Based on electron inicroscopy (see Figure 3.49).

* The measurements are based on contracted tail forms.

ND: Not determined

 Table 3.34 Lytic spectra of lysates from seven serotype A1 and four serotype A6

 isolates of *M. haemolytica* against the same indicator isolates.

 A - D represent the

 lytic patterns of the lysates (phages); I - III represent the lytic patterns of the indicator

 isolates.

Sale to the second	Α	A	В	В	С	Α	Α	D	В	В	В
Lysate Indicator	PH2	PH280	PH26	PH560	PH30	PH540	PH554	PH376	PH524	PH564	PH812
PH2			-	-	+	14	-	+	-	-	-
PH280	-			-	+	-		+	-	-	-
PH26	-	10 - 50	-	-	+	-	-	1	-	-	1.
PH560	-	-		-	+	-	-		-	-	
PH30	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	++	+	+	+
PH540	-	-	+	+		-	-	++	+	+	+
PH554	-	-	+	+	-	- 11	-	++	+	+	+
PH376	-	-	-	-	-	102		-	-	L	-
PH524	-		-	17-11	-		-	2.2	-	-	1.1.1
PH564	-	- 1		-	12	-	-	-	-	-	-
PH812	-	1 2 0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

11

111

+, faint plaque zone; ++, clear plaque zone; -, no plaque zone

Table 3.35 Cell surface characteristics and lysis patterns of serotype A1 and A6

isolates of M. haemolytica

Strain	ЕТ	Serotype	LPS type	OMP type	Lysate (Phage)	Indicator strain	Combined lytic type
PH2	1	A1	1A	1.1.1	Α	I	1
PH280	1	A1	1A	1.1.1	А	Ι	1
PH26	1	A1	1A	1.1.1	В	Ι	2
PH560	1	A1	2A	1.1.1	В	I	2
PH30	1	A1	2A	1.1.1	С	п	3
PH540	2	A1	2A	1.1.3	Α	п	4
PH554	2	A1	2A	1.1.3	А	II	4
PH376	1	A6	1A	1.1.4	D	ш	5
PH524	1	A6	1A	1.1.4	В	III	6
PH564	1	A6	1A	1.1.4	В	III	6
PH812	1	A6	2A	1.1.4	В	III	6

and OMP type 1.1.4.

3.2.7.3 Phage DNA isolation and RE assay

Phage DNA was successfully isolated from lysates of isolates PH280, PH26, PH560, PH524, PH564, and PH812 in addition to isolates PH2 and PH376 (Table 3.32). However, attempts to isolate phage DNA from isolate PH554 were unsuccessful as was the case for isolates PH30 and PH540 (Table 3.33). Interestingly, these three isolates are associated with the same indicator isolate pattern II (Table 3.34). The six additional phage DNA preparations were analysed by RE assay using the two restriction enzymes Hind IIII and ClaI. The RE assay showed that all phages from bovine A1 and A6 isolates have identical RE types, i.e. RE type A (Figure 3.56).

3.2.8 Comparison of M. haemolytica serotype A2 isolates

In the first series of experiments described above, *M. haemolytica* strains, PH202, PH470, PH278, and PH372, which represent serotype A2 isolates of ET 21, showed significant variation in phage induction, morphology, and host range (Tables 3.31 and 3.32). Since ovine A2 isolates of ET 21 represent a large proportion of isolates associated with ovine pasteurellosis, four additional isolates (PH204, PH208, PH714, and PH776) were characterized in further detail. The properties of bacteriophages induced in eight *M. haemolytica* isolates representing serotype A2 of ET 21 are shown in Table 3.36.

3.2.8.1 Phage morphology

Electron microscopy was carried out for three additional isolates, PH208, PH714, and



Figure 3.56 Restriction enzyme (RE) patterns of phage DNA from serotype A1 and A6 isolates of *M. haemolytica* digested with HindIII and ClaI. (A) Preliminary examination of the phages PH2 Φ (lane 1) and PH376 (lane 2). (B) Subsequent examination of the additional phages PH26 Φ (lane 1), PH280 Φ (lane 2); PH560 Φ (lane 3), PH524 Φ (lane 4), PH564 Φ (lane 5), and PH812 Φ (lane 6). 1 Kb DNA markers and phage λ markers are shown in lanes labelled M1 and M2, respectively.

÷

t,

Table 3.36 Properties of bacteriophages induced in eight serotype A2 isolates of M. haemolytica

Strain	ET	Seratype	Host species	LPS type	OMP type	Geographic origin	Type of " Iysis	No of phage types	Phage ^b family	Head size [°] (nm)	Tail size ^d (nm)	Phage DNA Isolation	Plaque ^e ability
PH202	21	A2	Bovine	3B	2.2.2	Glasgow	No	ΠŊ	<u>UN</u>	Ð	QN	No	No
PH470	21	A2	Bovine	3 B	2.2.2	Aberdeen	Partial	1	Myoviridae*	53 x 53	144 x 20	No	Yes
PH204	21	A2	Bovine	ЗB	2.2.2	Glasgow	No	ND	ΩN	QN	QN	No	No
PH208	21	A 2	Bovine	3B	2.2.3	Glasgow	Complete		Myoviridue*	55 x 55	153 x 24	No	Yes
PH278	21	A2	Ovine	3B	2.1.2	Penrith	Complete	ľ	Myoviridae*	53 x 53	157 x 19	No	Yes
PH372	21	A2	Ovine	3B	2.1.2	Edinburgh	Сотрlete	7	Myoviridae*	68 x 68	168 x 14	No	No
									Siphoviridae	58 x 58	166 x 6	No	No
PH714	21	A2	Ovine	3B	2.1.2	Carmarthen	Complete	1	Myoviridae*	53 x 53	143 x 17	No	No
PH776	21	A2	Ovine	3B	2.1.2	Carmarthen	Partial	1	Myoviridae*	55 x 55	[45 x 19	No	Yes
-													

The previously studied four isolates (PH202, PH470, PH278, PH372) are indicated in bold type.

^a Complete lysis, final OD₅₀₀ of 0.4 or less; partial lysis, final OD₆₆₀ of 0.4 - 1.2; No lysis, final OD₆₅₀ is the same as the control.

 h,c_i and d Based on electron microscopy (see Figure 3.49).

" PH196 was used as the indicator strain.

* Only contracted tail forms were found and they were used for measurement.

ND: Not determined

PH776, that underwent lysis after mitomycin C treatment. The isolate PH204 was not induced by $0.2 \mu g/ml$ mitomycin C treatment, as was the case for isolate PH202. Bacteriophages from isolates PH208, PH714, and PH776 had contractile tails and were classified as *Myoviridae*. However, the head and tail sizes of these phages were slightly different (Table 3.36).

3.2.8.2 Host range

The host range of bacteriophages from four additional isolates was examined by plaque assay using the indicator isolate PH196, which had previously been shown to be sensitive for PH470 and PH278. Zones of lysis (plaques) were observed for the lysates of isolates PH208 and PH776 (as with PH470 and PH278), but no plaques were visible for isolates PH204 and PH714 (as with isolates PH202 and PH372).

3.2.8.3 Phage DNA isolation

Attempts to isolate phage DNA from the four additional ovine serotype A2 isolates were unsuccessful, as they were with isolates PH202, PH470, PH278, and PH372.

3.2.9 The genome of RE type A phages

3.2.9.1 Prophage genome from M. haemolytica PHL213

Of the 11 different RE types (Figure 3.54), the RE type A prophage genome was identified within the unfinished genome sequence of the bovine serotype A1 *M. haemolytica* isolate PHI.213 (www.hgsc.bcm.tmc.edu/microbial). Using RE cutting sites and Blast analysis (see section 2.5.8.2), three contigs joined in the order C150-



Figure 3.57 Diagrammatic representation showing position of the proposed prophage genome in *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 genomic data (contigs 150, 91, and 137 of the genome sequence as of 01/02/04). The range of the contigs are indicated by arrows and the numbers indicate the positions of the first and last bases of the contigs and the positions of the *attL*, *cos*, and *attR* sites. Bacterial genomic DNA is shown in grey, and prophage DNA in white. The locations of the primers used for PCR are indicated by small arrows and the locations of the phage integrase gene, *int*, and bacterial genes, *apaII*, *tRNA_{val}*, and *gap*, are shown by stippled lined boxes.

C91-C137 (as of 01/02/04) were identified to contain a segment that represents a P2like prophage genome of PHL213. Positive PCR amplification of PH2 Φ and PH376 Φ with primer pairs (#506/#505 and #504/#503) designed in the end of each contig of *M. haemolytica* PHL213 (Figure 3.57) confirmed this arrangement and provided an approximate size of the unsequenced gaps between C150 and C91 (300 bp), and between C91 and C137 (250 bp).

3.2.9.2 Identification of attachment sites (attL and attR)

To identify the homologous attachment sites *attL* and *attR* within the bacterial genome, the sequences of the two end contigs C150 and C137 were aligned and compared. Two 197 bp homologous regions were identified in each contig (Figure 3.58). The homologous region in contig C150 starts from 14 bp upstream of the 3' end of the $tRNA_{val}$ gene and finishes 28 bp downstream of the start codon of the phage *int* gene. Based on the crossover points of other phages that always occur at the upstream end of the duplication (Campbell, 2003), the first 48 bp of identical residues (one mismatch) of the homologous regions of C150 and C137 were proposed as the attL and attR core sequences, respectively. The sequence of the proposed prophage attL site of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 is similar to that of the *P. multocida* isolate LFB3 (Pullinger *et al.*, 2004) and that of the *Streptococcus thermophilus* isolate Sfi21 (Bruttin *et al.*, 1997) (Figure 3.59).

3.2.9.3 Cohesive end (cos) sequences

t

Examination of the *M. haemolytica* PHL213 prophage sequence revealed that it contains a 19-bp segment that is homologues to the corresponding cos sequence of *E. coli* P2 phages. The cos site indicates that the PHL213 prophage DNA is able to be

CTARGTTCCTTTTTCCANTAGAATGCACCCCTTAR GCGACTATAGCTCAGTTGGACCACCCTTGAC ARTATTGCTTGTCAGGAAAAATCGTTATTCTTTAATTGCATAACAATAACCACCACCTTGAC ***** ***** ***** ***** ***** ***** ***** ***** ****** ****** ****** ****** ******* ************************************	v30731			_						····		
*** ** *** **** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** **** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** *** **** *** **** *** **** *** **** *** **** *** **** *** *********************************	CTAAGTTCCTTTT:	TCCAATAGAA	TGCACAC	CGTTAA	IGCGA	CTAT.	AGCTO	CAGTTG	ĢTTAGA	GCAC	ÇACC	TTG
	** * ** *	** ***	*	** *	*	****	*	**	*		* *	* *
V30831 attL V308378 GGGGTCACTGGTTCGAGTCCAGCTAGTCGCACCATTATTTTTAGCCTGAATATCCCCATTCAGGCTTAACC ************************************	AATATTGCTTG: ^7103	TCAGGAAAAA	TCGTTAT	ICTTTA:	ATT GC	лтат.	ACAT/	TACIC	CACATT.	ATAC	- A'1"1	TTA
GGGGTCACTGGTTCGAGTCCAGCTAGTCGCACCATTATTTTTAAGCCTGAATATCCCCATTCAGGCTTAAGCC * ** ** * * ***********************************		V3	0B31		attL				-		<u>v</u>	30878
* *** ** * ***********************************	GGGGTCACTGGTT	CGAGTCCA	GCTAGTC	GCACCA	TATI	TTTA	AGCC:	CAATA	TCCCCA	TTCA	G <u>GC'I</u>	TAA
AFAATGAATGATTATTGGTGCGAGCTAGTCGCACCATTATTTTAAGGACCTGGAATATCCCGATTCAGGCTTTAAA ^7202 attR ^7249 ATACCCCCTTATAAATCAATAGCTTATTGATTTAAAACACTTCCCCCAAGTGTAGCATAACATCAATAAAAACATC *** ****** ***** ****** *************	* ** **	* * **	******	*****	****	****	****	*****	*** **	****	***	* *
7202 attR 7729 ATACCCCCTTATABAATCAATAGCTTATTGATTTABAACACTTCCCCCAAGTGTAGCATAACATCAATABAAACATT ************************************	ΛΥΛΑΛΤΑΛΤΘΆΤΤ <i>Ι</i>	ATTGGTGCGA	GCTAGTCO	CACCAI	TAT	TTTA	AGCCT	GAATA	FCCCGA	TTCA	GGCI	TTA
ATAC ATACCCCTTATÉARTCARTAGGTTATTGATTTARRACACTTCCCCARGTGTAGCATARCATCARTARAAACATC *** ****** ****** *******************		~7	202		atti	•						7249
ATACCCCTTATABARTCAATAGGTTATTGATTTABARCACTTCCCCAAGTGTAGGATAACATCAATABAAACATC *** ****** ****** ****** ************						•						
ATACTTATAA-TCAATAATTTAAATCATCTCTCTC			ma.mm/ha.mm			haaa			TA & CAR			
ATACTTATAA-TCAATAATTTAAATCATCTCTCTC	ATACCCCTTATAA	ATCAATAGCT	TATTGAT	TTAAAAC	CACTI	cccc	AAGTO	STAGCA	TAACAT	CAATI	AAAA	ACA
V31027 GATATGAAAACTTGATATTTATTGATCGTT *** * ******************************	ATACCCCTTATAA *** *******	ATCAATAGCT ******	TATTGAT: ***	TTAAAAG **** *	CACTT	* *	AAGT(* *	STAGCA * **	TAACAT(* ***	CAATI ****	AAAA ****	ACA!
GATATGAAAACTTGATATTTATTGATCGTT *** * ******************************	ATACCCCTTATAA *** ******* ATACTTATAA	ATCAATAGCT ****** -TCAATA	TATTGAT" *** ~~~AT?	ТТАВАА(**** * ГТАВАТ(CACTT * ** CATCT	CCCCC * * * CTCA	аастс * * Алалс	STAGCA * ** 3CAATA	FAACAT * *** FAGCAT	CAATI * * * * * TAATI	ARAA * * * * ARAA	ACA
CATA TOARACTTOATAT TTATUATOT COTTATAACATCOTTOCACACACTT	ATACCCCTTATAA) *** ******* ATA~~-CTTATAA	RTCAATAGCT ****** -TCARTA	TATTGAT" *** ~~~~AT	ГТАВАА(**** * ГТАВАТ(CACTT * ** CATCT	СССС + * СТСА	алстс * * Алалс	STAGCA' * ** \$CAATA'	FAACAT * *** FAGCAT	CAATI * * * * * TAATI	алар * * * * Алар	ACA!
CATA-GGAAACTTGATATTTATTAATCGTTTGTAGTCTCTAATAATATTTATT	АТАССССТТАТАА; *** ******* АТА∹~-СТТАТАА	<u>атслата</u> сст ***** -тсаата	TATTGAT" *** ~~~~AT	TTABAA(**** * TTABAT(CACTT	CCCC * * CTCA	AAGT(* * AAAA(STAGCA * ** 307ATA	FAACAT * *** FAGCAT V31027	CAATI	AAAA * * * * AAAA	ACA
Int TAAA-CTGCACACATACCACAAACGGCAACAAATCGTTGTAGTCTCTTAATAATATTTATT	АТАССССТТАТАА *** ******* АТАСТТАТАА GATATGAAAACTT(атслатасст ***** -тсаата сататттатт	TATTGAT" *** AT GATCGTT	TTABAAC **** * TTABATC	CACTT * ** CATCT	CCCC: * * CTCA:	AAGT6 * * AAAAA	STAGCA * ** SCAATA CCTTTG	FACAT * *** FAGCAT 031027 CACACA	CAATI **** TAATI	AAAA **** AAAAA 	ACA
Int TAAA-CTGCACACATACCAAAAGAAATAAAAAAATGGCTACTATTATTAAGAACGGCAACAAATACCGAGC *** **** * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	ATACCCCTTATAA: *** ******* ATACTTATAA GATATGAAAACTT(*** * ******	RTCARTRGCT ***** -TCRRTR GATATTTATT ********	TATTGAT *** 	TTABAAC **** * TTABATC TATGATC * * **	CACTT * ** CATCT CTCTA	CCCC: CTCA TTAA	аасто * * Алало <u>Сатто</u> ***	STAGCA * ** SCAATA CCTTTG *** *	FACAT * *** FAGCAT *** *** *	CAATI **** TAATI TAATI	AAAA **** AAAA 	ACA' **** ACA' 6CA
INC TAAA-CTGCACACATACCAAAAGGAATAAAAAAAAGGGCTACTATTATTAAGAACGGCAACAARTACCGAGC *** **** * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	ATACCCCTTATAA *** ******* ATACTTATAA GATATGAAAACTT *** * ****** CATA-GGAAACTT	RTCARTRGCT ***** -TCRRTR GATATTTATT ******** GATATTTATT	TATTGAT *** GATCGTT AATCGTT	TTABAAC **** * TTABATC <u>TATGATC</u> * * ** FGTAGTC	CACTT * ** CATCT CATCTA CTCTA	CCCC: * * * CTCA <u>TTAA</u> ****	AAGT(* * AAAAA CATT(*** TATT7	5TAGCA * ** 3CAATA <u>CCTTTG</u> *** * FATTTA	TAACATI * *** PAGCAT' 	СААТИ **** ТААТИ ТТ * ТТ	AAAA AAAAA TG ***	ACA ACA ACA ACA ACA
<u>PARA-CTGCACACATACACAAACCAATAAAAAAACGCTACTATTATTAAGAACGGCAACAAATACCGAGC</u> *** **** * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	ATACCCCTTATAA *** ******* ATACTTATAA GATATGAAAACTTC *** * ****** CATA-GGAAACTTC	RTCAATAGCT ***** -TCAATA~~~ GATATTTATT ******** GATATTTATT.	TATTGAT *** GATCGTT ****** AATCGTT	TTABAAQ **** * TTABATC <u>TATGATC</u> * * ** FGTAGTC	CACTT * ** CATCT CTCTA	CCCC3 CTCA <u>TTAA</u> ****	AAGT(* * AAAA(<u>CATT(</u> *** TATT7	тасса * ** Слата <u>ССТТТС</u> *** * ГАТТТА	FARCAT * *** FAGCAT V31027 CACACA *** * CACAAAA ~7385	CAATJ **** TAATJ TAATJ * * ATAAJ	AAAA **** AAAAA 	ACA' **** ACA' 6CA ** 6CA
*** **** * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	ATACCCCTTATAA *** ****** ATACTTATAA GATATGAAAACTT(*** * ****** CATA-GGAAACTT(RTCAATAGCT ****** -TCAATA GATATTTATT ******** GATATTTATT.	TATTGAT *** GATCGTT ****** AATCGTT	TTABAAQ **** * TTABATC TATGATC * * ** FGTAGTC	EACTT * ** EATCT ETCTA ETCTA Int	CCCC: (* * (CTCA) <u>TTAA</u> **** ATAA	аасто * * алаас <u>Сатто</u> *** таттт	STAGCA * ** 3CAATA <u>2CTTTG</u> *** * FATTTA	TAACAT * *** FAGCAT '31027 CACACAT *** * CACAAA '7385	СААТ! * * * * * ТААТ! ТТ * ТТ	AAAA AAAAA TG XXX	ACA ACA ACA CA
AAAATCTECCTTACTGTGC?"INGTTCCTCTTTGTAGCAAATTGATTTTATGGGAAAAACGCGACTATATTCCAATT	ATACCCCTTATAAI *** ******* ATACTTATAA GATATGAAAACTT(*** * ******* CATA-GGAAACTT(<u>TAAA-CTGCACAC</u>	RTCAATAGCT ****** -TCAATA GATATTTATT ********* GATATTTATT. <u>ATACACAAAG</u>	TATTGAT *** GATCGTT ****** AATCGTT GAAT	TTABAAG **** * TTABATC TATGATC * * ** FGTAGTC	EACTI ATCI EATCI ETCIA ETCIA INI ETCIA	CCCC TTAA TTAA TACT	AAGTO * * AAAAO CATTO *** TATTT	STAGCA * ** SCAATA COTTEG *** * CATTEA TAAGA	FACAT * *** FAGCAT '31627 CACACA CACACA *** *** CACACAAAAAAAAAA	CAATJ **** TAATJ TTAATJ TTAAJ * ACAAL	AAAA **** AAAAA 	ACA ACA GCA
	ATACCCCTTATAA *** ******* ATACTTATAA GATATGAAAACTTC *** *******************************	RTCAATAGCT ****** -TCAATA GATATTTATT ********** GATATTTATT ATACACAARG * * **	TATTGAT" *** GATCGTT AATCGTT CAATI *	TTABABA **** * TTABATC CATGATC * * ** FGTAGTC ADABABA *	EACTT * ** EATCT ETCTA Int ATCGC	CCCC3 TTAA TTAA TACT * *	AAGT0 * * AAAA0 CATT0 *** TATT3 ATTA1 ****	STAGCA * ** SCAATA <u>CCTTTG</u> *** * CATTTA TTAAGA	FAACATI * *** FAGCAT *** CACACA *** *** ACGGCA3 ** *	CAATI **** TAATI TAATI * * NTAAI ACAAI * *	AAAA AAAAA TC ACTG ATAC	ACA ACA CA

Figure 3.58 Comparison of the nucleotide sequences of contigs C150 and C137 of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213 in the vicinity of the attachment sites (attL and attR). The homologous regions are shown in bold type. The numbers above and below the sequences indicate the bases of each contig. The asterisks indicate residues that are identical in the two sequences. The underlined sequences of contigs C150 and C137 represent the attL and attR sites, respectively. The $tRNA_{val}$ gene and the 5' end of the phage integrase (*int*) gene are represented by boxes. The inverted repeats are indicated by arrows.

289

	TIAT WE TRANSCORE A TATCCCCATTCAGCTE	TIMA A GAGA GOMANA GOLING MUTANA A TICTA GOCITITI TING TO	TAARGOUTTING CONTROLOGY IN THE TRANSPORT	
	C ACCA	C ACCA	C. ATT	
Aménoa(3'stem	TAGFCG	CCACAG	AGGGGA	
TTPC 3'stem	T CCAGC	T CTOGC	500 a	
T VC Ionp	TTCGAG	TTCAAG	SVODUS -	
T'PC 5'stem	ACTGG	BCCAG	80-198	
Variable loop	CCCTC	GTCCATCGIACGT	CGPT	
Antí 3'stean	GGTCG	estag	GEACT	
Anti loup	TGACRT	TEAGGG	TCCTAR	
Anti 5'stem	CCAUC T	CTAIC T	ACTCC C	
DHU Vstem	GRGC A	ACAC G	TAAC A	
UHC 0.00	trategra	TTGCTRC	TGCRTP	
Stem L	SCTC AGU	steg ani	stra aad	
35 25 25	tr ta g	9 9 L 6 9	OT TA C	
Amino: S'sterr	, Jeceac	GCTCI	; Gree	
	io irva	IRN:4	t RVA ar	
	PHL213	LFB3	Sfi21	

ţ

4

2

ġ.

¢

r: A ì

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

multocida isolate LFB3, and S. thermophilus isolate Sfi21. The box indicates the tRNA region and the core sequences of each phages are Figure 3.59 Comparison of prophage attachment sites (attL) in the various *tRNA* genes of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213, *P.* underlined. The inverted repeats are indicated by arrows.

circularized by pairing complementary cohesive ends (cos) after entering the host cell (see Figure 1.7). The cos sequences of PHL213 Φ and P2 phage are compared in Figure 3.60.

3.2.9.4 Proposed RE type A phage genome

A putative PHL213 Φ phage genome (Figure 3.61) was constructed based on the positions of the attL, attR, and cos regions (Figure 3.59 and 3.60). The three contigs C137, C91, and C150 were reverse complemented due to the nature of phage integration (see Figure 1.7). The proposed genome size of PHL213 Φ phages was approximately 34,505 bp. The hypothetical RE profile of the proposed PHL213 Φ genome (Figure 3.62A and Table 3.37) corresponds to the RE assays of PH2 Φ (Figure 3.62B) and confirmed that RE type A phages represent the P2-like phage PHL213 Φ .

3.2.9.5 Bioinformatic analysis and identification of phage encoding sequences

Both strands of the phage genome were analyzed to identify open reading frames (ORFs) and details are summarized in Table 3.38. The amino acid sequences deduced from the phage ORFs were compared to the contents of the phage database. Thirty three of 47 ORFs showed homology to published phage genes and functions could be provisionally assigned. Of these, 25 ORFs resembled proteins encoded by the P2 phage of the *Myoviridae*. Alignment of the *M. haemolytica* PHL213 Φ and the E. coli P2 phage genome showed very similar genetic organisation (Figure 3.63). Thus, *M. haemolytica* RE type A phages represent new members of the P2 phage family.

Figure 3.60 Comparison of the cos sequences from *M. haemolytica* prophage PHI.213 Φ and *E. coli* prophage P2. The asterisks indicate residues that are identical in the two sequences.



Figure 3.61 Diagrammatic representation showing the proposed PHL213Φ phage genome. The three contigs were reverse complemented. Based on the size of the PCR products the gaps between reverse complemented contigs rC137 and rC91 and rC91 and rC150 are approximately 250 and 300 nucleotides respectively (see section 3.2.9.1). The range of the contigs are indicated by the arrows and the numbers indicate the positions of the first and last base of each contig and the first base of cosL, attP (attachment sits of phage), and cosR sites. The phage genome starts at the first base of the cosL site and ends at the last base of the cosR site (Appendix I). The numbers below the proposed phage genome indicate the position of the first and last bases of the contigs in the proposed phage genome.



Figure 3.62 Predicted fragment patterns of the putative PHL213 Φ in a virtual gel generated by NEB cutter (A) and restriction fragment patterns of PH2 Φ DNA in a 0.7% agarose gel (B). The restriction enzymes used in lanes 1-6 were as follows: 1, HindIII; 2, ClaI; 3, HindIII & ClaI; 4, HpaII; 5, PstI; 6, RsaI. 1 Kb DNA markers and phage λ markers are shown in lanes M1 and M2 lanes respectively. Corresponding predicted and actual bands for each enzyme of PHL213 Φ and PH2 Φ , respectively, are numbered.

Table 3.37 The size and position of restriction fragments of putative PHL213Φ.

	HindIII (a/agctt)	ClaI (at/cgat)	HindIII & ClaI	Hpall (cc/gg)	PstI (ctgca/g)	Rsal (gt/ac)
1	10925 (9989-20913)	15843 (1-15843)	9988 (1-9988)	3591 (8387-11977)	20651 (12737-33387)	3235 (6319-9553)
2	9928 (1-9989)	9918 (24588-34505)	5855 (9989-15843)	1970 (16310-18279)	9033 (1-9033)	3212 (20330-23541)
3	4838 (29668-34505)	8328 (15844-24171)	5070 (15844-20913)	1205 (6553-7757)	2639 (9034-11672)	2234 (30411-32644)
4	3736 (25932-29667)	416 (24172-24587)	4838 (29668-34505)	1086 (15224-16309)	1118 (33388-34505)	2211 (10898-13108)
5	2514 (20914-23427)		3736 (25932-29667)	1083 (22590-23672)	1064 (11673-12736)	2155 (4164-6318)
6	2504 (23428-25931)		2514 (20914-23427)	1042 (13105-14146)		2120 (26613-28732)
7			1344 (24588-25931)	993 (30709-31701)		2020 (16787-18806)
8			744 (23428-24171)	868 (5456-6323)		1885 (24695-26579)
9			416 (24172-24587)	857 (12248-13104)		1861 (32645-34505)
10				805 (32254-33058)		1678 (28733-30410)
				1 1		1 1

Table 3.38	Bioinformatic analy	sis of ORFs	of the putativ	'e PHL213Φ	of <i>M</i> .
haemolytics	7				

	orf	Coding region	Length (aa)	Protein description	Homologous gene (aa length)	% Identifies/Range (aa)
Reve	rse coi	mplementary sequ	nence of Con	ntíg 137 (34790bp-41768bp)	D0	
cosL		34790-34808	5.4.C	Conesive end	P2 cos	
	orH	34995-36035 (-)	340	Portal protein	P2 phage Q (344)	56/316
	orl2	36044-37882 (-)	612	Terminase	P2 phage P (590)	55/578
	orf3	37996-38823	275	Capsid scaffolding protein	P2 phage O (284)	43/273
	orf4	38837-39865	342	Major capsid precursor	P2 phage N (357)	55/344
	orf5	39875-40564	229	Terminase	P2 phage M (247)	40/220
	orff	40676-41191	171	Capsid completion protein	P2 phage L (169)	38/160
	ort7	41188-41400	70	Essential tail gene	P2 phage X (67)	52/70
Reve	rse coi	mplementary seq	uence of Col	ntig 91 (1bp-5190bp)		
	orfl	1-86 (Partial)	28 (Partial)	Lysin	HP1 Phage Lys (186)	73/26
	ort2	87-542	151	Affects timing of lysis	P2 phage LysB (141)	28/139
	orf3	373-666	97	Hypothetical protein	P2 phage 81 (100)	25/48
	orf4	691-912	73	Hypothetical protein	P2 phage 82 (74)	34/73
	orf5	909-1394	161	Tail completion	P2 phage R (155)	41/158
	orf6	1387-1845	152	Tail completion	P2 phage S (150)	36/146
	orf7	2213-5125	970	Potative tail length	P2 phage T (815)	26/706
Reve	rse coi	mplementary sequ	actice of Con	atig 150 (1bp-21546bp)		
	orfl	234-839	201	Baseplate assembly protein	P2 pluage V (211)	40/204
	orf2	839-1174	111	Baseplate assembly protein	P2 phage W (115)	50/75
	orl3	1171-2088	305	Baseplate assembly protein	P2 phage J (302)	53/300
	orf4	2075-2707	210	Baseplate assembly protein	P2 phage I (176)	45/172
	orf5	2710-4989	759	Tail fiber protein	P2 phage H (669)	39/218
	0716	5489-6871	460	'fail sheath	P2 phage FI (396)	44/395
	orf7	6880-7386	168	Tail tube	P2 phage Fil (172)	40/172
	8110	7465-7779	104	Tail protein	P2 phage E (91)	35/80
	orf9	7983-8330	115		No homology	
	orf10	8332-8769	145	Tail protein	P2 phage U (159)	47/129
	orf11	8769-10007	412	Tail protein	P2 phage D (387)	50/374
	orf12	10190-10999 (-)	269		No homology	
	orf13	11031-11303 (-)	90		No homology	
	orf14	11391-11801 (-)	135		No homology	
	orf15	11819-12337 (-)	172		No bomology	
	orf16	12341-13084 (-)	247	CI repressor protein	D3 phage cI (223)	29/222
	orf17	13151-13363	70	Cro protein	D3 phage cro (73)	32/49
	orf18	13347-13631	91	Recombination protein	c2 phage e15 (179)	32/52
	orf19	13462-13707 (-)	81	Not known	D3 phage or [56 (38)	38/54
	orf20	13727-13897 (-)	56		No homology	5474.
	orf21	13840-14112	90		No homology	
	orf22	14195-14527	110	Transcription regulator	Mu phage per (75)	31/58
	orf23	14540-14833	97	B	No homology	51756
	orf74	14985-15227	80		No homology	
	orf25	15224.15556	110		No homology	
	orf)6	15553,17013	786	DNA replication	P2 nhage A (586)	271424
	orf77	17026.18258	77	DIALION	No homology	577424
	orf18	19759 19710	150	SCB protein	All8 whare sch (160)	10/170
	01120	19701-10053	110	producted 17.3 kDa protein	1020 phage ap55 (151)	33/139
	01127	10043-10212	80	prenoted to a koa protein	No homolooy	+0/70
	0000	19043-19312	07		No homology	
	(113) (113)	19201-19377	70 50		No homology	
	01134	19903-20037	264	laterrane	D2 minorogy	71/051
of + D	0133	20307-21377 (*) 21546 21400	950	nacgase Phase attachment city	rz pnage nu (557)	/1/251
antr Dovo	NC0 00	21340-21499 mulamatters com	namon of Co.	гаадо шаонисть sae мід 137 (1456рь249ае))		
ACV0	ang co	anprementary seq	10	nag ran (asanonh-asanonh)	03 may	
160.0		J*1707*J*0V0	12		14 900	



Figure 3.63 Alignment of the putative M. haemolytica PHL213 phage genome with the E.coli P2 phage genome. The phage genes yellow; DNA packaging and head, green; head-to-tail joining, brown; tail, blue; tail fiber, mauve; lysis, violet; lysogenic conversion, black; unattributed genes, grey. Genes linked by sequence similarity are connected by shading. Numbers above phage PHL2134 represent are colour coded according to their attribution to phage modules. Lysogeny, red; DNA replication, orange; transcriptional regulation, ORFs in each contig and letters below phage P2 represent annotated genes. Details of the ORFs are shown in Table 3.38.

296

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

+

3.2.9.6 Prevalence of RE type A phages in *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

To determine whether the RE type A phages are present in other isolates of *M.* haemolytica, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*, PCRs were carried out with 32 *M.* haemolytica, six *M. glucosida*, and four *P. trehalosi* strains, using the primer pair #505/#506 (see Figure 2.34 and Table 2.19). A 700 bp (approximate size) DNA fragment was amplified not only in the two *M. haemolytica* isolates, PH2 and PH376, in which RE type A phages has been induced, but also in a further 19 *M. haemolytica* isolates and in one *M. glucosida* isolate (Figure 3.64, lane 1 and Table 3.31). However, a 1980 bp (approximate size) of DNA fragment was amplified in one *M.* haemolytica isolate, PH30 (Figure 3.64, lane 2) and no DNA fragments were amplified in the remaining 10 *M. haemolytica*, five *M. glucosida*, and four *P.* trehalosi isolates (Figure 3.64, lane 3 and Table 3.31).



Figure 3.64 PCR assay with primer pair #505/#506. The *M. haemolytica* isolates in lanes 1 to 3 are as follows: 1, PH2; 2, PH30; 3, PH540. The one Kb DNA marker is in lane M.

2.35.1

ć

4.1 Comparative sequence analysis of nineteen genes of various functions of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

Previous population genetic studies of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*, based on MLEE, provide an evolutionary framework with which to compare the evolution of selected genes (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b). The previous study (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) indicates that distinct evolutionary lineages of *M. haemolytica* are differentially adapted to cattle and sheep. Comparative sequence analysis has been shown to be an effective method of understanding the evolution of bacterial species (Field *et al.*, 1999; Kondrashov, 1999; Spratt & Maiden, 1999). Comparative sequence analysis of the leukotoxin operon of *M. haemolytica* has shown that host switching, together with horizontal DNA transfer and recombination, have played important roles in the evolution of the leukotoxin and associated proteins (Davies *et al.*, 2001; 2002).

In the present study, comparative sequence analyses of nineteen genes of various functions were carried out in *M. haemolytica* to investigate in further detail the roles of host switching, horizontal DNA transfer, and recombination in the evolution of *M. haemolytica*. The corresponding genes were also analysed in the closely related species *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*, previously shown to be the origin of leukotoxin DNA in isolates of *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 2001; 2002).

4.1.1 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding DNA repair and recombination enzymes (*recA*)

The nucleotide and inferred amino acid sequence analysis of *recA* (Figure 3.1) indicated that this gene is highly conserved in *M. haemolytica* and there was no

evidence of recombinational exchange. This is not surprising because the RecA protein is involved in many important functions related to cell viability including recombination and DNA repair (Kowalczykowski *et al.*, 1994; Radman *et al.*, 2000) and is highly conserved within diverse bacterial species (Karlin *et al.*, 1995). The *recA* tree topology agrees with 16S rRNA sequence analysis which shows that *M. glucosida* has diverged from *M. haemolytica*, and *P. trehalosi* is further diverged from both *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* (Davies *et al.*, 1996).

4.1.2 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding metabolic enzymes (aroA, asd, galE, gap, gnd, g6pd, mdh, mtlD, and pmm)

Genes encoding metabolic enzymes are subject to either neutral or purifying selection since variations in these genes have no advantage or even lead to fatal consequences (Musser, 1996). This was also the case for metabolic enzyme genes of M. *haemolytica*. The *aroA*, *asd*, *galE*, *gap*, *gnd*, *g6pd*, *mdh*, *mtlD*, and *pmm* genes of M. *haemolytica* have low d_N values (0.00 to 0.60) due to purifying selection based on functional constraint. The *asd*, *gnd*, *g6pd*, and *mtlD* genes also have very low d_S values (0.26 to 0.45). This supports the view that synonymous substitutions are also subject to purifying selection due, for example, to codon bias (Jordan *et al.*, 2002). The *aroA*, *gap*, *mdh*, and *pmm* genes of M. *haemolytica* have high d_S values (2.93 to 9.44) but nucleotide sequence analysis of these genes indicates that this variation is due to horizontal DNA transfer and recombination. The high d_S/d_N values of *aroA* (12.61), *gap* (58.69), *mdh* (28.9), and *pmm* (15.73), in particular, indicate that purifying selection is acting on these genes and constraining amino acid changes.

Because the *aroA*, *gap*, and *pmm* genes showed evidence of recombination in the preliminary analysis of 12 isolates, a total 32 *M*. *haemolytica*, six *M*. *glucosida*, and

four *P. trehalosi* isolates were examined. The *mdh* gene showed limited evidence of recombination in the preliminary analysis of 12 isolates and additional isolates were not examined.

In the case of *aroA*, isolates of ETs 10 to 14 and ET 18 (*aroA3*-type alleles) contain an almost identical recombinant segment that has been derived from an unknown source (Figure 3.3). The donor could not be identified, but it must be a closely related species because the recombinant segment is less divergent than the corresponding region of *P. trehalosi*. Since isolates of ETs 10 and 11 (MLEE lineage A2), 12 to 14 (MLEE lineage B), and 18 (MLEE lineage B) are distantly related, the recombinant segment probably indicates a 'hot spot' region which is susceptible to horizontal DNA transfer and recombination. This recombinant segment acts as a donor for a second recombinant event, which occurred in isolates of ETs 19 to 22 (*aroA2.1*).

In the case of gap, the identical recombinant segments in *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 19 to 22 (gap3.1) have most likely been derived from the same source, *M. glucosida* (Figure 3.9). Since isolates of ETs 19 to 22 are closely related, the common recombinant segment probably reflects a common origin rather than a 'hot spot' region. In addition, *M. glucosida* isolates of ETs 10 (PH574, gap4.1) and 16 (PH290, gap2.4) contain recombinant segments or entire genes that are probably derived from *M. haemolytica*, suggesting that interspecies recombination has also occurred in this gene.

In the case of *pmm*, distantly related isolates of ETs 5 (MLEE lineage A1), 6 to 11 (MLEE lineage A2), and 18 (MLEE lineage B) have very similar sequences (*pmm4*-type alleles) that have numerous nucleotide sites in common with the *pmm3*-type

alleles of *M. glucosida* (Figure 3.19). This suggests that *pmm4*-type alleles may originally have been derived, by assortative and/or intragenic recombination, from *M. glucosida* isolates. In addition, the unusual divergent sequences of *pmm* (*pmm5.1*) as well as *mdh* (*mdh2.1*) in isolate PH588 suggests that this isolate is more susceptible to horizontal DNA transfer and recombination than other *M. haemolytica* isolates.

Since the Gnd, G6pd, Mdh, and MtlD enzymes have been used in the previous MLEE study of *M. haemolytica* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a), their MLEE allele types were compared with the nucleotide and inferred amino acid sequence types of the corresponding genes. In particular, the *mtlD* gene of additional isolates of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* that showed variation in the MLEE study were sequenced. The MLEE allele types of each enzyme reflect the nucleotide and amino acid sequence variations, but MLEE analysis was less discriminating than nucleotide and amino acid sequence analysis.

In conclusion, intra- and interspecies recombinational exchanges have not occurred frequently in the metabolic enzyme genes (as they have in surface-exposed protein genes). Nevertheless, they are important mechanisms for promoting allelic diversity in certain metabolic enzyme genes of *M. haemolytica*. However, amino acid replacement within these genes is highly constrained due to strong purifying selection. The low rate of recombination within the majority of housekeeping enzyme genes suggests that the dendrogram generated by the MLEE data provides an accurate indication of the phylogenetic relationships of *M. haemolytica* isolates. This is also indicated by the fact that the tree topology based on the concatenated sequences of seven highly conserved genes (Figure 3.46) is very similar to that based on MLEE (Figure 2.1). Low rates of recombinational exchanges in metabolic enzyme genes are also seen in other clonal bacterial populations such as *Salmonella* and *E. coli*

(Boyd *et al.*, 1994; Nelson & Selander, 1992). However, frequent recombination in housekeeping enzyme genes has been described in non-clonal bacterial populations such as *Neisseria* species (Feil *et al.*, 1995; Feil *et al.*, 1996; Zhou *et al.*, 1997).

4.1.3 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding secreted proteins (gcp)

The gcp gene was shown to be highly conserved in *M. haemolytica* because only two nucleotide and two amino acid polymorphic sites were found (Figure 3.21). This finding is clearly very different from another secreted protein, the leukotoxin, which is highly divergent and has a complex mosaic structures due to extensive horizontal DNA transfer and intragenic recombination (Davies *et al.*, 2001; 2002). In addition, the *M. haemolytica* bovine serotype A1 isolate PH2 and the *M. glucosida* isolate PH344 have identical Gcp amino acid sequences and the *P. trehalosi* isolate PH246 has a similar Gcp amino acid sequence (88 % identity) (Figure 3.21B). Previous studies have shown that *M. glucosida* possesses the gcp gene but has no Gcp activity, whereas *P. trehalosi* has no gcp gene or Gcp activity (Abdullah *et al.*, 1990; Lee *et al.*, 1994; Watt *et al.*, 1997). However, a high percentage of amino acid identity (76 to 100 %) was also detected in Gcp in various members of the *Pasteurellaceae* (Table 3.2) and may reflect an important common role for this protein in bacterial pathogenesis.

4.1.4 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding periplasm-associated proteins (*plpA*, *plpB*, *plpC*, and *plpD*)

The three lipoprotein genes, *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC*, are highly conserved among nine *M. haemolytica* isolates. In contrast, the *plpA*, *plpB*, and *plpC* genes of

M. haemolytica isolate PH196 have diverged from the corresponding genes of other *M. haemolytica* isolates due to a large recombinant segment derived from *M. glucosida*. However, the high d_s/d_N values of *plpA* (97.3), *plpB* (20.4), and *plpC* (19.7) of *M. haemolytica* suggest that amino acid replacements are strongly constrained by purifying selection.

Although the plpA, plpB, and plpC genes of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida were successfully amplified and sequenced, only the plpA gene was amplified in P. trehalosi. The other two genes could not be amplified in P. trehalosi despite many attempts. This suggests that P. trehalosi only contains the plpA gene. This situation is common in other members of the Pasteurellaceae which also do not contain plpB and plpC (Table 3.2). Of seven selected members (Table 3.2) of the Pasteurellaceae, only M. haemolytica and A. pleuropneumoniae contain contiguous plpA, plpB and plpC lipoprotein genes whereas the remaining species contain only a single lipoprotein gene that is similar to plpA.

Sequence analysis of the fourth lipoprotein gene, plpD, indicates that this gene is also highly conserved in *M. haemolytica* with low d_s (0.16) and d_N (0.35) values. The location of PlpD in the cell wall is not known, but it is probably located in the periplasmic space since the C-terminal end of PlpD has significant identity to the corresponding periplasm-spanning region of OmpA (Pautsch & Schulz, 1998). In addition, the N-terminal end of PlpD contains typical lipoprotein sequences (Nardini *et al.*, 1998).

Cooney & Lo (1993) examined the inferred amino acid sequences of PlpA, PlpB, and PlpC and suggested that all three lipoproteins should be localized to the inner membrane in spite of a high antibody response to these proteins. They explained

that the three lipoproteins may be released as a result of cell lysis or membrane turnover and stimulated an antibody response due to their highly immunogenic nature (Cooney & Lo, 1993). Lipoproteins are extremely immunogenic because esterlinked fatty acids are located at the amino-terminal end of the lipoproteins (Melchers *et al.*, 1975). Based on these views, it seems reasonable that the PlpA, PlpB, PlpC, and PlpD proteins are highly conserved in *M. haemolytica* because there is no selective pressure driving variation of these proteins from, for example, the immune system.

4.1.5 Comparative sequence analysis of genes encoding outer membrane proteins (*ompA*, *tbpB*, *tbpA*, and *wza*)

In contrast to the various genes described above the surface-exposed protein genes, ompA, tbpB, tbpA, and wza, are highly divergent due to extensive recombinational exchanges. The patterns of amino acid variation in different regions of these proteins vary, indicating that different regions are under different selection pressures. Presumably, this variation in related to different structures and functions. Therefore, the amino acid diversity of different proteins depends not only on the degree of nucleotide diversity generated by recombination but also on evolutionary constraints imposed by the function of the encoded gene product. In general, conserved amino acid regions correspond to important structures that are maintained by functional constraint (purifying selection), whereas highly variable amino acid regions reflect diversification that is in some way advantageous to the organism.

4.1.5.1 Heat modifiable outer membrane protein gene (*ompA*)

Nucleotide variation of ompA. The ompA1- and ompA2-type alleles are associated

exclusively with bovine and ovine isolates of *M. haemolytica*, respectively, and have very different nucleotide sequences (Figure 3.27). There was no evidence that intragenic recombination has occurred between these two subclasses. However, the association of identical, or nearly identical, *ompA1-* and *ompA2-*type alleles with divergent lineages of *M. haemolytica* clearly suggests that assortative (entire gene) recombination has been an important factor in the evolution of *ompA* in these isolates (Table 3.20). In contrast, the *ompA4-*type alleles associated with *M. haemolytica* isolates of ETs 12 to 15 (serotypes A7 and A13) have recombinant segments (green) that have probably been derived from *M. glucosida*.

Molecular evolution of OmpA in relation to structure and function. Comparison with secondary structure prediction models of the H. influenzae OmpA protein (Webb & Cripps, 1998) and with 3D structural models of the E. coli OmpA protein (Arora et al., 2001; Pautsch & Schulz, 1998; Pautsch & Schulz, 2000; Webb & Cripps, 1998) indicate that the transmembrane domain of OmpA in M. haemolytica and M. glucosida consists of eight membrane-spanning regions and four relatively long, mobile, hydrophilic surface-exposed loop regions (Figure 3.29). Sequence analysis of the ompA gene of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida indicates that different regions of the gene have different nucleotide and amino acid diversity. The four surfaceexposed loop regions are highly variable, whereas non-loop regions are highly conserved. Different selection pressures acting on the loop and non-loop regions account for this variation. The d_s/d_N values of < 1 (0.34 to 0.77) for the surfaceexposed loop regions indicates that diversifying selection is acting on these parts of the molecule. In contrast, amino acid replacement is highly constrained within the non-loops regions ($d_s/d_N = 35.17$) because these parts of the molecule correspond to the membrane-spanning and periplasmic domains and cannot tolerate excessive amino acid change. Similar patterns of nucleotide and amino acid diversity have also been

described in other OmpA proteins (Duim et al., 1997; Yuan et al., 1989).

However, the OmpA protein of *M. haemolytica* is the first in which a host-specific pattern of sequence variation has been described. The exclusive association of the OmpA1- and OmpA2-type proteins with boyine and ovine isolates of *M. haemolytica*, respectively, together with evidence that the *ompA1*- and *ompA2*-type genes have undergone horizontal transfer between isolates of divergent phylogenetic lineages, indicates that OmpA is under strong selective pressure from the host and plays an important role in host-pathogen relationships. It has been shown that the OmpA proteins of other pathogens function as ligands, are involved in binding to specific host cell receptor molecules, and play a role in adherence and colonization (Dabo et al., 2003; Hill et al., 2001; Millman et al., 2001; Prasadarao, 2002; Reddy et al., 1996; Torres & Kaper, 2003). In view of this, it is proposed that the four surfaceexposed loops of the *M. haemolytica* OmpA protein are involved in binding to hostspecific receptors. This would account for the variation in the surface-exposed loop regions between the bovine OmpA1-type and ovine OmpA2-type proteins and also for the amino acid conservation within each class. Clearly, the surface-exposed loops of OmpA need to be different in bovine and ovine isolates if cattle and sheep have different receptor molecules, but they would also need to be conserved within each class if they are involved in binding to specific bovine (OmpA1-type) or ovine (OmpA2-type) receptor molecules. The locations of the four hypervariable domains, HV1 to HV4, at the distal ends of the corresponding loops (Figure 3.30) provide further evidence to support the hypothesis that these regions are involved in receptor recognition and binding. Confirmation of this hypothesis will require the production of genetically modified isolates and the development of appropriate in vitro adherence assays. In a similar way, receptor binding of the variable loop regions of the related Opa protein determines tissue tropism in Neisseria (Bos et al., 1999; Popp et al.,

1999; Virji et al., 1999).

ċ

ţ

P. trehalosi produces two OmpA homologs. The present study has demonstrated that P. trehalosi produces two OmpA homologs which are encoded by different tandemly arranged genes, *ompA*' and *ompA*" (Figure 3.32). In contrast, M. haemolytica and M. glucosida produce only one OmpA protein. A retrospective examination of the OMP profiles of a wide range of P. trehalosi isolates (Davies & Quirie, 1996) indicated that the expression of two OmpA homologs is common in this species. However, it is not unusual in Gram-negative organisms since the presence of two OmpA homologs has been described in Aeromonas salmonicida (Costello et al., 1996) and Haemophilus ducreyi (Klesney-Tait et al., 1997). It seems likely that a common underlying mechanism is responsible for generating tandem ompA genes in certain bacterial species and that the expression of two OmpA homologs provides a selective advantage to these organisms. The two OmpA homologs of P. trehalosi have significant amino acid variation in their N- terminal regions, particularly in the surface-exposed regions, whereas the C- terminal regions that are located in the periplasmic membrane are highly conserved (Figure 3.33). This is similar to the two OmpA proteins of A. salmonicida and H. ducreyi (Costello et al., 1996; Klesney-Tait et al., 1997). Whether the differences in the surface-exposed loops of the two OmpA proteins reflect functional differences during pathogenesis remains to be determined.

It has been suggested that the two *ompA* genes of *A. salmonicida* and *H. ducreyi* have arisen by gene duplication (Costello *et al.*, 1996; Klesney-Tait *et al.*, 1997). Based on the relatively low level of homology between the two OmpA proteins of *A. salmonicida*, Costello *et al.* (1996) concluded that such a gene duplication event occurred in the distant evolutionary past. However, the data presented here suggest an alternative possibility. The presence of very different *ompA'*-type alleles in

isolates PH68, PH246, and PH252 (ompA8.1 to 8.3) compared to that in isolate PH254 (ompA9.1), and the occurrence of very similar ompA"-type alleles in the same four isolates (ompA10.1 to 10.4), indicate that one or other, or both, of the ompA8- or ompA9-type alleles has been acquired by horizontal transfer (Figure 3.28). The low frequency of occurrence of the ompA9.1 allele suggests that this allele has probably replaced an ompA8-type allele, not vice versa, by horizontal gene transfer. In addition, the low level of similarity between the ompA9 and ompA10-type alleles, is consistent with acquisition by horizontal transfer rather than by gene duplication. If one of the ompA genes had arisen by duplication in the distant past, we would also expect to see more divergence among alleles representing each of the ompA types, but this is not the case. Therefore, horizontal DNA transfer, rather than gene duplication, might account for the second ompA genes in this, and probably other, bacterial species.

4.1.5.2 Transferrin binding protein genes (tbpB and tbpA)

Nucleotide variation of *tbpB* and *tbpA*. The contiguous transferrin-binding protein genes, *tbpB* and *tbpA*, are highly divergent in *M. haemolytica* due to extensive horizontal DNA transfer and recombination (Figures 3.41 and 3.42). The diversity of these two genes varies among the different groups of *M. haemolytica* (Figure 3.41). For example, *M. haemolytica* isolates of groups 1 to 4 have similar *tbpB* and *tbpA* genes except for short recombinant segments due to intragenic recombination. *M. haemolytica* isolates of group 5 have different *tbpB* genes from *M. haemolytica* isolates of groups 1 to 4 because they have been derived by assortative recombination from *M. glucosida* isolates of groups 6 to 8. Bovine *M. haemolytica* A2 isolates of groups 9 (ET 18) and 10 (ETs 17 and 21) have divergent *tbpB* genes that have been derived from unknown sources (Figures 3.41 and 3.42). The *tbpB* tree topology

suggests that the group 9 and 10 donors are less diverged from *M. haemolytica* isolates of group 1 than are those of *P. trehalosi* isolates (Figures 3.36). Ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of groups 12 and 13 (ETs 16, 19, 20, and 22) have extremely divergent *tbpB* genes (*tbpB6.1* to *tbpB6.3*) that have been derived from unknown sources and are, surprisingly, more divergent than *P. trehalosi* isolates (Figure 3.36). However, these isolates have much less nucleotide diversity in *tbpA* (3.6%) than in *tbpB* (37.5%), with respect to isolates of group 1, suggesting that the *tbpA* gene has been derived from isolates that are more closely related to *M. haemolytica* isolates of group 1 than to the donors of the *tbpB* gene (Figures 3.41 and 3.42). The *tbpA* gene of *P. trehalosi* isolates were also shown to contain recombinant segments that have been derived from *M. glucosida* (Figure 3.38).

Molecular evolution of TbpB and TbpA in relation to structure and function.

The TbpB protein of *M. haemolytica*, which is thought to be fully surface-exposed (Gray-Owen & Schryvers, 1996), has extremely high amino acid diversity (49.8%) and a relatively low d_s/d_n ratio (4.53) throughout the protein. This suggests that heterogeneity of TbpB has a selective advantage to the organism, such as evasion of the host immune system. The TbpB protein of *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 isolates appears to be readily accessible to antibody at the cell surface (Potter *et al.*, 1999). The comparative sequence data indicate that TbpB beterogeneity in *M. haemolytica* is due to extensive horizontal DNA transfer and recombination (Figure 3.35). In particular, the *tbpB* genes of bovine and ovine A2 isolates (except for the ovine isolates of ET 21, group 4) (Figure 3.41) have been acquired from different unknown sources, likely to be species more divergent than *M. glucosida* (groups 9 and 10) or *P. trehalosi* (groups 12 and 13). Recombinational exchange is thought to confer a selective advantage on pathogens by generating antigenic variation in cell surface antigens (Hobbs *et al.*, 1994; Li *et al.*, 1994; Mooi & Bik, 1997; Rich *et al.*, 2001;

1

Spratt *et al.*, 1992). Surface-exposed protein genes of *M. haemolytica* such as *ompA* (this study), *tbpA* (this study), and *wza* (this study), and secreted protein genes of *M. haemolytica* such as *lktA* (Davies *et al.*, 2001), show evidence of recombinational exchange. However, *M. haemolytica* TbpB (49.8%) has much higher amino acid variation than OmpA (7.4%), TbpA (18.3%), Wza (14%), and LktA (16%). In contrast to TbpA, TbpB is not essential for the internalisation of transferrin-bound iron (Anderson *et al.*, 1994). In bovine isolates of *P. multocida* it has been shown that TbpA alone is capable of mediating iron acquisition from bovine transferrin without the involvement of TbpB (Ogunnariwo & Schryvers, 2001). Nevertheless, most pathogens produce TbpB as well as TbpA because TbpB plays a role in increasing the efficiency and specificity of the transferrin receptor (Anderson *et al.*, 1998; Gray-Owen *et al.*, 1995; Irwin *et al.*, 1993).

As described previously (Ogunnariwo *et al.*, 1997), the TbpB protein of *M. haemolytica* has several identical amino acid sequences in both the N- and C-terminal halves of the molecule (Figure 3.37). 'This indicates that TbpB has a symmetrical structure, as has transferrin (Tf). Tf is composed of two homologous lobes (C and N lobes) and each lobe can bind a single Fe molecule (Baker & Lindley, 1992). Mszarin *et al.* (1995) proposed that the TbpB receptor probably evolved in parallel to Tf in order to bind both Tf lobes (Mazarin *et al.*, 1995). This hypothesis has been reinforced by the binding of both lobes of Tf by TbpB in *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 (Ogunnariwo *et al.*, 1997) as well as other bacteria (Alcantara & Schryvers, 1996; Boulton *et al.*, 1999; Renauld-Mongenie *et al.*, 1997). Recently, two domains involved in transferrin binding were identified in the N- terminal half of TbpB from the meningococcal isolate B16B6 (Renauld-Mongenie *et al.*, 2004). The corresponding domains were also identified in the conserved regions of the inferred amino acid sequences of TbpB in *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

suggesting a general functional role for these domains. Furthermore, single amino acids in each domain, previously identified by site-directed mutagenesis in *N*. *meningitidis* (Renauld-Mongenie *et al.*, 2004), were conserved in all three species.

Consistent with other bacterial TbpA proteins, M. haemolytica TbpA proteins are less divergent than the TbpB proteins and have similar amino acid sequences to the TbpA proteins of *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* (Figure 3.40). This is because TbpA is a transmembrane protein and is less surface-exposed than TbpB (Gray-Owen & Schryvers, 1996). In addition, TbpA is more important for transferrin-iron acquisition than TbpB (Cornelissen & Sparling, 1996; Cornelissen et al., 1997; Rokbi et al., 1993). To understand the structure of TbpA in M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, P. trehalosi, sequence alignments and secondary structure predictions were carried out in relation to the previously proposed gonococcal TbpA model (Boulton et al., 2000). The N-terminal plug domain and the C-terminal β-barrel domain were identified in the TbpA proteins of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi The C-terminal β -barrel domain is composed of 11 surface-exposed (Figure 3.40). loop regions and 21 membrane-spanning regions (the last and 22nd β strand is missing because the sequence was partial). The plug occludes the pore formed by the barrel until transferrin binds the TbpA from outside the bacterial cell (Ferguson & Deisenhofer, 2002; Usher et al., 2001).

As expected, most amino acid diversity occurred in the surface-exposed loop regions, but two additional variable segments were identified in the plug and membrane-spanning regions, respectively. The first additional variable segment is located within the plug region associated with TbpA of ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of groups 12 (*tbpA4.1*) and 13 (*tbpA4.2*) and *P. trehalosi* isolates of group 11 (*tbpA3.1* to *tbpA3.3*) and is due to its location adjunct to TbpB (Figure 3.40). These

ţ

hypervariable sequences in the N-terminal plug region were continuations from TbpB and interestingly stopped just before the TonB box. This suggests that amino acid replacement is highly constrained within the TonB box that is required for interaction with TonB. The second additional variable region (V2) is located in a membranespanning domain, but the reason for this is not clear.

Recently, several functional domains were identified among eleven surface loops in the gonococcal TbpA protein (Boulton et al., 2000). Loops 3, 4, 5, and 8 were associated with transferrin binding, and loops 2, 9, and 11 were important for TbpA-TbpB interaction. In the case of the M. haemolytica TbpA protein, the transferrinbinding domains corresponding to loops 3, 5, and 8 have high amino acid diversity (23.8% to 28.1%) and low d_s/d_N ratios (3.5 to 6.2), whereas loop 4 has relatively low amino acid diversity (15.7%) and high $d_y d_y$ ratio (26.6). Loop 4 is homologous to the corresponding regions of other bacterial TbpA proteins (Cornelissen et al., 2000) suggesting that loop 4 is likely to be constrained by the common function of transferrin binding. Bovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of group 1 and ovine *M.* haemolytica isolates of groups 2 to 5 have identical, or almost identical, sequences in these transferrin binding domains (Figures 3.41 and 3.42). This suggests that the transferrin binding receptors of bovine M. haemolytica serotype A1 isolates of group 1 and ovine *M. haemolytica* isolates of groups 2 to 5 do not discriminate between ovine and bovine transferrin (Yu et al., 1992), although they are able to discriminate between ruminant transferrin and transferrin from other species (Gray-Owen & Schryvers, 1993; Ogunnariwo & Schryvers, 1990; Schryvers & Gonzalez, 1990; Yu & Schryvers, 1994). However, bovine and ovine *M. haemolytica* serotype A2 isolates may still be able to discriminate between ovine and bovine transferrin because they do have sequence variation in the transferrin binding domains.

In contrast to these transferrin binding domains, TbpA-TbpB interaction domains (loops 2, 9, and 11) are relatively conserved (16.7 to 17.2%) and have relatively high d_s/d_s ratios (9.8 to 17.0) among *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*. These loop regions are also more homologous with the corresponding loop regions of other bacterial TbpA proteins than are other loops (Cornelissen *et al.*, 2000), indicating conserved TbpA-TbpB interactions. Indeed, there is evidence for conserved interactions between heterologous receptors from different bacterial species such as the human pathogens *N. meningitidis* and *H. influenzae*, and the porcine pathogen *A. pleuropneumoniae* (Fuller *et al.*, 1998; Gray-Owen *et al.*, 1995; Irwin *et al.*, 1993). The most conserved loop among *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* TbpA was loop 6. The low amino acid diversity (4.5%) and high *ds/dn* ratio (30.8) clearly suggests that amiuo acid replacement is highly constrained within this loop, but its function has yet to be identified.

Vaccine candidates. Recombinant TbpB from bovine *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 has previously been shown to be capable of inducing an effective immune response in cattle (Potter *et al.*, 1999). In addition, the antibodies produced in response to this recombinant TbpB appeared to cross-react with the TbpB from several different serotypes, suggesting that recombinant TbpB bovine *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 may serve as a broadly crossreactive vaccine (Potter *et al.*, 1999). Nucleotide sequence analysis of *tbpB* from different isolates of *M. haemolytica* indicates that the inferred amino acid sequence of TbpB in isolates of groups 1 and 4, including the major bovine A1 (ET 1) and ovine A2 (ET 21) lineages, respectively, is relatively conserved (0.2 to 5.9 % amino acid diversity). However, the corresponding sequence of TbpB in *M. haemolytica* isolates of groups 1 and 4 (41.8 to 42.8% amino acid diversity). Therefore, a vaccine based on TbpB from a single

isolate is highly unlikely to protect the host from all other *M. haemolytica* isolates. In addition, continuous recombinational exchanges in *tbpB* may limit TbpB utility as a vaccine antigen for long periods.

4.1.5.3 Capsule transport protein gene (wza)

Nucleotide variation of wza. The wza gene of *M. haemolytica* was selected because it is located within the conserved capsular transport region but is adjacent to the capsular biosynthesis region (Figure 1.2) (Roberts, 1996). The homologous gene (*ctrA*) of *N. meningitidis* was shown to be conserved among different meningococcal serogroups (Frosch *et al.*, 1992). However, nucleotide sequence comparison of the *wza* gene from *M. haemolytica* isolates representing different lineages indicates that the gene is highly divergent in *M. haemolytica* due to frequent intragenic and assortative (entire gene) recombinational exchanges

The sequence diversity pattern correlates strongly with the capsular types of the isolates (Figures 3.43 and 3.44). For example, class I sequences are associated exclusively with *M. haemolytica* serotypes A1 and A6, class II with *M. haemolytica* serotypes A2, A5, A7, and A12, class III with *M. haemolytica* serotypes A14 and A16 and *M. glucosida* serotype A11, class IV with *M. haemolytica* serotype A13, and class V with *M. haemolytica* serotype A8 and A9 and untypeable *M. glucosida* (UG3). These findings suggest that *wza* diversity in *M. haemolytica* is related to the location of *wza* next to the highly polymorphic capsule biosynthetic region (Figure 1.2) that is responsible for the different capsular types (Lo *et al.*, 2001). Similarly *kpsS* and *kpsT*, which are located in the conserved capsule transport (region 1) and phospholipid substitution (region 3) regions of group II *E. coli* capsule clusters, respectively, showed a marked divergence at the C -termini (Pavelka *et al.*, 1994; Petit

315
et al., 1995). Since the 3' ends of kpsS and kpsT (complementary gene) are located at the junctions between regions 1 and 2 and 2 and 3, respectively, the divergence of these genes is thought to have arisen through recombination involving the polymorphic capsule biosynthetic region. In addition, a housekeeping gene, gnd, has also been shown to be highly variable due to its location next to the highly polymorphic *rfb* genes that are involved in LPS biosynthesis and are subject to diversifying selection (Bisercic *et al.*, 1991; Nelson & Selander, 1994; Thampapillai *et al.*, 1994).

Molecular evolution of Wza in relation to structure and function. In Gramnegative bacteria, a complex capsule transport system exists to allow the transport of high molecular weight capsular polysaccharide products across both the inner and outer membranes of the cell wall (Paulsen et al., 1997; Whitfeld & Roberts, 1999). As a member protein of this system, the wza gene was highly divergent in M. haemolytica and M. glucosida due to a large number of recombinational segments derived from each other or from unknown sources (Figure 3.43). However, most amino acid replacement was highly constrained (d_y/d_y) of 19.07 in M. haemolytica and 20.50 in M. glucosida, respectively), suggesting an important function for Wza in the translocation of capsular polysaccharide molecules across the outer membrane (DeRosa et al., 2000). These data also suggest that the high degree of nucleotide diversity observed in the wza gene of M. haemolytica and M. glucosida is primarily due to its close proximity to the capsule biosynthetic region and is not necessarily because of positive selection acting on Wza. In fact, comparative sequence analysis of Wza in other Gram-negative bacteria indicates that the Wza protein is highly conserved (Paulsen et al., 1997; Rahn et al., 1999; Whitfeld & Roberts, 1999). Therefore, different capsule types share a common mechanism of export.

The amino acid sequence of Wza in *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* was particularly conserved in the central region (d_s/d_N ratio of 43.84) because this region of the protein is involved in capsular polysaccharide transport (Figure 3.45). In contrast, amino acid replacement is less constrained in the three variable regions at the N- and C terminal ends of the protein (d_s/d_N ratios of 3.93 to 5.91), indicating that these parts of the molecule have less structural importance. Electron microscopy of the *E. coli* Wza protein has shown that the protein is morphologically similar to the secretin protein family which is composed of the C-terminal domain embedded in the outer membrane and the N-terminal domain located in periplasm (Genin & Boucher, 1994; Russel, 1998). Although it is not clear whether the Wza protein of *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* has surface-exposed loop regions, the pattern of diversity in Wza is clearly different from that of OmpA and TbpA which contain long, surface-exposed loop regions (Figures 3.29 and 3.40).

4.1.6 Emergence of new *M. haemolytica* pathogenic isolates

ţ,

The bovine A1/A6 isolates of ET 1 and the ovine A2 isolates of ETs 21 and 22, which are responsible for the majority of bovine and ovine disease, respectively (Davies *et al.*, 1997a), may have emerged relatively recently. Insufficient time has elapsed for equilibrium to have been achieved between pathogen and host. It is proposed that host switching and acquisition of specific genes necessary for adaptation to a new host has led to the emergence of these pathogens (Figure 4.1). For example, bovine A1/A6 isolates of ET 1 possibly evolved from an ovine ancestral serotype A12 isolate of ET 1, since they have identical electrophoretic types (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and similar *aroA*, *gap*, and *pmm* alleles to those of the A12 isolate. An ovine ancestral isolate may have acquired the serotype A1 or A6 capsular genes from an ovine A1 and A6 isolates is also

suggested by the possessions of very similar *lktA* (Davies *et al.*, 2001), *tbpA*, and *wza* alleles. This isolate may then have crossed into cattle and adapted to the bovine environment by acquiring bovine-specific genes, such as *ompA*, from bovine serotype A2 isolates. This may be a relatively recent evolutionary event, since the bovine A1/A6 isolates of ETs 1 and 2 have recombinant segments in *wza* that are identical to the corresponding regions of the ovine A1 and A6 isolates of ETs 6 to 9 (Figure 3.43, *wza1.1* and *wza2.1* to *wza2.3*) and almost identical *ompA* genes to those of bovine A2 isolates of ETs 21 and 17 (Figures 3.27 and 3.28, *ompA1.1*, *ompA1.3*, and *ompA1.5*)

¥.

ł

On the other hand, the major ovine A2 pathogens (ETs 21 to 22) may have emerged from a bovine ancestor similar to serotype A2 isolate of ET 21. Ancestral bovine isolates may have crossed into sheep and adapted to the ovine environment by acquiring ovine-specific genes such as *ompA*. Subsequently, they evolved into two different ovine serotype A2 pathogen types by acquiring different recombinant segments in other virulence genes. As a result, ovine A2 isolates of E1s 21 and 22 have closely related electrophoretic types (Davies *et al.*, 1997a) and identical sequences in the genes *aroA2.1*, *gap3.1*, *pmm1.2*, and *wza3.4*, but they have very different sequences in the transferrin binding protein genes (this study) and the leukotoxin genes (Davies *et al.*, 2001; 2002). For example, ovine serotype A2 isolates of ET 21 have *tbpB1.8*, *tbpA1.8*, *lktA10.1*, and *lktB1.2* alleles, whereas ovine A2 isolates of ET 22 isolates have *tbpB6.2*, *tbpA4.2*, *lktA8.1* or *lktA8.2*, and *lktB5.3* type alleles. Ovine serotype A2 isolates of ET 21 have very different *ompA*, *tbpB*, *tbpA*, *lktA*, *lktB*, and *aroA* alleles from bovine serotype A2 isolates of ET 21 although they are on the same MLEE lineage.

These data support the previously proposed view that *M. haemolytica* diversity and pathogenicity have been triggered by the transmission of isolates from cattle to sheep

.



isolates of ETs 21 to 22. Red and blue colors indicate bovine and ovine specific isolates, respectively. Transmission event from cattle to sheep and vice versa are shown by and 4, respectively. Possible donors for horizontally derived genes are indicated by squares. Bovine and ovine pathogenic isolates are indicated by .

and *vice versa*, which is probably linked to the domestication of these species (Davies *et al.*, 2001; 2002).

4.1.7 Genetic diversity of M. haemolytica, M. glucosida, and P. trehalosi

Calculations of the mean genetic diversity per locus (*H*) of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* (Davies *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b) indicate that *M. glucosida* (*H* = 0.485) is more divergent than *M. haemolytica* (*H* = 0.297) and *P. trehalosi* (*H* = 0.289). Consistent with these data, *P. trehalosi* showed the lowest level of diversity in most of the genes examined compared to *M. haemolytica* and *M. glucosida* (Table 3.3). Davies *et al.* (1997b) suggested that this could be due to a recent evolutionary origin although another possibility was a low effective population size.

However, the four outer membrane protein genes ompA, tbpB, tbpA, and wza of M. haemolytica were more divergent than those of M. glucosida and P. trehalosi (Table 3.3). The higher diversity of these genes in *M. haemolytica* could be explained by the ability of this pathogen to infect multiple host species. M. haemolytica is frequently recovered from cattle and sheep, whereas M. glucosida occurs mostly in sheep, and P. trehalosi occurs only in sheep (Biberstein & Thompson, 1966; Quirie et The transmission of *M. haemolytica* isolates into new hosts has led to the al., 1986). acquisition of new genes, such as ompA, tbpB, tbpA, lktA, and lktB, by horizontal gene transfer and resulted in rapid diversification of the species. However, the small sample size of *M. glucosida* (six isolates representing ETs 1, 3, 5, 7, 10, and 16) and *P*. trehalosi (four isolates representing ETs 2, 4, 15, and 19), in contrast to the larger sample size of *M. haemolytica* (42 isolates representing different MLEE lineages), might also account for lower diversity of these genes in M. glucosida and P. trehalosi, although the isolates were selected to represent divergent lineages in each species.

In particular, the wza gene was sequenced in only four *M. glucosida* isolates because amplification failed in two *M. glucosida* isolates of (ETs 10 and 16) presumably due to primer incompatibility (sequence diversity or absence of the primer site). Thus, the wza gene of *M. glucosida* may be more divergent than that of *M. haemolytica*.

4.2 Temperate bacteriophages of *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi*

Temperate bacteriophages were studied in *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi* because they might be associated with the horizontal DNA transfer and recombination events described in the first part of this thesis.

4.2.1 Examination of bacteriophages

×

Electron microscopy. Temperate phages were shown to be prevalent in *M*. *haemolytica*. After induction with mitomycin C, electron microscopy indicated that 24 of 32 *M*. *haemolytica* isolates (75 %) produced temperate bacteriophages. In contrast, a relatively low rate of lysogenic isolates were associated with *M*. *glucosida* (one of six) and *P*. *trehalosi* (one of four). These findings at least suggests that bacteriophages could be responsible for the high levels of recombinational exchanges that have occurred in some genes of *M*. *haemolytica* rather than those of *M*. *glucosida* and *P*. *trehalosi*. It is well documented that bacteriophages play important roles in horizontal DNA transfer in bacteria (Brussow *et al.*, 2004; Canchaya *et al.*, 2003b).

With the exception of phages from *M. haemolytica* isolates PH196 and PH786, temperate phages from *M. haemolytica*, *M. glucosida*, and *P. trehalosi* belonged to common virus families (Van Regenmortel *et al.*, 2000). Phages with long,

contractile tails are members of the *Myoviridae*, and phages with long, noncontractile tails are members of the *Siphoviridae*. Within the same family, size differences in head and tail assemblies further discriminate between the phages (Table 3.31) and suggest that identical phages occur only in closely related isolates, thereby providing further support to the evolutionary relationships based on MLEE data. PH8 (ET 6) and PH398 (ET 7) phages have identical *Siphoviridae* phages; PH396 (ET 13) and PH484 (ET 14) phages have identical *Myoviridae* phages. Isolate PH598 (ET 20) contains both *Siphoviridae* and *Myoviridae* phages; the *Siphoviridae* phages are identical to those of isolates PH292 and PH392 (ET 22), whereas the *Myoviridae* phages are identical to those of isolate PH526 (ET 19)

ĸ

Phages from *M. haemolytica* isolates PH196 and PH786 have short thick tails and could not be classified. Their head and tail sizes are similar to phage PRD1 of the *Tectiviridae* family (Grahn *et al.*, 2002), but they differ from this phage by being lysogenic, having a much larger DNA size, and having detachable tails. Indeed, separate forms of heads and tails were more commonly seen by electron microscopy. The tail-less heads of this phage are similar to phage-like colicin K (Bradley, 1967) but they differ from colicin K by having DNA.

Host range of bacteriophages. Thirteen of 32 *M. haemolytica*, one of six *M. glucosida*, and one of four *P. trehalosi* lysates were able to produce a zone of lysis on a sensitive indicator isolate (Table 3.32). For *M. haemolytica*, the plaque assay was a less sensitive method for the detection of temperate phages than electron microscopy which detected 24 temperate phages. The lower detection rate by plaque assay could be explained by a lack of sensitive indicator isolates for temperate phages since phages can be detected only if an appropriate host for the phage is available or by host cell immunity against similar or identical phages. Appropriate hosts are

isolates that have compatible phage receptors. The plaque patterns (Table 3.32) indicate that sensitive indicator isolates are closely related to the original host isolates, and are likely to contain identical phage receptors. In particular, phage lysates from isolates PH30 and PH376 produced lysis zones exclusively on scrotype A1 and A6 isolates, and phage lysates from isolates PH598, PH470, PH278, and PH392 produced lysis zones exclusively on scrotype A2 isolates. These findings suggest that capsule may act as a phage receptor for these phages. In general, bacteriophages infecting encapsulated bacteria produce capsule depolymerase to degrade the capsular polysaccharide layer and to reach the cell surface (Hughes *et al.*, 1998; Pelkonen *et al.*, 1992). Phage depolymerase enzymes have shown to be highly specific and subtle changes in capsular polysaccharide composition prevent them from degrading the polymer (Hughes *et al.*, 1998).

Ь

Surprisingly, phages induced from closely related isolates and having identical RE types (types A [PH2Φ and PH376Φ], H [PH396Φ and PH484Φ], and I [PH598Φ, PH292Φ and PH392Φ]) were associated with different indicator isolates (Table 3.32). This suggests that phages of the same RE type do not have identical genomes. Variation in the phage genes encoding the proteins Cro and CI, which control immunity (see section 1.8.6), or phage attachment proteins, may cause the different lysis patterns. Alternatively, the lysis zones may be due to other factors such as bacteriocins encoded by each lysate. Some bacteriocins are very small and cannot be identified by electron microscopy, although they can be induced by mitomycin C and produce lysis zones (Bradley, 1967). There is also a possibility that lysis zones were caused by mitomycin C-treated cultures. Some indicator isolates may be very sensitive to mitomycin C and grow slowly on the spot where the mitomycin C treated lysate was dropped since most lysis zones were very faint (Figure 3.55B).

Restriction endonuclease assays. Although electron microscopy detected 24 *M. haemolytica*, one *M. glucosida*, and one *P. trehalosi* lysates containing temperate phages, phage DNA was successfully isolated from only 15 *M. haemolytica* lysates, one *M. glucosida* lysate, and one *P. trehalosi* lysate. The failure of phage DNA isolation in the other isolates could be explained by lower yields of DNA, since there was variation in the amount of DNA obtained from the 17 positive samples. However, another possibility is that some of the phages detected by EM might be bacteriocins rather than phages. Bacteriocins are thought to be derived from prophage genomes (Bradley, 1967). They are inducible by mitomycin C and have typical phage morphology but they lack DNA (Bradley, 1967).

The RE assay detected 11 RE types (RE types A to K) based on restriction enzyme patterns among the 17 phage DNA samples (Figure 3.54). There was a correlation between RE pattern and MLEE electrophoretic type (ET) because, of five RE types (types A, C, G, H, and I) associated with more than one *M. haemolytica* isolate, the same RE type was present in closely related isolates. For example, RE type A was associated with bovine serotype A1 and A6 isolates of ET 1, RE type C with ovine serotype A1 isolates of ETs 6 and 7, RE type G with ovine serotype A7 isolates of ETs 13 and 14, RE type H with bovine serotype A2 isolates of ET 18, and RE type I with ovine serotype A2 isolates of ETs 20 and 22.

4.2.2 RE type A phages

ŧ

M. haemolytica serotype A1 and A6 isolates of ET 1 are responsible for the majority of bovine disease and their virulence factors have been well studied (section 1.3). However, phages of *M. haemolytica* have received little attention and only two studies have previously reported the induction of temperate bacteriophages from bovine *M*.

haemolytica serotype A1 isolates (Froshauer et al., 1996; Richards et al., 1985).
Richards et al. (1985) reported that phages were inducible from 15 bovine M.
haemolytica serotype A1 isolates by UV light. The phages were of two
morphological types (contracted and noncontracted forms), and none of the phages
produced lysis zones on the same range of indicator isolates (Richards et al., 1985).
Froshauer (1996) reported that phages were inducible from 14 bovine M. haemolytica
serotype A1 isolates by mitomycin C or danofloxacin and that phage DNA gave the
same restriction endonuclease pattern. In the present study, phages induced from
seven representative bovine M. haemolytica serotype A1 isolates were compared to
each other. They showed significant variation in morphology, host range and DNA
content. The phages of bovine serotype A1 M. haemolytica isolates (discussed below).

As described previously (Richards *et al.*, 1985), two different morphological types, contracted and noncontracted forms which are thought to be *Myoviridae* and *Siphoviridae*, respectively, were identified in five bovine *M. haemolytica* scrotype A1 isolates and one bovine *M. haemolytica* scrotype A6 isolate. Richards *et al.* (1985) reported that both phage types were seen together in lysates of the same isolates and suggested that the two morphological forms may represent the same phage. The addition of 5 mM EDTA increased the concentration of the contracted forms. This is clearly different from the present study since two phage types were seen separately in different isolates without the addition of 5 mM EDTA (Table 3.33). Only noncontracted forms (*Siphoviridae*) occurred in the lysate of isolate PH2, whereas only contracted forms (*Myoviridae*) occurred in the lysates of isolates PH280, PH560, PH30, PH540, PH554, and PH376.

As suggested previously (Richards et al., 1985), phage lysates from bovine M.

haemolytica serotype A1 isolates PH2, PH280, PH540, and PH554 did not produce lysis zones on the other A1 indicator isolates, but phage lysates from bovine M. haemolytica serotype A1 isolates PH26, PH560, and PH30 produced lysis zones on several A1 indicator isolates (Table 3.34). This suggests that the seven M. haemolytica serotype A1 isolates selected for phage study represent a more diverse range of *M. haemolytica* isolates than the 14 and 15 isolates previously selected in two studies (Froshauer et al., 1996; Richards et al., 1985). The seven M. haemolytica isolates (this study) were chosen because they had different LPS or OMP types (Table 3.35). Plaque assays with phage lysates from 11 M. haemolytica serotype A1 and A6 isolates of ETs 1 to 2 on the same range of indicator isolates showed six different lysis patterns (Table 3.35). There was a correlation between lysis patterns and OMP types suggesting that OMPs might act as receptors for these phages. For M. haemolytica isolates of ETs 1 and 2, plaque assays were more discriminating than other typing methods since six variants were identified by plaque assay whereas only two variants were identified by each of serotyping, LPS typing, and MLEE analysis and three variants by OMP typing (Table 3.35).

As suggested previously (Froshauer *et al.*, 1996), restriction endonuclease analysis with phage DNA isolated from eight bovine *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 and A6 isolates revealed that all of the phages had identical RE types (Figure 3.56). This suggests that they have very similar, if not identical, phage genomes. This was unexpected because variation was detected in their host range and morphologies. In particular, the contracted and noncontracted phage types represent different phage families, *Myoviridae* and *Siphoviridae*, respectively (Van Regenmortel *et al.*, 2000). However, there is substantial evidence that phage taxonomy based on morphology does not reflect evolutionary relationships because phage genome diversity has been influenced by frequent horizontal DNA transfer (Lawrence *et al.*, 2002).

4.2.2.1 Bacteriophages of bovine M. haemolytica serotype A1 isolate PHL213

In view of the likely importance of phages in bovine *M. haemolytica* serotype A1 and A6 isolates an attempt was made to identify the genome sequence of the type A phages from the published unannotated genome sequence of *M. haemolytica* isolate PHL213. A complete prophage genome sequence was identified from the bacterial genome sequence (in three different contigs) and sequence analysis of the prophage genome identified putative cos, attL, and attR regions (Figures 3.58 and 3.60). This allowed the construction of a hypothetical PHL213 Φ phage genome (Figure 3.61). In addition, the six restriction endonuclease profiles of the putative PHL213 Φ genome were identical to the corresponding enzyme profiles of PH2 Φ and provided strong evidence that the PHL213 Φ phage corresponds to the RE type A phage.

The genetic organization (ORFs) of phage PHL213 Φ was very similar to that of the P2 phage of *E. coli* (Table 3.38 and Figure 3.63). Therefore, the RE type A phages of *M. haemolytica* represent new members of the P2-like phage family. In addition to the sequence homology, RE type A phages have hexagonal heads and long contractile tails that are very similar to those of P2 phages (Bertani & Six, 1988). The genome size is also in a similar range to that of the P2 phage family. For example, the phage DNA size is about 34.5 kb in PHL213 Φ , 33.5 kb in P2 (GenBank accession number NC_001895), 35.6 kb in Φ CTX (GenBank accession number NC_001697).

This study indicates that temperate phages are more common in *M. haemolytica* isolates than they are in *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*. This suggests that phages may confer a selective advantage to *M. haemolytica* by carrying virulence factors.

ł

However, no virulence factors were detected within the prophage genome of PHL213 Φ , indicating that this phage does not appear to be involved in the horizontal DNA transfer of virulence genes. However, this phage may be involved in the transfer of genes that flank the phage genome although this was not investigated. The remaining 10 RE type phages were not examined. Whether they are involved in specialized transduction or generalized transduction remains to be determined.

4.3 General conclusions and further work

÷

Comparative sequence analysis of 19 genes of various functions in *M. haemolytica*, *M.* glucosida, and P. trehalosi indicates that each gene has varying degree of nucleotide sequence diversity. There was no evidence of recombinational exchanges and only single site nucleotide substitutions occurred in the recA, asd, galE, gnd, g6pd, mtlD, and gcp genes of *M*. haemolytica and the tree topologies were similar to that based on 16S rRNA. In contrast, there was evidence of varying degrees of recombinational exchanges in aroA, gap, mdh, pmm, plpA, plpB, plpC, plpD, ompA, tbpB, tbpA, and wza of M. haemolytica. In particular, the outer membrane protein genes ompA, tbpB, tbpA, and wza have undergone recombinational exchanges because they have different tree topologies which indicate different evolutionary histories. The transmission of *M. haemolytica* isolates form cattle to sheep and *vice versa* may have triggered many of these recombinational exchanges. Although there was no direct evidence that M. haemolytica bacteriophages carry foreign gene segments, the phage induction rate of *M. haemolytica* was much higher than that of *M. glucosida* and *P. trehalosi*. This corresponds to the fact that horizontal DNA transfer and recombination have occurred more frequently in the evolution of *M. haemolytica* than in *M. glucosida* and *P.* trehalosi, and strongly suggests that prophages play an important role in the evolution of M. haemolytica.

Further studies will be necessary to determine whether the eleven different RE type phages identified in this study are directly involved in the evolution of *M. haemolytica*. Comparative sequence analysis of additional genes such as the capsule biosynthetic genes will also contribute to a better understanding of the evolution of *M. haemolytica*. The use of micro-array could also contribute to our understanding of the evolution of *M. haemolytica*. *M. haemolytica*.

Inferred amino acid sequence analysis of *M. haemolytica* OmpA, TbpB, and TbpA provides evidence that these proteins are involved in host specificity and virulence. Structure and function studies of these proteins will be important to confirm and understand virulence and host specificity in these proteins.

M. haemolytica Gcp, PlpA, PlpB, and PlpC, OmpA, and TbpB proteins have previously been shown to be protective antigens (Dabo *et al.*, 1994; Potter *et al.*, 1999; Shewen *et al.*, 2003; Zeng *et al.*, 1999), but little attention has been paid to the diversity of these genes. Further studies are required to examine the significance of antigenic variation of these proteins in relation to their potential use in vaccines. , ´

ź

١

REFERENCES

.

Abdullah, K. M., Lo, R. Y. C. & Mellors, A. (1990). Distribution of glycoprotease activity and the glycoprotease gene among serotypes of *Pasteurella haemolytica*. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 18, 901-903.

Abdullah, K. M., Lo, R. Y. C. & Mellors, A. (1991). Cloning, nucleotide sequence, and expression of the *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 glycoprotease gene. *Journal of Bacteriology* 173, 5597-5603.

Abdullah, K. M., Udoh, E. A., Shewen, P. E. & Mellors, A. (1992). A neutral glycoprotease of *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 specifically cleaves O-sialoglycoproteins. *Infection and Immunity* 60, 56-62.

Ackermann, H. W. (2003). Bacteriophage observations and evolution. *Research in Microbiology* 154, 245-251.

Ackermann, M. R. & Brogden, K. A. (2000). Response of the ruminant respiratory tract to *Mannheimia (Pasteurella) haemolytica. Microbes and Infection* 2, 1079-1088.

Adlam, C. (1989). The structure, function and properties of cellular and extracellular components of *Pasteurella haemolytica*. In *Pasteurella and pasteurellosis*, pp. 75-96. Edited by C. A. a. J. M. Rutter, London, England: Academic Press.

Adlam, C., Knights, J. M., Mugridge, A. (1984). Purification, characterization and immunological properties of the serotype-specific capsular polysaccharide of *Pasteurella haemolytica* (serotype A1) organisms. *Journal of General Microbiology* 130, 2415-2426.

Adlam, C., Knights, J. M., Mugridge, A. (1985a). Purification, characterization and immunological properties of the capsular polysaccharide of *Pasteurella haemolytica* serotype T15: Its identity with the K62 (K2ab) capsular polysaccharide of Escherichia coli and the capsular polysaccharide of Neisseria meningitidis serogroup H. *Journal of General Microbiology* 131, 1963-1972.

Adlam, C., Knights, J. M., Mugridge, A. (1985b). Purification, characterization, and immunological properties of the serotype-specific capsular polysaccharide of *Pasteurella haemolytica* (serotype T4) organisms. *Journal of General Microbiology* 131, 387-394.

t.

Adlam, C., Knights, J. M., Mugridge, A. (1986). Purification, characterization and immunological properties of the serotype-specific capsular polysaccharide of *Pasteurella haemolytica* serotype A7 organisms. *Journal of General Microbiology*

132, 1079-1087.

ŝ

Adlam, C., Knights, J. M., Mugridge, A. (1987). Production of colominic acid by *Pasteurella haemolytica* scrotype A2 organisms. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 42, 23-25.

Albert, M. J., Siddique, A. K., Islam, M. S., Faruque, A. S., Ansaruzzaman, M., Faruque, S. M. & Sack, R. B. (1993). Large outbreak of clinical cholera due to *Vibrio* cholerae non-O1 in Bangladesh. *Lancet* 341, 704.

Alcantara, J. & Schryvers, A. B. (1996). Transferrin binding protein 2 interacts with both the N-lobe and C-lobe of ovotrausferrin. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 20, 73-85.

Ali, Q., Davies, R. L., Parton, R., Coote, J. G. & Gibbs, H. A. (1992). Lipopolysaccharide heterogeneity in *Pasteurella haemolytica* isolates from cattle and sheep. *Journal of General Microbiology* 138, 2185-2195.

Allen, C. A., Adams, L. G. & Ficht, T. A. (1998). Transposon-derived *Brucella abortus* rough mutants are attenuated and exhibit reduced intracellular survival. *Infection and Immunity* 66, 1008-1016.

Anderson, J. E., Sparling, P. F. & Cornelissen, C. N. (1994). Gonococcal transferrinbinding protein 2 facilitates but is not essential for transferrin utilization. *Journal of Bacteriology* 176, 3162-3170.

Angen, O., Quirie, M., Donachie, W. & Bisgaard, M. (1999a). Investigations on the species specificity of *Mannheimia (Pasteurella) haemolytica* serotyping. *Veterinary Microbiology* 65, 283-290.

Angen, O., Mutters, R., Caugant, D. A., Olsen, J. E. & Bisgaard, M. (1999b). Taxonomic relationships of the *[Pasteurella] haemolytica* complex as evaluated by DNA-DNA hybridizations and 16S rRNA sequencing with proposal of *Mannheimia haemolytica* gen. nov., comb. nov., *Mannheimia granulomatis* comb. nov., *Mannheimia glucosida* sp. nov., *Mannheimia ruminalis* sp. nov. and *Mannheimia varigena* sp. nov. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* 49, 67-86.

Angen, O., Ahrens, P., Kuhnert, P., Christensen, H. & Mutters, R. (2003). Proposal of *Histophilus somni* gen. nov., sp. nov. for the three species incertae sedis '*Haemophilus somnus*', '*Haemophilus agni*' and '*Histophilus ovis*'. International Journal of Systematic Evolutionary Microbiology 53, 1449-1456.

Arber, W. (2000). Genetic variation: molecular mechanisms and impact on microbial evolution. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* 24, 1-7.

Arber, W. (2003). Elements for a theory of molecular evolution. Gene 317, 3-11.

Arora, A., Abildgaard, F., Bushweller, J. H. & Tamm, L. K. (2001). Structure of outer membrane protein A transmembrane domain by NMR spectroscopy. *Nature Structural Biology* 8, 334-338.

Baker, E. N. & Lindley, P. F. (1992). New perspectives on the structure and function of transferrins. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry* 47, 147-160.

Barksdale, L. & Arden, S. B. (1974). Persisting bacteriophage infections, lysogeny, and phage conversions. *Annual Review of Microbiology* 28, 265-299.

Barondess, J. J. & Beckwith, J. (1990). A bacterial virulence determinant encoded by lysogenic coliphage lambda. *Nature* 346, 871-874.

Barondess, J. J. & Beckwith, J. (1995). *bor* gene of phage lambda, involved in serum resistance, encodes a widely conserved outer membrane lipoprotein. *Journal of Bacteriology* 177, 1247-1253.

Begley, T. J., Haas, B. J., Noel, J., Shekhtman, A., Williams, W. A. & Cunningham, R. P. (1999). A new member of the endonuclease III family of DNA repair enzymes that removes methylated purines from DNA. *Current Biology* 9, 653-656.

Beher, M. G., Schnaitman, C. A. & Pugsley, A. P. (1980). Major heat-modifiable outer membrane protein in gram-negative bacteria: comparison with the OmpA protien of *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology* 143, 906-913.

Beres, S. B., Sylva, G. L., Barbian, K. D., Lei, B., Hoff, J. S., Mammarella, N. D., Liu, M. Y., Smoot, J. C., Porcella, S. F., Parkins, L. D., Campbell, D. S., Smith, T. M., McCormick, J. K., Leung, D. Y., Schlievert, P. M. & Musser, J. M. (2002). Genome sequence of a serotype M3 strain of group A Streptococcus: phage-encoded toxins, the high-virulence phenotype, and clone emergence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99, 10078-10083.

Bertani, L. E. & Six, E. W. (1988). The P2-like phages and their parasite, P4. In *The Bacteriophages*, pp. 73-143. Edited by R. Calendar. New York: Plenum Press.

Beynon, L. M., Richards, J. C. & Perry, M. B. (1992). Nuclear-magnetic-resonance

332

1. St. 11. St. 4. 114

h

analysis of the capsular antigen of Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae serotype 9. Its identity with the capsular antigen of Escherichia coli K62 (K2ab), Neisseria meningitidis serogroup H and Pasteurella haemolytica serotype T15. European Journal of Biochemistry 210, 119-124.

Biberstein, E. L. (1990). Our understanding of the *Pasteurellaceae*. Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research 54, S78-82.

Biberstein, E. L. & Gills, M. G. (1962). The relationship of the antigenic types of the A and T types of *Pasteurella haemolytica*. *Journal of comparative pathology* 72, 316-320.

Biberstein, E. L. & Thompson, D. A. (1966). Epidemiological studies on *Pasteurella Haemolytica* in sheep. *Journal of comparative pathology* 76, 83-94.

Bilge, S. S., Vary, J. C., Jr., Dowell, S. F. & Tarr, P. I. (1996). Role of the *Escherichia* coli O157:H7 O side chain in adherence and analysis of an rfb locus. *Infection and Immunity* 64, 4795-4801.

Birge, E. A. (1994a). T4 bacteriohage as a model genetic system. In *Bacterial and bacteriophage genetics*, pp. 137-173. London: Spring-Verlag.

Birge, E. A. (1994b). Genetics of other intemperate bacteriophages. In *Bacterial and bacteriophage genetics*, pp. 174-205. London: Spring-Verlag.

Birge, E. A. (1994c). Genetics of temperate bacteriophages. In *Bacterial and bacteriophage genetics*, pp. 206-239. London: Spring-Verlag.

Birge, E. A. (1994d). Transduction. In *Bacterial and bacteriophage genetics*, pp. 240-256. London: Spring-Verlag.

Bisercic, M., Feutrier, J. Y. & Reeves, P. R. (1991). Nucleotide sequences of the *gnd* genes from nine natural isolates of *Escherichia coli*: Evidence of intragenic recombination as a contributing factor in the evolution of the polymorphic *gnd* locus. *Journal of Bacteriology* 1991.

Boling, M. E. & Randolph, M. L. (1977). Effects of X itradiation on a temperate bacteriophage of *Haemophilus influenzae*. Journal of Viology 22, 47-53.

Bos, M. P., Hogan, D. & Belland, R. J. (1999). Homologue Scanning Mutagenesis Reveals CD66 Receptor Residues Required for Neisserial Opa Protein Binding.

Journal of Experimental Medicine 190, 331-340.

Boulton, I. C., Yost, M. K., Anderson, J. E. & Cornelissen, C. N. (2000). Identification of discrete domains within gonococcal transferrin-binding protein A that are necessary for ligand binding and iron uptake functions. *Infection and Immunity* 68, 6988-6996.

Boulton, I. C., Gorringe, A. R., Allison, N., Robinson, A., Gorinsky, B., Joannou, C. L. & Evans, R. W. (1998). Transferrin-binding protein B isolated from *Neisseria meningitidis* discriminates between apo and diferric human transferrin. *Biochemical Journal* 334, 269-273.

Boulton, I. C., Gorringe, A. R., Gorinsky, B., Retzer, M. D., Schryvers, A. B., Joannou, C. L. & Evans, R. W. (1999). Purified meningococcal transferrin-binding protein B interacts with a secondary, strain-specific, binding site in the N-terminal lobe of human transferrin. *Biochemical Journal* 339, 143-149.

Boyce, J. D. & Adler, B. (2000). The capsule is a virulence determinant in the pathogenesis of *Pasteurella multocida* M1404 (B:2). *Infection and Immunity* 68, 3463-3468.

Boyd, E. F. & Brussow, H. (2002). Common themes among bacteriophage-encoded virulence factors and diversity among the bacteriophages involved. *Trends in Microbiology* 10, 512-529.

Boyd, E. F., Nelson, K., Wang, F. S., Whittam, T. S. & Selander, R. K. (1994). Molecular genetic basis of allelic polymorphism in malate dehydrogenase (mdh) in natural populations of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 91, 1280-1284.

Bradley, D. E. (1967). Ultrastructure of bacteriophages and bacteriocins. *Bacteriological review* 31, 230-314.

ş

Breider, M. A., Kumar, S. & Corstvet, R. E. (1990). Bovine pulmonary endothelial cell damage mediated by *Pasteurella haemolytica* pathogenic factors. *Infection and Immunity* 58, 1671-1677.

Brogden, K. A., Lehmkuhl, H. D. & Cutlip, R. C. (1998). *Pasteurella haemolytica* complicated respiratory infections in sheep and goats. *Veterinary Research* 29, 233-254.

Brogden, K. A., Adlam, C., Lehmkuhl, H. D., Cutlip, R. C., Knights, J. M. & Engen, R. L. (1989). Effect of *Pasteurella haemolytica* (A1) capsular polysaccharide on sheep lung in vivo and on pulmonary surfactant in vitro. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 50, 555-559.

Brok, R., Van Gelder, P., Winterhalter, M., Ziese, U., Koster, A. J., de Cock, H., Koster, M., Tommassen, J. & Bitter, W. (1999). The C-terminal domain of the *Pseudomonas* secretin XcpQ forms oligomeric rings with pore activity. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 294, 1169-1179.

Brussow, H., Canchaya, C. & Hardt, W. (2004). Phages and the evolution of bacterial pathogens: from genomic rearrangements to Iysogenic conversion. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 68, 560-602.

Bruttin, A., Foley, S. & Brussow, H. (1997). The site-specific integration system of the temperate *Streptococcus thermophilus* bacteriophage *fSfi21*. *Virology* 237, 148-158.

Buchanan, S. K., Smith, B. S., Venkatramani, L., Xia, D., Esser, L., Palnitkar, M., Chakraborty, R., van der Helm, D. & Deisenhofer, J. (1999). Crystal structure of the outer membrane active transporter FepA from *Escherichia coli*. *Nature streucrtural biology* 6, 56-63.

Budzik, J. M., Rosche, W. A., Rictsch, A. & O'Toole, G. A. (2004). Isolation and characterization of a generalized transducing phage for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains PAO1 and PA14. *Journal of Bacteriology* 186, 3270-3273.

Burke, J., Schneider, D. & Westpheling, J. (2001). Generalized transduction in *Streptomyces coelicolor*. *PNAS* 98, 6289-6294.

Byun, R., Elbourne, L. D., Lan, R. & Reeves, P. R. (1999). Evolutionary relationships of pathogenic clones of *Vibrio cholerae* by sequence analysis of four housekeeping genes. *Infection and Immunity* 67, 1116-1124.

Campbell, A. (2003). Prophage insertion sites. *Research in Microbiology* 154, 277-282.

Canchaya, C., Proux, C., Fournous, G., Bruttin, A. & Brussow, H. (2003a). Prophage genomics. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 67, 238-276.

Canchaya, C., Fournous, G., Chibani-Chennouli, S., Dillmann, M. L. & Brussow, H.

(2003b). Phage as agents of lateral gene transfer. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 6, 417-424.

Caspar, D. L. (1980). Movement and self-control in protein assemblies. Quasiequivalence revisited. *Biophysical Journal* 32, 103-138.

Chae, C. H., Gentry, M. J., Confer, A. W. & Anderson, G. A. (1990). Resistance to host immune defense mechanisms afforded by capsular material of *Pasteurella* haemolytica, serotype 1. Veterinary Microbiology 25, 241-251.

Chanyangam, M., Smith, A. L., Moseley, S. L., Kuehn, M. & Jenny, P. (1991). Contribution of a 28-kilodalton membrane protein to the virulence of *Haemophilus influenzae*. *Infection and Immunity* 59, 600-608.

Christensen, H., Bisgaard, M., Aalbaek, B. & Olsen, J. E. (2004a). Reclassification of Bisgaard taxon 33, with proposal of *Volucribacter psittacicida* gen. nov., sp. nov. and *Volucribacter amazonae* sp. nov. as new members of the *Pasteurellaceae*. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology* 54, 813-818.

Christensen, H., Kuhnert, P., Olsen, J. E. & Bisgaard, M. (2004b). Comparative phylogenies of the housekeeping genes *atpD*, *infB* and *rpoB* and the 16S rRNA gene within the *Pasteurellaceae*. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology* 54, 1601-1609.

Christensen, H., Bisgaard, M., Bojesen, A. M., Mutters, R. & Olsen, J. E. (2003). Genetic relationships among avian isolates classified as *Pasteurella haemolytica*, 'Actinobacillus salpingitidis' or *Pasteurella anatis* with proposal of *Gallibacterium* anatis gen. nov., comb. nov. and description of additional genomospecies within *Gallibacterium* gen. nov. International Journal of Systematic Evolutionary Microbiology 53, 275-287.

Chung, J. Y., Zhang, Y. & Adler, B. (1998). The capsule biosynthetic locus of *Pasteurella multocida* A:1. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 166, 289-296.

1

Comstock, L. E., Johnson, J. A., Michalski, J. M., Morris, J. G., Jr. & Kaper, J. B. (1996). Cloning and sequence of a region encoding a surface polysaccharide of Vibrio cholerae O139 and characterization of the insertion site in the chromosome of *Vibrio cholerae* O1. *Molecular Microbiology* 19, 815-826.

Comstock, L. E., Maneval, D., Jr., Panigrahi, P., Joseph, A., Levine, M. M., Kaper, J. B., Morris, J. G., Jr. & Johnson, J. A. (1995). The capsule and O antigen in Vibrio

REFERENCES

cholerae O139 Bengal arc associated with a genetic region not present in *Vibrio* cholerae O1. Infection and Immunity 63, 317-323.

Confer, A. W., Panciera, R. J., Clinkenbeard, K. D. & Mosier, D. A. (1990). Molecular aspects of virulence of *Pasteurella haemolytica*. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research* 54, S48-52.

Cooney, B. J. & Lo, R. Y. (1993). Three contiguous lipoprotein genes in *Pasteurella* haemolytica A1 which are homologous to a lipoprotein gene in Haemophilus influenzae type b. *Infection and Immunity* 61, 4682-4688.

Cornelissen, C. N. & Sparling, P. F. (1994). Iron piracy: acquisition of transferrinbound iron by bacterial pathogens. *Molecular Microbiology* 14, 843-850.

Cornelissen, C. N. & Spatling, P. F. (1996). Binding and surface exposure characteristics of the gonococcal transferrin receptor are dependent on both transferrin-binding proteins. *Journal of Bacteriology* 178, 1437-1444.

Cornelissen, C. N., Anderson, J. E. & Sparling, P. F. (1997). Energy-dependent changes in the gonococcal transferrin receptor. *Molecular Microbiology* 26, 25-35.

Cornelissen, C. N., Anderson, J. E., Boulton, I. C. & Sparling, P. F. (2000). Antigenic and sequence diversity in gonococcal transferrin-binding protein A. *Infection and Immunity* 68, 4725-4735.

Costello, G. M., Vipond, R. & MacIntyre, S. (1996). *Aeromonas salmonicida* possesses two genes encoding homologs of the major outer membrane protein, OmpA. *Journal of Bacteriology* 1996, 1623-1630.

Czuprynski, C. J., Nocl, E. J. & Adlam, C. (1989). Modulation of bovine neutrophil antibacterial activities by *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 purified capsular polysaccharide. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 6, 133-141.

ţ

Dabo, S. M., Confer, A. W. & Quijano-Blas, R. A. (2003). Molecular and immunological characterization of *Pasteurella multocida* scrotype A:3 OmpA: evidence of its role in P. multocida interaction with extracellular matrix molecules. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 35, 147-157.

Dabo, S. M., Confer, A. W., Styre, D. & Murphy, G. L. (1994). Expression, purification and immunologic analysis of three *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 28-30 kDa lipoproteins. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 17, 149-158.

337

and a straight and the

Davies, R. L. & Donachie, W. (1996). Intra-specific diversity and host specificity within *Pasteurella haemolytica* based on variation of capsular polysaccharide, lipopolysaccharide and outer-membrane proteins. *Microbiology* 142, 1895-1907.

Davies, R. L. & Quirie, M. (1996). Intra-specific diversity within *Pasteurella trehalosi* based on variation of capsular polysaccharide, lipopolysaccharide and outermembrane proteins. *Microbiology* 142, 551-560.

Davies, R. L., Paster, B. J. & Dewhirst, F. E. (1996). Phylogenetic relationships and diversity within the *Pasteurella haemolytica* complex based on 16S rRNA sequence comparison and outer membrane protein and lipopolysaccharide analysis. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* 46, 736-744.

Davies, R. L., Arkinsaw, S. & Selander, R. K. (1997a). Evolutionary genetics of *Pasteurella haemolytica* isolates recovered from cattle and sheep. *Infection and Immunity* 65, 3585-3593.

Davies, R. L., Arkinsaw, S. & Selander, R. K. (1997b). Genetic relationship among *Pasteurella trehalosi* isolates based on multilocus enzyme. *Microbiology* 1997, 2841-2849.

Davies, R. L., Whittam, T. S. & Selander, R. K. (2001). Sequence diversity and molecular evolution of the leukotoxin (lktA) gene in bovine and ovine strains of *Mannheimia (Pasteurella) haemolytica. Journal of Bacteriology* 183, 1394-1404.

Davies, R. L., Campbell, S. & Whittam, T. S. (2002). Mosaic structure and molecular evolution of the leukotoxin operon (*lktCABD*) in *Mannheimia* (*Pasteurella*) haemolytica, *Mannheimia glucosida*, and *Pasteurella trehalosi*. Journal of Bacteriology 184, 266-277.

Davies, R. L., Parton, R., Coote, J. G., Gibbs, H. A. & Freer, J. H. (1992). Outermembrane protein and lipopolysaccharide variation in *Pasteurella haemolytica* serotype A1 under different growth conditions. *Journal of General Microbiology* 138, 909-922.

ţ

De Alwis, M. C. L. (1993). Pasteurellosis in production animals: A review. In *Pasteurellosis in production animals*, pp. 11-22. Edited by B. E. Patten, T. L. Spencer, R. B. Johnson, D. Hoffmann & L. Lehane. Canberra: ACIAR proceedings.

Deneer, H. G. & Potter, A. A. (1989). Iron-repressible outer membrane proteins of

Pasteurella haemolytica. Journal of General Microbiology 135, 435-443.

DeRosa, D. C., Mechor, G. D., Staats, J. J., Chengappa, M. M. & Shryock, T. R. (2000). Comparison of *Pasteurella* spp. simultaneously isolated from nasal and transtracheal swabs from cattle with clinical signs of bovine respiratory disease. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 38, 327-332.

Dewhirst, F. E., Paster, B. J., Olsen, I. & Fraser, G. J. (1992). Phylogeny of 54 representative strains of species in the family *Pasteurellaceae* as determined by comparison of 16S rRNA sequences. *Journal of Bacteriology* 174, 2002-2013.

Donachie, W., Fraser, J., Quirie, M. & Gilmour, N. J. L. (1984). Studies on strains of *Pasteurella haemolytica* not typable by the indirect haemagglutination test. *Research in Veterinary Science* 37, 188-193.

Donnenberg, M. S. & Whittam, T. S. (2001). Pathogenesis and evolution of virulence in enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 107, 539-548.

Drummelsmith, J. & Whitfield, C. (2000). Translocation of group 1 capsular polysaccharide to the surface of *Escherichia coli* requires a multimeric complex in the outer membrane. *EMBO Journal* 19, 57-66.

Duim, B., Bowler, L. D., Eijk, P. P., Jansen, H. M., Dankert, J. & van Alphen, L. (1997). Molecular variation in the major outer membrane protein P5 gene of nonencapsulated *Haemophilus influenzae* during chronic infections. 1351-1356.

Edwards, R. A., Helm, R. A. & Maloy, S. R. (1999). Increasing DNA transfer efficiency by temporary inactivation of host restriction. *Bio Techniques* 26, 892-898.

Endo, Y., Yamada, T., Matsunaga, K., Hayakawa, Y., Kaidoh, T. & Takeuchi, S. (2003). Phage conversion of exfoliative toxin A in Staphylococcus aureus isolated from cows with mastitis. *Veterinary Microbiology* 96, 81-90.

1

Etz, H., Minh, D. B., Schellack, C., Nagy, E. & Meinke, A. (2001). Bacterial phage receptors, versatile tools for display of polypeptides on the cell surface. *Journal of Bacteriology* 183, 6924-6935.

Fay, J. C. & Wu, C. I. (2001). The neutral theory in the genomic era. *Current Opinion* in Genetics and Development 11, 642.646.

Feil, E., Carpenter, G. & Spratt, B. G. (1995). Electrophoretic variation in adenylate kinase of *Neisseria meningitidis* is due to inter- and intraspecies recombination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 92, 10535-10539.

Feil, E., Zhou, J., Maynard Smith, J. & Spratt, B. G. (1996). A comparison of the nucleotide sequences of the *adk* and *recA* genes of pathogenic and commensal *Neisseria* species: evidence for extensive interspecies recombination within *adk*. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 43, 631-640.

Feil, E. J. & Spratt, B. G. (2001). Recombination and the population structures of bacterial pathogens. *Annual Review of Microbiology* 55, 561-590.

Ferguson, A. D. & Deisenhofer, J. (2002). TonB-dependent receptors structural perspectives. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1565, 318-332.

Fidelma Boyd, E. & Waldor, M. K. (1999). Alternative mechanism of cholera toxin acquisition by *Vibrio cholerae*: Generalized transduction of CTXPhi by bacteriophage CP-T1. *Infection and Immunity* 67, 5898-5905.

Field, D., Hood, D. & Moxon, R. (1999). Contribution of genomics to bacterial pathogenesis. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* 9, 700-703.

Figueroa-Bossi, N. & Bossi, L. (1999). Inducible prophages contribute to *Salmonella* virulence in mice. *Molecular Microbiology* 33, 167-176.

Fodor, L., Varga, J., Hajtos, J., Donachie, W. & Gilmour, N. J. L. (1988). Characterisation of a new serotype of *P. haemolytica* isolated in Hungary. *Research in Veterinary Science* 44, 399.

Foster, G., Ross, H. M., Malnick, H., Willems, A., Hutson, R. A., Reid, R. J. & Collins, M. D. (2000). *Phocoenobacter uteri* gen. nov., sp. nov., a new member of the family *Pasteurellaceae* Pohl (1979) 1981 isolated from a harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). *International Journal of Systematic Evolutionary Microbiology* 50, 135-139.

Fothergill-Gilmorc, L. A. & Michels, P. A. M. (1993). Evolution of glycolysis. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology* 59, 105.

ţ

Foulongne, V., Bourg, G., Cazevieille, C., Michaux-Charachon, S. & O'Callaghan, D. (2000). Identification of *Brucella suis* genes affecting intracellular survival in an in

340

vitro human macrophage infection model by signature-tagged transposon mutagenesis. *Infection and Immunity* 68, 1297-1303.

Frank, G. H. (1989). Pasteurellosis of cattle. In *Pasteurella and pasteurellosis*, pp. 197-222. Edited by C. F. A. a. J. M. Rutter. London, England: Academic Press.

Fraser, J., Laird, S. & Gilmour, N. J. L. (1982). A new serotype (biotype T) of *Pasteurella haemolytica. Research in Veterinary Science* 32, 127-128.

Fraser, J., Donachie, W., Quirie, M. & Gilmour, N. J. L. (1983). Rapid indirect hemagglutination test for serotyping *Pasteurelle haemolytica*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 18, 206-207.

Frosch, M., Muller, D., Bousset, K. & Muller, A. (1992). Conserved outer membrane protein of *Neisseria meningitidis* involved in capsule expression. *Infection and Immunity* 60, 798-803.

Froshauer, S., Silvia, A. M., Chidambaram, M., Sharma, B. & Weinstock, G. M. (1996). Sensitization of bacteria to danofloxacin by temperate prophages. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotheraphy* 40, 1561-1563.

Fuller, C. A., Yu, R., Irwin, S. W. & Schryvers, A. B. (1998). Biochemical evidence for a conserved interaction between bacterial transferrin binding protein A and transferrin binding protein B. *Microbial Pathgenesis* 24, 75-87.

Garcia-Vallve, S., Romeu, A. & Palau, J. (2000). Horizontal gene transfer in bacterial and archaeal complete genomes. *Genome Research* 10, 1719-1725.

Genin, B. & Boucher, C. A. (1994). A superfamily of proteins involved in different secretion pathways in Gram-negative bacteria: modular structure and specificity of the N-terminal domain. *Molecular and general genetics* 243, 112-118.

Gentry, M. J., Confer, A. W. & Holland, S. G. (1988). Comparison of the toxic and antigenic properties of single bovine isolates of *Pasteurella haemolytica* representing five serotypes and an untypable strain. *Veterinary Microbiology* 16, 351-367.

5

Gerlach, G. F., Klashinsky, S., Anderson, C., Potter, A. A. & Willson, P. J. (1992). Characterization of two genes encoding distinct transferrin-binding proteins in different *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* isolates. *Infection and Immunity* 60, 3253-3261.

REFERENCES

Gilmour, N. J. L. & Gilmour, J. S. (1989). Pasteurellosis of sheep. In *Pasteurella and pasteurellosis*, pp. 223-261. Edited by C. F. A. a. J. M. Rutter. London, England: Academic Press.

Gogarten, J. P. & Olendzenski, L. (1999). Orthologs, paralogs and genome comparisons. In *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development*, pp. 630-636.

Goldberg, J. B., Hatano, K. & Pier, G. B. (1993). Synthesis of lipopolysaccharide O side chains by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 requires the enzyme phosphomannomutase. *Journal of Bacteriology* 175, 1605-1611.

Gonzalez, C. T. & Maheswaran, S. K. (1993). The role of induced virulence factors produced by *Pasteurella haemolytica* in the pathogenesis of bovine pneumonic pasteurellosis: review and hypotheses. *British Veterinary Journal* 149, 183-193.

Gottschalk, A. (1960). Correlation between composition, structure, shape, and function of a salivary mucoprotein. *Nature* 186, 949-951.

Govan, J. R. & Deretic, V. (1996). Microbial pathogenesis in cystic fibrosis: mucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Burkholderia cepacia*. *Microbiological Reviews* 60, 539-574.

Grahn, A. M., Daugelavicius, R. & Bamford, D. H. (2002). Sequential model of phage PRD1 DNA delivery: active involvement of the viral membrane. *Molecular Microbiology* 46, 1199-1209.

Gray-Owen, S. D. & Schryvers, A. B. (1993). The interaction of primate transferrins with receptors on bacteria pathogenic to humans. *Microbial Pathgenesis* 14, 389-398.

Gray-Owen, S. D. & Schryvers, A. B. (1996). Bacterial transferrin and lactoferrin receptors. *Trends in Microbiology* 4, 185-191.

Gray-Owen, S. D., Loosmore, S. & Schryvers, A. B. (1995). Identification and characterization of genes encoding the human transferrin-binding proteins from *Haemophilus influenzae*. *Infection and Immunity* 63, 1201-1210.

Guiney, D. G. (1997). Regulation of bacterial virulence gene expression by the host environment. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 99, 565-569.

Gupta, S. & Maiden, M. C. J. (2001). Exploring the evolution of diversity in pathogen population. *Trends in Microbiology* 9, 181-185.

REFERENCES

Harb, O. S. & Abu Kwaik, Y. (1998). Identification of the aspartate-betasemialdehyde dehydrogenase gene of *Legionella pneumophila* and characterization of a null mutant. *Infection and Immunity* 66, 1898-1903.

Hatten, L. A., Schweizer, H. P., Averill, N., Wang, L. & Schryvers, A. B. (1993). Cloning and characterization of the *Neisseria meningitidis* asd gene. *Gene* 129, 123-128.

Hava, D. L. & Camilli, A. (2001). Isolation and characterization of a temperaturesensitive generalized transducing bacteriophage for *Vibrio cholerae*. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 46, 217-225.

Hendrix, R. W., Smith, M. C., Burns, R. N., Ford, M. E. & Hatfull, G. F. (1999). Evolutionary relationships among diverse bacteriophages and prophages: all the world's a phage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 96, 2192-2197.

Hernanz Moral, C., Flano del Castillo, E., Lopez Fierro, P., Villena Cortes, A., Anguita Castillo, J., Cascon Soriano, A., Sanchez Salazar, M., Razquin Peralta, B. & Naharro Carrasco, G. (1998). Molecular characterization of the *Aeromonas hydrophila aroA* gene and potential use of an auxotrophic *aroA* mutant as a live attenuated vaccine. *Infection and Immunity* 66, 1813-1821.

Highlander, S. K. (2001). Molecular genetic analysis of virulence in *Mannheimia* (*pasteurella*) haemolytica. Frontiers in Bioscience 6, D1128-1150.

Hill, D. J., Toleman, M. A., Evans, D. J., Villullas, S., Van Alphen, L. & Virji, M. (2001). The variable P5 proteins of typeable and non-typeable *Haemophilus influenzae* target human CEACAM1. *Molecular Microbiology*, 850-862.

Hitchcock, P. J., Leive, L., Makela, P. H., Rietschel, E. T., Strittmatter, W. & Morrison, D. C. (1986). Lipopolysaccharide nomenclature--past, present, and future. *Journal of Bacteriology* 166, 699-705.

Hoang, T. T., Williams, S., Schweizer, H. P. & Lam, J. S. (1997). Molecular genetic analysis of the region containing the essential *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* asd gene encoding aspartate-beta-semialdehyde dehydrogenase. *Microbiology* 143, 899-907.

Hobbs, M. M., Seiler, A., Achtman, M. & Cannon, J. G. (1994). Microevolution within a clonal population of pathogenic bacteria: Recombination, gene duplication

and horizontal genetic exchange in the *opa* gene family of *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Molecular Microbiology* 12, 171-180.

ţ

Holland, J., Parsons, T. R., Hasan, A. A., Cook, S. M., Stevenson, P., Griffith, E. & Williams, P. (1996). Conserved and antigenic cross-reactivity of the transferrinbinding proteins of *Haemophilus influenzae*, *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* and *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Microbiology* 142, 3505-3513.

Hughes, K., Sutherland, I. & Jones, M. (1998). Biofilm susceptibility to bacteriophage attack: the role of phage-borne polysaccharide depolymerase. *Microbiology* 144, 3039-3047.

Humphrey, S. B., Stanton, T. B. & Jensen, N. S. (1995). Mitomycin C induction of bacteriophages from *Serpulina hyodysenteriae* and *Serpulina innocens. FEMS Microbiology Letters.* 134, 97-101.

Inoue, K. & Iida, H. (1968). Bacteriophages of *Clostridium botulinum. Journal of Viology* 2, 537-540.

Irwin, S. W., Averil, N., Cheng, C. Y. & Schryvers, A. B. (1993). Preparation and analysis of isogenic mutants in the transferrin receptor protein genes, *tbpA* and *tbpB*, from *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Molecular Microbiology* 8, 1125-1133.

Jacques, M. & Paradis, S. E. (1998). Adhesin-receptor interactions in *Pasteurellaceae*. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* 22, 45-59.

Jain, R., Rivera, M. C. & Lake, J. A. (1999). Horizontal gene transfer among genomes: The complexity hypothesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 96, 3801-3806.

Jericho, K. W. F., Lejeune, A. & Tiffin, G. B. (1986). Bovine herpesvirus-1 and *Pasteurella haemolytica* acrobiology in experimentally infected calves. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 47, 205-209.

Jiang, W. H., Patterson, J. A. & Steenson, L. R. (1995). Isolation and characterization of a temperate bacteriophage from a ruminal acetogen. *Current Microbiology*. 31, 336-339.

Johnson, J. A., Salles, C. A., Panigrahi, P., Albert, M. J., Wright, A. C., Johnson, R. J. & Morris, J. G., Jr. (1994). *Vibrio cholerae* O139 synonym bengal is closely related to Vibrio cholerae El Tor but has important differences. *Infection and Immunity* 62,

2108-2110.

Jones, D. T. (1999). Protein secondary structure prediction based on position-specific scoring matrices. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 292, 195-202.

Jordan, I. K., Rogozin, I. B., Wolf, Y. I. & Koonin, E. V. (2002). Microevolutionary Genomics of Bacteria. *Theoretical Population Biology* 61, 435-447.

Karaolis, D. K., Somara, S., Maneval, D. R., Jr., Johnson, J. A. & Kaper, J. B. (1999). A bacteriophage encoding a pathogenicity island, a type-IV pilus and a phage receptor in cholera bacteria. *Nature* 399, 375-379.

Karlin, S. & Brocchieri, L. (1996). Evolutionary conservation of *recA* genes in relation to protein structure and function. *Journal of Bacteriology* 178, 1881-1894.

Karlin, S., Weinstock, G. M. & Brendel, V. (1995). Bacterial classifications derived from RecA protein sequence comparisons. *Journal of Bacteriology* 177, 6881-6893.

Kelly, R. T. & D., G. (1970). Toxicity of pneumococcal neuraminidase. *Infection and Immunity* 2, 115-117.

Keppel, F. & Georgopoulos, C. (1988). Stratehies of bacteriophage DNA replication. In *The Bacteriophages*, pp. 145-262. Edited by R. Calendar. New York: Plenum Press.

Khan, S. A., Everest, P., Servos, S., Foxwell, N., Zahringer, U., Brade, H., Rietschel, E. T., Dougan, G., Charles, I. G. & Maskell, D. J. (1998). A lethal role for lipid A in Salmonella infections. *Molecular Microbiology* 29, 571-579.

Kimura, M. (1977). Preponderance of synonymous changes as evidence for the neutral theory of molecular evolution. *Nature* 267, 275-276.

Klesney-Tait, J., Hiltke, T. J., Maciver, I., Spinola, S. M., Radolf, J. D. & Hansen, E. J. (1997). The major outer membrane protein of Haemophilus ducreyi consists of two OmpA homologs. *Journal of Bacteriology* 179, 1764-1773.

Koebnik, R., Locher, K. P. & Van Gelder, P. (2000). Structure and function of bacterial outer membrane proteins: barrels in a nutshell, *Molecular Microbiology* 37, 239-253.

Kondrashov, A. S. (1999). Comparative genomics and evolutionary biology. *Current* Opinion in Genetics & Development 9, 624-629.

Korczak, B., Christensen, H., Emler, S., Frey, J. & Kuhnert, P. (2004). Phylogeny of the family *Pasteurellaceae* based on *rpoB* sequences. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology* 54, 1393-1399.

Kowalczykowski, S. C., Dixon, D. A., Eggleston, A. K., Lauder, S. D. & Rehrauer, W. M. (1994). Biochemistry of homologous recombination in *Escherichia coli*. *Microbiological Reviews* 58, 401-465.

Kroll, J. S. & Booy, R. (1996). *Haemophilus influenzae*: capsule vaccine and capsulation genetics. *Molecular Medicine Today* 2, 160-165.

Kroll, J. S., Wilks, K. E., Farrant, J. L. & Langford, P. R. (1998). Natural genetic exchange between *Haemophilus* and *Neisseria*: intergeneric transfer of chromosomal genes between major human pathogens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95, 12381-12385.

Kumar, S., Tamura, K., Jakobsen, I. B. & Nei, M. (2001). MEGA2: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis software. *Bioinformatics* 17, 1244-1245.

Lacroix, R. P., Duncan, J. R., Jenkins, R. P., Leitch, R. A., Perry, J. A. & Richards, J. C. (1993). Structural and serological specificities of *Pasteurella haemolytica* lipopolysaccharides. *Infection and Immunity* 61, 170-181.

Laemmli, U. K. (1970). Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 227, 680-685.

Lan, R. & Reeves, P. R. (1996). Gene transfer is a major factor in bacterial evolution. *Molecular biology and evolution* 13, 47-55.

Lan, R. & Reeves, P. R. (2000). Intraspecies variation in bacterial genomes: the need for a species genome concept. *Trends in Microbiology* 8, 396-401.

Lang, H. (2000). Outer membrane proteins as surface display systems. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology* 290, 579-585.

Lawrence, J. G. (1999). Gene transfer, speciation, and the evolution of bacterial genomes. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 2, 519-523.

Lawrence, J. G. & Ochman, H. (1998). Molecular archaeology of the Escherichia coli genome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of

America 95, 9413-9417.

ŗ

Lawrence, J. G., Hendrix, R. W. & Casjens, S. (2001). Where are the pseudogenes in bacterial genomes? *Trends in Microbiology* 9, 535-540.

Lawrence, J. G., Hatfull, G. F. & Hendrix, R. W. (2002). Imbroglios of viral taxonomy: genetic exchange and failings of phenetic approaches. *Journal of Bacteriology* 184, 4891-4905.

Le, Y., He, J. & Vining, L. C. (1996). *Streptomyces akiyoshiensis* differs from other gram-positive bacteria in the organization of a core biosynthetic pathway gene for aspartate family amino acids. *Microbiology* 142, 791-798.

Lee, C. W., Lo, R. Y., Shewen, P. E. & Mellors, A. (1994). The detection of the sialoglycoprotease gene and assay for sialoglycoprotease activity among isolates of *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 strains, serotypes A13, A14, T15 and A16. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 121, 199-205.

Legrain, M., Mazarin, V., Irwin, S. W., Bouchon, B., Quentin-Millet, M. J., Jacobs, E. & Schryvers, A. B. (1993). Cloning and characterization of Neisseria meningitidis genes encoding the transferrin-binding proteins Tbp1 and Tbp2. *Gene* 130, 73-80.

Li, J., Nelson, K., McWhorter, A. C., Whittam, T. S. & Selander, R. K. (1994). Recombinational basis of serovar diversity in Salmonella enterica. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 91, 2552-2556.

Lindberg, A. A. (1973). Bacteriophage receptors. *Annual Review of Microbiology* 205-241.

Linz, B., Schenker, M., Zhu, P. & Achtman, M. (2000). Frequent interspecific genetic exchange between commensal *Neisseriae* and *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Molecular Microbiology* 36, 1049-1058.

Lo, R. Y. (2001). Genetic analysis of virulence factors of *Mannheimia (Pasteurella)* haemolytica A1. Veterinary Microbiology 83, 23-35.

Lo, R. Y., McKerral, L. J., Hills, T. L. & Kostrzynska, M. (2001). Analysis of the capsule biosynthetic locus of *Mannheimia (Pasteurella) haemolytica* A1 and proposal of a nomenclature system. *Infection and Immunity* 69, 4458-4464.

Loosmore, S. M., Yang, Y. P., Coleman, D. C., Shortreed, J. M., England, D. M.,

Harkness, R. E., Chong, P. S. & Klein, M. H. (1996). Cloning and expression of the *Haemophilus influenzae* transferrin receptor genes. *Molecular Microbiology* 19, 575-586.

1.1.1.1.1

Lubkowski, J., Hennecke, F., Pluckthun, A. & Wlodawer, A. (1999). Filamentous phage infection: crystal structure of g3p in complex with its coreceptor, the C-terminal domain of TolA. *Structure* 7, 711-722.

Luderitz, O., Galanos, C., Lehmann, V., Nurminen, M., Rietschel, E. T., Rosenfelder, G., Simon, M. & Westphal, O. (1973). Lipid A: chemical structure and biological activity. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 128, Suppl:17-29.

Lugtenberg, B. & Van Alphen, L. (1983). Molecular architecture and functioning of the outer membrane of *Escherichia coli* and other Gram-negative bacteria. *Biochemica et Biophysica Acta* 737, 51-115.

Mahasreshti, P. J., Murphy, G. L., Wyckoff, J. H., 3rd, Farmer, S., Hancock, R. E. & Confer, A. W. (1997). Purification and partial characterization of the OmpA family of proteins of *Pasteurella haemolytica*. *Infection and Immunity* 65, 211-218.

Mahillon, J. & Chandler, M. (1998). Insertion sequences. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 62, 725-774.

Malmborg, A. C., Soderlind, E., Frost, L. & Borrebaeck, C. A. (1997). Selective phage infection mediated by epitope expression on F pilus. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 273, 544-551.

Maniloff, J. & Ackermann, H. W. (1998). Taxonomy of bacterial viruses: establishment of tailed virus genera and the order *Caudovirales*. *Archives of Virology* 143, 2051-2063.

Martin, W. B. (1996). Respiratory infections of sheep. Comparative immunology, microbiology and infectious diseases 19, 171-179.

ş

Maskell, D. J., Szabo, M. J., Deadman, M. E. & Moxon, E. R. (1992). The gal locus from *Haemophilus influenzae*: cloning, sequencing and the use of gal mutants to study lipopolysaccharide. *Molecular Microbiology* 6, 3051-3063.

Mazarin, V., Rokbi, B. & Quentin-Millet, M. J. (1995). Diversity of the transferrinbinding protein Tbp2 of *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Gene* 158, 145-146.

McBride, J. W., Wozniak, E. J., Brewer, A. W., Naydan, D. K. & Osburn, B. I. (1999). Evidence of *Pasteurella haemolytica* linked immune complex disease in natural and experimental models. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 26, 183-193.

McGuffin, L. J., Bryson, K. & Jones, D. T. (2000). The PSIPRED protein structure prediction server. *Bioinformatics* 16, 404-405.

McKerral, L. J. & Lo, R. Y. (2002). Construction and characterization of an acapsular mutant of *Mannheimia haemolytica* A1. *Infection and Immunity* 70, 2622-2629.

Melchers, F., Braun, V. & Galanos, C. (1975). The lipoprotein of the outer membrane of *Escherichia coli*: a B-lympocyte mitogen. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 142, 473-481.

Miao, E. A. & Miller, S. I. (1999). Bacteriophages in the evolution of pathogen-host interactions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 96, 9452-9454.

Milkman, R., , Raleigh, E. A., Mchane, M., Cryderman, D., Ryderman, P., Bilodeau, P. & Mcweeny, K. (1999). Molecular evolution of the *Escherichia coli* chromosome. V. Recombination patterns among strains of diverse origin. *Genetics* 153, 539-554.

Millman, K. L., Tavare, S. & Dean, D. (2001). Recombination in the *ompA* gene but not the *omcB* gene of *Chlamydia* contributes to serovar-specific differences in tissue tropism, immune surveillance, and persistence of the organism. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 5997-6008.

Mooi, F. R. & Bik, E. M. (1997). The evolution of epidemic *Vibrio cholerae* strains. *Trends in Microbiology* 5, 161-165.

Morona, R., Klose, M. & Henning, U. (1984). *Escherichia coli* K-12 outer membrane protein (OmpA) as a bacteriophage receptor: analysis of mutant genes expressing altered proteins. *Journal of Bacteriology* 159, 570-578.

Morona, R., Kramer, C. & Henning, U. (1985). Bacteriophage receptor area of outer membrane protein OmpA of *Escherichia coli* K12. *Journal of Bacteriology* 164, 539-543.

Morschhauser, J. K., G. Ziebuhr, W. Blum-Oehler, G. Dobrindt, U. Hacker, J. (2000). Evolution of microbial pathogens. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological sciences* 29, 695-704.

Murphy, G. L. & Whitworth, L. C. (1993). Analysis of tandem, multiple genes encoding 30-kDa membrane proteins in *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1. *Gene* 129, 107-111.

Musser, J. M. (1995). Antimicrobial agent resistance in mycobacteria: molecular genetic insights. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 8, 496-514.

Musser, J. M. (1996). Molecular population genetic analysis of emerged bacterial pathogens-selected insights. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 2, 1-17.

Mutters, R., Mannheim, W. & Bisgaard, M. (1989). Taxonoomy of the group. In *Pasteurella and pasteurellosis*, pp. 3-34. Edited by C. F. A. a. J. M. Rutter. London, England: Academic Press.

Myers, L. E., Yang, Y. P., Du, R. P., Wang, Q., Harkness, R. E., Schryvers, A. B., Klein, M. H. & Loosmore, S. M. (1998). The transferrin binding protein B of *Moraxella catarrhalis* elicits bactericidal antibodics and is a potential vaccine antigen. *Infection and Immunity* 66, 4183-4192.

Nakayama, K., Kanaya, S., Ohnishi, M., Terawaki, Y. & Hayashi, T. (1999). The complete nucleotide sequence of phi CTX, a cytotoxin-converting phage of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa:* implications for phage evolution and horizontal gene transfer via bacteriophages. *Molecular Microbiology* 31, 399-419.

Nardini, P. M., Mellors, A. & Lo, R. Y. (1998). Characterization of a fourth lipoprotein from *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 and its homology to the OmpA family of outer membrane proteins. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 165, 71-77.

Nei, M. & Gojobori, T. (1986). Simple methods for estimating the numbers of synonymous and nonsynonymous nucleotide substitutions. *Molecular biology and evolution* 3, 418-426.

ŧ

Nei, M. & Kumar, S. (2000a). Evolutionary change of DNA squences. In *Molecular* evolution and phylogenetics, pp. 33-50. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Nei, M. & Kumar, S. (2000b). Synonymous and nonsynonymous nucleotide substitution. In *Molecular evolution and phylogenetics*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Nei, M. & Kumar, S. (2000c). Phylogenetic inference: Distance methods. In

service of the service service
Molecular evolution and phylogenetics, pp. 87-114. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Nei, M. & Kumar, S. (2000d). Accuracies and statistical tests of phylogenetic trees. In *Molecular evolution and phylogenetics*, pp. 165-186. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Nelson, K. & Selander, R. K. (1992). Evolutionary genetics of the proline permease gene (*putP*) and the control region of the proline utilization operon in populations of *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli*. Journal of Bacteriology 174, 6886-6895.

Nelson, K. & Sclander, R. K. (1994). Intergeneric transfer and recombination of the 6phosphogluconate dehydrogenase gene (gnd) in enteric bacteria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 91, 10227-10231.

Nelson, K., Whittam, T. S. & Selander, R. K. (1991). Nucleotide polymorphism and evolution in the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase gene (*gapA*) in natural populations of *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88, 6667-6671.

Nesper, J., Kapfhammer, D., Klose, K. E., Merkert, H. & Reidl, J. (2000). Characterization of *Vibrio cholerae* O1 antigen as the bacteriophage K139 receptor and identification of IS1004 insertions aborting O1 antigen biosynthesis. *Journal of Bacteriology* 182, 5097-5104.

Nesper, J., Hill, C. M., Paiment, A., Harauz, G., Beis, K., Naismith, J. H. & Whitfield, C. (2003). Translocation of group 1 capsular polysaccharide in *Escherichia coli* serotype K30. Structural and functional analysis of the outer membrane lipoprotein Wza. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 49763-49772.

Newsom, I. E. & Cross, F. (1932). Some bipolar organisms found in pneumonia in sheep. *Journal of American veterinary medical association* 80, 711-719.

Nordeen, R. O. & Currier, T. C. (1983). Generalized transduction in the phytopathogen *Peudomonas syringae*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 45, 1884-1889.

ţ

Nyarko, K. A., Coomber, B. L., Mellors, A. & Gentry, P. A. (1998). Bovine platelet adhesion is enhanced by leukotoxin and sialoglycoprotease isolated from *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 cultures. *Veterinary Microbiology* 61, 81-91.

Ochman, H., Lawrence, J. G. & Groisman, E. A. (2000). Lateral gene transfer and the nature of bacterial innovation. *Nature* 405, 299-304.

Odugbo, M. O., Odamab, L. E., Umohc, J. U. & Makinde, A. A. (2003). Scrotypes of *Pasteurella haemolytica* from pneumonic lungs of sheep in northern Nigeria. *Small Ruminant Research* 2003, 239-243.

Ogg, J. E., Timme, T. L. & Alemohammad, M. M. (1981). General Transduction in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Infection and Immunity* 31, 737-741.

Ogunnariwo, J. A. & Schryvers, A. B. (1990). Iron acquisition in *Pasteurella haemolytica*: Expression and identification of a bovine-specific transferrin receptor. *Infection and Immunity* 58, 2091-2097.

Ogunnariwo, J. A. & Schryvers, A. B. (1996). Rapid identification and cloning of bacterial transferrin and lactoferrin receptor protein genes. *Journal of Bacteriology* 178, 7326-7328.

Ogunnariwo, J. A. & Schryvers, A. B. (2001). Characterization of a novel transferrin receptor in bovine strains of *Pasteurella multocida*. *Journal of Bacteriology* 183, 890-896.

Ogunnariwo, J. A., Woo, T. K., Lo, R. Y., Gonzalez, G. C. & Schryvers, A. B. (1997). Characterization of the *Pasteurella haemolytica* transferrin receptor genes and the recombinant receptor proteins. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 23, 273-284.

Ohnishi, M., Kurokawa, K. & Hayashi, T. (2001). Diversification of *Escherichia coli* genomes: are bacteriophages the major contributors? *Trends in Microbiology* 9, 481-485.

Osawa, R., Rainey, F. A., Fujisawa, T., Lang, E., Busse, H. J., Walsh, T. & Stackebrandt, E. (1995). *Lonepinella koalarum* gen. nov., sp. nov., a new tannin-protein complex degrading bacterium. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology* 18, 368-373.

Paulsen, I., Beness, A. & Saier, M., Jr (1997). Computer-based analyses of the protein constituents of transport systems catalysing export of complex carbohydrates in bacteria. *Microbiology* 143, 2685-2699.

Pautsch, A. & Schulz, G. E. (1998). Structure of the outer membrane protein A transmembrane domain. *Nature Structural Biology* 5, 1013-1017.

Pautsch, A. & Schulz, G. E. (2000). High-resolution structure of the OmpA membrane

domain. Journal of Molecular Biology 298, 273-282.

Pavelka, M. S., Jr., Hayes, S. F. & Silver, R. P. (1994). Characterization of KpsT, the ATP-binding component of the ABC-transporter involved with the export of capsular polysialic acid in *Escherichia coli* K1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 269, 20149-20158.

Pegram, R. G., Roeder, P. L. & Scott, J. M. (1979). Two new serotypes of *Pasteurella haemolytica* from sheep in Ethiopia. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 11, 29-30.

Pelkonen, S., Aalto, J. & Finne, J. (1992). Differential activities of bacteriophage depolymerase on bacterial polysaccharide: binding is essential but degradation is inhibitory in phage infection of K1-defective *Escherichia coli*. Journal of *Bacteriology* 174, 7757-7761.

Perna, N. T., Plunkett 3rd, G., Burland, V., Mau, B., Glasner, J. D., Rose, D. J., Mayhew, G. F., Evans, P. S., Gregor, J. & Kirkpatrick, H. A. (2001). Genome sequence of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Nature* 409, 529-533.

Petit, C., Rigg, G. P., Pazzani, C., Smith, A., Sieberth, V., Stevens, M., Boulnois, G., Jann, K. & Roberts, I. S. (1995). Region 2 of the *Escherichia coli* K5 capsule gene cluster encoding proteins for the biosynthesis of the K5 polysaccharide. *Molecular Microbiology* 17, 611-620.

Pettersson, A., Klarenbeek, V., Van Deurzen, J., Poolman, J. T. & Tommassen, J. (1994). Molecular characterization of the structural gene of the lactoferrin receptors of the meningococcal strain H44/76. *Microbial Pathgenesis* 17, 395-408.

Pluschke, G, Mayden, J., Achtman, M. & Levine, R. P. (1983). Role of the capsulc and the O antigen in resistance of O18:K1 *Escherichia coli* to complement-mediated killing. *Infection and Immunity* 42, 907-913.

Popp, A., Dehio, C., Grunert, F., Meyer, T. F. & Gray-Owen, S. D. (1999). Molecular analysis of neisserial Opa protein interactions with the CEA family of receptors: identification of determinants contributing to the differential specificities of binding. *Cell Microbiol* 1, 169-181.

Potter, A. A., Ready, K. & Gilchrist, J. (1988). Purification of fimbriae from *Pasteurella haemolytica* A-1. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 4, 311-316.

REFERENCES

Potter, A. A., Schryvers, A. B., Ogunnariwo, J. A., Hutchins, W. A., Lo, R. Y. & Watts, T. (1999). Protective capacity of the *Pasteurella haemolytica* transferrin-binding proteins TbpA and TbpB in cattle. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 27, 197-206.

C 24

ł

Potter, M. D. & Lo, R. Y. (1996). Cloning and characterization of the *galE* locus of *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1. *Infection and Immunity* 64, 855-860.

Prasadarao, N. V. (2002). Identification of *Escherichia coli* outer membrane protein A receptor on human brain microvascular endothelial cells. *Infection and Immunity* 70, 4556-4563,.

Preston, A., Mandrell, R. E., Gibson, B. W. & Apicella, M. A. (1996). The lipooligosaccharides of pathogenic gram-negative bacteria. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology* 22, 139-180.

Pullinger, G. D., Bevir, T. & Lax, A. J. (2004). The *pasteurella multocida* toxin is encoded within a lysogenic bacteriophage. *Molecular Microbiology* 51, 255-269.

Pupo, G. M., Karaolis, D. K., Lan, R. & Reeves, P. R. (1997). Evolutionary relationships among pathogenic and nonpathogenic Escherichia coli strains inferred from multilocus enzyme electrophoresis and mdh sequence studies. *Infection and Immunity* 65, 2685-2692.

Purdy, C. W., Richards, A. B. & Foster, G. S. (1989). Blood bactericidal assay (*Pasteurella haemolytica*) comparison of morbidity in marketed feeder calves. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 50, 221-225.

Quirie, M., Donachie, W. & Gilmour, N. J. (1986). Serotypes of *Pasteurella haemolytica* from cattle. *Veterinary Record* 119, 93-94.

Quirk, A. V., Sletten, A. & Hignett, R. C. (1976). Properties of phage-receptor lipopolysaccharide from *Pseudomonas morsprunorum*. *Journal of General Microbiology* 96, 375-381.

Radman, M., Taddei, F. & Matic, I. (2000). Evolution-driving genes. *Research in Microbiology* 151, 91-95.

Rahn, A., Drummelsmith, J. & Whitfield, C. (1999). Conserved organization in the cps gene clusters for expression of *Escherichia coli* group 1 K antigens: Relationship to the colanic acid biosynthesis locus and the *cps* genes from *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. *Journal of Bacteriology* 181, 2307-2313.

354

· · · (

Ramamurthy, T., Garg, S., Sharma, R., Bhattacharya, S. K., Nair, G. B., Shimada, T., Takeda, T., Karasawa, T., Kurazano, H. & Pal, A. (1993). Emergence of novel strain of *Vibrio cholerae* with epidemic potential in southern and eastern India. *Lancet* 341, 703-704.

Reddy, M. S., Bernstein, J. M., Murphy, T. F. & Faden, H. S. (1996). Binding between outer membrane proteins of nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae* and human nasopharyngeal mucin. *Infection and Immunity* 64, 1477-1479.

Rees, W. D. & Hay, S. M. (1995). The biosynthesis of threonine by mammalian cells: expression of a complete bacterial biosynthetic pathway in an animal cell. *Biochemical Journal* 309, 999-1007.

Reeves, P. R. (1992). Variation in O-antigens, niche-specific selection and bacterial populations. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 79, 509-516.

Regni, C. A., Tipton, P. A. & Beamer, L. J. (2000). Crystallization and initial crystallographic analysis of phosphomannomutase/phosphoglucomutase from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Acta Crystallographica Section D-Biological Crystallography* 56, 761-762.

Reid, S. D., Herbelin, C. J., Bumbaugh, A. C., Sclander, R. K. & Whittam, T. S. (2000). Parallel evolution of virulence in pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Nature* 406, 64-67.

Renauld-Mongenie, G., Poncet, D., von Olleschik-Elbheim, L., Cournez, T., Mignon, M., Schmidt, M. A. & Quentin-Millet, M. J. (1997). Identification of human transferrin-binding sites within meningococcal transferrin-binding protein B. *Journal of Bacteriology* 179, 6400-6407.

Renauld-Mongenie, G., Lins, L., Krell, T., Laffly, L., Mignon, M., Dupuy, M., Delrue, R. M., Guinet-Morlot, F., Brasseur, R. & Lissolo, L. (2004). Transferrin-binding protein B of Neisseria meningitidis: sequence-based identification of the transferrin-Binding site confirmed by site-directed mutagenesis. *Journal of Bacteriology* 186, 850-857.

Rich, S. M., Sawyer, S. A. & Barbour, A. G. (2001). Antigen polymorphism in *Borrelia hermsii*, a clonal pathogenic bacterium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98, 15038-15043.

Richards, A. B., Renshaw, H. W. & Sneed, L. W. (1985). *Pasteurella haemolytica* bacteriophage: identification, partial characterization, and relationship of temperate bacteriophages from isolates of *Pasteurella haemolytica* (biotype A, serotype 1). *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 46, 1215-1220.

Riley, L. W., Remis, R. S., Helgerson, S. D., McGee, H. B., Wells, J. G., Davis, B. R., Hebert, R. J., Olcott, E. S., Johnson, L. M., Hargrett, N. T., Blake, P. A. & Cohen, M. L. (1983). Hemorrhagic colitis associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. *New England Journal of Medicine* 308, 681-685.

Rivera, M. C., Jain, R., Moore, J. E. & Lake, J. A. (1998). Genomic evidence for two functionally distinct gene classes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95, 6239-6244.

Roberts, I. S. (1996). The biochemistry and genetics of capsular polysaccharide production in bacteria. *Annual Review of Microbiology* 50, 285-315.

Robertson, B. D. & Meyer, T. F. (1992). Genetic variation in pathogenic bacteria. *Trends in Genetics* 8, 422-427.

Rohwer, F. & Edwards, R. (2002). The phage proteomic tree: a genome-based taxonomy for phage. *Journal of Bacteriology* 184, 4529-4535.

Rokbi, B., Mazarin, V., Maitre-Wilmotte, G. & Quentin-Millet, M. J. (1993). Identification of two major families of transferrin receptors among *Neisseria meningitidis* strains based on antigenic and genomic features. *FEMS Microbiology letters* 110, 51-58.

Rossi-Campos, A., Anderson, C., Gerlach, G. F., Klashinsky, S., Potter, A. A. & Willson, P. J. (1992). Immunization of pigs against *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* with two recombinant protein preparations. *Vaccine* 10, 512-518.

Russel, M. (1998). Macromolecular assembly and secretion across the bacterial cell envelope: type II protein secretion systems. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 279, 485-499.

Sadowski, P. (1986). Site-specific recombinases: Changing partners and doing the twist. *Journal of Bacteriology* 165, 341-347.

Samuel, A. D., Pitta, T. P., Ryu, W. S., Danese, P. N., Leung, E. C. & Berg, H. C. (1999). Flagellar determinants of bacterial sensitivity to chi-phage. *Proceedings of the*

National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96, 9863-9866.

Saunders, N. J., Hood, D. W. & Moxon, E. R. (1999). Bacterial evolution: bacteria play pass the gene. *Current Biology* 9, R180-183.

Schickimaier, P., Moser, E., Wieland, T., Rabsch, W. & Schmieger, H. (1998). A comparative study on the frequency of prophages among natural isolates of *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* with emphasis on generalized transducers. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* 73, 49-54.

Schryvers, A. B. & Gonzalez, G. C. (1990). Receptors for transferrin in pathogenic bacteria are specific for the host's protein. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 36, 145-147.

Schweizer, M. & Henning, U. (1977). Action of a major outer cell envelope membrane protein in conjugation of *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Journal of Bacteriology* 129, 1651-1652.

Selander, R. K. & Smith, N. H. (1990). Molecular population genetics of *Salmonella*. *Reviews in medical microbiology* 1, 219-228.

Selander, R. K., Caugant, D. A., Ochman, H., Musser, J. M., Gilmour, M. N. & Whittam, T. S. (1986). Methods of multilocus enzyme electrophoresis for bacterial population genetics and systematics. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 51, 873-884.

Shewen, P. E., Lee, C. W., Perets, A., Hodgins, D. C., Baldwin, K. & Lo, R. Y. (2003). Efficacy of recombinant sialoglycoprotease in protection of cattle against pneumonic challenge with *Mannheimia (Pasteurella) haemolytica* A1. *Vaccine* 21, 1901-1906.

Sisay, T. & Zerihun, A. (2003). Diversity of *Mannheimia haemolytica* and *Pasteurella trehalosi* serotypes from apparently healthy sheep and abattoir specimens in the highlands of Wollo, North East Ethiopia. *Veterinary Research communications* 27, 3-14.

Smith, G. R. (1961). Isolation of two types of *Pasteurella haemolytica* from sheep. *Nature* 183, 1132-1133.

Smith, J. M. (1999). The detection and measurement of recombination from sequence data. *Genetics* 153, 1021-1027.

Smith, J. M., Smith, N. H., O'Rourke, M. & Spratt, B. G. (1993). How clonal are bacteria? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 90, 4384-4388.

Sneath, P. H. & Stevens, M. (1985). A numerical taxonomic study of *Actinobacillus*, *Pasteurella*, and *Yersinia*. *Journal of General Microbiology* 131, 2711-2738.

Sneath, P. H. & Stevens, M. (1990). Actinobacillus rossii sp. nov., Actinobacillus seminis sp. nov., nom. rev., Pasteurella bettii sp. nov., Pasteurella lymphangitidis sp. nov., Pasteurella mairi sp. nov., and Pasteurella trehalosi sp. nov. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 40, 148-153.

Sonntag, I., Schwartz, H., Hirota, Y. & Henning, U. (1978). Cell envelope and shape of Escherichia coli: multiple mutants missing the outer membrane lipoprotein and other major outer membrane proteins. *Journal of Bacteriology* 136, 280-285.

Spratt, B. G. & Maiden, M. C. (1999). Bacterial population genetics, evolution and epidemiology. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological sciences* 354, 701-710.

Spratt, B. G., Bowler, L. D., Zhang, Q. Y., Zhou, J. & Smith, J. M. (1992). Role of interspecies transfer of chromosomal genes in the evolution of penicillin resistance in pathogenic and commensal *Neisseria* species. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 34, 115-125.

Sprenger, G. A. (1995). Genetics of pentose-phosphate pathway enzymes of *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Archives of Microbiology* 164, 324-330.

Stevenson, P., Williams, P. & Griffith, E. (1992). Common antigenic domains in transferrin-binding protein 2 of *Neisseria meningitidis*, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Haemophilus influenzae* type b. *Infection & Immunity* 60, 2391-2396.

Stine, O. C., Sozhamannan, S., Gou, Q., Zheng, S., Morris, J. G., Jr. & Johnson, J. A. (2000). Phylogeny of *Vibrio cholerae* based on *recA* sequence. *Infection and Immunity* 68, 7180-7185.

Strathdee, C. A. & Lo, R. Y. C. (1987). Extensive homology between the leukotoxin of *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 and the alpha-hemolysin of *Escherichia coli*. Infection and Immunity 55, 3233-3236.

Strauch, E., Schaudinn, C. & Beutin, L. (2004). First-time isolation and

ţ

REFERENCES

characterization of a bacteriophage encoding the Shiga toxin 2c variant, which is globally spread in strains of *Escherichia coli* O157. *Infection & Immunity* 72, 7030-7039.

Straus, D. C., Jolley, W. L. & Purdy, C. W. (1993). Characterization of neuraminidases produced by various serotypes of *Pasteurella haemolytica*. *Infection and Immunity* 61, 4669-4674.

Straus, D. C., Purdy, C. W., Loan, R. W., Briggs, R. F. & Frank, G. H. (1998). In vivo production of neuraminidase by *Pasteurella haemolytica* in market stressed cattle after natural infection. *Current Microbiology* 37, 240-244.

Tabatabaei, M., Liu, Z., Finucane, A., Parton, R. & Coote, J. (2002). Protective immunity conferred by attenuated *aroA* derivatives of *Pasteurella multocida* B:2 strains in a mouse model of hemorrhagic septicemia. *Infection and Immunity* 70, 3355-3362.

Tatum, F. M., Briggs, R. E. & Halling, S. M. (1994). Molecular gene cloning and nucleotide sequencing and construction of an *aroA* mutant of *Pasteurella haemolytica* serotype A1. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 60, 2011-2016.

Teichmann, S. A. & Babu, M. M. (2004). Gene regulatory network growth by duplication. *Nature Genetics* 36, 492 - 496.

Teschner, W., Serre, M. C. & Garel, J. R. (1990). Enzymatic properties, renaturation and metabolic role of mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase from *Escherichia coli*. *Biochimie* 72, 33-40.

Thampapillai, G., Lan, R. & Reeves, P. R. (1994). Molecular evolution in the gnd locus of Salmonella enterica. Molecular biology and evolution 11, 813-828.

Torres, A. G. & Kaper, J. B. (2003). Multiple elements controlling adherence of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to HeLa cells. *Infection and Immunity* 71, 4985-4995.

ţ

Ugalde, J. E., Czibener, C., Feldman, M. F. & Ugalde, R. A. (2000). Identification and characterization of the *Brucella abortus* phosphoglucomutase gene: role of lipopolysaccharide in virulence and intracellular multiplication. *Infection and Immunity* 68, 5716-5723.

Unkmeir, A., Kammerer, U., Stade, A., Hubner, C., Haller, S., Kolb-Maurer, A.,

Frosch, M. & Dietrich, G. (2002). Lipooligosaccharide and polysaccharide capsule: virulence factors of *Neisseria meningitidis* that determine meningococcal interaction with human dendritic cells. *Infection and Immunity* 70, 2454-2462.

Usher, K. C., Ozkan, E., Gardner, K. H. & Deisenhofer, J. (2001). The plug domain of FepA, a TonB-dependent transport protein from *Escherichia coli*, binds its siderophore in the absence of the transmembrane barrel domain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98, 10676-10681.

Van Regenmortel, M. H. V., Fauquet, C. M., Bishop, D. H. L., Carstens, E. B., Estes, M. K., Lemon, S. M., Maniloff, J., Mayo, M. A., McGeoch, D., Pringle, C. R. & Wickner R, B. (2000). Virus Taxonomy: Classification and Nomenclature of Viruses. Seventh Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. San Dicgo: Academic Press.

Vander Byl, C. & Kropinski, A. M. (2000). Sequence of the genome of *Salmonella* bacteriophage *P22. Journal of Bacteriology* 182, 6472-6481.

Videira, P. A., Cortes, L. L., Fialho, A. M. & Sa-Correia, I. (2000). Identification of the *pgmG* gene, encoding a bifunctional protein with phosphoglucomutase and phosphomannomutase activities, in the gellan gum-producing strain *Sphingomonas paucimobilis* ATCC 31461. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66, 2252-2258.

Virji, M., Evans, D. J., Hadfield, A., Grunert, F., Teixeira, A. M. & Watt, S. M. (1999). Critical determinants of host receptor targeting by *Neisseria meningitidis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: identification of Opa adhesiotopes on the N-domain of CD66 molecules. *Molecular Microbiology* 34, 538-551.

Voyles, B. (2002a). Assembly, maturation, and release of virions. In *The biology of virus*, pp. 201-234. Boston: Mc Graw Hill.

Voyles, B. (2002b). Effects of viral infection on host cells:integreted viruses and persistent infection. In *The biology of virus*, pp. 201-234. Boston: Mc Graw Hill.

1

Waldor, M. K. & Mekalanos, J. J. (1996). Lysogenic conversion by a filamentous phage encoding cholera toxin. *Science* 272, 1910-1914.

Walker, J. C. (1984). Mutagenesis and inducible responses to deoxyribonucleic acid damage in *Escherichia coli*. *Microbiological Reviews* 48, 60-93.

Ward, C. K. & Inzana, T. J. (1997). Identification and characterization of a DNA

REFERENCES

region involved in the export of capsular polysaccharide by Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae serotype 5a. Infection and Immunity 65, 2491-2496.

Watt, M. A., Mellors, A. & Lo, R. Y. (1997). Comparison of the recombinant and authentic forms of the *Pasteurella haemolytica* A1 glycoprotease. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 147, 37-43.

Webb, D. C. & Cripps, A. W. (1998). Secondary structure and molecular anaysis of interstrain variability in the P5 outer membrane protein of non-typeable *Haemophilus influenzae* isolated from diverse anatomical sites. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 47, 1059-1067.

Weinbauer, M. G. & Rassoulzadegan, F. (2004). Are viruses driving microbial diversification and diversity? *Environmental Microbiology* 6, 1-11.

Weiner, R., Langille, S. & Quintero, E. (1995). Structure, function and immunochemistry of bacterial exopolysaccharides. *J Ind Microbiol* 15, 339-346.

Weiser, J. N. & C., G. E. (1991). Outer membrane protein A (OmpA) contributes to serum resistance and pathogenicity of *Escherichia coli* K-1. *Infection and Immunity* 59, 2252-2258.

Whitfeld, C. & Roberts, I. S. (1999). Structure, assembly and regulation of expression of capsules in *Escherichia coli*. *Molecular Microbiology* 31, 1307-1319.

Whittam, T. S., Wolfe, M. L., Wachsmuth, I. K., Orskov, F., Orskov, I. & Wilson, R. A. (1993). Clonal relationships among *Escherichia coli* strains that cause hemorrhagic colitis and infantile diarrhea. *Infection and Immunity* 61, 1619-1629.

Willi, K., Sandmeier, H., Kulik, E. M. & Meyer, J. (1997). Transduction of antibiotic resistance markers among *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans* strains by temperate bacteriophages Aa [diameter]23. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 53, 904-910.

Wooldridge, K. G. & Williams, P. H. (1993). Iron uptake mechanisms of pathogenic bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* 12, 325-348.

Ye, R. W., Zielinski, N. A. & Chakrabarty, A. M. (1994). Purification and characterization of phosphomannomutase/phosphoglucomutase from Pseudomonas aeruginosa involved in biosynthesis of both alginate and lipopolysaccharide. *Journal of Bacteriology* 176, 4851-4857.

Younan, M. & Fodar, L. (1995). Characterisation of a new *Pasteurella haemolytica* serotype (A17). *Research in Veterinary Science* 58, 98.

Yu, F., Inouye, S. & Inouye, M. (1986). Lipoprotein-28, a cytoplasmic membrane lipoprotein from *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 261, 2284-2288.

Yu, R. & Schryvers, A. B. (1994). Transferrin receptors on ruminant pathogens vary in their interaction with the C-lobe and N-lobe of ruminant transferrins. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 40, 532-540.

Yu, R. H., Gray-Owen, S. D., Ogunnariwo, J. & Schryvers, A. B. (1992). Interaction of ruminant transferrins with transferrin receptors in bovine isolates of *Pasteurella* haemolytica and Haemophilus somnus. Infection and Immunity 60, 2992-2994.

Yuan, Y., Zhang, Y. X., Watkins, N. G. & Caldwell, H. D. (1989). Nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequences for the four variable domains of the major outer membrane proteins of the 15 *Chlamydia trachomatis* serovars. *Infection and Immunity* 57, 1040-1049.

Zeng, H., Pandher, K. & Murphy, G. L. (1999). Molecular cloning of the *Pasteurella* haemolytica pomA gene and identification of bovine antibodies against PomA surface domains. *Infection and Immunity* 67, 4968-4973.

Zhang, S., Santos, R. L., Tsolis, R. M., Mirold, S., Hardt, W., Adams, L. G. & Baumler, A. J. (2002). Phage mediated horizontal transfer of the *sopE1* gene increases enteropathogenicity of *Salmonella enterica* serotype typhimurium for calves. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 217, 243-247.

Zhou, J. & Spratt, B. G. (1992). Sequence diversity within the *argF*, *fbp* and *recA* genes of natural isolates of *Neisseria meningitidis*: interspecies recombination within the *argF* gene. *Molecular Microbiology* 6, 2135-2146.

Zhou, J., Bowler, L. D. & Spratt, B. G. (1997). Interspecies recombination, and phylogenetic distortions, within the glutamine synthetase and shikimate dehydrogenase genes of *Neisseria meningitidis* and commensal *Neisseria* species. *Molecular Microbiology* 23, 799-812.

1

Ziebuhr, W., Ohlsen, K., Karch, H., Korhonen, T. & Hacker, J. (1999). Evolution of bacterial pathogenesis. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 56, 719-728.

Zinser, E. R., Schneider, D., Blot, M. & Kolter, R. (2003). Bacterial evolution through

1000

the selective loss of beneficial genes: Trade-Offs in expression involving two loci. *Genetics* 164, 1271-1277.

APPENDIX

de la compañía

W132 - 322

· · · · ·

....

٢

and the second second second second second second

and all approximately and the second states of the second states of

1. A. 177 - H.

na Cast

rContig 137 (34790bp-41768bp)

1

erf1 (Portal prote GACGGTTTAARTTGATAACCTOTTGACCTAACCACTGATTAAACCCTTTCAATCGCTCPTGCAATCGGCTCAATCACCGTGATAAAAAAACACCCTCGGCAGCAACAGCCACGTTGC CAAAACUSCUGOTGTTATTTOGGATAATCCCCATCAGTTCTEGTGGEACACGGTGAGCAGCTAACACATCATCACOGCTCACOTTCCTTGAAAAAACTCATCATGTTGECGA YCAACATCTTC TTGTTTTTGTGACGCATCGUTCATATAAAAQACAAAGUUGGGTGACUTCUATTTAAAAAATACTTACGGGGGAAACAGAGTAGCACTTTCATTAAACAAGAC ATTSCACCCCCAAAGATAT TETGECAAGCCCTAAATATCTEGATFAATATCAGGCTCAAGCAAGTGATGGAGCCTTTEGECAAATCCGTGTCTTGGTGATCGAACCCTTG TGGCACATAGTASAATTGACCAGCCTCTAAACCCTTTCGCACATATTTTGCCAAAGGTSATTCGAPTCGAPTCGCTCGACAGGCGATTCGCACCACCTCAAAATAGGCGTTG CCANATACTANALISATCTTTANCBARCBATGACAAATCACGGGGTGATAAATAACGGGGTATCAACCTCGCAAG1GGAAAAGCAAAATATLTUCTTUGGGGATUAACGCACTTPUGT GGTGTGTTCAT3ACCATTACCATTCOCCAAGCATCAAAGCTCATCG9C33QCTATACCATCTACATCATCACCACCCCAAACAATTAAATT3AGAATAATC3GCACCGTCTAA AAAAATCTACT97960066740677707700A9777000A9777000A970AAAAAAGG070A774A4TAAAAATACUTGCAAGCAAGC02A060AAg672060576007760C7760C77000A0607750 url2 (Templasso) CAAPEEGCCAGTEGGCCACTTATATITTGCCCAAATAGCGACAATTTCTGCCGCTTGTTCGGCAAAATCAGCCCCTTTAAAAGTGCGATACTCTAATAGTGGAATTTCCCGGCC GTCOACTTTCGGCOOAGEOATHACCACCAACUCUGABCCGTCOCUGGTGTAABACGGGTCATACCCAATCCCTTTTTTTTCCCCAATBGGCGTCGGTGGAGCGTCGGTGAAT CORRESPONDENT FOR A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACT TTYCAAGTTGGCGTGAGAAAAATTTCCACTGTTCCCCCTTTCCGACGGTTAGCGGLTAAACA3CCCGACGAAAGCAGAPAGGCGGAAAGGGTAATGCTCGAAGGGGGA GRARAATAAG IAATCCGATATTGTTTTGGCTCGCCATACCCCC TGCCACTTTGCGGATTTCCTCAAAGCGGTTTACCCAAAAGATTTCATCAAAAAAAGA4%, SCCG1QGTAAG actorecestity constructor according a sector of the sector C5ACTTTTAAGAATAPTGCGGAPPODATGAGCCCAGCPYCGTGCCATTTTYDIGATAATAGAACMTTCCGTCTAAAAAGCCGTTTAACAGCAGTTEGGCTTGCCTCTCGG A A ATOBCATTITEC NOGCENTTTECCE TECCETTATTACGETTTTAARATTTEGOTTGAGGTCGOCTTCATTACTCCGCCGETAGATATTTTTTGATTCGTGCPGTACT TTCCAACAACCGACGTAAAGCATCCATTTCTTTGTAGTCGTTATTTGCTCTCTTTCCATAATCAGCCAACTGACTCCAGTGTGGCTTCCACACGGGG CIGATIBEBICCON ITTOI CICCCITTICCAACUTOCAACGGAACGGGAACATTAGCIGACGAAARTTECGUICACGGICTARCCICCCAATACTIGAECCI CANATO OTTI GTOSTAGCAACGAAGGAAGCAACTACAGATGSACGCGAAAATTAGTCGTGAATGGCTCACGCAGATTGAASAAAATTACGACCCGAAAAAAACTAACTATGGTGCTCGT orf3 (Capski seafoking protein) TACTOSCAGAAATCGCCCCAACCGAAGCGTAGTSAAGTTAGTCAAAGACAAGCAGAAAGTTTATACCTCTSTGGAAAATTGCCGCTAACTTTGCGGACACAGGCGTAATT AGTTGS/TTGGCGTGAUTGATACACCCGGGAAGCCTCGGGAAGACCGAATACCTTCACATTTTGTGCGGTGGAACCCACTAGCCACCACGAAGACCCCCACGGAAAACCCT CCGAGTGAGGGAGTAGAGGCGAA<u>NTTRACTGCTGAACCTGAAAAAGGTGCGTGGAGAAAATTTAAGGC</u>XAXGTTACCGAAAAGCGAAAAGCGAAAAGCGAAAAG TTGCCCGAACACGAAAAGGCAATGGAACTGTTAGCTGAGCAATTAGCAAAGTTTCGACAGAAAAGGACCGCTTGCAAACTGAACTAAGCACAATTCCAAATCGAATTAGCACAATTAGCACATTCGACGACATTAGCACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTCGACATTTCGACAT CCANADAM/SAGCGGGCGNAPPTGCGGAN/AMTTGCANAACTGGARCAAGAACCGTCTGCCAATACACCCCACGCCCAAAAGCCACTGG9/GCGAAAGCGACGGACGAAGAACC orf4 (Major capsid precursor) ABATTCHCAGTGCAACCATCGCTACAGCAAAAGCTGTATGAAAAGGTGCGTGAAAGCTCTGATTTCTTAAAAATCTATCAGCTTTGTTGATGAGCAAACCGSTGABACCT ATCX3CCTTTAACC5CA2AACTC STGCGGCIAACGACBATCGCAACBCCTATCCCA3GATGTCGCAAAAGCCT5GTTGCAGAAAATGCCT6AAGATGCCAAAAAGCCT6 TIATGACAUUGATETAGTGATTACCGGCAAGTAGCTTGCGGATAAATATITCCCGATCGGAAAAAACGCAAAACGCAAGAACTTGCGGCGCTAATATGACATC GCARCENTATIGACAACCIGCCAAAAAAAGACCGTATIGAAACCIACGAATCAGAAAATATCGACTACGTIGTCGAAGATTATGGCTGTGGCGCATTAATCGAAAACAITACACT

an Barran a the net barran in statistic

APPENDIX

CARGECTATGACTPAGTTTPAGCUCAACTPAAAGCCCATCAACGCCAATCAAAGAAANCCCAGTGACTGAGCGAAAACGCCAACTAAACGCCAACAATTTGAGCAATAACGCCAACAATTTGAGCAATAACGCCAACAATTTGAGCAATAACGCCAACAATTTGAGCAATAACGCCAACAATTTGAGCAACAACAACAACAACAACAACAACAACAACAACAAC
crisegregaaggeteeettgecaaaggeteectgegattgecaaggeteettgegattgetegat
ATACOTTTAATGCACGATTTGGCAATGCCGGAACGCACGCCACCCCCCTTGGTTGAACGCAGAGGCGGCAAAGAAAQCCCGAGAACCAAAAACAGCCG
${\tt TTGAGGCAGCCGTGCTGAAACAGGCAAACGACCTCACCGCTGAATTGATATGCCCGACCCAGTCGCGACCCAAATTACTGCCTGAGCTAGGCTAAGCTAATCGCAAAGAGGCACGCCGACCCAAATTACTGCCTGAGCTAGGCTAAGCTAAGCCAAAGAGGCACGCAGCCAAATTACTGCCTGAGCTAAGGCAAAGGCACGCAAGCTAAGCAAAGAGGCAAAGCAAAGCAAAGCAAAGCAAAGCAAAGCAAAGCAAAGCAAAGAGCAAAGAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAGGCAAAGGCAAGGCAAGGAAGGAAGG$
CACAAACCECCTTGRACACTATCAAAGAGCGATAGCECTCGACCCTCAATGCGGTGCAAAGGCGAGAGAGCGAAGAGCGAAAGAGCCGAAGAGCCGAA
ACCASCACAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
CCCTTACCTTACCGAAACCTTATGGAACAACCGCAATCACGCTATTAGTATCCCCCAAAACGCAAAAACCCCAACAACCCCAACGCAGAATCTGATGAAA
CTATCACCANTARTGGCTTTTTTCCGARCATTGAGCGGTGAAATGCAATGC
ogcaaczetcintcccccctctaabbccctatccccctctccccccccccc
AAATATAAACGAGCGGTCTATTGCCTTGCAGTAGCGAACCTTTACGAACGCTACCGCAGTTATGACAGCACCAAAGACGOCCACGACAAAGCCACGAAGAACTACCGCCG
GTGAPT TGAAACGAGATTACCACTTIGCCGTGCGTGATATTITGGGCGAAAACCGAATGATTAGAACACTTAGAACACCTTGATTGCACGCCAAGACGACACCTTAGACGAG
607/LESenia tai fet?) CTGNTCTTTZGGCACTACGGCAAACGGCAEGCTTAGTCGAGCAAGCCTTAGAACAACGCCCGAACGGCCACTCGGCACGGCGG
ATAT TAAGAACCETTTIGGAACGTOGGGOGACCACCOCCACTTCCCCCATTAGACAAACCCTCAACAACCETCCTATTTIGGCGCCAATTTTIGGCTTTTTGGT
AGCCYCACCCTATCTGATTGAGGGGTGGTAGTGAGTATTCTGGTAGCTATTTGAACCTTATTACTTAATTGBGCATACCGAGCCAAAGAATACAAACTGAAAAGAGCGAGAATTG
AGCTAAAGCTACAMAGCAMAGGAGGAGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
TCC5CACC8GCGAGACAGGCTTASCCATTATCGGCGAGGCGGAGGGTTCAGACGTATCCGT&TA <u>ATGCCCGCGCGAAGAANMNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN</u>
милистринировановликовинование выполникализации и полнование собластранирование выполнование выполните собластвии и полнование собластвии и полнов
Config 150 (I-5100b)
ORI (LYMI) AGGPAAAGGTETAAAAGGTETGAAAAAGAAGAGAAAAAGAAAAAGACCCTGTGTCTCGGGCAGGGTTAAATGATGTCGAACCTGCGAAAGACAAGAAAAGAAAAGAAAAGACCCCGGCGAGAAAAAGAAAAGAAAAGAAAAGAAAAGACCCGGCGAGGGTTAAAAGACCCGCGAGGTTAAAAGAAAAGACCCGGCGAAGAAAAAGAAAAGAAAAGAAAAAGAAAAAGAAAAAGAAAA
UDIZ (ALLOUB URBRID (YSB) CGGTAATSRITGTGCTGGTGCTAGTTGGCGTATTAGCCAATTTCGTGCAGTTTCGCCAAAAGGAAAGCCTGAAAGGAGACITACAGGCACGCACGCAACCAACCAACTSATCA
AGCCONTAACCBCAATTTABCCAATCABCTTGAAAACABCCCAAATACAGCTTGAGGCCTATCAAAAACAGGTGGACBACCTCAATCAGAAAGTGTTAGCCAAAATGAAACAAGGG
GROCAROGRAGTRATGRAATCCTTRACGRACTGGAAAAGCATABRAACTGGGCTGATTCTGCCGTGCTCCTAGCGTTGCCAACCAA
orf3 (Hypothetical proxim) <u>ACCCTCANATOGRACCOGNTANTOTOTOCOGRARACGETUGROUCCARCECCOGCERCUGROMTERACECCERCERTOTOTOCRAGECARACACCARACACCOGCERCECC</u>
TTGAGGTATGBCRAGTCA9CATCGAATCETTCGAGCATTGCATCGAGCAATACAACCAAGCGAGCGAGTGATCGGCCTPTTTTAATAAGGACGACTATG9CAGACGAAT
CGACCGAGCCAACGAATTAGCCGAAAAAGCCAGAGAGGGGGGGG
CUCGAAAAACGCCGAGAAACGCTATTCCTTGCACCCGTTCCATTGAGTGCCAAACCATTCAGGCCTAAGCAAAACGCTACCGCAGATGATTAAACCTGATGCGAGC
ords <u>Cotsctcacacababaccababaccababaccabaccababaccababaccababaccababaccababccababccabaccababaccababaccababaccababaccab</u>
<u>TACBATTTAGAGCTÀÀTEGTGGTĞĞAHIPIŅCCQTAPOAUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUU</u>
ABOACAAAATOGAATTTGAAATOGAOCACAACAATCAOGAGAGCTACGATATTTATATCCOCCTCCOGCTTACCGAGCGGGTGATCGTGAAAGAGCAAGACGGACACCTAACTGC
ACCCACGCCGATGAACCTACCGATGTTTCGCCATTTACCCGTTTAACCGAATATGAUGTTTACCTCAAAGACGAGCTGATTTATCAGTUGGCAUAGCCAAATGAUTUA
ACCORTCONCARGENAMACCCCCTTEGATAGCTTACTGATAATATCAGCAAACCTCOCAGACGETTGATGTATCAACAAATCGGGCGAGAGCTTGCCCGAAGCCAACGCCAG
ori6 (Tail completion) <u>CGGATTARAGCACARCARACCCRGACGGCCTCGGCCTACGAGCCACACAAAAAGCCGAAGAAAGGGGTAAAAAGCCAAAATTACCGGCCAAGATGTTTGACAAAATTACCCGG</u>
Chegytytyntgeggethegeetteraagdganggtgtengettaegitatgaggetgetgetgetgeturtuucuuuraav.chegustfartuusiaegrotterartu
TTOOGATT TANAAGTCAANTATOCCAGCCGTCAGTTGCTAGGTTTTACTGATGACGATCTCC <u>AGAPGAGGAT9ATATATATATATATATATATATAGC</u> 1GGTAGTTAAATGATGATGATGATGATGATGATGATGATGA
AGAANCTTTTGCAARAAAGCQGTCAATTTTGACCGCTTGAGTTATTGATTAACGCTTTGTCTATCCAATGATACCAACAAAGAAAQCCTAARATADOTGAAAAAAACAATGATA
TCAAAATAAAJYATIGAJIGJIAACAATAAAGTGAGATCAGAATAACGATAAGAGGGCCCAACCATATTTGCCAATAATGAAAGCAGCTTAAAAATACTGTGDAAC
TROACCARARATGGCARAGGTIGWARARUCTRITGCCARTARIGUAUCGARAGUARTTARDCCARGRAGADARMAGATTPCCBTAGATTTIXCCTMAGOCATACDACAR
TTAAGGTTATAAT <u>ATGAGCAATAATTTAAAAATTCAAGTAGTKTTITCTGCGTTAGATAAAT</u> TAACCGCA <u>CCATTBACAGTGTGGTAAAACAGACG38</u> GBAATTATCTAATTT
ort7 (Pulative tail length) <u>TTAAAAGTACAGAGAGAATTAAAAGCAPTeGAAAAAACACAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGA</u>
CRANGCATTITABATBATCTCAAAAATAAAATCAGGCGAAATGAAAAATGAACGAATGAGCFGAAAAGGGATGCGAAAAAGGGAAACGGAATTTCAACAAATGAACAGGAA
TYCAGCTTEGAGTGCAAGAGCCGCATTTTTTAGATAAAGATTTTGAAAAAATGCAAAGAGAATATGAAAAAGCTCGGTGCATCTATTTCAAGTGTCAGCCGGAAAAGAACAGAACAGAAGAA
ANTOGOCATTRAAGGATTCTCCCCATC2AQ2AGCTAAGC2ACCTTT2ATATTTCCTACTT2AAGAGGTQAATTGAGAGCAACCGCGACATTAATATTAAAGCYTTTGCTCA2AGCG
ARACCARCTTRACAGRORAMENTGCARARGORARTCSATTRATCGACCARCARARAGORARATTRARARRATCGATTRARARTCGARARATGG3CARCTOT
QQAAAAGGIAAAAAAAXAXXASQQAACQITTEDATAATTTAGGACAACGCTCAATGAYPAGTXSIGCGGAATTTCIGCCCCT/STUTIGGGCTAGGGAAAGGGETTGTCGCAATG
WTU AAAUAUUU GOTAAATTTSAACAATTTAATGCTATTTTAGAGSTAACCGAGSBAAGTGCTGAAAAAGCCAAGGAAAGTTTTGAZTGGG7TAAACAATTTBUAGTAGATACCC
CCDCAAACCUTGANDAACAATCCAATCCAATCCAACCUTTGAACCATACGGGCTTGATCCTACGAATGCTTACTACGACAACATTAGGTGATACACGTGCTCCAATGGGTAAGCC

ł

APPENDIX

Longer and states of the

TGTANT SCARGENOTTENESCENTRACENCHTENECESTGAGANTENECECTTANANGNAUMUSCHTINNAGENASCUTAGTTENECENTENETENETENETENE TAUXCFUATAAATTAGGGAAAGAAGAAGAAGAAAAGTAAAGAAAAATATGGGGAAAAGAAATTGGGGGAAACCCTAATTTTTAAGGAAAAATATGGTGGAGGAAGAAAATT ARCANGCIAAAACGCTAGTTGGTATTTGGECAAAAATTGAAGATTATTGGACAAATTCCAAATGCAAGTGATGGAACGAATTGGAATGCAATGCAATGGACAATGGAACAA GETSTTAGAGACTTTNGATAAAAAGCCTGAAAAAGCGAGTTCCAAAATOGCTGAAGATCCCGAGCCGTTA'TCAAGAAACAC'ACAAGCCTTATGGGCTTTTCGAAAAAA ATTAITGAAGTGGTTAAATGGTTAGGGAGGTTGGGAGGAGAATAAGGGGTAATGGATAGGTTAAAIGGTCTGGTAATGGTGCTAGGTGGCTAGGTGGCTAGGAGGTT AUTCORT TAY COMPANY CAOPTTATTCATTCATCAGEACTACCGCTCCTTTCTTTCTTACAAAATCAAAATCAGTTAGCAACTTACCAAATGTCCCCCACATGTCCCCACAAAGTAGTTTAAAAAA <u>octtgraattattacttggtacttttccartaccartaccartaccartaccartattcccarcogtaccattattagraatacartacaraaagaagaagaagaagaag</u> <u>ettttgcaaggatatotaaggatatotaaggatatocgagiintagagagattaggaaagutttggaagagtatocgatiinaatotacgttaagtggttatoc</u> GCCACAGGCGGCTACACCGCCAATGCTGCCAATATGSGCCTGCCGGTATTGTGCATAAGGCCAACGCAAGGCAACTGCACGCTAGGCGAATCCTTA ACC66TTAAATTAT<u>66CAAA6TTGCT666CTAACTGCACCTGC6CTTC6C5TCA66T</u>CT6CC<u>TCAACCAAT</u>6CCT6C6G(UAAAATUGACAGCAGAGAGACACCCCCTGACG5CAA6CCA <u>ACCARGCCCAACAGTTGCACCGGTGTCGCAAAATATCCATATCACCATCAACGCCACCGGTGGGCAAGACCCAACGAAGCAATCGCCCGGCTGGCQACAAATGGAOTIUGAAAAACAA</u> CAACGCCAAGCACAAGCAAGAGCAAGATCGYL HTHUAGAGACAGGGGCTAATTTOACAAAGTAGAAAGGGGCCAAGCAATGCTATAAATTGTCCGCPTPITATAGGAACAAAAN Primer # 505 ималика ана кончениет и каки каки и каки CAGATGAAGTAATTACCTACCAATCACCAGTAGCCGACTCTACCCACGCCCATAATCAGTAACCGACCTAATCGGFCGCCTTTTCCTTCCACGCTAGTAAACCCCATTCCACA столетичинальная столетичина и столе ATAT THE CCACTTOR CACTATTIC CCARGOTGGATT TAACCACAGCGACTGCACGGGGTCAATTCGGGCGGTATTACGACGGATTTCTTACCGCGGCTGGACTTTTCGTGCCGGTAC Primer # 506 CAATCCCCCCGATGAGCATCFATTOCGCTTTICGyACCHPTCCAGAAATCAGCFACAACACCGGTCAATTAACCCGTAAAAAATTGCAAAGTGGTGATTGCGAGCGGACAG NATCTATCACGCTCGACACCCCCACGGTTAAGGCCACAAAAAATGTCCTCNTTGCCGGCAAGCTATCCGTGAAAGGCACACCCCACGCGCAAGGTGCAATCAGCACAAGGGC GGTAAUAUDAADAUGCGATGTATCAGGGGGAATCAGTTTAGGCAGECACEATCACATTGAGCAAGGTGACOGCAGACCAACTAGCGGAGCAAAAACCATAATGAACCGGGAAAA СЛОССОВЛАСАВСТТОАЛОВАСОЛАВТАВОСАТАТСВАОСАДСТАТСВАОСАДСТАТСВАОСАЦИАТТТОСТОЛСОССАЛАДОВСАОТССОСТАЛОССОССАВССТАТОВСАОТАЛОССОССАВССАТАЛОССОССАВССАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССОССАВССАТАЛОССОССАВССАТАЛОССОССАВССАТАЛОССОССАВССАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССОССАВССАТАЛОССОССАВССАТАТОВСАОТАЛОССОССАВССАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОСАСТАТОВСАСТАТАЛОСАСАТАЛОСАСТАТОВСАТАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОСАСТАТОВССАСАТАЛОССАСТАТОВСАСАТАЛАСАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОСАСАТАЛОСАССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОСАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОСАСАТАЛОСАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОССАСАТАЛОСАСАТАЛОСАСАТАЛОСАСС GETAACTGATBAACCGATTGCCGCAAGTCTGATTA1GCAACTCTCCCCTCCGTTGCATCCACCGTTGCAGCACCGTATAGCGATCACCCGATTAAAGTGGAA/TT GCCGAAGATAACTACAATAAGCTGATTTGCACCTTAGATTTACCCTTAAGCACCGAAAAATCAGGAATGCGITTUACACTATGAGCGAAATTGCCGAATTATCCAA orf3 (Baseplate assembly protein) ACTOCCCCCCGAAAGTACTGGAAGAATTGGACTATGAAACCTTACTGGCAGAGGGGAAAGCCAAGTTTTTATCCCTCTCCCCGAAAGCCAACGACGGCAAAGCCTGCACGG CCCCTACGGATTTAGATGTCATCGCAGCCAACTTTAATGTCGAGCCGCCTTGTAGTGCAAGACTTAACTGCAAGCCCCGCCPATCGTCGAAGAGTTAGAGCCTGATGATGA TTTCCGTCAGCCGTGTGCAGCTAAAAATTGAAAQTGTTTCGGTTCCCGGTCCACGGAAGCCTTACACGCCCCGGCTAACGGAAAAATTGCCCGATGTCCCGTCATA CORFIGECEATA CACTAACCETECAACCETECAACCAATGTCGAATATGAAATTAATGEGETETTOCATCTAACCETEGOACCAACCECAATTTTAAAAGCEGECAAAGC TAATTTAGAGGCTTACATCAACCAAACCAAAAGCGCATTGGACGAGATGTGACTCACOTACCACGCCGCCCTTGCACGTGCCGGTGCGAAAATGTGGAAAATTTGCAGCCG <u>AGAACTGATTTGGTGTTGACACCTTACCAACCCGGTTATTGTGTCAATTACACGCTAATGTGAGGTGAGCGATGAATAAAAGCATTAA</u>AGCATTATTGCCACCCGGTTCA<u>TCACT</u> orf4 (Baseplate assembly protein) CCTTATCCCTGGATTATTCCCAAGAGCATTGGAGTGAAGAATTAAAAAGAGAAACCATTATTCGATCTTTGAAGAACACCGAAAAAAGAACAAGTGCAGGAAGTGCAGTGCGAAGAAC TOTGEARTCTCTCGGCTATGCTTTGAAATCCCTGAGTGGTTTGCGGAAAACGGCAACGCCAGCCCGGGACGTTTAGGGTTTTGFTGAGTT<u>AAAAGA</u>TAAGGGATTAGGGAT AMARCTACCARGAATTAGAAAGGTTGATTGAAGAACCGGTAUVAAASUACATGACAGAATTAGCAGTATCAGCCACCTCAAAAGGCAAAAGCAAAAGCAAAGTTFAGAGG TCCTANTAAGASGTAAAAAYIGGAACAAAAATATAAAACAATATTAACCCATCACBGTGAGCGAGTGATCGTTGAGGCPCTTGCAAATAAGATACCACTCCCACTTAAGGAMAGG orf5 (Tail fiber protein) TCAGATGATTGCTGAATTACTAATCCCAGAAAATGTAGGTGG ATTFATTOTCCCAGAAATAGCGTTATTI GATGAACAACGTGGTTGGTTGGTGCGUVAGCAAATTGCCCTGAAAA

lassing and states a track

a a sala isi walio walio bi

BARATTCTCAATTTTTTTTTCGAMAACGGTACATTCGTF/CAACAATGCGGTEAATTCTGFTCGCGATAATGTGTGAAAATTTTGGGGAAAAAAATAGACGGGCAAACTAGGTACTAGGTACTAGGTGC aggyanccasceasceasceasceasceattettetateanceasceastertetteestettettatatatetceasceasceasceasceasceasceasceasceasc CATCATCCTCGTGTTAAAAATCTCCATATTGACAATOTTGTGTGTTTAATGGCACCTTCTACGGGGTCAGGTGAAAGTATTCAGGGGGATACTAATTACCCAACTGATAATG ATCAGCTTACGGTCCAACATCTCBCTCTGRTATTTTCATTTTCGTAATCGTGAACGGGATGGGGATGGACGTGACGACGTGGAAGCGGGGGAGGAGGACGAACATCTCBC ACTOBCOARTOTOCOARTOTOCOARTATATATATATATATATAGACACCATATATGONTOTCTOGTOCTAAAAATGCCACTAACAAUAGTAACCACCATOCCATOCCATOCCATOCACATOAGGTA ATCCGACTGACAGGCAGCAACCAACCAATGTAGAATTTTCAAAATAATCAAGCAAAATATCGAAATATCGAAATATCGATAATCTTCCATGATAATCCTTCAATAATCAA TTTTATTAATAACATTTYGGASCCCAGTGAATTYAATCAAGATGTGTATATTYACXGGACAATTTTAAAACAGTGCCAATTTAATAATCGTRSTATTAGCAAGTCTAACCAA TATTCTGYCAGACTTGCTAGCAATAATCCGTTCTTAAAATTTAACATCTAAGAGTAATTATCGGACAATCCTGCGACTAATCAGGTAAGCAAGGTGTTATTTCTGCGAATG ATTTCAGCTTAAKTAAGCACAGATTAAGATTGCGCGATTTACTTTCATCATCCCGGTTAATTTTACTCAAGAATGGCAAAAASTGCCCCATTAAGCAGAGAGTGATAATGATA CAACTCAGSCTGTTAATAAATAACGAAGAGAAAGAAGAAGACTGATTAATCAAAGTGTTCACCTAAAAACAGCAAATACAAATACAAATACAAATACAAATATAGATACGG TAGTTI<u>ATTAAAAGTAGETGETGETGETGETGEGGAGAGTATAAAACAACGEAWAUTIGAAATTACTGTCAGACTCATTTTTATCTCAAAA</u>TTATG<u>TCAGTCAGGAGITTTAAG</u> BACTERA AN ANCACT ACTSCRACEGED GEOGRACICAGE CAN AUCTARCAGE VIC ATCAACAT GACCCAGE ATTCGTGCCCACAGAACAACACAGE ACAT od6 (Tuil sheath) CEARTACTA4 GTCAATTTTAGATACCTATCTACCGTGTTGTGTGTGGTGGTGGTGGTCAATGCACCATTTCCACCGCTCCTACTTCCGCAGTAGTTCCCAC CGGAGACCAAACCCCAAGACTTTTCCCCCTGAATACGCCCGTTTTTAATTACCCCCTTAAATTACCTTGAAAAAGCAGGTACCACGGCACGCTACGCCGCACACTTAAT TCGNT79GCTCAATCETTAAAACGCCAACGGTGATCGTGCGAGITGCCGAGITGCCGACACACCTTAACTGCAAAACGCCAGGCAGGAAAACGGCAAATTTACCG GTATTAAGGCGTTATTAACCGCTCAATCAACCGTGTTTCTTAGCCCGAAATTCCTTTCTGTACCACAGGAGGATAATCBAGCGCGTAGCGAACTATTAAGCGTGGGCGAAAAA <u>\$C_OAADGCGTTTGCGTTTATTTCAGACAACGGTGCAACCACCAAAGAACAGCACTATACCTATCGCCAGAATTTCTCTCAGGCTGAAGGAATCATCAGCCTCCGCCAAAGAACGACGACAAAGAACGACGCTGGAAA</u> TETTATAAGACT SATAAAAAGCCTATGATATCCGATTATGCAGT GGCCCGAGCTTGTGCGATGCAAGCCTATATCGACAAACGTCGGCTGGCATAAAAAACATCTCAAACGTAG <u>AVATGTAC IGENTITACTCAATACACTTAAAGCGTTATAC</u>AGGTAAAA<u>AYGGGATTACGGGCAAAACTTAAGAATTTTAITTITCG</u>GTGGACGGC<u>ACAACCTATTGGGC</u>GAAA 0177 (Teiltube) CONCERNITION OF THE CONCERNITION OF THE CANCED CONCERNITION OF THE CONCERNITICAL OF THE CONCERNI <u>GTGTCGATATTATCBAAATCBACCCCCCCCAACCAAATTTACATTGTCGANGGCAAAGACCGCTTAGCGGAAATTCGTAAGGCAAAGGCTAAGATTTACCCCCAAAATTTTCCCC</u> orf8 (Tail protein) ATTIGAGGTCCSTAAGCCATTAACUAAAUAAUTGUGTGSCACAAAATCTTACCTCA/T/AA/GCAG7TAAGCGTTGAIGAGTGTGTATTGTACTGUCACGUATIACCACGUCAAAAT <u>acasseaageegagettttageetaa</u>tieereaassettsteatgatgatgatgetgatgetgatkentigetgatgatgatgatgatgatgatgatgaegattgetgat age: abgeonatogeorgan argeococottroganatogeorgeoralestanaciócocococottratacanatate correcterestata a secondeces AATGGAAATTAAAACAGPTACAADCAGAAAGUGAEDACAGCAATCAPUTOTCATATCATTACCTTATTBETTITTACTCAACEDAAGUGACAAGUTCAAGCTAACCTTTATGTTC TTTTOSTGGTTCTTCATTCTCTSCGATTCATCCTCCTGCAGTCGGAATAATGTCTGTTGGTATTGAAGAACTTAAAATICAGGAATGECGACAAACAAAAGUTTATUCTTGTT

Print Sector and a sector state of the Sector Sector Sector Sector Sector Sector Sector Sector Sector

aan 20 🖓 🖓

orf10 (Tail protein) UAUATUATUATUACAUAUCAAUGCTCEGCTIATCCGTT3ATTAOTCATCAACCITTATGGTGCTAGECTGGTTGGTGCATGATCGATCAGCAGGAAACCACCTITTTYGCAG (x[1] [fail protein) CTAACCANTCATAACCACCCCAACCACCCCCTGTTTCGGGTGACGGTTCGCCCAAGCAAAGATAATGAGGCGAAAAAGGCAAAGATATTCCACCCTGATCACGCACCGCT COORTINGCTORENANCARCCOUTS ACCTACANOGECONATACACCO TORACOACCANCEANCECARCANOTES ATAAACTER CARATERS ACCANONACTE CONTENTS CGRGCACKCTGACCACGACCACGACCGACCACCACCACCAT IGGTAAAATTGIXABACAGATCGCCGAAGAGAACAAAUTCAASCCGAT3GTGGCCAAGGAGTTTG AAAACGAAGAGGTGAAACACATTGACCAAACAAACAAAGCTCTATTAATCTCTTTGCAACGCCTCGCAGAACAATTGATGCCACTGCCACACAAAAAAGGGCAATTGATTC CATTAAAGCCGGRAACGCCACAACGCGGAAGCGGTAAACTGTTACCCCCGTGTTTCGCGCGAGTTCGCGGGGGATTCCCCATAGCTTTTCGATTGCCGAAGGGGATAACTACAAA GCG3TI'AAAGCCTATTGGCACAACACGCAAACCGGCAAGCGAGGCGAGGTGGACGAAAACAGCCAAGTTAAAAAGTGACTAAGCCCACAATGCUGAAAAAGACTAAAG GATTGAAAGTGATAGCGAGGCANTYAAAACCCTXCCCATACTTACGCTACCGCACAATCAGCGAFTAATGCTTGTAAACGGAATTTTGAAAAACTACGAGGTGTGGCAACT TTAGCCTAACTCTTCCCCGAGGCAATGCCCGAACTACCCCGAATTACCCGGTTCAGGCTTTAAGGCGGAGATTGATAGCAACGAGCGGATMATTCCCCAGGTTACGC TCTTG&&CAAGTA&TATTAATCAAAGT7ACBGATTTACTT7CATAAAACACAAAGAATCATAGGGGGGGGCTACTTTGTGTGTAATCCGCCCCAGT0AGGAAATTGGGGGTGGTTGTTTA CGATOTAATATCATTTTGATAGCTACTAATATTGCTCCTAATAATAAATCGCATAGTTGAACGCCAGATGATTACGAAATCTACTTCGTTTAATGCTACAACGATTGCT TATATAAGGATTGTTCAATTTGTTGCAAATCAATAAATTAAAATGCTTCTGTTTTGCCATTACACAACCACCGTTATGAAAAGCTTCATTGACAATAGCTTGTTGAACTACAAT ACROITAAAAAATAAATAAATCAGCCTGARAGRAAAAAACTAACCAATTCACGATAAAATTCACGATAAAACTAGCGTTTAGAACTTGCACCTTGCCATTTATTCCATCAGTGCCAATAGTGC orf13 (no homologue) COGACITICCTTCTTCCTGCCACAAACATTTTCACAAAGGFATGCCATCGTTATCTCTATCTAACCGACCGGCCATCGATTCAAATAAAAACTTTCCTCGCCAAGATTGCAT ATTARUTGTOTAGTARARAGGTTTCTTCATICALCORTRARARACARARCAGACACAGARARACCGCTTATGTATGTATCTARCTTRCCTTCCCCAAGATCAACCACCTC orf14 (no honologue) TTTGUACTAGTTTTTTTATATCGATTACGCTAACACACACCTTTACCTTTAAALCCOTGITCGTAAAACTTUGCGAAACATATTCGGCGTAGCCATCTCTTTTGTGCGGT TCASC INTEGETAGETETEGETGGETCGAACAGETETECGACECETETEAFCGAAAATEAAAAAECCACEGCCACEAGETEACCECECCAAACAGETEACCECECEAGE CRATTRATTCAT 17 17 10 TRAGCTTSCTTAAMCCCAGTAAAMCACAAAACOGAT 17 TATAGAT COGTGTTATTTTTTTTTCTTTTCCTTTCCTTGCTGCTGCTGCTGCAGAAGAAATCAAAATAGAATAGAATAAAAAAA CACATCATGAGGAATATTTTTGGCATAATTTTCGCCAAGAGCTAAATCATCAAATTGTTTAATAATGCGATCAGGCTCTTAATGTGATAACTCTATTTTTCTGAATACGTAACCT TTGAAGTAAAGGICATCAATAITCAAATTAOAAATCOAATAAACTCOAATTGTTCATGTOATGTAATATAGACAAGTGAGTTAGATTTTOATGTTCCAACACCCIACCCIAACCCIACC orf16 (CI repressor protein ACCEGCEGAAC FECANSCONFT TACATATAMPTTTCECCATAECTONANACATAEACACCATCECCTTEATEAACCEGATTTAATCATCCATACCAAAACAACAAAATCAACCETTAACCA COOTTANGTOTOCOGTOACAAAACTACCATT9CC600AGMA9CAYAATACATCTAACACCTCAAGTCGAAGCATTGAGCTTTCCTCTTTCATAA3C60TC03ATTTTTTCCGATTTT AAAACAGATGGC19F3AAAACCCTATTIGTCCCAAATTTTTCCFGTGTTAAACCTTTTTGGTCTAAAACGACTTGCCAAAGTATCCATtgGGACTCCC17hT acananticaca argetaticancettetregancacanancanantageterrettetrergitagtereetregetetterraterraterretterantegetrage ouf17 (Cro proteiu)

and a second back

anti-second second

1

1.4.1.1.1.653

car of the basis of the

1.4 1.5 3.1 1

AATCATCAAGAATAACGTTTTTGGCGTTTAG/ITGATGGCGTTAACHTTTCAACAGTCAGTTCAATAATPIGATCUTCAGTATTCATAAAAYTTCCOTTTTGGAGGCGTTAAA
CARTANCEARAACATAACCAAAATTCGACCGTCGTCGTCGTCGTCGGGAAAGATAGAT
TAGACCICACCTGTACAACTTECAAACTTECGGSTCCSTACATCTGAAAAATCGGSTTECCGACTATECRGCTGTTACTTATECTTATETCTCGGCACAGAGCA off21 (no homelogue)
CATCCCGTTOTGGCAGACCAACCTAAGCAAGACTASTCCCAAATTTTTAAACAATCGTCAAAATAAGCUTTATTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGACGAGATTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGAGATTTTTTGCATAGGGCGGGGGGGG
ACABTGAGTSAGCARTATEATINCKIADACAATICACGTTGSAACAGACTTAACCGCCTTTAATAACGTCGCCTTTAATCTGTWTTTGCAAGAAAAGCGGGTGGCGA wf22 (Transcription regulator)
ATTTAGAAAGCCGGTTAGCTGA, GAADJAGAAGCIGGAAAG, TGAATAGTUAGCSGATTGGCGATTTACIGCAGGCUTTSGGGTTAAGGTGAATGCAUTTAGTTOSCCAAAATGA
ANNOCIONANCOLOGIONANTIANO NORAAAGITAAACAARCOCHAARGORAGIT TITITTO AATUTTIBAAARGITITTOGUNGCAARGORAACGITATOOTA
GATMIGIATULUIRGICAALUIATCGAAAUATACGCATTAACACTAATCACBAGGAATTACGCATCACTTAGCCGAGATTAGGGGGAAAACGACGAAAACGACGATTAGACGAATTACACTAATCACBAGGAAAAACGACGAATTAGGGGGATTAGGGGAGGAAAAACGACGAATTAGAGGGGAATTAGGGGGATTAGAGGAGAAAAACGACCTGGGGATAAGCCCGGAGGAAAAACGACCTGGGGATAAGCCCGGAGGAAAAACGACCTGGGGATAAGCCCGGAGGAAAAACGACCTGGGGATAAGCCCGGAGGAAAAACGACCGGAGGAAAAACGACCGGAGGA
<u>MIRTITITE ACCENCTANTEAAR AGAARDAARDAARACTECTECAARARCATATTAACSCACCOORTTAG</u> AACGACTAARTREGAGECETRACCETGRATTEREPRESEUTTELEADA
AXCTOTOTOTOXA5AACCGGTAATCGCTATECTTATCGCCGFTATCAAGTGTTTTTTCAGGGTTATCAAAACGAATGTTTAGTCAATGAGTAGAGGGTAGAAGAGTACAAAAAAAA
ACTOTGAACGATTACAAAAACAAGAAAAAATATTTTAGATGCAGACGGCAAGCCGTGTTATCAGTTGTATCAAGGCGAAGAGCTATTGCGTGATACGACCAATTTAAGCGAAAATCA
df24 (no homologue) TEECTTATATCTTEATTECTSCCGAAGATAMACCGTTTGATGAG11GTATAACCATATCAACCAAGAAGCAGGAGCTAAAACAGAATATTAAATTTAACGTTGAGGAGAGA
AGCCAGATTACTAAATCUGOTT&CACACATATTCACCCAAACTUGCAAGCCCCGAGAGJTAACACTTACCUGATTUASCUAT&TGASCTAAAACGGGCGGTATGCCTTATTTTCTA
od/25 (no komologue) ATGGTGAGAGGGGAAGTYTTATATAAAGACCCPACACACCECAATAAGAACGTAGAGAGCCATATAGAAAGTGATGTTTTGGTGTTATGGCTACTGAAAAATGAATTAGGGTGGAG
COGTAATATTAAA9AGCCOTTAAGCCCTCAAGATGITGA3AATATCCGCTTGTFAGAGCAAGCATTTIGTTFAACGGAACTTFCATTAAATGAATGAATGAGAATGAGA
off26 (DNA replication) <u>TPCTATCTSCTACAGAGECTTCATCGTGTTAAGAGGETTCATCGGTGGAGEGTTCAAGAGGTTCAAGAGGTTCAAGAGGTTCAAGAGGTTCAAGAGGTTCAAGAGGTTCAACAGGC</u>
TTACACTTCAATCOTCCACCAACAATTATTCTCGAAAGACCTTATTCACGAACCGTTACCCCAATCTTATTTTCAGCGTTACCCTCCCCTTAGCAGAGCATTTCGCCAGAAAG
TRTARGCARANGCINCATTRUC ARASQUARTALGACACAGUAGACTICIPTUARAGUSARAAGGGACUCARAMGCORDORTGAGGAGTATTAGCOAGTATTGCGATATTGC
TCHATTITCTGRAGCANTCCCATCAAGATTTAGATTTTTMACTGAAATAGATAGTAATGTTTMTTCGGTGCCGGTTTGATACGCAAHAAGCGTTACAAAAAATTAAACAAGA
TOCCGARGTGAAAGGTATTCAACTGCCTATGCACCTTTGGCCGTTTAGBGAATAGCTCTCCCTATTTAAAAGCTCACGGGCATYOGCCCGCTTGCTTACCAAACCGAAGAACAAACC
ANACASCIPTICCIPYAGGINIPTICIPTATICITOTICCICANA PICAGCAAGATAACATCGAGCIAGAATATGCACAAAUCGACAGATGSCUPACAGGUTATAGEGTGTTGCTTGAAT
<u>CCTATCCGGCAATGATG3GAGGTAAATAAGUTCAAGATTGATTCGCCTTATCAGAAAAAGCGAGAAAGGGTAGATTAACT3AAGAGJAAATTACCACACCTT7TTAAAAAT</u>
GACCTGTGAAAAACGGTGGAQTAGAAAGTTAT CTAAAATTGCCGAACAGATGAAGAGCATTTAGCTATTGCGTGCG
CECTTERARECETTERACCOCORDCCORRECTATES ANTATES ANTO ANTO ANTO ANTO ANTO ANTO ANTO ANTO
ASTCTOCCTCTAACCCGAAAATTAAACGCCTCGAACTACTCACTCGTATGAATGGATTTGAGCGTTATGCAGAAGGCACGAGGGGGGGG
G7CTAA0TATCACGCAATGC1PTCAAGAACCAGTGAACCCGGAAATGGAATGGAACGAGCCCCCCGGAAACACAGGTTTACCTTGTGBATACTTG3GCGAAAATCCGTGCC
AAACTCAACCGTCAGGGCGTAATGGCTTACGGTTTTCGAGTGGCTGAACCECACGCTAACCCCACACTGGCATTTAATTCTATTCACTCGTCCGGAAGATATGGAAAAGC
TECOCOCOFOTICTICAGTINTOCCITAGAGOTCGATGGCACAGAAGCCOOTGCGAAAAAAACCOTTSCAAATCAAGCGTATTGAGAAAAGAGAAAGCCTCGOCAACGGGCTA
MPPAGEGRAATATGTTTCTRAAAACATTGACGGTTTEGGAATGGACGGCGAGCTTTCAGACGAGGCAAATATTCAGGCGAAAGAGAATGCCGCTCGTGTAGGAGGGTGGCCTAGG
GITTGGTGTATTCGACAGTTCCA9CA9TAGGTAATATTCCGATCAGCTPATGUD9T3A9TTACCCCGPTTGGGGAGTGTA9A3CAAGATGAAACTTTAGAGAAACTCCGTG
TOATTOCAGATAGORDIGACTOGCACOTTTTCACCGAAGAATTACGCCCTCCCTTCCTCAAACCCCATTACTTCCCCCCTTACACCTAACCCAAAACCGAAACCCAAACCCCACCTCCCCCCCC
TGAGGCOTTATATACCATGEATCAAGAGCCATCATTAAAAGTGAGEGGCATTATTAACATTAAAAACGGTGTGCAGATTAATACACGCCCGAAAGAGTGGAGCATTCAACITAAA
CCTAAAAACIXIIGAAGAACAACAATTACKGAAAAAATTIKGAAAATICAACGGAACGGAGCGGAGGTTAKACGTMA <u>TACTECGAGAAGTTAGGETTTEACGAAAA</u> AGGCTA
TOOCTTERTERS BEGAGETERCTCCCCCFEGGACTEGE GERACEGERACEGERGECAANAANTAATCAGATAGEGAAAGGEECGAAAATCCCEERAGAAATCAACEGAETAC
ANTECOAGGACGOOTTACTGAACATCAAATAGACGAATTTACTAAACGGCAAGUGGTTAAAAATTTIGGGAAATTCGCAAAAAACAATGTTTGTGAGTTATAGECGTGGGGCTTTA
ATTURUCATATUTTUATAATTATUAGAGITTTJITGAATTACCATATTAAGAAAATTCGTTAAAATTTATICGTTTAAATTTCATTAAJTKUTUCAITGRGAAGAUAAJAATGGAG
ACCOGGTGCOTTOCAGAGCGTTTCGTTATGATGAGATTATTCAAACTAAGTTTATTGAAGGATTCGAGAGGAGGAGGATACCAGCTGATGATTATGGATTGGAAGATTCGAAGG
TTCGSTTCTGATTTTMAATGAAGAAGGACGTAAATATTTTGAGAACTAICTITTTGATGTAAAGAAGAATTATTSTAGAGCAAGGGATAACTATGTCTTGGAAACTITA
OFLO (535 PROBID) GAUGAANTTGRAATGRAUTTAGGAUTINITTGGAGGGGAANTAATGAACTUAGTCUAGTCACATTAGTCGGACOTTTGGGGCGAADACCCTGAUNTTHGAACANTGCAAAAATGGTG MBAANGC
TGCGGCTTTATCGGTAGCGACCTCTGAAAAGTGJACAGATAAGCAAACAGGTGTDAAGAAAGCACCGAATGGCATAGGGTGGTGCTTTATCGCCGAATIAGCTGAAATCGCC
GAN"TOTATOTAAAAAAAGGGCATTTGGTATCAATTATCGGGAAAATTAAAAACCCGAAAATGGALGGALAGCAACGGTGTTGAGCGGAGTATTACAGAGAATTATTGCCGAGCAGA
TGEAAATSCTCAQTAGTGGTGAGAAAAATAGGCCAAATAGGCCAAAATAAGGCAGAAAAAAGCCAAAGCAAAGAAGAAGAAGACGTGATGACTGCCGACGAGAAGAAGA
TATTCCCCAOFTTGATGATGATGATGATGATGATGGGGGGGGGAAAAAGGAAAAGGGGAAAAACAAATGGCOMTTAGTGCAAATTTAGATATAAAGACCTAGAGGAAAAATTGAAGT
only (regional 1/3 kDa profes) <u>Taáraartstaraartaraartaraartaraacaartaragoacaattaragoacaattaragoacaattaragoacaattaragoacaattaracaattaracaattara</u>

.

ì

1.1.1.1. A

2 - 62 - 12 J

5.12

<u>CARCTERARCORCATCARARAGAGECASC</u> CORCATCARCTCOCTTOCARACTCOCCTCOCNCTOTICACCCCCCCTCOTACCCCCCCCTTATCARCCACATACCCCCCCCCC
CCCTGCTSUGAUGDAAATTAAATCAAAAATAAAATGGGGAGTAAATT ATACGAGTCAGAGTTGAGCATCCACAGCCGAAAAAGAAGATATTGAGCTTGIGCAGGATGTGGTTG
cr130 (no homologue) <u>CTTATCATATTTTAACTTTTAACTTTAAATTTAACAAAAAA</u>
TGTAGATGTTTGGATIGATCATTTAGGTGTTAAAAAAGGAACAATTACAAGCGGTCAGTAATGAGCAAGTITTGGCAAAACCTTTGTGAGGTTGAGGTTGAGCGTTATTAAAAAGCCAAAGG
offal (on homologie) GTGAA1GAGCA1AGCCGAAGTTGTAGGAGATTGTGGGGGATGTAGGAGGAGGATAUTYCGGGTACAAAAGCGAAGCGCGAAGTGTTGTATCTAGTCCAACAAAGCG GTGAA1GAGCA1AGCCGTGAATTGTGGGGATTTFGGGGGATGTGGGGAGGATAUTYCGGGTACAAAAGCGAAGCACACAAGCGGAAGTGTTGTATCTAGTCCAACAAAAGC
ATTELECTTERCEGCTTRCBRGGCRRBGGCRRBGGGGGRGGGRMBRFGGGTATCCGGTGRRGTGGTGRRATTTGTTTVRKGEGGRAGGGGRAGATGRTBRTRRARRARRAGATGRTGT
agatuctiveteucgopageccaafed ficactitaataagcacaacccctcogfattgttigetgacaatcogggaafeeetotatecaaaattttaaatecfaaraccaac
ctatctatgggcrtaaaacgtaaacgtaaacataaacgcattgtaaaagatggataaacgattgtaaacgattgtaaagattgtaaagttgtaaagtatttcaaaattcaaaattccaaattccaaaattttccaaaatttccaaaatttccaaatttccaaaatttccaaaattttccaaatttccaaatttccaaatttccaaattttccaaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaaaattttccaaattttccaaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaaattttccaattttccaaattttccaatttttccaattttccaaattttccaatttttccaaatttttccaatttttt
AVTA PTTAYOGGOTT TGTTTTATGGGTTGTTTGGCTTGAATGGTGGAATGGTGGAATGGTGGAGTGGTGGGGGGG
<u>NCACCTCAAGCGGFAGTFFAAAGQAUUUU</u> TGCTTATFCCTCGCTC <u>GCTCFTFGGCTTGGATTTCCTTGACATTCCCTACTATTACTCCTA</u> TTATGTGTGG
AAGAGETGGGAGETTTCACCCCCACCCACTACTTCAGATTAGTAAQCTGGGGAGCTAAGGACTAATAAGAAGACAACTAGTAATATAAACATTGTGCTATCCTTCTTC
auptogyaagguttacgecttacgecectacecececececececececececececececece
TCGTTTATCGGCTTTIGTTI <u>TTAI'INGCAUTTTGCTCACAAGTTCTGAAAATATCCGGGTTATAGTAGGTATTTTGCAAAATACTTAAAATCTCGATGCCCCGATACUTTGCCAAGCT</u> off33 (Internee)
CCATTACCGTCAGAIN/ITTAGACAAACGTGTGAGTGCCTCTCGCCGTUTGTCGTGAAA4CCAGATCGCCAP#GIV#TAGATTGGCPTP#WYTTTCAGCTTGCGAAAATCGAATC
ARGCCCCCCACTGOIGAGCTGGAAAAACACTGTTTTGCTTGFTCGGTTCAAGTGTGCCAACTGATTTAAAATTGCTATIGCTITGGTTGAGAIYKGGACGGIUGGTQAATAACCG
try trggt try coccess and transformed and
$\underline{\texttt{CGGCTCTTTOTTG}} CATCACTATATACCGOFGGCTGGTGGGCCGTAGCCGGAGACAAAAATCACTTGTCTATCCCCCATCGCTATATCGGCGAGTTCTTCCCGGGGGCCGTTTTTATCGCGGGGGCGCGCTTTTTGTCATCGCCGAGCCGCTTTTTGTCTATCGCGGGGGCGGGGGGGG$
$\mathbf{TTTTTCCACCGTTPTTAGAGGATTPTCTTTGAGATAATCCCATTCCATT$
$\underline{A} a contract trace a construction of the $
$GPTTGGTCGGAGTC\underline{ACCTCTTTGAGGTATTUGTCGATTATTGGGCAAAAAGAATGTCGGGGTGGTGTGTTATATCTCCGGCATCAATTTGAGCCTCTAAAGCCTAAAGCCAAGCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCAAGCCAAGCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCCAAGCAAGCAAGCCAAGCAAGCCAAGCAAGCAAGCAAGCCAAGGGGGG$
GTTTECCTCTGTTTTGGTGCTGANAGYGGCAGTINIMIAAAIGCCTTTTTTGCGGACTTGTGGTGGGTATIYGCTGGCGTTCTTAANAANAGYAGUAATTTITTTAATTCCTTGT
QUARGEORIGCALITYTAAGTORGCAAACCTOTOCAAAGGAAGGAAGGT <u>TAATAGAGATCAT</u> AAAGATCAAAAAAAAAAACAAGATYTCATAACAAGATGTTTTTATGATGTTATGCCT CODDIG
$\begin{array}{l} ACACTFIGGGGAAGGGTTTTTAAATCAATAAGGGTATTTATAAGGGGTATTTTTGGGGTTAAACCCTCAATCCGGATATCACGCTTAAAAAATAAGGGGGGGG$
TGGGTAAAAAGATUBAGTTITTAAGATCGCTTZCCCATTNYATCC3GCTTGTAGCGATCGCCYTTTIGGATTTGGGVATAAATCGACAAATTAAGAGTGCG <u>GGCGAGGTGACCCA</u>
Packe

Appendix I Genome sequence of PHL213 Φ of *M. haemolytica* showing locations of ORFs and attP, cosL cosR, and primer sites. The ORFs are underlined with arrows which indicate the direction of transcription (see Table 3.38). The attP, cosL, cosR, and primer sites are shown in boxes.

i